
1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NON-BANKING FINANCE COMPANIES 

AND NOTIFIED ENTITIES REGULATIONS, 2008 

 



2 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN 

*** 

 

Islamabad the 21st November, 2008 

 

NOTIFICATION 

 

S.R.O. 1203(I)/2008.- In exercise of the powers conferred by sub-section (2) of section 

282B of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 1984), the Securities and Exchange 

Commission of Pakistan hereby notifies the following Non-Banking Finance Companies and 

Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 for the regulation of NBFCs carrying out leasing, investment 

finance services, housing finance services, 1[discounting services, micro financing] asset 

management services and investment advisory services and their business activities and notified 

entities being managed by the aforementioned NBFCs 2[and Pension Fund Managers and pension 

fund scheme business managed by them]. 

  
3[PART I  

 

Title and definitions] 

 

1.  Short title and commencement.- (1) These Regulations shall be called the 

Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities  Regulations, 2008.  

  

(2)   They shall come into force at once.   

 

2.  Definitions.- (1) In these Regulations, unless there is anything repugnant in the 

subject or context,- 

 

(i) “Asset Management Company” means an NBFC licensed by the Commission 

to provide asset management services; 
4 [(ia)  “Buy Now Pay Later (BNPL)” means a buy now pay later arrangement, or a 

series of arrangements 

(a)  under which a person (the merchant) supplies good or services to 

another person (the consumer); 

(b)  under which a third person (the BNPL provider) directly or indirectly 

pays the merchant an amount that is for the supply mentioned in 

paragraph (a); and 

(c)  that includes a contract between the BNPL provider and the consumer 

under which the BNPL provider provides finance to the consumer in 

connection with the supply mentioned in sub-clause (a);] 

 
5[omitted] 

                                    
1 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

2 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

3 Substituted for the words “CHAPTER – I General” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
4 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

5 Deleted the words “(ii) “Bankers’ Acceptance” means an instrument drawn on a scheduled bank by a person ordering and 

accepted by the drawee bank to pay to the order of a person a specified sum of money, either on demand or at a future specified 
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6[(iii) 7[“Borrower” means a person who has obtained Finance from a lending 

NBFC;] 

 
8[omitted]  

 
9[(v)  Collective Investment Scheme” means any arrangement whose sole purpose is 

the collective investment of funds in a portfolio of securities, or other 

financial assets for profits, income or other returns, and where the participants, 

who have pooled in the funds, do not have any day to day control over the 

management of the scheme, whether or not they have the right to be consulted 

or to give direction in respect of such management: 

 

Provided that the following shall not be considered as a Collective 

Investment Scheme for the purpose of these regulations:- 

 

(a)  employee welfare trusts or gratuity trusts or employees provident 

funds or employees’ pension funds setup for the benefit of employees 

by companies; and 

 

(b)  any such pool of funds which is separately regulated by the 

Commission or which is already established under any specific law;] 

 
10[(va)  “Cooling off Period” means period of one business day commencing from the 

date of issuance of investment report to the unitholder as per Circular No. 10 

of 2022;] 

 
11[(vi)  “Closed End Fund” means a Closed End Scheme which is a CIS having a 

specified period of maturity which does not continuously offer its certificates 

for sale to investors and entitles the holder of certificates, to receive, 

proportionate share of the net assets of the closed end scheme;] 

 
12[Omitted] 

 

                                                                                                                 
date;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

6 Substituted for the words “(iii) “Borrower” includes a person on whom an NBFC has taken an Exposure during the course of its 

business” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
7 Substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

8 Deleted the words “(iv) “Certificate of Deposit” means a certificate of investment or a certificate of deposit issued for raising 

funds for a specified time by a Leasing Company, Investment Finance Company or a Housing Finance Company;” vide SRO 

1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

9 Substituted for the words “(v) “Collective Investment Scheme” means a Closed End Fund and an Open End Scheme;” vide 

SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
10 Inserted vide SRO 1438(I)/2025 dated 1 August 2025 

11 Substituted for the text “(vi) “Closed End Fund” means an Investment Company or a Closed End Scheme;” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

12 Deleted the text “ (vii)  closed end scheme” means a collective investment scheme having a specified period of maturity which 

does not continuously offer its certificates for sale to investors and entitles the holder of certificates, to receive, proportionate 

share of the net assets of the closed end scheme: 

 Provided that existing closed end scheme shall be classified as closed end scheme until revoked or converted into open end 

scheme for the purpose of these regulations;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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(viii) “Constitutive Documents” includes the trust deed, offering document, 

supplemental documents and other principal documents governing the 

formation of a Closed End Scheme, Open End Scheme or a Pension Fund and 

all other related material agreements 13;  

 
14 [(ix)  “Consumer Financing” means the financing allowed to individuals for 

meeting their personal, family or household needs.] 

  

(x) “Consumer Leasing” means any leasing allowed to individuals for meeting 

their personal, family or household needs; 

 
15[(xi) “Contingent Liabilities” mean, -  

 

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events, the existence of 

which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 

one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the entity; or 

 

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized 

on the books of the NBFC and Notified Entity because: 

 

(I) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or 

 

(II) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 

sufficient reliability and includes letters of credit, letters of 

guarantee, bid bonds or performance bonds, advance payment 

guarantees and Underwriting Commitments;] 
16[(xia) “Credit Guarantee Institution” means an NBFC licensed as Investment 

Finance Services, to undertake the activities provided under the Rule 

2(1)(xx)(ii).] 

 

                                    
13 “Amended vide SRO 1068 (I)/2021 dated 23 August 2021. Clause viii substituted. Previous text read as: Constitutive 

Documents” means the trust deed, Offering Document and other principal documents governing the formation of a Closed End 

Scheme or an Open End Scheme, including all related material agreements 

14 Substituted for the words “(ix) “Consumer Financing” means the financing allowed to individuals for meeting their personal, 

family or household needs and includes:  

(a) credit cards mean cards which allow a customer to make payments on credit and supplementary credit cards shall be 

considered part of the principal borrower; and 

(b) personal loans obtained by individuals for the payment of goods, services and expenses;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 

November 2015 

15 Substituted for the words “(xi) “Contingent Liabilities” mean, -  

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or 

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized on the books of the NBFC and Collective Investment 

Scheme because: 

(I) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or 

(II) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability and includes letters of credit, letters of guarantee, 

bid bonds or performance bonds, advance payment guarantees and Underwriting Commitments;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 

25 November 2015 
16 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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17[(xiab) “Customer” means person to whom finance has been extended by a lending 

NBFC] 

 

 
18[(xiaa) “Data processing” shall mean any operation or set of operations which is 

performed upon the 19[participant’s] data, whether or not by automatic means, 

such as collection, recording, organization, storage, adaptation or alteration, 

retrieval, consultation, use, disclosure by transmission, dissemination or 

otherwise making available, aligning or combining, blocking, erasing or 

destroying of data;] 

 
20[(xiaaa)  “Digital Fund Management NBFC” means services provided by fund 

management NBFC through digital technology based or internet-based 

channels, apps or tools, with limited or no human interaction; 

 

(xiaaab)  “Digital Lending” means providing finance through digital, technology-based 

or internet-based channels, apps or tools, with limited or no human interaction 

for loan application, approval, disbursement and repayment of loan; 

 
21[(xiaaaba) “Digital Platform” means tool/application/software/solution which uses 

digital/IT as the primary interface between the Digital AMC, 

Investor/Unitholder and other parties involved in the process of offering 

DAMS and includes mobile phone application, web-based portal, internet-

based channels, digital distribution/aggregation platforms and other enabling 

or supplementing support services;] 

 

(xiaaac)  “Digital Trustee” means a trustee that is providing services through digital 

technology based or internet-based channels, apps or tools with limited or no 

human interaction”;] 

 
22[(xiaaad)“Digital Asset Management Company (Digital AMC)” means a Fund 

Management NBFC licensed by the Commission to offer Digital Asset 

Management Services;” 

 

(xiaaae)  “Digital Asset Management Services (DAMS)” means provision of the asset 

management services (AMS) to the customers/unitholders through Digital 

Platform with limited or no human interaction with the customer/unitholders;] 

 
23[(xia) “deposit taking NBFC” means a lending NBFC with a valid permission to 

raise Deposits or have outstanding Deposits on its books; 

 

                                    
17 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
18 Inserted vide SRO 807(I)/2022 dated 14 June 2022 
19 Substituted for the word “User’s” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
20 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
21 Inserted vide SRO 1438(I)/2025 dated 1 August 2025 
22 Inserted vide SRO 1438(I)/2025 dated 1 August 2025 

23 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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(xib)  “discount house” means an NBFC licensed by the Commission to provide 

discounting services.] 

 
24[(xii)  “Discretionary Portfolio” means a portfolio of securities and deposit with 

financial institution managed by an Investment Advisor under an agreement 

entered into with a client on a duly notarized stamp paper of applicable value 

and whereby investment decisions are made and executed by the Investment 

Advisor on behalf of its client;] 

 
25[(xiia)  “Distributor” means a person who performs distribution function for 

Collective Investment Schemes;] 

 
26[(xiib)  “Element of income” represents the difference between net assets value on the 

issuance or redemption date, as the case may be, of units and the Net Asset 

Value (NAV) at the beginning of the relevant accounting period. 

 

Explanation:-  Element of income is a transaction of capital nature and 

the receipt and payment of element of income is taken to unit holders’ fund; 

however, to maintain same ex-dividend net asset value of all units outstanding 

on accounting date, net element of income contributed on issue of units lying 

in unit holders fund is refunded on units in the same proportion as dividend 

bears to accounting income available for distribution] 27[: 

 

Provided that in case of Exchange Traded Funds receipt and payment 

of element of income relating to income statement is taken to Income 

Statement both at the time of issuance and redemption of units.] 
28[Omitted] 

 

                                    
24 Substituted for the words “(xii) “Discretionary Portfolio” means a portfolio of securities managed by an NBFC under an 

agreement entered into with a client on a duly notarised stamp paper of applicable value and whereby investment decisions are 

made and executed by the NBFC on behalf of its client;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

25 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

26 Inserted vide SRO 756(I)/2017 dated 3 August 2017 

27 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 613(I)/2020 dated July 7, 2020 

28 Deleted the text “(xiii) “Eligible Investor” means a person offering minimum of three million rupees for investment and who 

furnishes an undertaking to the NBFC that such investor understands the risks involved in the management of portfolio on 

discretionary or non-discretionary basis: 

Provided that in the case of an entity such an undertaking shall be made by the board of directors or trustees as the case may be;  

(xiv)  “Equity of the Borrower” includes paid-up capital, general reserves, balance in share premium account, reserve for issue of 

bonus shares and retained earnings or accumulated losses, revaluation reserves on account of fixed assets and Subordinated 

Loans: 

Explanation: (i) Revaluation reserves will remain part of the equity for first three years only, from the date of asset revaluation, 

during which time the borrower will strengthen its equity base to enable it to avail facilities without the benefit of revaluation 

reserves. However, if a borrower gets revaluation during the three years period, the borrower will be allowed the benefit from 

fresh revaluation, to the extent of increase in revaluation reserves, but restricting the benefit of such incremental value to 3 years 

only. Similarly, if after 3 years, the borrower again gets revaluation of the assets with resultant addition in their value, the benefit 

of such revaluation may also be allowed for the next 3 years, again to the extent of increase in revaluation reserves. 

(ii)  For a loan to be classified as subordinated loan, the following conditions shall be met: 

(a) Subordinated loan shall be un-secured and sub-ordinate to NBFC indebtedness; and 

(b) Subordinated loan shall be documented by a formal subordination agreement between the provider of the loan and the 

Borrower that the loan is subordinate to NBFC claim;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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29[(xv) “Exposure” includes Finance, subscription to or investment in securities, debt 

instruments, units or certificates or shares of a Notified Entity, placements, 

deposits with Financial Institutions, derivatives, Margin Trading System 

(MTS) or any mechanism that replaces it, but does not include: 

 

(a) obligations under letters of credit and letters of guarantee to the extent 

of cash margin held by an NBFC; 

 

(b) Finance provided to financial institutions through REPO transactions 

with underlying statutory liquidity requirement eligible securities; 

 

(c)  deposits in current and savings accounts other than term deposits;] 

 
30[Omitted] 

 

(xvii) “Fit and Proper Criteria” means the criteria specified in Schedule IX; 

 

(xviii) "Form" means the Forms annexed to these Regulations; 

 

(xix) “FSV” means the forced sale value which reflects the possibility of price 

fluctuations and can be realized by selling the mortgaged, pledged, leased or 

collaterally held assets in forced or distressed sale conditions; 

 

(xx)  “Government Securities” include monetary obligations of the Federal 

Government or a Provincial Government or of a corporation wholly owned or 

controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Federal Government or a Provincial 

Government and guaranteed by the Federal Government and any other 

security as the Federal Government may, by notification in the Official 

Gazette, declare, to the extent determined from time to time, to be a 

Government Securities; 

   

(xxi) “Housing Finance Company” means an NBFC licensed by the Commission to 

provide housing finance services;   

                                    
29 Substituted for the words “(xv) “Exposure” includes Facility and subscription to or investment in equity securities, debt 

instruments or securities, units or certificates or shares of a Collective Investment Scheme, money-market placements, deposits, 

Certificate of Deposits, CFS, forward contracts, derivatives and credit cards, but does not include: 

(a) obligations under letters of credit and letters of guarantee to the extent of cash margin held by an NBFC; 

(b) a Facility provided to financial institutions through REPO transactions with underlying statutory liquidity requirement eligible 

securities; 

(c) letters of credit established for the import of plant and machinery; and 

(d) deposits of less than ninety days.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

30 Deleted the text “ (xvi) “finance” means provision of,- 

(a)  any accommodation or facility on the basis of participation in profit and loss, musharika or modaraba basis,  mark-up or mark-

down in price, hire-purchase, lease, rent-sharing, bills of exchange, promissory notes or other instruments with or without buy-back 

arrangement by a seller, participation term certificate, musharika or modaraba certificate, term finance certificate; 

(b)  guarantees, indemnities, letters of credit or any other financial engagement, issued or undertaken on behalf of a person, with a 

corresponding obligation of that person; 

(c)  a loan, advance, discounting services to any person; 

(d)  micro financing including any form of Finance such as leases, advances, consumer loans, housing finance; 

(e) a financial facility or accommodation provided on the basis of Islamic mode of financing; and 

(f)  any other form of financial facility provided to a person;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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(xxii) “Investment Advisor” means an NBFC licensed by the Commission to 

provide investment advisory services;   

 
31[Omitted] 

 

(xxiv) “Investment Finance Company” means an NBFC licensed by the Commission 

to provide investment finance services;   

 

(xxv)  “Leasing Company” means an NBFC licensed by the Commission to provide 

leasing; 

 
32[(xxva)  “Lender” in relation to P2P Lending means a person or entity extending a loan 

to a borrower through the Platform for the Price and on the terms and 

conditions determined by the P2P Service Provider and where context 

permits, a lender shall also include the P2P Service Provider;] 

 
33[(xxvi) Liquid Assets” means the assets which are readily convertible into cash and 

includes encashment or realizable value of gold, Government Securities, bank 

deposits, shares of listed companies which are actively traded on the stock 

exchange,  certificates or shares of a Closed End Fund, Deposits issued by 

DFIs or NBFCs rated at least ‘A-’ by a credit rating agency registered with the 

Commission, Certificates of Musharika issued by Modarabas rated at least ‘A’ 

by a credit rating agency registered with the Commission,  listed TFCs and  

Sukuks rated at least ‘A’ by a credit rating agency registered with the 

Commission and which are actively traded in the market, commercial papers 

rated at least ‘A’ by a credit rating agency registered with the Commission, 

National Saving Scheme securities and units of Open End Scheme for which a 

duly licensed Asset Management Company quotes daily offer and redemption 

price;] 

 
34[(xxvii) “Margin Financing” 35[shall have the same meaning as assigned to it under 

the] Securities (Leveraged Markets and Pledging) Rules, 2011;] 

   
36[(xxviia) “Micro Financing” means Finance provided to a poor person or 

                                    
31 Deleted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

32 Inserted vide SRO 807(I)/2022 dated 14 June 2022 

33 Substituted for the words “(xxvi) “Liquid Assets” means the assets which are readily convertible into cash and includes 

encashment or realizable value of Government Securities, bank deposits, shares of listed companies which are actively traded on 

the stock exchange, NIT units, certificates or shares of a Closed End Fund, Certificate of Deposit issued by DFIs or NBFCs and 

Certificates of Musharika issued by Modarabas rated at least ‘A’ by a credit rating agency registered with the Commission, listed 

TFCs, Sukuks and commercial papers rated at least ‘A’ by a credit rating agency registered with the Commission, National 

Saving Scheme securities and units of Open End Scheme for which a duly licensed Asset Management Company quotes daily 

offer and redemption price;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

34 Substituted for the words “(xxvii) “Margin Loan” means a loan made by an Investment Finance Company to partly finance 

investment by the client in marketable securities, which shall be held by the Investment Finance Company as collateral, the 

amount invested by the client being the “margin” against the loan;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

35 Substituted for the text “means Margin Financing as defined in sub-rule (k) of rule 2 of” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 

2023 

36 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 



9 

microenterprise; 

 
37[(xxviib) “Microenterprises” means projects or businesses in trading or manufacturing 

or services or agriculture that lead to livelihood improvement and income 

generation. These projects or businesses are undertaken by micro 

entrepreneurs who are either self-employed or employ few individuals not 

exceeding 25 (excluding seasonal labour) Microenterprises may include 

carpentry, electrical works, food stalls, farms (crops & non-crops), lathe 

machine workshops etc. which have traditionally lacked access to formal 

financial services.;]  
38[(xxviiba)“Nano Loans” are unsecured, short-term cash financing facilities, subject to 

maximum limits as determined by the Commission from time to time.] 

 
39[(xxviii) “Net Assets”, in relation to a collective investment scheme and pension fund, 

means the excess of assets over liabilities of the collective investment scheme 

or pension fund, computed in the manner provided in these regulation 40; 

(xxviiia) non-deposit taking NBFC” means a Lending NBFC which does not have a 

permission to raise Deposits;] 

 
41[(xxix) “Non-Discretionary Portfolio” means a portfolio of securities and deposit with 

financial institution managed by an Investment Advisor under an agreement 

entered into with the client on a duly notarized stamp paper of applicable 

value whereby investment decisions are executed by the Investment Advisor 

on written instructions of the client;] 

 

(xxx) “Notified Entity” means a company or class of companies or corporate body 

or trust or any other entity or person notified by the Federal Government in 

the official Gazette; 

 

(xxxi) “offering document” includes,- 

(a) a published document containing information on a Collective Investment 

Scheme to invite the public for purchase of certificates or units in that scheme; 

(b) a document inviting contributions from eligible persons for a pension fund; 

and 

(c) all supplementary documents thereto or any document relating to an income 

payment plan; 42 

                                    
37 Substituted for the words “xxviib” “Microenterprises” means projects or businesses in trading or manufacturing or services or 

agriculture that lead to livelihood improvement and income generation. These projects or businesses are undertaken by micro 

entrepreneurs who are either self-employed or employ few individuals not exceeding 10 (excluding seasonal labour); ” vide SRO 

2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
38 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

39Substituted for the words “(xxviii) “Medium and Long Term Facilities” means a Facility with maturities of more than one 

year;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

40 “Amended vide SRO 1068 (I)/2021 dated 23 August 2021. Clause xxviii substituted. Previous text read as: “Net Assets”, in 

relation to a collective investment scheme, means the excess of assets over liabilities of the collective investment scheme, such 

excess being computed in the manner provided in these regulation. 

41 Substituted for the words “(xxix) “Non-Discretionary Portfolio” means a portfolio of securities managed by an NBFC under 

an agreement entered into with the client on a duly notarised stamp paper of applicable value whereby investment decisions are 

executed by the NBFC on written instructions of the client;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

42 “Amended vide SRO 1068 (I)/2021 dated 23 August 2021. Clause xxxi substituted. Previous text read as: “Offering 
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43[(xxxii) “Open End Scheme” means a collective Investment Scheme which offers 

units for sale based on net asset value on continuous basis without specifying 

any duration for redemption and which entitles the holder of such units on 

demand to receive his proportionate share of the net assets of the scheme less 

any applicable charges on redemption or revocation;] 

 

(xxxiii) “Ordinance” means the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (XLVII of 1984);  

 

(xxxiv) “Other Form of Security” includes hypothecation of stock (inventory), 

assignment of receivables, lease Rentals, contract receivables 44[etc.]; 

 
45[(xxxiva) “poor person” means an individual who has meager means of subsistence and 

whose total business income excluding expenses during a year is less than or 

equal to Rs 46[1,200,000/-] or such other minimum limit as may be 47[notified] 

from time to time;] 

 
48[(xxxivb) “P2P Service Provider” shall means and include a Lending NBFC providing 

P2P Services; 

 

(xxxivc) “P2P Services” shall mean the services provided by a Lending NBFC permitted 

under these Regulations for facilitating P2P Lending transactions through the 

P2P Lending Platform and shall include the provision of the Platform and 

activities provided in these Regulations for P2P Lending; 

 

(xxxivd)  “Participant” in relation to P2P Lending means a person who has entered into 

an arrangement/agreement with a P2P Lending Platform to lend or borrow 

through a P2P Lending Platform; 

 

(xxxive)  “Peer to Peer Lending” or “P2P Lending” shall mean the extension of loans 

by the lender to the borrower through the P2P Lending Platform; 

 

(xxxive)  “Peer to Peer Lending Platform” or “P2P Lending Platform" shall mean an 

intermediary providing P2P services through online medium 49[]to the 

participants who have entered into an arrangement with that platform to lend 

or to borrow money; 

 

                                                                                                                 
Document” means a published document containing information on a Collective Investment Scheme to invite the public for 

purchase of certificates or units in that scheme 

43 Substituted for the words “(xxxii) “Open End Scheme” means a scheme constituted by way of a trust deed that continuously 

offers for sale its units as specified in the Constitutive Document that entitle the holder of such units on demand to receive his 

proportionate share of the net assets of the scheme less any applicable charges;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 

2015 

44 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

45 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

46 Substituted for the expression “600,000/-“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

47 Substituted for the word “prescribed” vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020 

48 Inserted vide SRO 807(I)/2022 dated 14 June 2022 
49 The words “or otherwise” omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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(xxxivf)  “Price” means the amount determined by the P2P Service Provider for each 

transaction and includes the principal amount plus the profit/rate of return 

determined based on the factors prescribed in these Regulations;”;] 

 
50[(xxxivg)  i. “Qualified Financial Institution” means a local or an international 

multilateral financial institution rated AAA by a credit rating agency 

registered with the Commission.  

ii.     For the purpose of this regulation expressions are defined as:  

(a) “Capital Event” means the depletion of the equity (after the Callable 

Capital has been completely drawn down by the lending NBFC) of the 

lending NBFC. 

(b) “Callable Capital” means share capital that, in terms of a written 

agreement entered into between the NBFC and a sponsor, shareholder 

and/or investors, as the cause may be, is agreed to be subscribed on the 

following terms and conditions: - 

iii.     The shares shall be fully subscribed over a period of twenty-four  (24) 

months from the date of the written agreement; 

(a) During the subscription period specified in sub-clause (a), the 

obligation to subscribe to shares shall be irrevocable and on 

demand, at the sole discretion of the NBFC; and  

(b) the subscription obligation shall be secured by a bank guarantee or 

standby letter of credit from a commercial bank rated AAA or 

higher by a credit rating agency registered with the commission;  

(c) “Contingent Capital’’ means long term commitment for finance that, 

in terms of a written agreement entered into between the NBFC and a 

Qualified Financial Institution(s), is provided as a second loss facility 

on the following terms and conditions: - 

(i) at any time, the Contingent Capital, in aggregate, shall not exceed 

one and a half (1.5) times of the sum of paid up share capital and 

Callable Capital of the NBFC; 

(ii) the commitment shall, in accordance with the terms thereof, be 

irrevocable, confirmed and fully committed; 

(iii)the long-term commitment and the finance thereunder shall be 

available on a revolving basis; 

(iv) the finance under the commitment shall be callable on demand 

upon a Capital Event and at the sole discretion of the NBFC or on a 

direction by the Commission (after giving the NBFC a reasonable 

opportunity of a hearing), which shall be binding on the NBFC; and  

(v) the commitment shall be replaced by the NBFC if the financing 

entity ceases to be a Qualified Financial Institution;] 

 

(xxxv)  “Readily Realizable Assets” include Liquid Assets and stocks pledged with 

the NBFCs and are in their possession, 51[directly, or held through another 

NBFC or a Scheduled Bank on behalf of the NBFC, with ‘perfected 

lien/charge] duly supported with complete documentation; 

                                    
50 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
51 Substituted for the text “with ‘perfected lien” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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(xxxvi) “Regulations” means the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified 

Entities Regulations, 2008 and the Schedules and Forms attached to it; 

 

(xxxvii) “Rental” include lease Rentals, Rentals in respect of housing finance facilities, 

hire purchase installments or any other amount received by NBFC from 

Borrower against the grant of a Facility; 

 

(xxxviii) “Rules” mean the Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and 

Regulation) Rules, 2003; 

 

(xxxix)   “Schedule” means the Schedule to these Regulations;   

 

(xl) “Secured” means Exposure backed by Tangible Security and any Other Form 

of Security with appropriate margins (in cases where margin has been 

specified by the Commission appropriate margin shall at least be equal to the 

specified margin);  

 
52[(xla) “Shariah Advisor” shall have the same meaning as assigned to it in the 

Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023] 

 
53[(xli)  “small enterprise” and “medium enterprise”, (together referred to as the 

SME)”, includes,-  

  

(a) small enterprise:- a business entity not a public limited company that 

has annual turnover up to Rs. 150 million54[]; and   

 

(b) medium enterprise:- a business entity that has annual turnover of more 

than Rs. 150 million and up to Rs. 800 million55[.]] 

 
56[(xlii) “Shariah Compliant Scheme” means Collective Investment Scheme / Pension 

Fund that has been declared Shariah-compliant under the Companies Act, 

2017 read with the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023;] 

 
57[omitted]  

 
58[omitted]  

 

                                    
52 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
53 Inserted vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  
54 The words “and employees (including contractual) up to 50” omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
55 The words “and number of employee (including contractual) between 51 to 100 for trading entity and between 51 to 250 for 

manufacturing or service entity” omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
56 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
57 Deleted the words “(xli) “Short Term Facilities” mean a Facility with maturities up to one year;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 

25 November 2015 
58 Deleted the words “(xli) “(xlii) “Subordinated Loan” means an unsecured loan extended by the sponsors to the Borrower which 

is subordinate to the claim of an NBFC taking Exposure on the Borrower and documented by a formal subordination agreement 

between the provider of the loan and the Borrower;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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(xliii) “Tangible Security” means Readily Realizable Assets, mortgage of land, 

plant, building, machinery and any other 59[property plant and equipment;] 

 

(xliv) “TFC” means debt instrument issued for the purpose of raising funds in the 

form of redeemable capital; 

 
60[(xliva) “Total Expense Ratio” means the ratio of the sum of all fees, expenses, taxes 

or government levies charged to the Collective Investment scheme to average 

daily net assets value of that Collective Investment Scheme;] 

 

(xlv) “Underwriting Commitments” mean commitments given by NBFCs to the 

limited companies at the time of new issue of equity or debt instrument, that 

in case the proposed issue of equity or debt instrument is not fully subscribed, 

the un-subscribed portion will be taken up by them (NBFCs); 

 

(xlvi) “Unlisted Debt Security” means a debt security not listed or quoted on a stock 

exchange; and 

 

(xlvii) “Unlisted Equity Security” means an equity security not listed or quoted on a 

stock exchange. 

 
61[(xlviii) “Unsecured” means the Exposure without any security or collateral.] 

 
62[(xlix)         63[Omitted]  

 

(2)  Words and expressions used but not defined in these Regulations shall have 

the same meaning unless contrary to the context as assigned to them in the 

Ordinance, Rules and the Securities and Exchange Ordinance, 1969 (XVII of 

1969) 64[, Securities Act, 2015 65[the Companies Act, 2017,] and] the Rules 

and Regulations made thereunder including the Voluntary Pension System 

Rules, 2005 66.  

 
67[PART II 

 

General] 

 
68[3. Application of this part.- The provisions of this part shall apply to the 

                                    
59 Substituted for the words “fixed assets”, vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

60 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

61 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
62 Inserted vide SRO 807(I)/2022 dated 14 June 2022, “ “User(s)” shall mean any person or entity using the P2P Lending 

Platform for the transaction and shall include the borrowers and lenders” 
63 Clause (xlix) omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

64 Substituted for the word “and” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

65 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

66 Amended vide SRO 1068 (I)/2021 dated 23 August 2021. The expression “including the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 

2005 inserted” 

67 Substituted for the words “Chapter II Part-I General” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

68 Substituted for the words “3. Application of this part.- The provisions of this part shall apply to the forms of business provided 

in clause (i) to (vii) of Section 282A (a) of the Ordinance.” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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following form of business,- 

 

(i) Asset Management Services  

(ii) Leasing; 

(iii) Discounting Services; 

(iv) Housing Finance Services; 

(v) Investment Advisory Services; 69[ ] 

(vi) Investment Finance Services;] 70[and] 
71[(vii)  Investment Finance Services restricted to Micro financing.] 

 
72[4.  73[Minimum Equity Requirement.-] An NBFC licensed by the Commission to 

undertake any74 form of business mentioned in Regulation 3 shall, at all the times, meet the 

minimum equity requirement or any other requirement in lieu of minimum equity requirement in 

respect of each form of business as provided in Schedule I.] 

 
75[Provided that an NBFC licensed for investment finance services shall be valid to 

undertake leasing, housing finance services, and discounting services without requiring separate 

licenses for each form of business. It shall, maintain the minimum equity requirement prescribed 

in Schedule I for investment finance services.] 

  
76[omitted] 

 
77[omitted] 

 

 

7.  Submission of information by the NBFC.– An NBFC shall submit such 

information including periodical statements, reports, statistics and data in such forms and manner 

and within such time as may be required by the Commission from time to time. 

 

                                    
69 Deleted the word “and” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
70 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
71 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
72 Substituted for the words “4. Minimum equity requirement.- An NBFC licensed by the Commission to undertake any form of 

business as specified under section 282A shall, at all the times, meet the minimum equity requirement in respect of that form of 

business as provided in Schedule 1:  

Provided that where an application is made by an NBFC for an extension of the time schedule prescribed in Schedule 1, the 

Commission may, after being satisfied and recording reasons in writing, extend the timeline for up to a maximum period of six 

months.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
73 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
74 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
75 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
76 Deleted the words “5. Limit on aggregate liabilities of an NBFC.- (1) Aggregate liabilities, excluding Contingent Liabilities 

and security deposits, of an NBFC shall not exceed seven times of its equity for the first two years of its operation and ten times 

of its equity in the subsequent years. 

(2) Contingent Liabilities of an NBFC shall not exceed seven times of its equity for the first two years of its operation and ten 

times of its equity in the subsequent years. ” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
77 Deleted the words “6. Internal audit function.– (1) An NBFC shall have an internal audit function, reporting directly to the 

audit committee of the board of the NBFC.  

(2) The internal audit function may either be performed by creating an internal audit department or by outsourcing the function.  

(3) The internal audit function shall be responsible for monitoring compliance with the Ordinance, Rules and these Regulations 

by establishing effective means of testing, checking and compliance of the policies and procedures framed by the board of the 

NBFC.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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78[Omitted] 
79[9. Prevention of NBFCs involvement in money laundering, terrorist financing 

and other illegal trades.– (1) All NBFCs shall ensure prevention of money laundering 

and other illegal trades and abide by such laws, directives and circulars as may be issued by the 

Federal Government or the Commission to safeguard the NBFC against involvement in money 

laundering activities and other illegal trades.  

 

(2) Notwithstanding the generality of Regulation 9(1) an NBFC shall comply with the 

following conditions, - 

 

(a)  it shall determine the true identity of the prospective customer or investor before 

extending its services and care shall be taken to establish beneficial ownership of 

all accounts and those using safe custody.; 

 

For the purpose of this regulation, customer means a person who has placed a 

Deposit with the Lending NBFC or has invested in the units or certificates of a 

Notified Entity or has obtained Finance from a Lending NBFC or has any 

business relationship with the NBFC or Notified Entity. 

 

(b)  it shall accept money from a customer only after ensuring that an account has 

been opened in the name of the customer using the account opening form 

developed by the respective industry associations in consultation with the 

Commission; 

 

(c) it shall establish effective procedures for obtaining identification from new 

customers and devise a policy to ensure that business transactions are not 

conducted with persons who fail to provide evidence of their identity; 

 

(d)  it shall conduct its business in conformity with the Rules and these Regulations 

and shall not offer services or provide any assistance in transactions which, in the 

opinion of the NBFC, are associated with illegal activities or relating to terrorist 

                                    
78 Deleted the text “8.  Code of conduct.– An NBFC shall acquire and maintain membership of such association(s) which have 

been constituted in consultation with the Commission and abide by the code of conduct prescribed by the said association(s).” 

vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

79 Substituted the words “9. Prevention of NBFCs involvement in money laundering and other illegal trades.– (1) All NBFC 

shall ensure prevention of money laundering and other illegal trades and abide by such directives and circulars as may be issued 

by the Commission to safeguard the NBFC against involvement in money laundering activities and other illegal trades.  

(2) Notwithstanding the generality of Regulation 9(1) an NBFC shall comply with the following conditions, - 

(a) it shall accept deposits from an investor only after ensuring that an account has been opened in the name of the investor using 

the account opening form developed by the respective industry associations in consultation with the Commission; 

(b) it shall determine the true identity of the prospective customer before extending its services and care shall be taken to identify 

ownership of all accounts and those using safe custody;  

(c) it shall establish effective procedures for obtaining identification from new customers and devise a policy to ensure that 

business transactions are not conducted with persons who fail to provide evidence of their identity; 

(d) it shall conduct its business in conformity with the Rules and these Regulations and shall not offer services or provide any 

assistance in transactions which, in the opinion of the NBFC, are associated with money derived from illegal activities;  

(e) it shall establish effective procedures for monitoring of Borrower accounts on a regular basis, checking identities and bonafide 

of remitters and beneficiaries of transactions and retain record of transactions; and  

(f) it shall not make payment or receive amounts in cash exceeding Rs. 50,000/-. 

(3) All transactions into or from the account maintained with the NBFC which are not usual transactions shall be thoroughly 

scrutinized and properly investigated by the NBFC.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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financing from legitimate or illegal means;  

 

(e)  it shall establish effective procedures for monitoring of customer accounts on a 

regular basis, checking identities and bonafide of remitters and beneficiaries of 

transactions and retain record of transactions; and  

 

(f)  it shall not make payment or receive amounts in cash exceeding Rs.50,000/-.  

 

 Provided that the above limit shall not apply to cash payments made for 

repayment of Finance by an existing borrower. 

 

(3) All transactions into or from the account maintained with the NBFC which are not 

usual transactions shall be thoroughly scrutinized and properly investigated by the NBFC.] 

 

10.  Procedure for 80[  ] approval for appointment 81[or re-appointment] of 

directors and chief executives.- An NBFC shall follow the following procedure for obtaining 

approval of appointment 82[or re-appointment] or any change of its directors or chief executive, - 

 
83[(a) in case of election of directors in the Annual or Extraordinary General Meeting, 

the NBFC, 10 days before the date of the meeting in which election of directors is 

to be held, shall submit an application for the individuals seeking to contest the 

elections whether they are retiring directors or otherwise;  

 
84[(aa)  within thirty days from the date of election of directors in a general meeting, or 

the office of the chief executive falling vacant, as the case may be, the NBFC 

shall submit an application complete in all respects, for obtaining approval for 

appointment or reappointment of chief executive;] 

 
85[(ab)  in case the Board of Directors of an NBFC decides to remove its chief executive 

before the expiration of his term of office or the chief executive decides to tender 

his resignation before the completion of his term of office or replacement of chief 

executive on completion of his term, the NBFC shall immediately inform the 

Commission along with reasons for the same;] 

 
86[(b)  in case of occurrence of any casual vacancy in respect of a director87[], the NBFC 

                                    
80 Deleted the word “prior” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

81 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

82 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

83 Substituted for the words “(a) in the case of removal of its chief executive before the expiration of his term or where the chief 

executive decided to tender his resignation, the NBFC shall inform the Commission at least one month before the change: 

Provided that in the case of removal of the chief executive before the expiration of his term the NBFC shall the furnish reasons to 

the Commission;  

(b) not later than 10 days before the notice of meeting called for the election of directors or within 10 days of the occurrence of 

any casual vacancy submit an application for the appointment or change to the Commission;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 

November 2015 

84 Substituted for the text “84[(aa) within ten days from the date of election of directors in a general meeting, the NBFC shall 

submit an application for appointment or reappointment of chief executive;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

85 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

86 Substituted for the text “(b) in case of occurrence of any casual vacancy or reappointment of chief executive, the NBFC must 

submit an application within 10 days of the occurrence of any casual vacancy or reappointment, as the case may be;” vide SRO  
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shall submit an application within 88[ninety days];] 

 

 
89[Omitted] 

 

(c)  the application shall be submitted in compliance with the requirements of 

Schedule IX and be accompanied by information and documents required therein; 

and 

 

(d)  any deficiency or shortcoming in the information or documents submitted by the 

NBFC to the Commission shall be rectified by the NBFC within 14 days of the 
90[communication of such deficiencies or short comings] by the Commission 

informing the NBFC of the deficiency or shortcoming: 

 

  Provided that where the NBFC does not remove the deficiency or 

shortcoming, the Commission may close the matter. 

 
91[10A. Appointment of Independent Directors.- An NBFC shall ensure compliance 

with the following requirements while appointing independent directors on its board,- 

 

(a)  independent directors shall be selected from the data bank notified by the 

Commission in accordance with section 166 of Companies Act, 2017; and 

 

(b)  the independent directors shall be elected in the same manner as shareholder 

directors are elected in accordance with section 159 of the Companies Act, 2017.] 

 

11.  Fees applicable to an NBFC.- All fees which an NBFC or a Notified Entity is 

required to pay to the Commission 92[as specified in Schedule – II are  non-refundable]. 

 
93[11A. Applicability of Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) 

Regulations.- The Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 shall 

be applicable on Asset Management Companies and Deposit taking NBFCs: 

 

Provided that the Commission may exempt any specific NBFC or class of NBFCs from 

applicability of this regulation.] 
94[PART III  

                                                                                                                 
279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  

87 Deleted the text “or a chief executive” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

88 Substituted for the words “ten days” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

89 Deleted the text “(ba) in case the Board of Directors of an NBFC decides to remove its chief executive before the expiration of 

his term of office or the chief executive decides to tender his resignation before the completion of his term of office or 

replacement of Chief Executive on completion of his term, the NBFC shall 89[immediately inform the Commission] along with 

reasons for the same: 

 Provided that the NBFC shall, within 89[a period of ten days], submit an application complete in all respects, for obtaining 

approval for appointment of the new chief executive;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

90 Substituted for the text “issue of the letter” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

91 Inserted vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 

92 Substituted for the words “are prescribed in Schedule – II” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

93 Inserted vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 

94 Substituted for the words “PART – II Leasing, Investment Finance Services and Housing Finance Services” vide SRO 
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Lending NBFCs] 

 

12.  Application of this Part.- The provisions of this part shall apply to 95[Lending 

NBFCs including] Leasing Companies, Investment Finance Companies 96[, Discount Houses, Non-

Bank Micro Finance Companies] and Housing Finance Companies. 

 
97[omitted] 

 
98 [14.  Permission to issue Certificate of Deposit by a Lending NBFC. - (1) Lending 

                                                                                                                 
1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
95 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
96 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
97 Deleted the words “13. Allocation of assets in case of multiple licensing.- An NBFC engaged in leasing, investment finance 

services or housing finance services or any combination thereof, shall invest at least twenty percent of its assets in each such form 

of business: 

Provided that cash, bank balances and cash equivalent instruments of a maximum of thirty day term, investments made under 

Regulation 14(4)(i) and investments made in unquoted shares of any company in terms of Rule 7(2)(h) shall be excluded from 

calculating the percentage of allocation of assets of NBFC engaged in multiple forms of business:  

Provided further that an NBFC shall comply with the requirement of this Regulation by 30th June 2009.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 

dated 25 November 2015 
98 Substituted for the words “14. Permission to issue of Certificates of Deposit by an NBFC licenced to provide leasing or 

investment finance services or housing finance services.- (1) A Leasing Company, Investment Finance Company or a Housing 

Finance Company may apply to the Commission for permission to issue Certificates of Deposit, after complying with the 

following conditions, namely:- 

(a) that the NBFC is listed on a stock exchange and has been, as per the audited accounts, making profits for a period of at least 

two years: 

Provided that an unlisted NBFC engaged in deposit raising shall get itself listed on a stock exchange by 30th June 2009: 

Provided further that the requirement to list the NBFC on a stock exchange shall not apply to an NBFC which, -  

(i) is raising deposits from financial institutions only; 

(ii) is preparing its accounts in conformity with the provisions of the Ordinance, the Rules, these Regulations and making them 

available to the public; 

(b) the operations of the NBFC and the conduct of its directors with respect to the NBFC has been in accordance with law; 

(c) the NBFC has been assigned a credit rating of minimum investment grade from a credit rating agency registered with the 

Commission; and 

(d) a disclosure statement setting out information about the product shall be submitted to the Commission along with application 

and a copy of such statement shall be made available free of cost at the registered and every other office of the NBFC:  

Provided that an NBFC which is currently allowed to issue Certificate of Deposit shall develop and submit the statement to the 

Commission setting out the information within sixty days of the notification of these Regulations; 

(2) An NBFC which is in compliance with the provisions of Regulation 14(1) shall make an application to the Commission along 

with the evidence of compliance with Regulation 14(1). 

(3) If the Commission is satisfied that the NBFC fulfils the conditions prescribed in Regulation 14(1), it may give permission to 

such NBFC to issue Certificates of Deposit.  

(4) An NBFC which has been given permission to issue Certificates of Deposit shall comply with the following conditions, 

namely:- 

(a) the NBFC shall maintain the minimum investment grade rating and have it updated at least once every year during the term of 

the issue: 

Provided that if the credit rating of the NBFC falls below the investment grade, the permission to issue Certificate of Deposit 

shall automatically stand cancelled with immediate effect and the NBFC shall immediately cease to issue further Certificate of 

Deposit or roll-over the existing certificates and the existing Certificate of Deposit shall be encashed as and when they become 

due:  

Provided further that if the credit rating of the NBFC is subsequently upgraded to investment grade, it may apply to the 

Commission for a fresh permission for issuance of Certificates of Deposit; 

(b) the NBFC shall publish its investment grade rating in financial statements, advertisements and brochures published in relation 

to the promotion of its business; 

(c) the Certificate of Deposit issued by the NBFC shall be registered in the name of the person to whom it is issued; 

(d) the maturity period of Certificate of Deposit shall not be less than thirty days:  

Provided that a certificate shall be redeemable before its maturity period subject to the terms and conditions laid out in the 

deposit agreement or product disclosure statement; 
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NBFCs, excluding those NBFCs which already have valid permission to raise deposit,  may 

apply to the Commission for permission to raise Deposit, after complying with the following 

conditions, namely:- 

 

(a)  the NBFC is undertaking activities as a Lending NBFC for a minimum period of 

three years and has been, as per the audited accounts, making profits for last two 

years; 

 

(b)  the NBFC meets the minimum equity requirement as specified in these 

Regulations; 

 

(c)   the NBFC complies with the Capital Adequacy Ratio as specified in these 

Regulations; 

 

(d)   the NBFC, or any other NBFC in which its sponsors had a stake of more than 

10%, has not defaulted on, or obtained write off on Finance availed from any 

financial institution or investor in any of its redeemable capital instruments within 

the last five years; 

 

(e)  the NBFC, or any other NBFC in which its sponsors had a stake of more than 

10%, has not defaulted on any obligation towards any of its depositors, which 

term shall include investors in any of its deposit raising arrangements;  

 

(f) the NBFC is listed on a stock exchange:  

 

Provided that the requirement to list the NBFC on a stock exchange shall 

not apply to an NBFC which is 100% owned directly by the Federal or Provincial 

Governments;  

 

(g)  the operations of the NBFC and the conduct of its directors with respect to the 

NBFC has been in accordance with law; and 

 

                                                                                                                 
(e) a Certificate of Deposit may be issued at fixed or floating rate of interest as specified in the product disclosure statement 

wherein the mechanism for determining the rate of interest shall also be disclosed; 

(f) all amendments to the disclosure statement setting out information about the product shall be made with the prior written 

approval of the Commission;  

(g) all advertisements for inviting general public for making investment in Certificates of Deposit shall contain the credit rating 

of the NBFC, the name of the rating agency, the date on which the credit rating was issued, expected rate of profit and tenor of 

the Certificate of Deposit and a copy of such advertisement shall be submitted to the Commission within three days from the date 

of issue;  

(h) the deposits raised by the NBFC, from individual depositors including sole-proprietorships shall not exceed three times of the 

equity of the NBFC;  

(i) at least 15 per cent of the 1[outstanding] funds raised through issue of Certificates of Deposit by the NBFC, excluding the 

Certificates of Deposit held by financial institutions, shall be invested in Government Securities 2[, or instruments or investments 

as notified by the Commission and such investments or instruments shall be valued at cost or market value whichever is lower 

and any shortfall in the value of such investments or instruments shall be immediately made-up and the instruments or 

investments shall be] kept un-encumbered and disclosed separately in the annual and quarterly accounts of the NBFC; and 

(j) the NBFC shall provide a return on the Certificate of Deposits which may be different for different volumes and maturities of 

deposits provided that uniformity is observed within each category: 

Provided that deposits of listed companies, financial institutions, recognized charitable trusts and statutory bodies shall be 

exempted from compliance with the provision of Regulation 14(4)(j).“ vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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(h) the NBFC has been assigned a credit rating of minimum A-from a credit rating 

agency registered with the Commission  

 

Provided that an NBFC which has been assigned a credit rating of 

minimum BBB from a credit rating agency registered with the Commission may 

apply to the Commission to raise deposits from sources other than individuals, 

sole proprietors, provident/gratuity funds, trusts, charitable institutions and 

section 42 companies.  

 

(2) An NBFC which is in compliance with the provisions of sub-regulation (1) shall 

make an application to the Commission along with the evidence of compliance with sub-

regulation (1). 

 

(3)  If the Commission is satisfied that the NBFC fulfills the conditions prescribed in 

sub-regulation (1), it may give permission to such NBFC to raise Deposits. 

 

(4)   A Deposit taking NBFC which has a valid permission to raise Deposit shall 

comply with the following conditions, namely:- 

 

(a)  the NBFC shall raise Deposits by way of issuing “Certificate of Deposit” only; 

 

(b)  the NBFC shall at all times maintain a minimum credit rating and the same shall 

be updated at least once every year; 

 

(c) the NBFC shall publish its credit rating in financial statements, website, 

advertisements and brochures published in relation to the promotion of its 

business; 

 

(d) the Deposit shall be registered in the name of the person to whom it is issued; 

 
99[(e)  the maturity period of the Deposit shall not be less than twelve months:   

  

Provided that the Certificates of Deposit shall be redeemable after forty-

five days of its issuance subject to such penalty that the NBFC shall specify for 

premature redemption under the terms and conditions laid out in the deposits 

agreement or product disclosure statement: 

 
100[  ] 

 

(f)  the deposits raised by NBFCs shall be capped in the following manner,- 

                                    
99 Substituted vide SRO 1659 (I)/2021 dated 28 December 2021 for the text “(e) the maturity period of the Deposit shall not be 

less than three months and certificate of deposits shall not be redeemable before expiry of the maturity period:  

Provided that the existing Certificates of Deposit shall be redeemable after forty-five days of its issuance on the terms and 

conditions laid out in the deposits agreement or product disclosure statement;”  

Provided that the Certificate of Deposit shall only be redeemable after 45 days of its issuance on the terms and conditions laid out 

in the deposits agreement or product disclosure statement;” vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  

100 Deleted the text “Provided further that NBFC shall submit monthly reports to the Commission with respect to premature 

redemptions of Certificate of Deposits made by it, on the format as may be notified by the Commission;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 

dated 17 May 2023 
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Credit Rating Total Deposits from all sources 

including deposits from 

individuals, sole proprietors, 

provident/gratuity funds, 

trusts, charitable institutions 

and section 42 companies. 

Deposits from individuals, 

sole proprietors, 

provident/gratuity funds, 

trusts, charitable 

institutions and section 42 

companies. 

AA- and above  5 times of Equity 4 times of Equity 

A- to A+  3 times of Equity 2 times of Equity 

BBB to BBB+ 2  times of Equity -Nil- 

  

(g)  at least 15 per cent of the outstanding funds raised through Deposits by the 

NBFC, excluding the Deposit held by financial institutions, shall be invested in 

Government Securities, or instruments or investments as notified by the 

Commission. Such investments or instruments shall be valued at cost or market 

value whichever is lower and any shortfall in the value of such investments or 

instruments shall be immediately made-up:  

 

 Provided that these instruments or investments are for the benefit of the 

depositors only and such instruments shall be kept un-encumbered and disclosed 

separately in the financial statements of the NBFC: 

 

 Provided further that this condition shall also be applicable on a Deposit 

taking NBFC whose permission to raise Deposits has been suspended or cancelled 

till the time all the Deposits have been repaid. 

 

(h)  the NBFC shall report to the Commission, on a monthly basis, the total amount of 

its outstanding deposits and the securities held there against:  

 

 Provided that this condition shall also be applicable on a Deposit taking 

NBFC whose permission to raise Deposits has been suspended or cancelled till 

the time all the Deposits have been repaid, and the Commission has authorized the 

removal of the suspension/cancellation; 

 

(i) the NBFC shall provide a return on Deposits which may be different for different 

volumes and maturities of deposits provided that uniformity is observed within 

each category: 

 

 Provided that deposits of listed companies, financial institutions, 

recognized charitable trusts and statutory bodies shall be exempted from 

compliance with the provision of sub-regulation (4) (i); and 
101[(j)  the NBFC shall seven days prior to the launch of any new deposit taking product 

                                    
101 Substituted for the text “(j) the NBFC shall, prior to the launch and any subsequent amendment, provide information to the 

Commission on each deposit taking scheme along with product disclosure statement and deposit taking instrument.  

Provided that the NBFC shall place all the deposit taking schemes along with specimen instruments on its website for 

information of the general public. It shall be the responsibility of the NBFC to regularly update its website in this regard.” vide 

SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  
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and any subsequent amendment, provide information to the Commission along 

with product disclosure statement, deposit taking instrument and approval of its 

Board of directors: 

 

Provided that the NBFC shall place all the deposit taking products along 

with specimen instruments on its website for information of the general public 

and it shall be the responsibility of the NBFC to regularly update its website in 

this regard.] 

 
102[(k)  All advertisements for any invitation to attract deposits either through 

advertisement by print, electronic or social media outlets or any other form or 

channel to the public or through private placement shall at the minimum contain 

the following information: 

 

(a)  credit rating of the NBFC, the name of the rating agency, the date on 

which the credit rating was issued; 

(b)  minimum and maximum tenor of the Deposit; 

(c)  expected profit rate to be paid on the deposits; and 

(d)  all advertisements for inviting a person to invest in a Deposit taking 

scheme of an NBFC must contain the following disclaimer, - 

 

The Certificate of Deposits of Non-Banking Finance Companies are 

subject to various risks including credit risk and liquidity risk. The prospective 

customers are advised to conduct their own due diligence prior to investing in 

Certificate of Deposits of a Non-Banking Finance Company.] 
103[omitted] 

 
104[15A.  Suspension and cancellation of permission to issue Certificate of 

Deposits. - (1) The permission to raise Deposit of a Deposit taking NBFC shall automatically 

stand suspended with immediate effect, if the NBFC becomes non-compliant with any or all of 

the following conditions: 

 

(a)  its equity falls below the minimum equity required as specified in these 

Regulations; 

                                    
102 Inserted vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  

103 Deleted the text “[15. Advertisement by Deposit taking NBFCs.- (1) The NBFCs shall seek prior approval of the 

Commission for any invitation to attract Deposits either through advertisement by print, electronic or social media outlets or any 

other form or channel to the public or through private placement: 

Provided that the application for seeking approval of the Commission shall deemed to be approved, if no reply is received from 

the Commission within five working days from the date of receipt of complete application by the Commission. 

(2)All advertisements for inviting persons to participate in a NBFC’s Deposit taking scheme shall at the minimum contain the 

following information: 

(a) credit rating of the NBFC, the name of the rating agency, the date on which the credit rating was issued; 

(b) minimum and maximum tenor of the Deposit; and 

(c) expected profit rate to be paid on the deposits. 

(3) All advertisements for inviting a person to invest in a Deposit taking scheme of an NBFC must contain the following 

disclaimer:  

“The Certificate of Deposits of “Non-Banking Finance Companies are subject to various risks including credit risk and liquidity 

risk. The prospective customers are advised to conduct their own due diligence prior to investing in Certificate of Deposits of a 

Non-Banking Finance Company.]103” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  

104 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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(b)  its Capital Adequacy Ratio is less than the minimum ratio as prescribed in these 

Regulations; and 

 

(c)  its credit rating drops below the minimum rating stipulated in these Regulations. 

 

  Explanation: for the purposes of this regulation the expression “suspension 

of permission to raise Deposit” means that Deposit taking NBFC shall not raise 

any fresh Deposits provided that the Deposit taking NBFC may rollover existing 

Deposits only on the written request of the depositor. 

 

(2)  If the Deposit taking NBFC is able to remove the non-compliance (s) within a 

period of six months, the Deposit taking NBFC shall submit an application, supported by 

credible documentary evidence, requesting for removal of the suspension and such Deposit 

taking NBFC shall resume accepting new Deposits only after the Commission permits it to do so. 

 

(3)  If the Deposit taking NBFC remains non-compliant with any or all of the 

conditions mentioned in sub-regulation (1) for a period of more than six months, the permission 

to issue Deposits shall stand automatically cancelled with immediate effect and the Deposit 

taking NBFC shall immediately cease to roll-over existing Deposits and the existing Deposits 

shall be repaid as and when they become due: 

 

 105[  ] 

 

15B.  Limit on aggregate liabilities of an NBFC.- (1) Aggregate liabilities, excluding 

contingent liabilities and security deposits, of a non-deposit taking NBFC shall not exceed ten 

times of its equity 106[: 

 

Provided that for an NBFC engaged exclusively in the business of issuance of guarantees 

to enhance the quality of debt instruments issued to finance infrastructure projects in Pakistan, 

the aggregate liabilities, excluding contingent liabilities and security deposits shall not exceed 

ten times of its equity and qualified capital and for this purpose the Commission may specify, 

through circular, qualified capital and its terms and conditions.] 

 (2) Contingent Liabilities of an NBFC shall not exceed the limits prescribed below: 

 

Credit Rating Maximum Limit  

AA- and above 2 times of equity 

A- to A+ 1.5 times of equity 

BBB+ 0.5 times of equity 

 

                                    
105 Deleted the text “Provided that the existing Lending NBFCs having a valid permission to raise Deposits which are non-

compliant with the requirements as given in clauses (b), (e) and (f) of sub-regulation 4 of regulation 14 and clauses (a), (b) and 

(c) of sub-regulation (1) of this regulation shall comply with these requirements within one year of the coming into force of these 

regulations:  

 Provided that during the interim period of one year, the total deposits of such NBFCs shall be capped at the existing level i.e. the 

outstanding deposits at the date of coming into force of these regulations. “vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

106 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 



24 

107[…] 108 Provided that contingent liability of credit guarantee institution shall not 

exceed the 10 times of the equity and qualified capital specified under these regulations 

and its terms and conditions 109 [ … ]  

 

 Provided that the following shall not constitute contingent liabilities for the purpose of 

this regulation,- 

 

(a)  non-fund based Finance to the extent covered by liquid assets; 

 

(b)  non-fund based finance where the payment is guaranteed by the Federal 

Government, Provincial Government, Financial Institution rated AA by a credit 

rating agency registered with the Commission; and 

 

(c)  claims other than those related to provision of Finance (fund based or non-fund 

based) to the NBFCs’ constituents, where the probability of conversion of these 

claims into liabilities is remote in the view of the Auditor.] 

 

16.   Creation of reserve fund.– 110[A deposit taking lending] NBFC shall create a 

reserve fund wherein at least 20% of the after tax profits of the NBFC shall be credited till the 

time that the reserve fund equals the amount of the paid up capital of the NBFC and thereafter a 

sum not less than 5% of its after tax profits shall be credited to the reserve fund. 

 

Explanation. - Issuance of bonus shares may be made from the reserve fund after 

appropriation made under Regulation 16 however the NBFC shall transfer further amounts to the 

reserve fund in order to comply with the requirements of Regulation (16). 

 
111[17.  Maximum Exposure of NBFC to a single person, or Group.- 112[(1) The total 

                                    
107 Inserted vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019;  
108  Substituted for the words “[Provided that for an NBFC engaged exclusively in the business of issuance of guarantees to 

enhance the quality of debt instruments issued to finance infrastructure projects in Pakistan, contingent Liabilities shall not 

exceed the 10 times of the equity and qualified capital and for this purpose the Commission may, through circular, specify the 

qualified capital and its terms and conditions]  

Provided further that for an NBFC that is exclusively engaged in the business of issuance of guarantees against, - 

(i)  financing to SMEs; and 

(ii)  debt instruments issued for financing SMEs,the Contingent Liabilities shall not exceed 10 times of the equity.]” vide 

SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
109  Inserted vide SRO 807(I)/2022 dated 14 June 2022 
110 Substituted for  the word “an” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
111 Substituted for the words “17. Maximum Exposure of NBFC to a single person or Group.- (1) The total outstanding Exposure 

(fund based and non fund based) by an NBFC to a person shall not at any time exceed 30% of the equity of an NBFC (as 

disclosed in the latest financial statements): 

Provided that the maximum outstanding fund based Exposure does not exceed 20% of the equity of an NBFC. 

(2) The total outstanding Exposure (fund based and non fund based) by a NBFC to any group shall not exceed 50% of the equity 

of an NBFC (as disclosed in the latest financial statements): 

Provided that the maximum outstanding fund-based Exposure does not exceed 35% of the equity of an NBFC.  

(3) Exposure under this Regulation shall be calculated as under, - 

 (a) 100% of the deposits placed with the lending NBFC shall be deducted from Exposure; 

 (b) 90% of the following shall be deducted from Exposure, - 

(i) deposits with another financial institution under perfected lien; 

(ii) encashment value of Government Securities and National Saving Scheme securities deposited by the Borrower as collateral; 

and 

(iii) face value of Special US Dollar Bonds converted at inter-bank rate into Pak Rupee equivalent, deposited by the Borrower as 

collateral; 
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outstanding Exposure (fund based and non-fund based) by an NBFC to a person shall not at any  

time exceed twenty per cent (20) of the equity of an NBFC (as disclosed in the latest financial 

statements): 

 

 Provided that the maximum outstanding fund based Exposure does not exceed fifteen per 

cent (15) of the equity of an NBFC 113[…]: 

 

Provided further that the total outstanding Exposure non-fund based by a credit guarantee 

institution to a person shall not at any time exceed forty per cent (40%) of the equity, 

subject to that its contingent liability shall not exceed five time of its equity (as disclosed 

in the latest financial statements) and Qualified Capital as per the following terms and 

conditions: 

(i) the NBFC shall not take any exposure against the Qualified 

Capital unless it has obtained a certificate from its statutory 

auditor that all the requirements specified above have been 

complied with; 

(ii) the certificate shall be supported by a legal opinion from a 

reputed law firm and copy of the certificate along with the 

legal opinion shall be submitted to the Commission; and  

(iii) with regard to its Qualified Capital, the NBFC, in relevant 

notes to its financial statements, shall make disclosures, 

which are necessary for the users to understand its salient 

features: 

Provided further that a non-deposit taking NBFC that is not involved in retail lending and 

provides finance to other NBFCs or financial institutions, may exceed the above limits by 

up to five percent and ten percent of its equity, respectively.] 

                                                                                                                 
 (c) 85% of the unconditional financial guarantees, payable on demand, issued by commercial banks rated at least ‘A’ or 

equivalent by a credit rating agency registered with the Commission, accepted as collateral by NBFCs shall be deducted from the 

Exposure;  

(d) 50% of listed Term Finance Certificates held as security with duly marked lien shall be deducted:  

Explanation.- The TFCs to qualify for this purpose should have been rated at least ‘A’ or equivalent by a credit rating agency 

registered with the Commission; and  

(e) the following weightage will be applicable in respect of placements with financial institutions, - 

(i) 25% weightage on Exposure to financial institutions with ‘AAA’ Rating. 

(ii) 75% weightage on Exposure to financial institutions rated at least ‘A‘.” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
112 Substituted for the words “Provided further that for an NBFC engaged exclusively in the business of issuance of guarantees 

to enhance the quality of debt instruments issued to finance infrastructure projects in Pakistan, the total outstanding Exposure 

(fund based and non-fund based) by an NBFC to a person shall not at any time exceed forty per cent (40%) of the equity (as 

disclosed in the latest financial statements) and Qualified Capital and for this purpose the Commission may, through circular, 

specify qualified capital and its terms and conditions: 

Provided also that this relaxation shall be applicable to the NBFC as mentioned above: 

(i)  for the first [five (5)] years of its operations; and 

(ii)  for total outstanding Exposure in relation to finance raised otherwise from the public] 112[: 

Provided further that an infrastructure finance company and a non deposit taking NBFC that is not involved 

in retail lending and provides finance to other NBFCs or financial institutions, may exceed the above limits by up to 

five percent and ten percent of its equity, respectively.  

Explanation:- For the purposes of this regulation, the infrastructure finance company means an NBFC that 

deploys at least seventy per cent of its total assets in infrastructure finance for the infrastructure projects, which the 

Commission may notify through circular and is compliant with minimum equity and CAR requirement.]” vide SRO 

2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

 
113 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 
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 114[(2)  The total outstanding Exposure (fund based and non-fund based) by an NBFC to 

any group shall not exceed twenty five per cent (25) of the equity of an NBFC (as disclosed in 

the latest financial statements): 

 

 Provided that the maximum outstanding fund-based Exposure does not exceed twenty per 

cent (20) of the equity of an NBFC: 

 

 Provided further that the limits prescribed in sub-regulation (1) and (2) shall not be 

applicable to exposure taken by an NBFC in its own subsidiaries out of its surplus equity 115[: 

 

Provided that the total outstanding Exposure (non-fund based) by a credit guarantee institution to 

any group shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the equity, subject to that its contingent 

liability shall not exceed five time of its equity (as disclosed in the latest financial statements) 

and Qualified Capital as per the following terms and conditions: 

 

(i) The NBFC shall not take any exposure against the Qualified Capital unless it has 

obtained a certificate from its statutory auditor that all the requirements specified 

above have been complied with; 

(ii) The certificate shall be supported by a legal opinion from a reputed law firm and copy 

of the certificate along with the legal opinion shall be submitted to the Commission; 

and  

(iii) With regard to its Qualified Capital, the NBFC, in relevant notes to its financial 

statements, shall make disclosures, which are necessary for the users to understand 

its salient features. 
 

Provided further that an NBFC that is not involved in retail lending and provides finance to other 

NBFCs or financial institutions, may exceed the above limits by up to five percent and ten 

percent of its equity, respectively.]”  

                                    
114 Substituted for the words  

 

“(2) The total outstanding Exposure (fund based and non-fund based) by an NBFC to 

any group shall not exceed twenty five per cent (25) of the equity of an NBFC (as disclosed in 

the latest financial statements):  

Provided that the maximum outstanding fund-based Exposure does not exceed twenty per 

cent (20) of the equity of an NBFC: 

Provided further that the limits prescribed in sub-regulation (1) and (2) shall not be 

applicable to exposure taken by an NBFC in its own subsidiaries out of its surplus equity 92[: 

Provided further that for an NBFC engaged exclusively in the business of issuance of 

guarantees to enhance the quality of debt instruments issued to finance infrastructure projects in 

Pakistan, the total outstanding Exposure (fund based and non-fund based) to any group shall not 

exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the equity (as disclosed in the latest financial statements) and 

Qualified Capital and for this purpose the Commission may, through circular, specify qualified 

capital and its terms and conditions: 

Provided also that this relaxation shall be applicable to the NBFC as mentioned above: 

(i) for the first [five (5)] years of its operations; and 

(ii) for total outstanding Exposure in relation to finance raised otherwise from the 

public] 93[: 

Provided further that an infrastructure finance company and a non-deposit taking 

NBFC that is not involved in retail lending and provides finance to other NBFCs or 

financial institutions, may exceed the above limits by up to five percent and ten percent 

of its equity, respectively” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

 

115 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 
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116[(3) In case of micro financing, the following Exposure limits shall be applicable: 

 

(a)  Poor Person 

Rs.117[3,000,000] for housing loan; 

Rs.500,000 for general loans other than housing loan; 

 

(b)  Microenterprise 

Rs.118[3,000,000] 

 

(4) Exposure under this Regulation shall be calculated as under, - 

 

(a)  hundred per cent (100) of the deposits placed with the lending NBFC, under 

perfected lien, shall be deducted from Exposure; 

 

(b)  ninety per cent (90) of the following shall be deducted from Exposure, - 

 

(i)  deposits with any other financial institution or scheduled bank rated at 

least A or equivalent by a credit rating agency registered with the 

Commission, under perfected lien; and 

 

(ii)   encashment value of Government Securities and National Saving Scheme 

securities deposited by the Borrower with the lending NBFC as collateral;  

 

(c)  85% of the unconditional financial guarantees, payable on demand, issued by the 

scheduled banks 119[or NBFCs engaged exclusively in the business of issuance of 

guarantees,] rated at least ‘A’ or equivalent by a credit rating agency registered 

with the Commission, accepted as collateral by NBFCs shall be deducted from the 

Exposure; 120[Same weightage shall apply to the guarantees of similar nature 

issued by the International Finance Corporation (IFC), Commonwealth 

Development Corporation (CDC) Deutsche Investitions und 

Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH (DEG), Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij 

voor Ontwikkelingslanden N.V (FMO), GuarantCo Limited, Asian Development 

Bank (ADB) and US International Development Finance Corporation (DFC) or 

any other institution notified by the Commission] 

 

                                    
116 Substituted for the text “(3) In case of micro financing, the following Exposure limits shall be applicable:  

(a) Poor Person 

Rs. 500,000 for housing loan 

Rs. 200,000 for general loans other than hosing loan 

(b) Microenterprise 

Rs. 500,000” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  
117 The expression “1,500,000”, substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
118 The expression “1,500,000”, substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
119 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
120  Substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

 

 



28 

(d)  thirty per cent (30) of listed Term Finance Certificates and Sukuks and shares of 

the KSE 100 index companies held as security with duly marked lien shall be 

deducted:  

 

  Explanation.-  The TFCs and Sukuks to qualify for this purpose should 

have been rated at least ‘A’ or equivalent by a credit rating agency registered with 

the Commission;  

 

(e)  seventy five per cent (75) of the Encashment Value of a Life Policy issued by an 

A-rated insurance company, duly assigned and endorsed in favor of the lending 

NBFC using it as a Security”; and 

 

(f)  the following weightage will be applicable in respect of placements with financial 

institutions,- 

 

(i)  10% weightage on Exposure to financial institutions with ‘AAA’ Rating; 

(ii)  25% weightage on Exposure to financial institutions rated at least ‘AA‘; 

(iii)  75% weightage on Exposure to financial institutions rated at least ‘A’.] 

 
  
121[Omitted] 

 
122[17A.  Maintenance of Capital Adequacy Ratio (‘CAR’).- A deposit taking 

NBFC shall be required to maintain CAR of eight per cent (8) for the first two years from 

coming into force of these regulations and ten per cent (10) for subsequent years as per the 

criteria given in Schedule IXA. 

 

 17B.  Asset Liability Management System. -The board of directors of a deposit taking 

NBFC shall approve a policy for effective monitoring of the NBFC’s assets and liabilities 

profiles for managing liquidity risks by containing mismatches (running total) in maturity of 

assets and liabilities across all time buckets by establishing internal prudential limits.  

 

17C.  Exposure Limits in Capital Market.- (1) An NBFC’s aggregate exposure in 

listed equity securities (in the ready as well as in futures market), and spread transactions shall 

not exceed fifty percent of its equity.  

 

Explanation:- For the purpose of this Regulation “spread transactions” mean such 

transactions where shares of one company are purchased on one settlement date and 

simultaneously sold on another settlement date, that will be considered as one transaction:  

 

                                    
121 Sub-regulation “[(5) This regulation shall not apply to an NBFC not accessing Public Funds in Pakistan provided that such 

NBFC shall determine its internal prudential limits, restrictions and requirements for exposure as per the credit and risk 

management policies duly approved by its Board 

Explanation:- Public Funds include public deposits, inter-corporate deposits, certificate of deposits and all funds received 

whether directly or indirectly from outside sources such as funds raised by issue of shares, debentures, commercial papers, etc. 

that are listed or publicly traded. Further, indirect receipts of public funds mean funds received not directly but through associates 

and group entities which have access to public funds;] omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
122 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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Provided that the above condition shall not be applicable on non-deposit taking NBFCs. 

 

(2)  An NBFC’s investment in equity securities of any company shall not exceed ten 

percent (10) of the paid-up capital of the investee company or  ten per cent (10) of its own 

equity, whichever is less and the shares acquired in excess of the  ten per cent limit, due to the 

Underwriting Commitments, shall be sold off within a period of six months from the date of 

acquisition of such shares:  

 

Provided that the amount of provisions created against permanent diminution shall be 

deducted from the cost of acquisition of equity investments and the maximum limit: 

 

Provided further that the above restriction shall not be applicable to investments made by 

an NBFC in its own subsidiaries and long term strategic investments out of surplus equity. 

 

 Explanation:- For the purpose of this Regulation “investments in equity securities” shall 

be valued at cost of acquisition for the purpose of calculating the above limit.]  

 
123[18.  Limit on clean placements.- An NBFC shall make clean placement only with 

financial institutions  rated at least A-  or equivalent by a credit rating agency registered with the 

Commission: 

 

Provided further that the aggregate Exposure of Deposit taking NBFC shall not exceed its 

equity. 

 Explanation. For the purpose of this Regulation “clean placement” means Exposure 

without taking any security or collateral.] 

 
124[18A. Limit on Unsecured Finance. – A deposit taking NBFC may provide unsecured 

Finance up to Rs. 200,000/- (Rupees two hundred thousand only) to a single borrower while a 

non-deposit taking NBFC may provide unsecured Finance up to ten percent of its equity to a 

single borrower or a single group. 125[In case of deposit taking NBFC, the aggregate unsecured 

Finance shall not exceed fifty percent of its equity]:  

 126[  ] 

 
127[Provided that this Regulation shall not be applicable in case of Non-Bank Micro 

                                    
123 Substituted for the words “18. Limit on money market placements.- An NBFC shall make clean money market placement 

only with financial institutions and its aggregate Exposure shall not exceed its equity: 

Explanation. For the purpose of this Regulation “clean money market placement” means Exposure without taking any security or 

collateral.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

124 Substituted for the text “18A. Limit on Unsecured Finance. - An NBFC may provide unsecured Finance up to Rs. 200,000/- 

(Rupees two hundred thousand only) to a single borrower. The aggregate unsecured Finance shall not exceed equity of the 

NBFC: 

Provided that the total unsecured finance shall not exceed 50% of the equity of the deposit taking NBFC provided further that this 

Regulation shall not be applicable in case of Non-Bank Micro Finance Company.” vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 

2020.  

125 Substituted for the text “The aggregate unsecured Finance shall not exceed equity of the NBFC” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 

17 May 2023 

126 Deleted the text “Provided that the total unsecured finance shall not exceed fifty percent of the equity of the deposit taking 

NBFC provided further that this Regulation shall not be applicable in case of Non-Bank Micro Finance Company:” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

127 Substituted for the text “Provided further that all NBFCs shall determine their internal prudential limits, restrictions and 

requirements for unsecured exposure as per the credit and risk management policies duly approved by their Board, and shall 
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Finance Company: 

 

Provided further that all NBFCs shall determine their internal prudential limits, 

restrictions and requirements for unsecured exposure as per the credit and risk management 

policies duly approved by their Board, and shall submit reports to the Commission regarding 

such policies and unsecured finance provided thereunder, on such format as the Commission 

may notify through circular.] 

 
128[19.  Restrictions on certain types of transactions. – An NBFC shall not, - 

 

(a)  provide a Finance against equity and debt security issued by it or its group 

companies; 

 
129[(b)  provide Finance against Unlisted Debt Security, excluding those guaranteed by an 

NBFC engaged exclusively in the business of issuance of guarantees and Unlisted 

Equity Security;] 

 

(c)  provide Finance to any company against equity and debt security of that 

company130[  ]; 

 

(d) provide Finance against shares in physical form of a listed company; 

 

(e)  take Exposure against unsecured debt security or instrument, non-rated debt 

security or instrument and debt security or instrument rated below A- by a credit 

rating agency registered with the Commission; 

                                                                                                                 
submit reports to the Commission on a quarterly basis regarding such policies and unsecured finance provided thereunder, on 

such format as the Commission may notify through circular.” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023. 

128 Substituted for the words “19. Restrictions on certain types of transactions. – An NBFC shall not, - 

(a) provide a Facility against shares and TFCs issued by it; 

(b) provide a Facility against Unlisted Debt Security and Unlisted Equity Security;  

(c) provide a Facility to any company against shares and TFCs of that company or group companies of that company; 

(d) provide a Facility against shares in physical form of a listed company; 

(e) provide a Facility against unsecured TFCs, non-rated TFCs and TFCs rated below investment grade by a credit rating agency 

registered with the Commission; 

(f) provide a Facility against shares of the sponsor directors (issued in their own name or in the name of their close relative) of 

banks and NBFCs; 

(g) hold shares on aggregate basis, whether as pledgee, mortgagee or absolute owner, of an amount exceeding 20% of the paid-up 

share capital of that company or 20% of its own equity, whichever is less: 

Provided that this restriction shall not be applicable to the investments made by an NBFC in its own subsidiaries. 

(h) provide a Facility to its chief executive, directors, individuals or firms or companies in which it or any of its directors is 

interested as a partner or director or guarantor, major shareholders and their close relatives, firms or companies without the 

approval by the majority of the directors of that NBFC: 

Provided that the director interested in seeking such approval shall not take part in the proceeding of the approval of the Facility:  

Provided further that where the board of the NBFC grants approval under Regulation 19(h) the Facility extended shall be at arms 

length basis and on such terms and conditions as are applicable to other customers of the NBFC:  

Provided further that an NBFC shall ensure that the appraisal standards are not compromised and market rates are used and a 

Facility extended to employees of an NBFC as a part of their compensation package under Employees Service Rules shall not fall 

in this category; 

(i) allow Facility on the guarantee of its chief executive, directors or major shareholders including their close relatives; and 

(j) allow a Facility to any person for speculative purposes.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

129 Substituted for the text “(b) provide Finance against Unlisted Debt Security and Unlisted Equity Security;” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

130 Deleted the text “or group companies of that company” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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Provided that an NBFC may take exposure against unsecured debt security 

issued by scheduled banks rated A- and above by a credit rating agency registered 

with the Commission 131[ 

 

Provided further that a non-deposit taking NBFC may also take exposure 

against unsecured debt security or instrument issued by microfinance banks, 

NBFCs, scheduled banks and DFIs, as per its board’s approved credit and risk 

management policies;] 

 

(f)  provide Finance against shares of the sponsor and major shareholder (issued in 

their own name or in the name of their close relative) of a financial institution; 

 

(g)   hold shares on aggregate basis, whether as pledgee, or absolute owner, of an 

amount exceeding 15% of the paid-up share capital of that company or 15% of its 

own equity, whichever is less: 

 

Provided that this restriction shall not be applicable to the investments 

made by an NBFC in its own subsidiaries or strategic investments held by the 

NBFC. 

 

(h)  provide Finance to its major shareholders, chief executive, directors, key 

executives firms or companies in which it or any of its chief executive, directors, 

key executives, or their close relatives are interested as a partner, director, 

guarantor or major shareholder:  

 

Provided that Finance extended to employees of an NBFC including chief 

executive as a part of Employees Service Rules duly approved by the board of 

directors shall not fall in this category; 

 

(i) allow Finance on the guarantee of its chief executive, directors, key executives or 

major shareholders, or by their close relatives; and 

 

(j)  allow Finance to any person for speculative purposes.] 

 

 20. Consumer Financing by an NBFC licensed to provide leasing or 

investmentfinance services.- A Leasing Company or Investment Finance Company, 132[non-

bank microfinance company or Housing Finance Company]; may undertake Consumer 

Financing 133[  ] in accordance with the requirements specified by the Commission. 

 
134[21.  Minimum conditions for providing Finance.- (1) An NBFC shall while 

                                    
131 Substituted for the semi colon (;) vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  
132 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
133 Deleted the text “provided that such NBFC carries out Consumer Finance business” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 

2023 
134 Substituted for the words “21. Minimum conditions for providing Facility. - (1) An NBFC shall while providing a Facility to a 

Borrower which exceeds one million rupees, give due weight to the credit report relating to the Borrower or its group obtained 

from a Credit Information Bureau. 
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providing a Finance (including renewal and enhancement) to a Borrower which is equal to or 

exceeds five hundred thousand rupees after netting-off the liquid assets held as security, give due 

weight to the credit report relating to the Borrower or its group obtained from a Credit 

Information Bureau. 

 
135[(2)   136[All Lending NBFCs including non-bank microfinance companies] shall:   

  

(a) obtain a credit report from Credit Information Bureau of State Bank of Pakistan or 

any other appropriate credit information bureau before allowing any Finance 

exceeding Rs. 10,000/- or such other amount as may be specified by the 

Commission through notification from time to time; and   

 
137[(b)  comply with the requirements of State Bank of Pakistan regarding membership of 

Private Credit Bureaus under Credit Bureaus Act, 2015 (XI of 2015) within the 

time period stipulated by SBP and shall ensure regular/continuous reporting to all 

the credit bureaus operating in Pakistan: 

 

Provided that NBFCs undertaking digital lending shall initiate data sharing 

with respective Credit Bureaus on real time basis.]  

                                                                                                                 
(2) If the credit report of Credit Information Bureau indicates overdue or default by a Borrower, the NBFC shall not extend any 

Facility: 

 Provided that where a Credit Information Bureau report indicates minor overdue of credit card or default due to disputed 

amounts an NBFC may grant a Facility to the Borrower after recording proper justification for granting the Facility and all such 

approvals shall be reviewed by the board of directors on a quarterly basis. 

(3) While granting a Facility to a Borrower who is not an individuals the NBFC shall obtain copy of accounts relating to the 

business of such Borrower for analysis and record in the following manner, namely:- 

(a) where the Exposure does not exceed one 

million rupees. 

Documentary evidence of net worth of the Borrower. 

(b) where the Exposure exceeds 

one million rupees but does not 

exceed two million rupees 

Accounts duly signed by the Borrower. 

(c) where Exposure exceeds two million rupees 

but does not exceed ten million rupees. 

 

Accounts duly signed by the Borrower and counter signed by: 

(i) a chartered accountant; or 

(ii) a cost and management accountant in case of a Borrower 

other than a public company or a private company which is a 

subsidiary of a public company. 

(d) where the Exposure exceeds 

ten million rupees. 

Accounts duly audited by: 

(i) a practicing chartered accountant; or 

(ii) a practicing cost and management accountant in case of a 

Borrower other than a public company or a private company 

which is a subsidiary of a public company. 

(4) In case the Borrower is an individual the NBFC shall obtain documentary evidence of the means of the Borrower such as 

wealth statement, statement of assets and liabilities or any other document as may be considered appropriate by the management 

of the NBFC. 

(5) An NBFC shall, before providing any Facility (including renewal, enhancement and rescheduling or restructuring), ensure 

that the application for loan is accompanied with a “Borrower’s Basic Fact Sheet” as prescribed in Schedule XII.  

(6) An NBFC shall ensure that the information requested in the basic fact sheet is provided by the Borrower under his seal and 

signature.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

135 Substituted for the text “(2) In case of micro financing, the NBFC shall obtain a credit report from Credit Information Bureau 

of State Bank of Pakistan or any other appropriate credit information bureau before allowing any Finance exceeding Rs. 10,000/- 

or such other amount as may be specified by the Commission through notification from time to time.” vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 

dated March 31, 2020.  

136 Substituted  vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

137 Substituted for the text “(b) comply with the requirements of State Bank of Pakistan regarding membership of Private Credit 

Bureaus under Credit Bureaus Act, 2015 (XI of 2015) within the time period stipulated by SBP and shall initiate data sharing 

accordingly.” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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138[(3) If the credit report of Credit Information Bureau indicates overdue, the NBFC may 

take exposure on such Borrower keeping in view its risk management policies and credit 

approval criteria; and shall properly record reasons and justifications in the credit approval form 

for all such exception.] 

  

 (4)  An NBFC shall not provide finance to a borrower 139[whose CIB report reflects any 

unsettled default or write-off from any credit institution]during the last three years. 

 
140Explanation: - For the purpose of this regulation credit institutions means as 

defined in the Credit Bureaus Act, 2015”; 

 (5)  While granting Finance to a Borrower who is not an individual the NBFC shall 

obtain copy of accounts relating to the business of such Borrower for analysis and record in the 

following manner, namely:- 

 

(a)  where the Exposure does 

not exceed one million 

rupees. 

Documentary evidence of net worth of the Borrower. 

(b)  where the Exposure 

exceeds one million 

rupees but does not exceed 

two million rupees 

Accounts duly signed by the Borrower. 

(c)  where Exposure exceeds 

two million rupees but 

does not exceed five 

million rupees. 

Accounts duly signed by the Borrower and 

counter signed by: 

(i) a chartered accountant; or 

(ii) a practicing cost and management accountant in case 

of a Borrower other than a public company or a private 

company which is a subsidiary of a public company 141[or 

has paid up capital of less than Rs. 3 million]. 

(d)  where the Exposure 

exceeds five million 

rupees. 

Accounts duly audited by: 

(i) a practicing chartered accountant; or 

(ii) a practicing cost and management 

accountant in case of a Borrower other than a public 

company or a private company which is a subsidiary of a 

public company 142[or has paid up capital of less than Rs. 

3 million]. 

 

                                    
138 Substituted for the text “(3)  If the credit report of Credit Information Bureau indicates overdue, the NBFC may take exposure 

on such Borrower keeping in view its risk management policies and credit approval criteria. Moreover, it shall properly record 

reasons and justifications for granting the Finance in the credit approval form; The NBFC shall maintain a file of all such 

exceptions and provide the same to the inspection team of the Commission as and when it visits the NBFC for on-site 

inspection.” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
139 Substituted for the words “who has defaulted or availed a write-off from that NBFC” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 

November 2025 
140 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
141 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
142 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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143[(5A)  in case of the borrower being a small enterprise, the NBFC may obtain a 

copy of financial statements duly signed by the borrower if the amount of finance does not 

exceed Rs. 15 million.  

  

(5B)  in case of the borrower being a public company or a private company, which is 

subsidiary of a public company or a private company having paid up capital of three million 

rupees or more, the NBFC shall obtain copy of financial statements duly audited by a practicing 

chartered accountant, while in case of any other company, copy of financial statements audited 

by a practicing chartered accountant or a practicing cost and management accountant shall be 

obtained.] 

 

(6)  In case the Borrower is an individual the NBFC shall obtain documentary 

evidence of the means of the Borrower such as wealth statement, statement of assets and 

liabilities or any other document as may be considered appropriate by the management of the 

NBFC. 

 

(7)   An NBFC shall, before providing any Finance (including renewal and 

enhancement and rescheduling or restructuring), ensure that the application for loan is 

accompanied with a “Borrower’s Basic Fact Sheet” as prescribed in Schedule XII.  

 

(8)  The 144[lending]NBFC 145[ ]shall at the time of granting Finance obtain a written 

undertaking as given in Schedule XII from the borrower disclosing details of various facilities 

already obtained from other Financial Institutions.  

 

(9)   An NBFC shall ensure that the information requested in the basic fact sheet is 

provided by the Borrower under his seal and signature.] 

 
146(10) An NBFC engaged in digital lending shall ensure that the information required in 

the basic fact sheet is provided by the Borrower digitally as given in Schedule XIIAB. 

 
147[22.  Margin against Finance. – 148[(1) Save as otherwise provided in Regulation 

                                    
143 Inserted vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  

144 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

145 Words “involved in Micro Financing” omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

146 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

147 Substituted for the words “22. Margin against Facility. - (1) Save as otherwise provided in Regulation 22(2), an NBFC shall 

apply such margin requirements on Facility as approved by their board of directors.  

(2) An NBFC shall comply with to the following margin requirements: 

Shares of listed companies  

 

Exposure against the shares of listed companies shall be subject to minimum 

margin of 30% of their current market value. However, an NBFC may set 

higher margin requirements keeping in view other factors.  

An NBFC shall monitor the margin on at least weekly basis and shall take 

appropriate action for top-up and sell-out on the basis of the credit policy 

approved by their board and prior written authorization from the Borrower. 

Listed TFCs Exposure against listed TFCs which are rated ‘A’ (or equivalent) or above 

by a credit rating agency registered with the Commission shall be subject to 

a minimum margin of 10%  

Exposure against listed TFCs rated ‘A–‘ and ‘BBB’ shall be subject to a 

minimum margin of 20%. 
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22(2), an NBFC shall apply such margin requirements against Finance provided as approved by 

their board of directors considering the risk profile of the borrower(s) in order to adequately 

secure their interests. 

 

(2) A deposit taking NBFC 149[or a listed NBFC] shall comply with the following margin 

requirements, while Non-deposit taking NBFCs shall determine their own margin requirements 

on facilities provided by them to their borrower taking into account the risk profile of the 

borrower(s) in order to adequately secure their interests.”;] 

                                                                                                                 
Bank deposits and Certificate of Deposit of 

NBFCs or DFIs and Certificates of 

Musharaka issued by Modarabas with 

investment grade credit rating by a credit 

rating agency registered with the 

Commission. 

15% 

Government backed securities 10% 

Pledge of trading stocks 25% 

Hypothecation of trading stocks 50% 

(3) All guarantees provided shall be for a specific amount and expiry date and shall contain claim lodgment date and shall be 

backed by 100% realizable securities except that in the case of performance bonds, bid bonds and mobilisation advance where the 

condition of 100% cover of realizable securities may be relaxed upto 50% provided that NBFCs hold at least 20% of the 

guaranteed amount in the form of Liquid Assets as security.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

148 Substituted for the text “(1) Save as otherwise provided in Regulation 22(2), an NBFC shall apply such margin requirements 

against Finance provided as approved by their board of directors.  

(2)   An NBFC shall comply with the following margin requirements: 

 

Shares of listed companies  

 

30% of their current market value.  

 

An NBFC shall monitor the margin on at least weekly basis and 

shall institute a robust top-up and automatic sell-out process at 

25% and 50% erosion in the margin held respectively. An NBFC 

may choose different percentages on the basis of the documented 

credit policy approved by their board.  

Listed TFCs Exposure against listed TFCs which are rated ‘A’ (or equivalent) 

or above by a credit rating agency registered with the Commission 

shall be subject to a minimum margin of 10%  

 

Exposure against listed TFCs rated ‘A–‘ and ‘BBB’ shall be 

subject to a minimum margin of 20%. 

Bank deposits and Certificate of Deposit of NBFCs or 

DFIs and Certificates of Musharaka issued by Modarabas 

with minimum credit rating of A- by a credit rating agency 

registered with the Commission. 

15% 

Government backed securities 10% 

Pledge of trading stocks 25% 

Hypothecation of trading stocks 50% 

“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

149 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

150 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

150Shares of listed companies 30% of their current market value. An NBFC shall 

monitor the margin on at least weekly basis and shall 

institute a robust top-up and automatic sell-out process at 

25% and 50% erosion in the margin held respectively. 

An NBFC may choose different percentages on the basis 

of the documented credit policy approved by their board 
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(3)  All guarantees provided shall be for a specific amount and expiry date and shall 

contain claim lodgment date and shall be backed by 100% realizable securities except that in the 

case of performance bonds, bid bonds and mobilisation advance where the condition of 100% 

cover of realizable securities may be relaxed up to fifty per cent (50) provided that NBFCs hold 

at least 20% of the guaranteed amount in the form of Liquid Assets as security.] 

 
151[Omitted] 

 
152[24.  Financial indicators of the Borrowers.- At the time of allowing fresh exposure/ 

enhancement/renewal, the NBFC shall ensure that the current assets to current liabilities ratio of 

the borrower and linkage between borrower’s equity and its total financing from all financial 

institutions is not lower than such benchmarks as may be set under the credit policy of the NBFC 

                                    
151 Deleted the text “23.  Linkage between Equity of the Borrower and total Exposure from financial institutions.–  (1) An 

NBFC while taking an Exposure shall not provide finance if the total Exposure availed by the Borrower from financial 

institutions exceeds 10 times the Equity of the Borrower as disclosed in the financial statements of the Borrower.  

Provided that the fund based Exposure of a Borrower shall not exceed 4 times of its equity as disclosed in the Borrower’s latest 

financial statements. The above limit of 4 times of equity shall not be applicable on exposure to Financial Institution.   

Provided further that where the equity of the Borrower is negative and the Borrower has injected fresh equity during its current 

accounting year, it will be eligible to obtain Finance up to 4 times of the fresh injected equity subject to the condition that the 

borrower shall plough back at least 80% of the net profit each year until such time that it is able to borrow without this relaxation.   

(2)  In case of micro financing, the total exposure to a single borrower from all Financial Intuitions shall not exceed Rs. 

151[1,500,000].” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

152 Substituted for the text “24. Financial indicators of the Borrowers.- At the time of allowing fresh exposure/ 

enhancement/renewal, the NBFC shall ensure that the current assets to current liabilities ratio of the borrower is not lower than 

such ratio as may be required under the credit policy of the NBFC. NBFCs shall prescribe the minimum current ratio under the 

credit policy keeping in view the quality of the current assets, nature of the current liabilities, nature of industry to which 

borrower belongs to, average size of current ratio of that industry, appropriateness of risk mitigates available to the NBFCs etc. It 

is expected that NBFCs credit policy duly approved by the Board of Directors, shall emphasize higher credit standards and 

provide full guidance to the management about the current ratio requirements for various categories of clients and corresponding 

risk mitigates etc. acceptable to the NBFCs.]” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

Listed TFCs Exposure against listed TFCs which are rated ‘A’ (or 

equivalent) or above by a credit rating agency registered 

with the Commission shall be subject to a minimum 

margin of 10% Exposure against listed TFCs rated ‘A–‘ 

and ‘BBB’ shall be subject to a minimum margin of 

20%. 

Bank deposits and Certificate of 

Deposit of NBFCs or DFIs and 

Certificates of Musharaka issued 

by Modarabas with minimum 

credit rating of A- by a credit 

rating agency registered with the 

Commission. 

15% 

Government backed securities 10% 

Pledge of trading stocks 25% 

Hypothecation of trading stocks 50% 
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approved by its Board. NBFCs shall prescribe the minimum current ratio under the credit policy 

keeping in view the quality of the current assets, nature of the current liabilities, nature of 

industry to which borrower belongs to, average size of current ratio of that industry, 

appropriateness of risk mitigates available to the NBFCs etc. It is expected that NBFCs credit 

policy duly approved by the Board of Directors, shall emphasize higher credit standards and 

provide full guidance to the management about the current ratio requirements for various 

categories of clients and corresponding risk mitigates etc. acceptable to the NBFCs.] 

 

 
153[25.  Classification and Provisioning for non-performing assets. – 154[(1) A Lending 

                                    
153 Substituted for the words “25. Classification and Provisioning for non-performing assets. - (1) A Leasing Company, 

Investment Finance Company and Housing Finance Company shall observe the criteria for classification of its assets and 

provisioning as provided in Schedule X till June 30, [2012] and Schedule XI with effect from [July 01, 2012]153. 

(2) In addition to time based criteria provided in Schedule X and Schedule XI subjective evaluation of performing and non-

performing advances, loans and lease port-folio shall be made for risk assessment and where considered necessary the category 

of classification determined on the basis of the aforementioned time based criteria shall be further downgraded:  

Provided that such evaluation shall be carried out on the basis of adequacy of security inclusive of its realizable value, cash flow 

of the Borrower or lessee, operations in the account and records covering advances and credit worthiness of the Borrower or 

lessee. 

(3) The status of classification of a rescheduled or restructured non-performing Facility shall b e  changed only when the terms 

and conditions of the rescheduled or restructured Facility are fully met for a period of at least six months (excluding grace 

period, if any) from the date of such rescheduling or restructuring and when at least 20% of the outstanding amount is recovered 

in cash:  

Provided that the above condition of six months retention period shall not apply if the Borrower repays or adjusts at least 50% of 

the restructured or rescheduled loan amount in cash.  

(4) An NBFC shall ensure that the status of classification and provisioning of a rescheduled or restructured non-performing 

Facility is not changed in its reports to the Commission merely due to rescheduling or restructuring of a Facility and rescheduled or 

restructured loans shall be reported to the Credit Information Bureau as such and not as default.  

(5) Where the Borrower subsequently defaults (either on principal or mark-up) after the rescheduling or restructuring of the non-

performing Facility the NBFC shall classify the loan or lease in the same category as it was in at the time of rescheduling or 

restructuring and NBFC may further downgrade the classification after taking into account the applicable criteria stated in 

Schedule X or XI. 

(6) At the time of rescheduling or restructuring an NBFC shall reconsider and re-examine the viability of the project or business 

and shall accordingly secure its interests. 

(7) An NBFC shall classify its loans, advances or lease portfolio and make provisions in accordance with the time-based criteria 

prescribed in Schedule X till June 30, [2012] and Schedule XI with effect from July 01, [2012]153:  

Provided that before making any provision an NBFC may avail the benefit of leased assets, or additional collaterals held against 

lease, or collaterals held against advances or loans, it can consider the realizable value of mortgaged or pledged or leased or 

collaterally held assets for deduction from the outstanding principal amount of loans or advances or lease against which such 

assets are leased, mortgaged, pledged or collaterally held:  

Explanation:- The value of the mortgaged, pledged assets, other than Liquid Assets, to be considered for this purpose shall be the 

FSV and the FSV once determined, shall remain valid for three years from the date of the valuation during which period the 

underlying collateral or leased assets will not be revalued for provisioning purpose. Also the adjustment factors of 80%, 70% and 

50% shall be applied on the value so determined for the purpose of determining provisioning requirement in 1st, 2nd and 3rd year 

of valuation, respectively. Thereafter, the assets shall be revalued and the adjustment factor of 50% shall be applied for all 

subsequent years.  

The FSV of the collateral shall be restricted to fresh revaluation or previous value, whichever is less. In case of NBFCs, licensed 

by the Commission to undertake housing finance services, FSV once determined, shall remain valid for a period of ten years 

from the date of valuation and an adjustment factor of 70% shall be applied on the value so determined for the purpose of 

determining provisioning requirement in respect of housing finance for the said period.  

(8) Non-performing Facility against which security or incase of lease, additional security is not available, or where mortgaged, 

pledged or leased assets have not been valued and verified by external auditors, such Facility shall continue to be classified and 

provided for according to the time-based criteria prescribed in Schedule X till June 30, [2012]153 and Schedule XI with effect 

from July 01, [2012]3. 

(9) NBFCs shall observe the following criteria for determining the realizable value of mortgaged, pledged, leased or collaterally 

held assets, namely:- 

(a) only assets having registered mortgage, equitable mortgage (where NOC for creating further charge has not been issued by 

NBFC) and pledged or collaterally held assets shall be considered; 

(b) assets having pari-passu charge shall be considered on proportionate basis; 
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NBFC shall observe the criteria for classification of its assets and provisioning as provided in 

Schedule X: 

 

Provided that in case of loans of up to Rs. 100,000 that are not secured by any Tangible 

Security and having a duration of up to six months, provided by lending NBFCs engaged in 

Investment Finance Services, the classification criteria specified for Micro Finance portfolio in 

Schedule X shall apply. Notwithstanding anything contained in this sub-regulation, after 

adoption and implementation of IFRS 9, the requirements of IFRS 9 shall be applicable.]  

 

(2)  In addition to time based criteria provided in Schedule X subjective evaluation of 

performing and non-performing Finance shall be made for risk assessment and where considered 

necessary the category of classification determined on the basis of the aforementioned time 

based criteria shall be further downgraded:  

                                                                                                                 
(c)  hypothecated assets and assets with second charge or floating charge shall not be considered; 

(d) valuations shall be carried out by an independent professional valuer listed on the panel of valuers maintained by the Pakistan 

Banks Association or the Leasing Association of Pakistan;  

(e) the valuers while assigning any values to the mortgaged, pledged, leased or collaterally held assets, shall take into account all 

relevant factors affecting the salability of such assets including any difficulty in obtaining their possession, their location, their 

condition and the prevailing economic conditions in the relevant sector, business or industry;  

(f) the realizable value of mortgaged, pledged, leased or collaterally held assets determined by the valuers must take into account 

the amount that can be realized from the asset if sold in a forced or distressed sale condition; 

(g)  the valuers shall in their report explain the assumptions, calculations, formula and method adopted in determination of the 

realizable values; 

(h) valuations shall be conducted at least once in three years:  

Provided that, except for a Housing Finance Company, if a valuation is older than three years, a fresh re-valuation shall be done 

failing which the valuation shall be taken as nil. 

(10) The categories of mortgaged, pledged, leased or collaterally held assets which are considered for valuation and the 

discounting factors to be applied shall be as under and no other assets shall be taken into consideration: 

(a) Liquid Assets: Valuation of Liquid Assets shall be determined by the NBFC and verified by the external auditors.  

Explanation:- Values of pledged shares of a listed company shall be taken at their market value on the balance sheet date and as 

per method, if any, specified by Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan. 

(b) Pledged Stocks: In the case of pledged stocks of perishable and non-perishable goods,-  

(i) the FSV provided by valuers shall not be more than six months old, at each balance sheet date;  

(ii) the goods shall be perfectly pledged; 

(iii) the operation of the godowns shall be in control of the NBFC;  

(iv) regular and valid insurance and other records should be available; and 

(v) in case of perishable goods, the valuers should also give the approximate date when these are expected to be of no value. 

(11) The values of mortgaged, pledged, leased or collaterally held assets determined by the valuers shall be subject to verification 

by the external auditors, who may reject cases of valuation, which in their opinion - 

(a) do not appear to have been professionally carried out and values determined are unreasonable, or  

(b) are not backed by valid documentation of mortgage, pledge, leased or collaterally held asset, and are not supported by legal 

opinion wherever required. 

(12) Subjective evaluation of investment portfolio and other assets shall be carried out by the NBFC. Classification of such assets 

and provisioning required against them shall be determined keeping in view the risk involved and the requirements of the 

International Accounting Standards as notified by the Commission under Section 234(3) of the Ordinance and the Technical 

Releases issued by the ICAP, from time to time.  

(13) An NBFC shall review, at least on a quarterly basis, the recovery of their loans, advances and lease portfolio and shall 

properly document the evaluations so made:  

Provided that shortfall in provisioning, if any, determined as a result of quarterly assessment, shall immediately be provided in 

the books of accounts by the NBFC. 

(14) The external auditors as a part of the annual audit of the NBFC shall verify that all requirements under these Regulations or 

any other circular issued by the Commission for classification of assets and determination of provisions required against them 

have been complied with.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

154 Substituted for the text “(1) A Lending NBFC shall observe the criteria for classification of its assets and provisioning as 

provided in Schedule X 154[:  

Provided that after adoption and implementation of IFRS 9, the requirements of IFRS 9 shall be applicable” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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Provided that such evaluation shall be carried out on the basis of adequacy of security 

inclusive of its realizable value, cash flow of the Borrower or lessee, operations in the account 

and records covering advances and credit worthiness of the Borrower or lessee. 

 

(3)  The status of classification of a rescheduled or restructured non-performing 

Finance shall be  changed only when the terms and conditions of the rescheduled or restructured 

Finance are  fully  met  for  a  period  of  at  least  six  months (excluding grace period, if any) 

from the date of such rescheduling or restructuring and when at least 20% of the outstanding 

amount (principal and mark up) is recovered  in  cash:   

 

Provided that the above condition of six months retention period shall not apply if the 

Borrower repays or adjusts at least 50% of the restructured or rescheduled loan amount (principal 

and markup) in cash either at the time of restructuring agreement or later-on during the grace 

period if any. 

 

(4)  An NBFC shall ensure that the status of classification and provisioning of a 

rescheduled or restructured non-performing Finance is not changed in its reports to the 

Commission merely due to rescheduling or restructuring of a Finance and rescheduled or 

restructured Finance shall be reported to the Credit Information Bureau as such and not as default.   

 

(5) Where the Borrower subsequently defaults (either on principal or mark-up) after 

the rescheduling or restructuring of the non-performing Finance the NBFC shall classify the 

Finance in the same category as it was in at the time of rescheduling or restructuring and NBFC 

may further downgrade the classification after taking into account the applicable criteria stated in 

Schedule X. 

 

(6) At the time of rescheduling or restructuring, an NBFC shall reconsider, re-

examine and record in detail the viability of the project or business and shall accordingly obtain a 

revised business plan, latest CIB report and endeavor to obtain additional security to protect its 

interests. 

 

(7) A Lending NBFC shall take benefit of realizable value of assets held as collateral 

against non-performing Finance as per criteria given in Schedule XI; 

 

(8) Subjective evaluation of investment portfolio and other assets shall be carried out 

by the NBFC. Classification of such assets and provisioning required against them shall be 

determined by keeping in view the risks involved and the requirements of the International 

Accounting Standards as notified by the Commission under 155[Section 225(1) of the Companies 

Act, 2017] and the Technical Releases issued by the ICAP, from time to time.  

 

(9) An NBFC shall review, at least on a quarterly basis, the recovery of their Finance, 

portfolio and shall properly document the evaluations so made:  

 

 Provided that shortfall in provisioning, if any, determined as a result of quarterly 

assessment, shall immediately be provided in the books of accounts by the NBFC. 

                                    
155 Substituted for the words “Section 234(3) of the Ordinance” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025  
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(10) The external auditors as a part of the annual audit of the NBFC shall verify that all 

requirements under these Regulations or any other circular issued by the Commission for 

classification of assets and determination of provisions required against them have been 

complied with.] 

 
156[25A. Creation of General Provision against micro finance portfolio and 

unsecured finance portfolio of Lending NBFCs:- The NBFCs with micro finance portfolio and 

unsecured finance portfolio shall maintain a General Provision equivalent to 0.5 per cent of the 

net outstanding micro finance portfolio and one per cent of the net outstanding unsecured finance 

portfolio (Finance net of specific provisions for both), provided that general provision shall not 

be required in cases wherein Microfinance is secured against liquid assets with appropriate 

margins.] 

 

26. Reversal of Provisioning.-  Where there is a cash recovery, other than 

rescheduling or restructuring, 157[Lending] NBFC may reverse specific provisioning held against 

classified assets to the  extent that the remaining outstanding amount of the classified asset is 

covered by the minimum provisioning required under that particular classified category of assets. 

 
158[omitted] 
159[omitted] 

 
160[28.  Other Terms and conditions applicable to Lending NBFCs:- An NBFC shall,  

                                    
156 Substituted for the text “25A.Creation of General Provision against micro finance portfolio:- The NBFCs with micro finance 

portfolio shall maintain a General Provision equivalent to 0.5% of the net outstanding micro finance portfolio (Finance net of 

specific provisions) provided that general provision shall not be required in cases wherein Finance is secured against liquid assets 

with appropriate margins.” Vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  

157 Substituted by the word “an” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

158 Deleted the words “27. Overdue, default and recovery thereof. - (1) An NBFC shall provide the Commission, - 

(a) a list of its defaulters on the prescribed format on quarterly basis; and 

(b) a list of rescheduled and restructured Facility on prescribed format. 

Explanation:- For the purpose of Regulation 27(1) a person shall be declared a defaulter by an NBFC if such person fails to pay 

of or liquidate any written obligation towards any NBFC and such failure has continued for a period of twelve months from the 

date on which the person was required to make the payment or to do or perform the act.  

(2) An NBFC shall nominate an officer as recovery officer or create a department for recoveries, depending upon the number of 

defaults. 

(3) An NBFC shall set quarterly recovery targets as a percentage of the overdue obligations and shall be monitored by the board.” 

Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

159 Deleted the words “Leasing” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

160 Substituted for the words “28. Terms and conditions applicable to Leasing Companies.- A Leasing Company shall in 

addition to the conditions specified in the Rules, these Regulations and any other conditions that may be specified by the 

Commission operate in accordance with the following conditions, namely: - 

(a) a Leasing Company, if undertaking the business of leasing only, shall invest at least seventy per cent of its assets in the 

business of leasing:  

Provided that cash, bank balances and cash equivalent instruments of a maximum of thirty day term, investments made under 

Regulation 14(4)(i) and investments made in unquoted shares of any company in terms of Rule 7(2)(h) shall be excluded to 

calculate investment in leasing business for purposes of this Regulation; 

(b) a Leasing Company shall not engage in the following leasing operations, - 

(i) land; and 

(ii) residential buildings and apartments;  

(d) the total investment of a Leasing Company in shares, equities or scrips shall not exceed fifty per cent of the equity of the 

Leasing Company and the shares shall be valued at the cost of acquisition for the purpose of calculating the Exposure of the 

Leasing Company under this clause;  

(e) a Leasing Company shall not own shares, equities or scrips of any one company in excess of ten per cent of its own equity or 
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of the issued capital of that company, whichever is lower:  

Provided that this restriction shall not be applicable to investments made by a Leasing Company in its own subsidiaries and long 

term strategic investments out of surplus equity; 

Explanation:- For the purpose of this Regulation the expression “share, equities or scrips” include listed shares, modaraba 

certificates, units and certificates of Collective Investment Schemes. 

Investment Finance Services 

29. Terms and conditions applicable to Investment Finance Companies.- An Investment Finance Company shall, subject to the 

conditions specified in the Rules, these Regulations and any other conditions that may be specified by the Commission, undertake 

the following activities or functions, namely: 

(a) in case of money market activities, -  

(i) issue Certificates of Deposit or commercial paper of not less than thirty days maturity subject to such conditions as may be 

specified by the Commission; 

(ii) discount or trade in commercial paper issued by its client, Government Securities, promissory notes, bills, Bankers’ 

Acceptances and other money market instruments, acting either as a broker or acting on its own account; and 

(iii) assist in the issue of commercial paper, including introduction of companies to the money market, preparation of 

documentation, distribution and market making; and 

(b) in case of capital market activities, -  

(i) invest in listed securities, both equity and non-equity instruments; 

(ii) provide professional analysis to institutional and individual investors, for remuneration, on investing in, purchasing or selling 

of securities either directly in writing or through publications; 

(iii) underwrite stocks and shares, instruments of redeemable capital and other negotiable term obligations of corporations and 

financial institutions, acting singly or jointly as manager, underwriter or distributor for issues;  

(iv) take an active part in all stages of preparation for public issues or private placement; 

(v) manage portfolios of securities including stocks, shares, pension fund, provident fund, participation term certificates and other 

negotiable and debt instruments for Eligible Investor both individual and institutional clients on a discretionary as well as non-

discretionary basis as specified in Regulation 34; 

(vi) provide Margin Loans to individual and institutional investors; and 

(vii) undertake brokerage business subject to clause (n) of sub-rule (2) of Rule 7 of Non-Banking Finance Companies 

(Establishment and Regulation) Rules, 2003: 

Provided that an Investment Finance Company shall not raise deposits in any form including certificate of deposits from any 

source; 

(c) in case of project financing activities, -  

(i) make investment in projects through,  

(I) underwriting of public issue of stocks, shares and securities; 

(II) short-term and long-term participation term certificates; and  

(III) term finance certificates of varying features;  

(ii) guarantee and counter-guarantee loans and obligations, including establishment of documentary credits; and  

(iii) open letters of credit for their corporate clients for the import of machinery installation, expansion, balancing, modernization 

and replacement;  

(d) in case of corporate finance services, -  

(i) act as adviser and financial agent for companies in obtaining direct bank loans, syndicated loans, export credits, leases and 

project finances, both domestically and internationally; 

(ii) assist companies in private placement of debt and equity, domestically or overseas; 

(iii) act as adviser to companies in corporate or financial restructuring as well as in the preparation of resource mobilization 

plans; 

(iv) act as adviser to companies in mergers, acquisition and divestitures; 

(v) assist companies with cash management systems; 

(vi) prepare feasibility, market or industry studies for companies, both domestic and overseas; 

(vii) assist to raise equity for new and existing companies, by acting as financial agent; 

(viii) act as custodian for securities owned or held by clients pursuant to their instructions and provide each or any of the 

following services; 

(I) custody of securities; 

(II) placing or execution of orders for purchase or sale of securities; 

(III) receipt of dividends and other income on securities; 

(IV) execution of voting and other rights in connection with securities; 

(V) holding securities on behalf of their clients; and 

(VI) transacting aforesaid activities through nominees, agents, or attorneys; 

(ix) act as nominees, agent, attorney, administrator, executor or trustee for clients;  

(x) act as trustee for Collective Investment Schemes, private equity and venture capital funds, real estate investment trusts and 

debt instruments, if so approved by the Commission; and 

(e) in case of general activities, -  

(i) raise funds through equity, foreign and local debentures both short and long term, commercial paper issued locally or 
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in addition to the conditions specified in the Rules, 161[or specified in] these Regulations and any 

other conditions that may be specified by the Commission, operate in accordance with the 

following conditions: 

 

(a)  Lending NBFC shall primarily invest in its licensed form of business. 
162[Investment Finance Company,] Leasing Company, Housing Finance Company 

and Discount House shall primarily invest at least seventy per cent of their total 

assets in 163[finance,] leasing, housing finance and discounting services 

respectively on quarterly average basis:  

 

 Provided that cash, deposits with financial institutions, and investment in 

government securities shall be excluded to calculate the above limit 164[: 

 

Provided further that a Leasing Company, while calculating its investment 

in leasing, may include vehicle financing as part of leasing.] 

 
165[omitted] 

 

 

(c)  A Non-Bank Micro Finance Company shall invest at least 166[fifty] per cent of its 

assets in micro financing 167[or such other limit as may be specified by the 

Commission through notification in the official Gazette from time to time]: 

 

 Provided that cash, deposits with financial institutions, and investment in 

government securities shall be excluded to calculate the above limit; 

 
168[(ca) Notwithstanding anything contained in clauses “a” and “c”, a newly licensed 

lending NBFC shall ensure compliance with above applicable investment limits 

within one year from the date of grant of license or within such extended time as 

may be allowed by Commission at the time of grant of license;] 

 

(d)  All Underwriting Commitments by an NBFC shall be fully backed by available 

funds, firm standby lines of credit or other funding arrangements. 

                                                                                                                 
overseas, sale of short and long term participation certificates and term finance certificates; 

(ii) act as authorized seller for securities and certificates, denominated in local or foreign currency, issued by Federal or 

Provincial Governments, statutory bodies, and state-owned corporations, including instruments of National Savings Schemes; 

(iii) provide safe deposit vaults to clients; 

(iv) handle payments and collections for clients; 

(v) extend Secured loans and advances; and 

(vi) provide discounting services.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

161 Inserted vide SRO 789 (I)/2016 dated 23 August 2016 

162 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

163 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

164 Inserted vide SRO 1396(I)/2021 dated 25 October 2021 

165 Deleted the text “(b)  An Investment Finance Company shall invest at least seventy per cent of its assets in Finance on 

quarterly average basis:  

 Provided that cash, deposits with financial institutions, and investment in government securities shall be excluded to calculate 

the above limit;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

166 Substituted for the word “seventy” vide SRO 789 (I)/2016 dated 23 August 2016 

167 Inserted vide SRO 789 (I)/2016 dated 23 August 2016 

168 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 



43 

 
169[(da) Lending NBFCs shall comply with such requirements as may be specified by the 

Commission through circular, for all or a specific class of Lending NBFCs, 

including but not limited to the following, - 

 

(i)  Digital Lending; 

(ii)  Fair treatment of consumers/borrowers including devising appropriate 

pricing policies and its disclosures; 

(iii)  adequate and accurate disclosures including but not limited to the offered 

products, services and applicable terms and conditions, to borrowers, 

customers and other stakeholders; 

(iv)  minimum disclosure requirements for digital applications, websites and 

any other platform used by the NBFCs for the licensed activity; 

(v)  Information technology, systems and information security measures: 

(vi)  Personal data privacy and security; 

(vii)  Usage of cloud storage and cloud operating system; and 

(viii)  Limitations on collection of data.] 
170(db) Existing Lending NBFC that hold valid license from the Commission may apply 

for the conversion of its license to digital lending NBFC 

 
171(dc) Lending NBFCs shall comply with the guidelines issued by the Commission on 

Grievance Redressal System and report to the Commission the information specified in 

the guidelines. 

 
172(dd) Lending NBFCs shall maintain a website containing following minimum 

information;  

(i) latest financial statements;  

(ii) profile/List of Board of Directors;  

(iii) complaint handling mechanism and related details; 

(iv) addresses/contact details of branches (if applicable); and 

(v) SECP investor complaints and web addresses;”  

 

Housing Finance Services 

 

(e)  In case of Housing Finance Services, an NBFC shall: 

 

(i)  determine the housing finance limit, both in urban and rural areas, in 

accordance with its internal credit policy, credit worthiness and loan 

repayment capacity of the borrowers; 

 

(ii)  In case of Housing Finance to an individual, ensure that the total monthly 

amortization payments of all Finance inclusive of housing finance shall 

not exceed 50% of the net disposable income of the prospective consumer 

                                    
169 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
170 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025  
171 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025  
172 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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173[and the income of co-borrower can be clubbed after his written 

consent];  

 

(iii)  not provide Finance for purchase of land/plots only. All housing finance 

shall be extended for the purchase of 174[constructed house or apartment or 

purchase of] land/plot and construction thereupon. Accordingly, the 

sanctioned loan limit, assessed on the basis of repayment capacity of the 

borrower, value of land/plot and cost of construction on it etc., should be 

disbursed in tranches, i.e. up to a maximum of 50% of the loan limit can 

be disbursed for the purchase of land/plot, and the remaining amount be 

disbursed for construction there-upon. Further, the NBFC shall take a 

realistic construction schedule from the borrower before allowing 

disbursement of the initial loan limit for the purchase of land/plot: 

 

  Provided that an NBFC may provide housing finance for 

construction of houses against the security of land/plot already owned by 

their customers provided that the NBFC shall ensure that the finance is 

utilized strictly for the construction purpose; 

 
175[(iv) the maximum Loan-to-Value ratio shall not be more than eighty five 

percent provided that for low cost housing the Loan-to-Value ratio shall 

not be more than ninety percent. To qualify for low cost housing, the 

borrower shall fulfill the following criteria: (1) Housing unit/apartment 

having maximum value of Rs. 3 million, (2) covered area of up to 850 sq. 

ft., and (3) loan size up to Rs. 2.7 million;  

  

(v)   extend Finance up to maximum tenor of twenty five years in line with its 

duly approved credit policy that shall define the maximum tenor keeping 

in view the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities;] 

 

(vi)  ensure that a charge is created over every property financed by it by way 

of an equitable or a registered mortgage;  

 
176[(vii) either engage professional expertise or arrange sufficient training for their 

concerned officials to evaluate the property, assess the genuineness and 

integrity of the title documents, etc. provided that for housing finance 

involving property valuing more than Rs. 3 million, engaging professional 

valuer from list of approved valuers by Pakistan Banks Association shall 

be required. For the purpose of financing low cost housing units, NBFCs 

are allowed to apply the valuation of single unit on all the units of the 

                                    
173 Inserted vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  

174 Inserted vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020 

175 Substituted for the text “(iv) the maximum Loan-to-Value ratio shall not be more than 85%; 

(v) extend Finance up to any tenor up to 25 years subject to a maximum tenor that corresponds with the borrower achieving the 

age of 60 as defined in its duly approved credit policy and keeping in view the maturity profile of its assets & liabilities;” vide 

SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020 

176 Substituted for the text “(vii)  Either engage professional expertise or arrange sufficient training for their concerned officials 

to evaluate the property, assess the genuineness and integrity of the title documents, etc.;” vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 

31, 2020 
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same society/colony instead of conducting separate valuation for each unit 

constructed on the same layout and size;] 

 

(viii)  devise a mechanism to monitor conditions in the real estate market (or 

other relevant product market) and ensure that its policies are aligned to 

current market conditions; 177[] 

 
178[(ix) arrange for the insurance/takaful of mortgaged property up to full value of 

finance in case of apartment and up to construction cost in case of house 

from approved insurance/ takaful companies;] 179[and 

(x)  implement such Minimum Housing Finance Underwriting Standards for 

sound housing finance underwriting and risk management practices as 

provided in Schedule XIIIA;] 

 

Discounting Services 

 

(f) In case of Discounting Services, an NBFC shall: 

 

(i)  provide Finance for a maximum period of 180 days; 

 

(ii)  ensure that Finance is provided on recourse basis; 

 

(iii)  ensure that the financial instruments discounted are legally enforceable 

and properly discharged in the name of the NBFC; and 

 

(iv)  maintain appropriate margins against the Finance provided by it. 

 

Micro Financing 

 

(g)  In case of Micro Financing, an NBFC shall: 

 

(i)  Provide Finance in the name of individuals to ensure traceability and 

reduce the incidence of multiple borrowing; 

 

(ii)  develop an internal mechanism to monitor the overall exposure of its 

borrowers so as to manage credit risk and also minimize the borrowers’ 

over indebtedness;   

 

(iii)  develop and implement appropriate pricing policies that ensure access to 

affordable financial services and  operational and financial sustainability 

of the NBFC; 

 

[iiia)  prior to entering into agreement, highlight to the prospective client, the 

                                    
177 Deleted the word “and” vide SRO 1605 (I)/2021 dated 14 December 2021 

178 Substituted for the text “(ix)  arrange for the insurance of mortgaged property from approved insurance companies, to the 

extent of the finance;” vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  

179 Inserted vide SRO 1605 (I)/2021 dated 14 December 2021 
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key contractual terms and conditions and disclose in precise form detailed 

information including but not limited to:    

 

(a) mark-up rate- expected rate of mark-up that will be charged on the 

loan whether it is on fixed, variable or combination of fixed and 

variable rates.     

 

(b) financing details- disclose amount and term of loan along with 

number of installments and the amount to be paid for each 

installment. For the finance on variable markup rate, the NBFC 

shall inform the client that the total repayment amount will be 

based on the benchmark/reference rate (KIBOR, bank rate, etc.) 

agreed at the time of signing of finance agreement and that it is 

likely to be changed during the term of the finance.     

 

(c) lock-in Period and Early Settlement charges- indicate Lockin 

period, if any, along with a calculation of charges/penalties, if the 

loan facility is terminated before the end of the lock-in period.     

 

(d) fees and charges- enlist applicable fees and charges, and their 

nature, including implied charges/penalties.    

 

(e) collateral- specify nature of the property/asset/valuable required as 

collateral, where applicable.    

 

(f) contact details- provide details of Grievance redressal 

system/mechanism;  

 

(iiib) adopt continuous disclosure during term of the loan contract in the 

following manner:    

 

(a) notice of changes- notify the consumer in writing of any change in 

mark-up rate on a variable finance facility. This notification shall 

include: a) the date from which the new rate applies; and b) the 

revised repayment schedule.     

 

(b) any other change, including but not limited to terms and 

conditions, features of product and the borrower’s rights and 

obligations shall be communicated at least before a period of thirty 

days. The mode of notification should be in any agreed mode in 

addition to display at business premises and websites of NBFC.] 

 

(iv)  deliver to the Borrower, at the time a finance is granted, a statement 

showing in clear and distinct terms the amount, date of the disbursement, 

monthly installment, the nature of the security, if any, the name and 

address of the Borrower and the rate of mark-up to be charged; 



47 

 

(v)   give to the Borrower a receipt for every repayment made on account of 

any Finance at the time of such payment; 180[  ] 

 

(vi)   on full repayment of Finance by the Borrower in case of individual 

lending or all the Borrowers in case of group lending mark indelibly with 

words indicating payment or cancellation of every paper signed by the 

Borrower pertaining to the Finance and discharge any mortgage, revoke 

any pledge, return any note, and cancel any assignment given by the 

borrower or borrowers as security; 181[and 

 
182[Omitted]  

 

(h)  An NBFC which intends to conduct its business in accordance with Islamic 

Shariah principles shall comply with the conditions as specified by the 

Commission. 

 

29.  Permissible Activities. - (1) A lending NBFC, in addition to the licensed form of 

business, may engage in any one or more of the following activities subject to the compliance 

with the relevant regulatory framework,- 

 

(a) Take part in all stages of preparation for public issues or private placement; 

 

(b) make investment in projects through - 

 

(i) underwriting of public issue of stocks, shares and securities; 

(ii) short-term and long-term participation term certificates; and  

(iii) term finance certificates of varying features;   

 

(c) guarantee and counter-guarantee loans and obligations, including establishment of 

documentary credits;  

 

(d) act as adviser and financial agent for companies in obtaining direct bank loans, 

syndicated loans, export credits, leases and project finances, both domestically 

and internationally; 

 

(e) assist companies in private placement of debt and equity, domestically or overseas 

 

(f) act as adviser to companies in corporate or financial restructuring as well as in the 

preparation of resource mobilization plans; 

 

(g) act as adviser to companies in mergers, acquisition and divestitures; 

 

(h) assist companies with cash management systems; 

                                    
180 Deleted the word “and” vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  

181 Inserted vide SRO  279 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020.  
182 Sub-clause (vii)] omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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(i) prepare feasibility, market or industry studies for companies, both domestic and 

overseas; 

 

(j) assist to raise equity for new and existing companies, by acting as financial agent; 

 

(k) act as custodian for securities owned or held by clients pursuant to their 

instructions and provide each or any of the following services; 

 

I. custody of securities; 

II. receipt of dividends and other income on securities; 

III. execution of voting and other rights in connection with securities; 

IV. holding securities on behalf of their clients; and 

V. transacting aforesaid activities through nominees, agents, or attorneys; 

 

(l) act as nominees, agent, attorney, administrator, executor or trustee for clients; 

 

(m) act as trustee for Collective Investment Schemes, private equity and venture 

capital funds, real estate investment trusts and debt instruments, if so approved by 

the Commission;  

 

(n) raise funds through equity, foreign and local debentures both short and long term, 

commercial paper issued locally or overseas, sale of short and long term 

participation certificates and term finance certificates; 

 

(o) act as authorized seller for securities and certificates, denominated in local or 

foreign currency, issued by Federal or Provincial Governments, statutory bodies, 

and state-owned corporations, including instruments of National Savings 

Schemes; 

 

(p) provide safe deposit vaults to clients; 

 

(q) handle payments and collections for clients;  

 

(r) provide discounting services, consumer financing etc.; 

 

(s)    provide finance for capital market including margin financing; and 

 

(t) any other activity as may be permitted by the Commission.] 

 
183[PART III A 

 

Additional Requirements for NBMFC’s 

 

                                    
183 Inserted vide SRO 1605 (I)/2021 dated 14 December 2021 
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30.  Application of this Part. - The provisions of this part shall apply to Non-Bank 

Micro Finance Companies and are in addition to other applicable requirements under these 

regulations. 

 

31.  Risk Management – Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies having a gross loan 

portfolio of Rs. 500 million or more, 184[as per the latest annual audited financial statements,] 

shall follow the following guidelines on risk management that provide minimum benchmark of 

best practices. Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies shall, -  

 

(a) devise and implement a comprehensive risk management framework duly 

approved by its board to identify, assess, and prioritize risks, develop strategies to 

measure risk, design operational policies and procedures to mitigate risk, 

implement and assign responsibilities, test effectiveness, evaluate results and 

revise policies and procedures, where required; 

 

(b) ensure that the risk management framework comprehensively covers all risks, 

including credit, operational and market risks, to which the company is exposed 

and encompasses the scope of risks to be managed, determine risk tolerance limits 

and have flexibility to accommodate any change in business activities; 

 

(c) design risk management tools and approaches that respond to their specific 

clients, lending methodologies, operating environments, and financial and social 

performance objectives; and 

 

(d) develop contingency plans duly approved by its board to effectively deal with 

stress situations. Contingency plans shall be regularly reviewed to ensure those 

are relevant and effective. 

 

32.  Funding and Liquidity Management - (1) A Non-Bank Micro Finance 

Company shall formulate and implement a comprehensive funding and liquidity management 

policy duly approved by its board to ensure that it has funding from well-diversified sources for 

its sustainability and meeting social and performance objectives.   

 

(2)  A Non-Bank Micro Finance Company shall ensure that, - 

 

(a) its funding sources are well diversified including equity, sponsors’/donors’ 

funding, subordinated loans, commercial finance, debt instruments issued through 

capital markets and other sources; 

 

(b) its funding mix has a good balance of short term, medium term and long-term 

funds in line with the overall funding policy;  

 

(c) its borrowings including subordinated debt from a single source as a percentage of 

total assets is not more than the following limits: 

 

Debt to Equity Ratio  Borrowing from a single source 

                                    
184 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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as % of Total Assets 

Less than 2 times 75% 

2 to 3 times 70% 

Higher than 3 and up to 4 times 65% 

More than 4 times 60% 

 

(d) it defines and maintains adequate minimum liquidity cushion for business as 

usual, as well as for stress situations, and the liquidity plans include simple stress 

scenarios taking into account contagion effects that may manifest in a rapid 

deterioration of the loan portfolio due to localized problems; 

 

(e) where exposed to foreign exchange risk, it undertakes separate analysis for each 

currency individually and, where appropriate, sets and regularly reviews limits on 

the size of its cash flow mismatches for foreign currencies in the aggregate and 

for each significant individual currency; 

 

(f) it carries out matching and forecasting of assets and liabilities for a foreseeable 

future to ensure that liabilities remain less then assets at all time; and 

 

(g) a mechanism is in place for forward looking fund management for a foreseeable 

future to fill up any projected shortfall by arranging additional funds while 

complying with overall fund management policy and regulatory requirements:  

 

Provided that the Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies, which are non-

compliant with clause (c), shall ensure compliance within a year from the date 

these requirements come into effect.  

 

(3)  A Non-Bank Micro Finance Company shall create a special reserve fund wherein 

at least 5% of its after-tax profits shall be credited and the special reserve fund shall be 

separately disclosed in the statement of financial position as part of the equity. 

 

33.  Credit Underwriting Standards - (1) A Non-Bank Micro Finance Company’s 

board shall establish and oversee a loan underwriting policy aligned with its risk governance 

framework, its risk tolerances and limits, and its overall risk appetite and strategy, and the policy 

shall be reviewed by the board periodically. The board shall seek periodical reporting from the 

company’s oversight functions to properly monitor and evaluate effectiveness of lending policies 

and procedures, risks, and to ensure that individual transactions comply with the underwriting 

policy and the risk tolerances.  

 

(2)  A Non-Bank Micro Finance Company shall have written manuals and policies 

with regard to the screening, approval, monitoring and collection of loans. The manuals and 

policies shall be devised taking into account the special characteristics of its lending 

methodology. 

 

(3)  In addition to compliance with regulation 9, a Non-Bank Micro Finance Company 

shall, - 

 

(a) develop comprehensive Know Your Customer and Customer Due Diligence 
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policies duly approved by the board and shall be communicated down the line to 

relevant staff. The policy shall define high risk factors which may include the 

description of customers, products, transaction channels and geographic 

distribution; 

 

(b) deploy systems, controls and take all reasonable measures to identify existing and 

prospective customers and to gain a reasonable assurance that the customer is not 

exploiting microfinance channel for any unlawful activity; 

 

(c) develop and implement Anti Money Laundering /Counter Financing of Terrorism 

policies and procedures in line with SECP’s regulations, directions and guidelines 

and ensure meticulous compliance of the same; 

 

(d) perform due diligence to evaluate borrowers’ willingness and repayment capacity 

to adequately service their debt obligations, including consideration of credit 

history and performance on past and existing obligations; 

 

(e) develop income assessment and evaluation procedures of borrowers that are 

relevant to the nature of borrowers’ business to ensure that the income is 

reasonably estimated and the total installment of the credit extended by it 

commensurate with monthly income and repayment capacity of the borrower; 

 

(f) appropriately value the inconsistent incomes and, if necessary, suitably discount 

it; 

 

(g) assign due weightage to the Credit Information Bureau report in addition to their 

approved criteria while undertaking credit appraisal of the prospective borrower. 

The CIB report should not be the sole assessment tool used to determine 

reliability as it indicates past, not future behavior, or the borrower’s current 

financial condition; 

 

(h) establish minimum requirements of information and analysis upon which lending 

decisions are made and shall ensure that the documents, data or information 

collected under customer due diligence process is kept up-to-date to ensure 

traceability of the borrowers; 

 

(i) in the case of secured lending, set forth procedures for collateral evaluation and 

lien perfection documents; 

 

(j) develop an internal mechanism to monitor the overall exposure of their borrowers 

to manage credit risk and minimize the risk of borrowers’ over indebtedness. At 

the time of granting loan, it shall obtain a written declaration on the prescribed 

format from the borrower disclosing details of various facilities already obtained 

from other microfinance banks, microfinance institutions, banks and other 

financial institutions and shall ensure that total exposure of their clients does not 

exceed their total repayment capacity as determined under the criteria laid-out in 

the credit policy. 

 

(4)  A Non-Bank Micro Finance Company shall have a clear policy for large loan 
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sizes, as may be determined by its Board and shall deploy a more stringent criteria, duly 

approved by its board, to establish an appropriate valuation methodology and require sufficient 

documentation to support the collateral valuation, where applicable. A post-screening process 

shall be in place and shall be used in conjunction with pre-screened process to identify 

potentially bad loans for effectively managing those. 

 

34.  Code of Corporate Governance. – 185[All lending NBFCs including Non-Bank 

Micro Finance Company shall comply with the requirements of the Code of Corporate 

Governance, as specified in Schedule XIIA.] 

 
186[omitted] 

 
187[omitted] 

 
188[omitted] 

 
189[omitted] 

                                    
185 Substituted for the text “A Non-Bank Micro Finance Company shall comply with the requirements of the Code of Corporate 

Governance, as specified in Schedule XIIA.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

186 Deleted the words “30. Limits for investment in equities.- (1) An Investment Finance Company shall not make aggregate 

investment in listed equity securities, both in the ready as well as in futures market, exceeding fifty percent of its own equity: 

Provided that investment in equity securities of any company shall not exceed ten percent of the paid-up capital of the investee 

company or ten per cent of its own equity, whichever is less and the shares acquired in excess of ten per cent limit, due to the 

Underwriting Commitments, will be sold off within a period of seven months from the date of acquisition of such shares:  

Provided further that this restriction shall not be applicable to investments made by a Investment Finance Company in its own 

subsidiaries and long term strategic investments out of surplus equity: 

Provided further that Investment Finance Companies shall comply with this condition latest by June 30, 2011 on a diminishing 

balance basis: 

Explanation:- For the purpose of Regulation 30(1) “investments in equity securities” shall be valued at cost for the purpose of 

calculating Exposure of the Investment Finance Company. 

(2) Total spread transactions by an Investment Finance Company shall not exceed two times of its equity: 

Explanation:- For the purpose of Regulation 30(2) “spread transactions” mean transactions where shares of one company are 

purchased in one settlement date and simultaneously sold in another settlement date. 

(3) Total investment by an Investment Finance Company in cash settled futures, exchange traded options and index futures shall 

not exceed fifty percent of its equity and its Exposure in single scrip shall not exceed ten percent of its equity: 

Provided that there shall be a maximum loss limit as determined and recorded in writing by the board of directors of an NBFC on 

each contract and thereafter the Investment Finance Company shall immediately square its position: 

Explanation: For the purpose of Regulation 30(3) Exposure shall be calculated on the basis of nominal value of the contract.” 

Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

187 Deleted the words “31. Total investment in reverse repo and Continuous Funding System in the capital market.- The total 

investment by an Investment Finance Company in reverse repo and CFS shall not exceed two and a half times of its equity and 

Exposure in a single security in CFS and reverse repo shall not exceed twenty per cent of its equity: 

Provided that reverse repo and CFS shall only be carried out in CFS eligible and Government Securities..” Vide SRO 

1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

188 Deleted the words “32. Underwriting Commitments.- All Underwriting Commitments by an Investment Finance Company 

shall be fully backed by available funds, firm standby lines of credit or other funding arrangements.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 

dated 25 November 2015 

189 Deleted the words “33. Conditions for Margin Loans.- The grant of Margin Loans by an Investment Finance Company to its 

clients shall be in accordance with the following conditions, - 

(a) the aggregate of Margin Loans shall not exceed fifty per cent of the equity of the Investment Finance Company; 

(b) the margin to be maintained by the client with the Investment Finance Company shall not be less than thirty per cent of the 

loan amount outstanding, calculated as residual value obtained after deducting the loan amount outstanding from the market 

value of the portfolio;  

(c) Margin Loans to a single client or associated company or undertaking shall not exceed ten per cent of the equity of the 

Investment Finance Company; and 

(d) Margin Loans shall be approved in accordance with a written pre-defined policy approved by the board of the Investment 
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190[omitted] 

 
191[omitted] 

                                                                                                                 
Finance Company and shall not be granted to any employee, officer, director, shareholder having beneficial ownership of ten 

percent or their close relatives having beneficial ownership of more than ten per cent in the paid-up capital of the Investment 

Finance Company, whether directly or indirectly:  

Explanation:- For the purpose of Regulation 33(d) “directly or indirectly” means through close relatives, companies controlled by 

them, affiliates, subsidiaries, or by way of acting in concert with others.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

190 Deleted the words “34. Managing discretionary and non-discretionary client portfolio.- (1) An Investment Finance Company 

shall inform the Commission before commencement of business of managing Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary 

Portfolio and in managing Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio of client an Investment Finance Company 

shall, - 

(a) accept investment requests only from Eligible Investors; 

(b) exercise due diligence, care and prudence to achieve the investment objective of the Discretionary Portfolio and Non-

Discretionary Portfolio of clients;  

(c) organize its affairs in a manner that Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio of client are managed separately 

from other activities;  

(d) make investment or disinvestments decision independently and on merit;  

(e) only charge fees and costs as specified in the written agreement between the parties;  

(f) disclose details separately for Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio by way of separate note to the annual 

and quarterly accounts such as the number of clients, total portfolio at cost as well as market value and fee earned; and 

(g) comply with any circulars or directions issued by the Commission relating to the business of managing Discretionary 

Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio.  

(2) In the event of any dispute, the Investment Finance Company shall produce evidence of compliance under Regulation 34 (1).” 

Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

191 Deleted the words “Housing Finance Services 35. Terms and conditions for undertaking housing finance services.- (1) A 

Housing Finance Company may provide loans to individuals against the property for the purchase of a residential house or 

apartment or land including the Facility availed for the purpose of making improvements in house, apartment or land: 

Provided that the Housing Finance Company shall arrange for the insurance of mortgaged property from approved insurance 

companies:  

Provided further that a Housing Finance Company owning real estate shall arrange to dispose it off with in a period of three years 

commencing from 30th June 2008 or within the period extended by the Commission in specific circumstances. 

(2) A Housing Finance Company shall carry out the housing finance services subject to the conditions mentioned below and any 

other conditions that may be specified by the Commission, -  

(i) it shall invest at least seventy per cent of its assets in the business of housing finance, unless it is licensed by the Commission 

to undertake any other form of business in addition to housing finance services;  

Provided that cash, bank balances and cash equivalent instruments of a maximum of thirty day term, investments made under 

Regulation 14(4)(i) and investments made in unquoted shares of any company in terms of Rule 7(2)(h) shall be excluded to 

calculate investment in housing finance business for purposes of this Regulation; 

(ii) total investment of the Housing Finance Company in shares, equities or scrips shall not exceed fifty per cent of its own equity 

and the shares shall be valued at cost of acquisition for the purpose of calculating the Exposure of the Housing Finance Company 

under this clause:  

(iii) a Housing Finance Company shall not own shares, equities or scrips of any one company in excess of ten per cent of its own 

equity or of the issued capital of that company, whichever is lower: 

Provided further that this restriction shall not be applicable to investments made by a Housing Finance Company in its own 

subsidiaries and long term strategic investments out of surplus equity; 

(iv) the maximum per party limit in respect of housing finance by the Housing Finance Company shall be Rs.20 million; 

(v) the total monthly amortization payments of all consumer loans inclusive of housing finance shall not exceed 60% of the net 

disposable income of the prospective Borrower; 

(vi) Facility may be advanced for the purchase of land, construction of houses or renovation of an existing house against the 

security of land with the legal title in the name of the customer; 

(vii) housing finance facility shall be provided at a maximum debt-equity ratio of 85:15; 

(viii) a Housing Finance Company may provide mortgage loans for up to a period of twenty years from the date of grant of 

licence by the Commission. 

(ix) a Housing Finance Company shall ensure that a charge is created over every house financed by it by way of an equitable or a 

registered mortgage; 

(x) a Housing Finance Company shall appoint a valuer who has been approved by the Commission to value property;  

(xi) a Housing Finance Company shall appoint a lawyer to get the title documents of the property verified and the Housing 

Finance Company shall ensure that the lawyer submits a due diligence report to it in relation to verification of title of a property;  

(xii) the management of the Housing Finance Company shall devise a mechanism to monitor conditions in the real estate market 
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192[PART III B 

Requirements for Peer to Peer Lending 

35A.  Eligibility Requirements of P2P Service Provider.- (1) Except as provided 

under these regulations, no company shall provide P2P Services or undertake business as a P2P 

Service Provider. 

(2)  A 193[non-deposit taking] Lending NBFC, having valid license, may apply to the 

Commission for permission to operate as P2P Service Provider, subject to the following 

requirements, - 

(i)  194[It shall have a minimum equity of Rs. 150 million or such higher amount as the 

Commission may notify, including the minimum equity requirement as specified 

under schedule I of Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities 

Regulations, 2008]  

 
195[(ia) shall be eligible to obtain the approval of P2P service provider after operating for 

a minimum period of one year from the date of business commencement and 

obtaining a credit rating of at least BBB. 

 

   Provided that NBFC shall submit 12 Month Audited Accounts.] 

        196[(ib)It shall have minimum five directors on the board.] 

 

(ii)  It shall have the necessary demonstrable technological, entrepreneurial and 

managerial resources to offer such services to the participants.  

(iii)  It shall have a viable business plan for conducting the business as P2P Service 

Provider.  

(iv)  It shall submit a plan for implementation of a robust and secure Information 

Technology system.  

(v)  It shall comply with any other condition as may be required by the Commission. 

35B.  Application for Permission to work as P2P Service Provider. – (1) A Lending 

NBFC desirous of operating as P2P Service Provider, shall apply to the Commission on the form 

                                                                                                                 
(or other relevant product market) at least on a quarterly basis and the Housing Finance Company shall ensure that its policies are 

aligned to current market conditions; 

(xiii) a Housing Finance Company shall develop floating rate products for providing housing finance, thereby managing interest 

rate risk; and 

(xiv) Housing Finance Companies shall develop in-house systems to stress test their housing portfolio against adverse 

movements in interest rates and also maturity mismatches: 

Explanation.- For the purpose of this Regulation the expression “share, equities or scrips” include listed shares, modaraba 

certificates, units and certificates of Collective Investment Scheme.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

192 Inserted vide SRO 807(I)/2022 dated 14 June 2022 

193 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   

194 Sub-clause (i) substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   

195 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   

196 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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specified in Schedule 197[XVIA] to these Regulations along with the information specified in 

regulation 35A and Annexure to Schedule [XVIA].  

(2)  Before granting permission as a P2P Service Provider under these regulations, the 

Commission may, among others, require the Chief Executive Officer to provide an undertaking 

regarding, - 

i.  the systems readiness; 

ii.  availability of sufficient human, financial and other resources to carry out 

operations; 

iii.  availability of adequate security measures, systems capacity, business continuity 

plan and procedures, risk management, data integrity and confidentiality, record 

keeping and audit trail, for daily operations and to meet emergencies; and 

iv.  availability of sufficient IT and technical support arrangements. 

35C.  Grant of Permission of P2P Lending Platform.- (1) The Commission shall, 

after making necessary inquiries and after obtaining such further information, as it may consider 

necessary, and after being satisfied that the conditions specified under regulation 35A and 35B 

are fulfilled, grant permission on the format specified in Schedule-XVII to operate as P2P 

Service Provider, subject to such conditions that it may consider fit to impose. 

(2)  Permission granted shall be valid 198[for single platform] on perpetual basis until it 

is cancelled, suspended or the license of the P2P Service Provider as a Lending NBFC is 

cancelled, suspended or revoked.  

(3) The applicant shall ensure that during the validity of permission as a P2P Service 

Provider, if there are any material deviations from the representations made at the time of 

submission of application, the same are brought to the attention of the Commission immediately.  

(4) Before offering services as a P2P Service Provider, the company shall put in place the 

technology platform, enter into all other legal documentations required and submit a report for 

evaluation to its board of directors, duly certified by the auditor, on readiness of systems, 

controls and position of compliance with the conditions of permission granted by the 

Commission. 

35D.  Scope of Activities of P2P Service Provider.- (1) A P2P Service Provider shall,- 

a)  act as an intermediary providing an online marketplace or platform to the 

participants for direct lending and borrowing 199[for BNPL and working capital 

finance or any other activity as may be allowed by Commission on case to case 

basis]; 

                                    
197 Substituted the expression “XVI” wherever occurring, vide SRO 2120(I)/2025. 
198 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
199 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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b)  contribute at least 200[twenty] percent or such higher percentage as it may agree 

with the lenders in each loan disbursed through the platform provided that the 

agreed loan contribution shall stand at par in rights, terms of recovery and 

repayment to lenders; 

c)  store and process all data relating to its activities and participants on hardware, 

within Pakistan or as permitted by the Commission; 

d)  undertake due diligence of the Participants; 

e)  undertake credit assessment and risk profiling of the borrowers, disclose it to the 

lenders and provide advice relating to P2P Services on the credibility of 

borrowers, determining the credit worthiness of the borrowers, extending loan to 

borrowers and determining the Price of transactions for Users 201[participants] on 

its Platform; 

f)  lend money to borrowers/participate in the transaction and facilitate disbursement 

and repayment of loan amount; 

g)  determine the terms of finance including its extension, renewal etc.; 

h)  require prior and explicit consent of the Participant to access its credit 

information; and 

i)  establish systems and controls for maintaining accurate and up-to-date records of  
202[lenders] monies held, disbursed, recovered, income and expenses charged etc. 

203(j) shall create a “platform contingent fund” wherein at least 5% of its after-tax 

profits shall be credited and the platform contingent fund shall be separately 

disclosed in the statement of financial position.  

P2P Service Provider may invest platform contingent fund into liquid assets 

(2)  A P2P Service Provider through the P2P Lending Platform shall not, - 

a.  raise deposits as defined under Section 84 of the Companies Act, 2017 or involve 

in any illegal activity; 

b.  lend on its own through the P2P Lending Platform in any other way, except as 

otherwise provided in sub-regulation (1) above; 

204[omitted]; 

d.  permit direct international flow of funds; and 

                                    
200 Substituted for the word “fifteen” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
201 Substituted for the “users” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
202 Substituted for the word “investors” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
203 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
204 Sub-clause “c.” omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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e.  undertake any activity in relation to P2P Lending, other than those specifically 

stated in relation to P2P Lending under these Regulations. 

35E.  Prudential Norms. - (1) A P2P Service Provider shall inter-alia comply with the 

following requirement, namely, - 

a)  the aggregate loans taken by a borrower at any point of time, across all P2P 

Lending Platforms, shall be subject to a cap of Rs.1,000,000/-; 

205Provided that this requirement shall not be applicable in case of secured 

lending backed by tangible security with adequate insurance coverage; 

b)  the exposure of a single lender to the same borrower, across all P2P Lending 

Platforms, shall not exceed Rs. 500,000/-; 

  206Provided that in case of secured lending backed by tangible security 

with adequate insurance coverage, exposure of a single lender to the same 

borrower shall not exceed Rs. 5,000,000 

207ba) the exposure of a single borrower from multiple lenders on a P2P Lending 

Platform, shall not exceed Rs. 1,000,000 

  Provided that this requirement shall not be applicable in case of secured 

lending backed by tangible security with adequate insurance coverage;” 

c)  208maximum limit for a single lender on all P2P Lending Platforms, shall be as under or 

any other limit specified by the Commission from time to time: 

(i) for an individual: Rs. 1,000,000; 

(ii) sole proprietor, and section 42 company: Rs. 5,000,000; 

and 

(iii) other Lenders: Rs. 50,000,000.”; 

  d)  the maturity of the loans shall not exceed  209[36]months; 

e)  210lenders shall meet the following eligibility criteria; 

  (i)  high net worth persons having net worth of at least Rs. 15   

  million excluding personal residence;  

  (ii)  person having taxable income exceeding Rs. 4,100,000   

  per annum 

                                    
205 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
206 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
207 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
208 Substituted for the words” “maximum limit for a single lender on all P2P Lending Platforms, shall be as under: 

(i)  for an individual, sole proprietor, provident/gratuity fund, trust, charitable institution and section 42 

company: Rs.1,000,000; and 

(ii)  other Lenders: Rs. 10,000,000. 

vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
209 Substituted for “12” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
210 Substituted for the words “lenders shall be high net worth persons having net worth of at least Rs.15 million excluding 

personal residence” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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Provided that such lender shall only be allowed to extend credit for the loan ticket 

size not exceeding to Rs. 100,000, with a loan tenor not exceeding 12 months.  

 Provided further if the non-performing loans on the P2P platform exceeds 5% of 

the outstanding principal amount of the platform and 10% of the outstanding 

principal amount of the P2P service provider, the service provider shall cease 

onboarding the individual lenders.  

Explanation: For the purpose of this sub-regulation, “non-performing loans” 

refer to outstanding loans, including principal and markup payments, where the 

days past due (DPD) exceed 30 days.; 

f)  eligibility for borrower shall be assessed on factors including but not limited to 

purchase history with distributors/suppliers, satisfactory-good repayment history 

(Credit Bureau Services), Satisfactory-Good market reputation and business 

operating history of one year; 211[ ]  

g)  prices for the transactions shall be determined based on categories, characteristics, 

credit scoring of each borrower etc. and shall be provided to the lenders for 

decision making; 212[and] 

213h) lenders’ outstanding lending exposure on a P2P lending platform shall not exceed five 

times of the P2P Service Provider’s equity 

(2)  The following entities /persons shall not be allowed as borrowers on a P2P 

Lending Platform, - 

a)  commercially or financially complex structures (i.e. investment fund companies 

or financial institutions); 

b)  public-listed companies and their subsidiaries; 

c)  companies with no specific business plan or the companies whose business plan is 

to merge or acquire an unidentified entity (i.e. blind pool); 

d)  associated persons, companies and undertaking of P2P Service Provider; and 

e)  any other type of entity / person that is specified by the P2P Service Provider, in 

line with its own risk management policy. 

(3)  The P2P Lending Platform shall obtain explicit declaration from the Lenders 

stating that they have understood all the risks associated with the lending transactions and that 

there exists a likelihood of loss of principal and profit/ interest in case of default by a borrower. 

(4)  No loan shall be disbursed unless the individual lender(s) have approved the 

individual recipient(s) of the loan and have agreed to the applicable terms and conditions; 

                                    
211 The word “and” omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
212 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
213 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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214[Provided that in case of auto disbursal, a pre-approved risk assessment algorithm, based on 

lender’s past transactions, has been applied and the lender(s) have pre-authorized such transactions under 

specific and explicit conditions outlined in the agreement with the P2P Lending Platform] 

(5)  The P2P Lending Platform shall verify or obtain an undertaking from the 

borrower or lender, as applicable, that the limits specified under the regulations are being 

adhered to. 

(6)  The specified conditions and limits applicable for P2P Lending may be changed 

by the Commission while granting permission or at any stage, based on the valid reasons to be 

recorded in writing, on a case to case basis. 

35F.  Revocation and suspension of Permission. - (1) The Commission may suspend 

or revoke the permission of any P2P Service Provider where it has determined that the P2P 

Service Provider, 

(a)  has not provided correct information at the time of submission of the application; 

(b)  has committed breach of the requirements specified under these Regulations; 

(c)  has lost the capacity to provide the P2P Services; or 

(d)  where in the opinion of the Commission, it is in the interest of the public to do so. 

215[The decision for revocation of permission shall be taken after providing the NBFC an 

opportunity of being heard] 

(2)  The permission to provide P2P Services shall automatically stand 216[suspended] 

with immediate effect, if the NBFC becomes non-compliant with any of the following 

conditions, - 

a)  equity of Lending NBFC falls below the minimum equity requirement as 

specified under Schedule I of these Regulations; or 

b)  license of Lending NBFC is suspended or cancelled under applicable regulatory 

framework.  

217[omitted]  

(3)  In case the permission granted is revoked or suspended, the P2P Service Provider 

shall immediately suspend disbursement of loans on the platform while it shall continue to 

recover the outstanding loans and pay off to the lenders accordingly as and when those become 

due. In this regard, the Commission may issue necessary directions, if considered appropriate, 

including but not limited to the following, -  

a.  Transferring of the existing loan portfolio of P2P Lending Platform to another 

                                    
214 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
215 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
216 Substituted for the word “cancelled” vide SR0 2120(I)/2025 dated November 11 2025 
217 Omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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P2P Service Provider; and  

b.  Any other directions for protection of Participants 218[ ]. 

35G.  Operational Requirements for P2P Services. - (1) P2P Service Provider shall 

have a Board’s approved policy in place for, - 

(a)  setting out the eligibility criteria and limits for Participants; 

(b)  setting out the rules for matching Lenders with borrowers in an equitable and non-

discriminatory manner; 

(c)  determining the pricing of services provided by it; 

(d)  managing defaults and ensuring recovery of outstanding amounts to pay off the 

Lenders; 

(e)  comprehensive risk management including credit, operational and market risks 

and determining risk tolerance limits; 

(f)  policy on privacy and confidentiality of information pertaining to the Participant; 

and 

(g)  outsourcing policy. 

219[(h) internal audit plan to assess the controls and system readiness of the platform.  

Implementation of the audit plan shall be under the oversight of audit committee 

of the board] 

(2)  P2P Service Provider shall ensure that promotional materials do not contain 

untrue statements or omit to state facts that are necessary in order to prevent the statements from 

being misleading, false or deceptive, 220[and comply with the guidelines for advertisement as 

applicable on NBFCs engaged in digital lending] 

35H.  Submission to and usage of data of Credit Information Bureau. - (1) A P2P 

Service Provider shall comply with all requirements specified in these regulations relating to 

coordination, facilitation, usage of Credit Information Bureau (CIB) reports, submission and 

updating of data. 

(2)  P2P Service Provider shall, - 

a)  take all such steps which may be necessary to ensure that the credit information 

furnished by P2P Lending Platform is up to date, accurate and complete; and 

b)  include necessary consents in the agreement(s) with the participants for providing 

the required credit information. 

                                    
218 Omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
219 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
220 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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35I.  Transparency and Disclosure Requirements. - (1) A P2P Service Provider shall 

disclose at its Platform, at minimum, the following, - 

a)  to the lender: 

(i)  details about the borrower(s) including income, locality, required amount, 

profit / interest rate sought and credit score as calculated by the P2P 

Service Provider but excluding personal identity and contact details; and 

(ii)  details about all the terms and conditions of the loan, including likely 

return, fees and taxes; 

221[(iii) potential impact on loan servicing and portfolio management if the platform 

ceases  to operate] 

222[(iv) the nature of the investment, associated risks, and the platform’s role in 

providing services;” and ] 
 
223[(v) that peer to peer lending is not an investment product with features like 

tenure linked assured minimum returns, liquidity options, etc] 

b)  to the borrower: details about the lender(s) including proposed amount, profit / 

interest rate offered but excluding personal identity and contact details. 

(2)  A P2P Service Provider shall publicly disclose and monthly update on its 

Platform the following, - 

i.  overview of credit assessment/score methodology and factors considered; 

ii.  disclosures on usage/protection of data; 

iii.  grievance redressal mechanism along with contact details including names, phone 

numbers, emails etc. of person(s) appointed for handling complaints; 

iv.  investor education materials and appropriate risk disclosure; 

v.  information on rights and obligations of Participants relating to participation in 

P2P Lending; 

224[va. information on loan buy-back options offered to lenders, if any, and mechanism in 

case a lender opts to exit the P2P Lending Platform or a particular transaction] 

vi.  fees, charges, penalty and any other expenses that it may charge to/ impose on 

Participants; 

vii.  portfolio performance including share of non-performing assets on a monthly 

                                    
221 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
222 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
223 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
224 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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basis and segregation by age and gender; 

viii.  recovery process, actual default rates, profit sharing ratio with P2P Service 

Provider and Lenders and actions to be taken in case of default; 

ix.  its broad business models; and 

x.  Board’s approved policies that are likely to affect Participants. 

225[(3) P2P service provider shall be required to obtain explicit declaration from the 

lender stating that he/she has understood all the risks associated with the lending transactions and 

that P2P platform does not assure return of principal/payment of interest. The declaration shall 

also state that there exists a likelihood of loss of entire principal in case of default by a borrower. 

The P2P platform shall not provide any assurance or guarantee for the recovery of loans.] 

35J.  Managing conflict of interest. - (1) A P2P Service Provider shall establish a 

framework which sets out policies and procedures to effectively and efficiently manage conflicts 

of interest including potential conflicts of interest, which may arise in the course of providing 

P2P Services. 

(2)  The P2P Service Provider shall be prohibited from providing any funding to 

issuers of securities or investing in any avenue, on or through its platform, except to the extent of 

its specified minimum loan contribution. 

(3)  Notwithstanding the clause 1 and 2 above, employees of the P2P operator are 

permitted to invest through P2P Lending Platform subject to compliance with processes and 

procedures to manage conflict of interest that are put in place by the P2P Service Provider with 

approval of the Board. 

(4)  Save as otherwise provided in regulation 35D, a P2P Service Provider shall not 

provide P2P Services to any party against which it has any credit exposure or commitment as a 

Lending NBFC. 

35K.  Mechanism for Management and Transfer of Funds. - (1) 226[Fund transfer 

between the participants on the P2P Lending Platform shall be through trust or escrow accounts 

mechanisms as per specified terms and conditions of trust or escrow. Such accounts shall be 

maintained and operated by a licensed bank in Pakistan that is at least an ‘A’ rating from a credit 

rating agency. At least two trust or escrow accounts, one for funds received from lenders and 

disbursal, and the other for collections from borrowers, shall be maintained. All fund transfers 

shall be through bank accounts and cash transactions shall be prohibited] (2)  Funds cannot 

be withdrawn through cheque or any other means/instrument from the 227[trust or] escrow 

accounts, other than in relation to and for the purpose of business of P2P Lending. 

                                    
225 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
226 Substituted for the words “Fund transfer between the participants on the P2P Lending Platform shall be through escrow 

accounts mechanisms as per specified terms and conditions and the accounts shall be operated by a trustee that is at least an “A” 

rated bank. At least two escrow accounts, one for funds received from lenders and disbursal, and the other for collections from 

borrowers, shall be maintained. All fund transfers shall be through bank accounts and cash transactions shall be prohibited.” vide 

SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
227 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
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(3)  P2P Service Provider shall have appropriate system in place to ensure that funds 

of each Participant are clearly identifiable and are only used for the intended purpose. 

228(4) Trust or escrow accounts shall be audited annually by the statutory auditor of the 

NBFC and same shall be submitted to Commission and uploaded on P2P Lending Platform 

35L.  Other Mechanisms and Systems to be Deployed.- (1) P2P Service Provider 

shall devise and implement comprehensive framework(s) and mechanism(s) comprising effective 

systems, procedures and controls, duly approved by its Board for, - 

(i)  recovery of loans through adequately trained staff or third parties while avoiding 

harassment, use of coercion etc.; 

(ii)  grievance redressal of the Participants within the timeline set for the purpose; 

(iii)  ensuring adequacy of information systems, technology platform, protection of  
229[participants] data and lawful Data Processing in line with permissions obtained 

from 230[participants]; and 

(iv)  business continuity and back up/recovery for safekeeping of information and 

documents and servicing of loans for full tenure in case of closure of platform or 

its dysfunctionality due to malicious attacks or any other reasons. 

(2)  P2P Service Provider shall ensure that its P2P Platform, systems, controls and 

procedures are audited and tested independently once in every two years, by an audit firm having 

expertise in the area. The audit report shall be provided as and when required by the 

Commission. 

 231[(3) P2P Service Provider shall comply with the relevant requirements of information 

technology, cybersecurity and data protection as given in the schedule XVIIB; and ] 

232[(4) P2P service provider shall have the adequate winding down plan in place for the 

P2P platform and plan shall be disclosed to lenders before entering into the arrangement of 

business.] 

35M.  Reporting Requirements. – 233[P2P Service Provider shall submit quarterly 

accounts to the Commission and periodical statements, reports, statistics and data in such forms, 

time and manner as may be specified by the Commission from time to time]  

 
234[PART IV] 

                                    
228 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
229 Substituted for the word “user” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
230 Substituted for  the word “user” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   
231 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
232 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
233 Substituted for the words “P2P Service Provider shall submit such information including periodical statements, reports, 

statistics and data in such forms, time and manner as may be required by the Commission from time to time” vide SRO 

2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025   

234 Substituted for the words “PART III” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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Asset Management Services, 

Investment Advisory Services and Collective Investment Schemes 

 

36.  Application of this part.- The provisions of this part shall apply to Asset 

Management Companies, Collective Investment Schemes managed by such companies and 

Investment Advisors235[:] 

 
236[Provided that Digital Fund Management NBFCs shall have certain exemptions and 

shall comply with additional requirements as may be specified by the Commission through 

circular.]  

 

37.  Terms and conditions to undertake asset management services.- 237[(1)  An 

Asset Management Company shall appoint or designate at least one asset class specialist for each 

class of funds  as per the criteria  as may be specified by the Commission.]  

 
238[   ] 

 
239[(2)  An AMC shall have at least one investment committee which shall be responsible 

for selecting and developing appropriate investment and risk management strategies for the 

                                    
235 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
236 Substituted for the text “Provided that Digital Fund Management NBFCs shall have certain exemptions and shall comply with 

additional requirements as may be specified by the Commission through circular, for newly formed Digital Asset Management 

Services/ Digital Investment Advisors or existing fund management NBFC that intends to convert its status to a Digital Fund 

Management NBFC.” Vide SRO 1438(I)/2025 dated 1 August 2025 

237 Substituted for the words “(1) An Asset Management Company shall appoint or designate a qualified individual as fund 

manager, who shall be responsible for the management of not more than three Collective Investment Schemes at a time, or such 

lesser number as may be specified by the Commission” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

238 Deleted the text “Provided that the aforesaid limit of three or lesser number shall not apply to an Index Scheme or a Capital 

Protected Scheme or any other category as specified by the Commission.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

239 Substituted for the text “(2) An Asset Management Company shall have at least one investment committee or it may have 

investment committees for various Collective Investment Schemes or various asset classes. 

(3) The investment committee shall, - 

(a) consist of relevant key personnel of the Asset Management Company including the chief investment officer and the respective 

fund manager and shall have a minimum of three members;  

(b) be constituted and approved by the board of the Asset Management Company;  

(c) be responsible to the chief executive of the Asset Management Company and the chief executive shall ensure that the 

committee functions effectively; 

(d) have at least two-thirds of its members present prior to taking any investment related decision or decisions relating to the 

responsibilities of the investment committee:  

  Provided that if the quorum is not present due to an emergency the fund manager or the chief executive, in consultation with at 

least one other member of the investment committee, may take decisions and record in writing the decisions and the 

circumstances of the emergency and circulate the document to other members of the investment committee; 

(e) act with due care, skill and diligence in carrying out its duties and responsibilities; 

(f) ensure that investment decisions are consistent with the objectives and investment policy of the Collective Investment 

Scheme;  

(g) ensure that investments do not deviate from the Constitutive Documents or these Regulations or directions of the 

Commission; 

(h) develop and follow internal investment restrictions and policies;  

(i) review the performance of the Collective Investment Scheme on a regular and timely basis; 

(j) ensure that proper record of meetings and investment decisions is maintained;  

(k) record and sign its decisions in line with guidelines and objective for investments and disinvestments separately for each 

Collective Investment Scheme; and 

(l) develop criteria for appointing a diverse panel of brokers and monitoring compliance thereof to avoid undue concentration of 

business with any single broker.” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 
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proper performance of the collective investment schemes and developing internal investment 

restrictions limits and restriction for Collective Investment Schemes.] 

 
240[(4)  Any employee of Asset Management shall not,- 

 

(a)  hold 241[any] office as employee 242[, director or otherwise] in another Asset 

Management Company; 

 
243[     ] 

 

 

(c)  engage in brokerage services.] 

 
244[   ] 

 

(6)  In the case of a Shariah Compliant and Islamic Collective Investment Schemes an 

Asset Management Company shall 245[obtain Shariah compliance certificate for such scheme as 

per the requirements of Companies Act, 2017 and the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023] 

and comply with such requirements as may be specified by the Commission 246[:] 

 
247[Provided that Shariah compliant schemes similar to an already declared Shariah 

compliant scheme by the Commission, having the same underlying structure, mode of Islamic 

financing, and terms and conditions except for variations in commercial terms such as pricing, 

issue size, etc. shall not be required to obtain a separate Shariah compliance certificate. However, 

the Asset Management Company shall be required to submit Form E in accordance with the 

Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023, before the issuance of such other scheme.]  

 
248[(6A)  In case of a Shariah Compliant Scheme, Asset Management Company 

shall ensure that all new and supplemental Constitutive Documents are in line with the clauses 

prescribed under Schedule III, IV, VII, and VIII relating to Shariah compliance: 

 

                                    
240 Substituted for the text “(4) A member of the investment committee shall not, - 

(a) hold office as member of an investment committee of a Collective Investment Scheme managed by another Asset 

Management Company; 

(b) hold any office including that of a director of another Asset Management Company; and 

(c) engage in brokerage services.” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 
241 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
242 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
243 Deleted the text “(b) hold any office including that of a director of another Asset Management Company; and” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
244 Deleted the text “(5)  An Asset Management Company shall be eligible to provide asset management services for more than 

three Collective Investment Schemes if it fulfills the conditions specified by the Commission with respect to, inter-alia, –  

(a) the minimum rating of the Asset Management Company; 

(b) track record of the asset management services provided by it; 244[  ] 

(c) the minimum rating and the performance of the Collective Investment Schemes for which it acted or is acting as a fund 

manager244[; and] 
244[(d)  Status of compliance of Asset Management Company and Collective Investment Schemes with applicable regulatory 

framework.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
245 Substituted for the text “appoint a Shariah Advisor” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
246 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
247 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
248 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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Provided that Asset Management Company shall amend existing constitutive documents 

within such time as may be specified by the Commission.] 

 

(7)  An Asset Management Company shall not, - 

 

(a) acquire the management of a Collective Investment Scheme, unless it has 

obtained the prior written approval of the Commission; 

 

(b) pledge any of the securities held or beneficially owned by a Collective Investment 

Scheme except as allowed under these Regulations;  

 

(c) accept deposits from a Collective Investment Scheme; 

 

(d) make a loan or advance money to any person from the assets of the Collective 

Investment Scheme;  

 
249[(e)  participate in a joint account with others in any transaction on behalf of the 

Collective Investment Scheme, except for collection account of the Collective 

Investment Schemes managed by it or for placement of order under a single UIN 

subject to mechanism approved by the Commission;] 

 

(f) apply any part of  the assets of Collective Investment Scheme to real estate; 

  

(g) make any investment from the Collective Investment Scheme which will vest 

with the Asset Management Company or its group the management or control of 

the affairs of the investee company;   

 

(h) enter, on behalf of a Collective Investment Scheme, into transactions with any 

broker that exceed 250[twenty five] per cent of the commission 251[payable] by a 

Collective Investment Scheme in any one accounting year: 

 
252[Provided that this restriction shall not apply to transactions relating to 

money market instruments or debt securities or Margin Trading System (MTS) or 

ready future spread transactions where transactions are carried out with minimum 

two brokers or any other instrument/transaction as may be specified by the 

Commission through circular;]  

 

(i) undertake brokerage services on stock exchanges or 253[futures exchanges or] in 

the money market;   

 

                                    
249 Substituted for the text “(e) participate in a joint account with others in any transaction on behalf of the Collective 

Investment Scheme, except for collection account of the Collective Investment Schemes managed by it;” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 

dated 16 October 2019 

250 Substituted for the text “fifteen” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 

251 Replaced “paid” vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

252 Substituted for the words “Provided that this restriction shall not apply to transactions relating to money market instruments 

or debt securities.” Vide SRO 1279(I)/2017 dated 21 December 2017 

253 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023. 
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(j) enter, on behalf of the Collective Investment Schemes, into underwriting or sub-

underwriting contracts; 

 
254[(ja) on behalf of Collective Investment Schemes, subscribe to an issue underwritten, 

co-underwritten or sub-underwritten by group companies of the Asset 

Management Company] 255[: 

 

Provided that the subscription to an issue is allowed to the extent of limits 

prescribed under sub-regulation (3), (5), (6), (9) and (10) of 256[Schedule XIX].] 

 

(k) maintain its own equity portfolio except for investments made by the Asset 

Management Company into the Collective Investment Schemes or pension funds 
257[or private funds] managed by it or its subsidiary NBFCs as allowed under Rule 

7(2)(h): 

 

Provided that the existing Asset Management Companies shall comply 

with this requirement by 30th June 2009 258[or such extended period as specified 

by the Commission, on reducing balance basis]; 259[   ] 

 

(l) buy more than twenty five percent of the outstanding 260[units] or certificates of 

the Closed End Fund managed by it 261[:] 

 
262[(m) undertake any business activities other than    the activities/ forms of businesses 

licensed by the Commission; and 

 

(n)  assume or issue in relation to and on behalf of the Collective Investment Schemes, 

any type of guarantees or letter of comfort to investors.  

 

Provided that an AMC may pledge its investments in CIS, government 

securities, any other liquid asset or have a lien marked on its management fee in 

the interest of its unit holders subject to the terms and conditions approved by the 

Commission.] 

 
263[(o)  hold real estate, except for its own use or rental purposes where real estate was 

obtained as a result of legal settlements or recourse subject to approval by the 

Commission.] 

 

                                    
254 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

255 Substituted for the semi colon (;) vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 

256 Substituted for the text “regulation 55” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

257 Inserted vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  

258 Words added vide S.R.O.764 (I)/2009 dated September2, 2009. In terms of S.R.O. 944(I)/2009 dated October 29, 2009, the 

AMCs were required to dispose off equity portfolio by June 30, 2010 which is further extended to June 30,2011 vide SRO 

655(I)/2010 dated July 13,2010. 

259 Deleted the word “and” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

260 Substituted for the word “shares” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

261Substituted for the full stop “.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

262 Inserted Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

263 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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264[omitted] 

 
265[38.  Obligations of the Asset Management Company.- (1) Fiduciary 

                                    
264 Deleted the text “(8)  An Asset Management Company shall not open or close or arrange to open or close any account with a 

bank, broker or depository for the Collective Investment Scheme without the approval of its board.” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 

dated 16 October 2019 

265 Substituted for the words “38. Obligations of the Asset Management Company.- An Asset Management Company shall, -  

(a) be obliged to manage the assets of the Collective Investment Scheme in the interest of the unit, certificate or share holders in 

good faith and to the best of its ability and without gaining any undue advantage for itself or any of its related parties including 

connected persons and group companies or its officers;  

(b) account to the trustee for any loss in value of the assets of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme where such loss has 

been caused by its negligence, reckless or willful act or omission;  

(c) be responsible for the acts and omissions of all persons to whom it may delegate any of its functions as manager as if they 

were its own acts and omissions;  

(d) be responsible for maintaining proper accounts and records of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme which will 

enable a complete and accurate view to be formed of, - 

(i) the assets and liabilities of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;  

(ii) the income and expenditure of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;  

(iii) all transactions for the account of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;  

(iv) amounts received by the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme in respect of issues of units;  

(v) pay out by the Open End Scheme on redemption of units and by way of distributions by the Closed End Scheme or Open End 

Scheme; and 

(vi) pay out at the termination of the scheme; 

(e) maintain the books of accounts and other records of the Open End Scheme and Closed End Scheme for a period of not less 

than ten years;  

(f) within four months of closing of the accounting period of the Open End Scheme and Closed End Scheme transmit to the unit 

or certificate holders, the trustee, the Commission and stock exchanges, on which the units or certificates of the scheme are listed, 

the annual report as per the requirements set out in Schedule V, including, -  

(i) copy of the balance sheet and income statement; 

(ii) cash flow statement; 

(iii) statement of movement in unit holders’ or certificate holders’ fund or net assets or reserves; and  

(iv) the auditor’s report of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;  

(g) within one month of the close of first and third quarters and within two months of the close of second quarter of the year of 

account of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme, prepare and transmit to the unit or certificate holders, the trustee, the 

Commission and stock exchanges, on which the units or certificates of the scheme are listed, - 

(i) balance sheet as at the end of that quarter; 

(ii) income statement; 

(iii) cash flow statement;  

(iv) statement of movement in unit holders’ or certificate holders’ fund or net assets or reserves; and 

(v) statement showing the securities owned at the beginning of the relevant period, securities purchased or sold during such 

period, and the securities held at the end of such period together with the value (at carrying and at market) and the percentage in 

relation to its own net assets and the issued capital of person whose securities are owned for that quarter, whether audited or 

otherwise: 

Provided that the Commission, subject to any conditions, may allow the Asset Management Company to transmit the said 

quarterly accounts to the unit or certificate holders by placing them on the Asset Management Company’s website and the Asset 

Management Company shall make the printed copy of the said accounts available to any certificate or unit holder, free of cost, as 

and when requested; 

(h) maintain a record of unit or certificate holders of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme and inform the Commission 

and the trustee of the address where the register is kept;  

(i) at the establishment of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme and upon any vacancy appoint an auditor, with the 

consent of the trustee, from the approved list of auditors circulated by the Commission, who shall be a chartered accountant and 

independent of the auditor of the Asset Management Company and the trustee and such auditor shall not be appointed for more 

than five consecutive years and contents of the auditor’s report shall be in accordance with Schedule V;  

(j) be obliged to obtain a rating of the Collective Investment Scheme, once the scheme becomes eligible for rating as per the 

rating criteria of the rating agency, and such rating shall be updated at least once every financial year and also published in the 

annual and quarterly reports of the Collective Investment Scheme;  

(k) ensure ,where it delegates the function of distribution, that; 

(i) the distributors to whom it delegates have acquired registration with the Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan as registered 

service providers and are maintaining the registration on an annual basis and are abiding by the code of conduct prescribed for 

them by Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan and all existing distributors shall acquire registration with Mutual Funds 

Association of Pakistan as registered services before the first day of March 2012; 
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responsibilities,- 

 

An Asset Management Company shall as applicable: 

 

(a)  act in good faith and in the best interest of its unit/certificate holders without 

taking advantage for itself or any of its related parties, group companies or 

employees at the expense of its unit holders; 

 
266[(ab)  pay such sum as Market Development Charges from its remuneration without 

passing to investors, as per the mechanism specified by the Commission for 

investor education, awareness and market development activities of mutual fund;] 

 

(b)   place unit / certificate holder’s interest before their own; 

 

(c )  ensure that the investment decisions and actions are in accordance with the 

investment policy, objectives and  restrictions including risk parameters, as stated 

in the Constitutive Documents; 

 

(d)  not carry out any transaction on behalf of unit/certificate holder’s with any of its 

connected person unless such transaction is carried out on arm’s length terms and 

with appropriate disclosure; 

 

(e)  not trade excessively on behalf of the unit/certificate holders, taking into account 

the stated investments objective of the unit / certificate holders; 

 

(f)  not participate in any business relationship or accept any gift that could 

reasonably be expected to affect their independence, objectivity, or loyalty to unit 

/ certificate holders; 

 

(g)  neither profit or seek to profit from confidential information, nor provide such 

information to anyone with the objective of making profit for itself or for its 

unit/certificate holders; and  

 

(h)  shall formulate policies and procedures for proper discharge of its fiduciary 

responsibility. Such policy shall cover the following minimum principles / 

requirements,- 

 

(i)  Mechanism to ensure employees of the Asset Management Company 

                                                                                                                 
(ii) the written contract with the distributors clearly states the terms and conditions for avoidance of frauds and sales based upon 

misleading information; 

 (l) be obliged to process payment instrument immediately on receipt of application;  

(m) be obliged to provide such information and record to the trustee as may be necessary for the trustee to discharge obligations 

under these Regulations; 

(n) manage the Collective Investment Scheme according to its Constitutive Documents, the rules, regulations, circular or 

directives issued by the Commission; and 

(o) establish and maintain sufficient risk management systems and controls to enable it to identify, assess, mitigate, control and 

monitor risks in best interest of unit holders of the Collective Investment Schemes under its management.” Vide SRO 

1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

266 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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exercise reasonable care and prudent judgment while managing unit / 

certificate holder’s assets; 

 

(ii)  Requirements to ensure fair and objective dealing with all unit/certificate 

holders, when providing investment information, making investment 

recommendations, or taking investment action; 

 

(iii)  Restriction on employees of Asset Management Company from entering 

into any transaction which may conflict with a duty of care owed to a 

unit/certificate holder. Where it is practically not possible to avoid 

conflict, ensure its complete and timely disclosure to unit/certificate 

holders; 

 

(iv)  Measures for restricting excessive trading that cannot be directly linked to 

a profitable trade for the CIS, and ensuring that only the minimal number 

of trades take place taking into account the schemes’ stated objectives; 

 

(v)  Measures for always ensuring that the best price and terms are negotiated 

when trading in securities, in the interest of the CIS investors; 

 

(vi)  Appropriate measures to determine and present investment performance in 

a fair, accurate and timely manner and not misrepresent the performance 

of Collective Investment Scheme; 

 

(vii)  Mechanism for ongoing and timely unit / certificate holder 

communications such as Collective Investment Scheme’s portfolio 

information, which does not contain any inaccurate or misleading 

information; 

 

(viii)  Proper procedures to ensure confidentiality of unit/certificate holders 

information;  

 

(ix)  Mechanism and process for proper and timely handling of any 

unit/certificate holder complaints along with details of dedicated personnel 

to deal with such matters; and 

 

(x)  Formalizing a mechanism and take steps to avoid and eliminate the 

misalignment of incentives due to conflict of interest between the 

compensation of key executives of asset management company and 

interest of the unit holders.   

 

(2)  267[Other obligations.-] An Asset Management Company shall,- 

 
268[(a)  account to the trustee for any loss in value of the assets of the Open End Scheme 

                                    
267 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

268 Substituted for the text “(a)  account to the trustee for any loss in value of the assets of the Open End Scheme or Closed End 

Scheme where such loss has been caused by its negligence, reckless or willful act or omission;” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 
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or Closed End Scheme where such loss has been caused due to its gross 

negligence or willful act or omission;] 

 
269[(ab)  have a Board’s approved policy and mechanism in place to ensure – 

 

(i)  that the sales force is trained and regularly reminded to undertake 

reasonable measures to document and communicate product suitability in 

light of the investment objectives and risk tolerance of every individual 

investor at the time of new investment and/ or any uptick of risk thereof 

through an investment or conversion transaction; 

 

(ii)  regular review of product suitability and investor risk profiling by its 

internal audit, compliance or risk management department; and 

 

(iii)  quarterly reporting of such review to a management or Board Committee.] 

 
270[(ac) send a time-stamped acknowledgement for all transactions and activities in an 

investor’s accounts with AMC to each unit or certificate holder on the registered 

postal address or through any electronic means including registered email and 

SMS provided by the unit or certificate holder within 48 hours of such transaction 

and activity. In case of acknowledgement through electronic means including 

email or SMS, a real-time intimation be sent for each transaction and activity: 

 

Provided that an Asset Management Company may send electronic 

transaction/ activity acknowledgement, in lieu of a physical statement, through 

electronic means including the registered email address of the unit or certificate 

holder only after obtaining consent in writing from the unit or certificate holder 

for sending electronic acknowledgement.] 

 

 271[(ad)  ensure ongoing Shariah compliance in case of Shariah-compliant schemes 

and comply with the conditions of certification of Shariah compliance under the 

Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023: 

 

Provided that any Shariah compliant scheme launched after the 

promulgation of the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023 that did not obtain a 

Shariah compliance certificate, shall obtain the same till September 30, 2025.” 

 

(ae)  engage an external Shariah Auditor for a Shariah-Compliant Scheme. An annual 

report by Shariah Auditors as required under regulation 29(5) of the Shariah 

Governance Regulations, 2023 shall be submitted to the Board of Directors.] 

 

(b)  be responsible for the acts and omissions of all persons to whom it may delegate 

any of its functions as manager as if they were its own acts and omissions;  

                                                                                                                 
October 2019 

269 Inserted vide SRO 581(I)/2021 dated 20 May 2021 

270 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

271 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(c)   272[maintain proper accounts and records of the CIS which will enable a complete 

and accurate view to be formed of its,] - 

 
273[(i)  the assets and liabilities;] 

 
274[(ii) all transactions, income and expenditure;] 

 
275[    ] 

 

(iv)  amounts received by the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme in 

respect of issues of units;  

 

(v)  pay-out by the Open End Scheme on redemption of units and by way of 

distributions by the Closed End Scheme or Open End Scheme; and 

 

(vi)  pay out at the termination of the scheme; 

 
276[(ca) maintain proper accounts and records to accurately record and demonstrate its 

business activities, financial affairs, client transactions and compliance with 

applicable legislation for a period of ten years;] 

 

(d)  maintain the books of accounts and other records of the Open End Scheme and 

Closed End Scheme for a period of not less than ten years;  

 
277[(e) within three months of closing of the accounting period of the CIS transmit or 

make available on its website to the unit or certificate holders, and submit to the 

trustee, the Commission and stock exchanges, on which the units or certificates of 

the scheme are listed, the annual report as per the requirements set out in 

Schedule V. The Asset Management Company shall make the printed copy of the 

said accounts available to any certificate or unit holder, free of cost, as and when 

requested;] 

                                    
272 Substituted for the text “be responsible for maintaining proper accounts and records of the Open End Scheme or Closed End 

Scheme which will enable a complete and accurate view to be formed of,” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

273 Substituted for the text “ (i)  the assets and liabilities of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

274 Substituted for the text “(ii)  the income and expenditure of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

275 Deleted the text “(iii)  all transactions for the account of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

276 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

277 Substituted for the text “(e)  within three months of closing of the accounting period of the Open End Scheme and Closed 

End Scheme transmit or make available on its website to the unit or certificate holders, and submit to the trustee, the Commission 

and stock exchanges, on which the units or certificates of the scheme are listed, the annual report as per the requirements set out 

in Schedule V including,  

(i) copy of the balance sheet and income statement; 

(ii)  cash flow statement; 

(iii)  statement of movement in unit holders’ or certificate holders’ fund or net assets or reserves; and  

(iv)  the auditor’s report of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;  

the Asset Management Company shall make the printed copy of the said accounts available to any certificate or unit holder, free 

of cost, as and when requested;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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(f)  within one month of the close of first and third quarters and within two months of 

the close of second quarter of the year of account of the Open End Scheme or 

Closed End Scheme, prepare and transmit or make available on its website to the 

unit or certificate holders, and submit to the trustee, the Commission and stock 

exchanges, on which the units or certificates of the scheme are listed, - 

 

(i) balance sheet as at the end of that quarter; 

 

(ii)  income statement; 

 

(iii) cash flow statement;  

 

(iv) statement of movement in unit holders’ or certificate holders’ fund or net 

assets or reserves; and 

 

(v) statement showing the securities owned at the beginning of the relevant 

period, securities purchased or sold during such period, and the securities 

held at the end of such period together with the value (at carrying and at 

market) and the percentage in relation to its own net assets and the issued 

capital of person whose securities are owned for that quarter, whether 

audited or otherwise: 

 

  Provided that the AMCs may transmit or make available the said 

quarterly accounts to the unit or certificate holders by placing them on its 

website and the Asset Management Company shall make the printed copy 

of the said accounts available to any certificate or unit holder, free of cost, 

as and when requested; 

 

(g)   maintain a record of unit or certificate holders of the Open End Scheme or Closed 

End Scheme and inform the Commission and the trustee of the address where the 

register is kept;  

 

(h)   at the establishment of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme and upon 

any vacancy appoint an auditor, with the consent of the trustee, from the approved 

list of auditors circulated by the Commission, who shall be a chartered accountant 
278[  ] and such auditor shall not be appointed for more than five consecutive years 

and contents of the auditor’s report shall be in accordance with Schedule V;   

 

(i)  be obliged to obtain stability rating of the Collective Investment Scheme, once the 

scheme becomes eligible for rating as per the rating criteria of the rating agency, 

and such rating shall be updated at least once every financial year and also 

published in the annual and quarterly reports of the Collective Investment Scheme 

provided that MUFAP shall publish on its web site, ranking of collective 

investments schemes on the basis of their return on periodic basis; 

                                    
278 Deleted the text “and independent of the auditor of the Asset Management Company and the trustee” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 

dated 20 June 2019  
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279[(j)  be obliged to allocate the redemption price on receipt of redemption application 

and process payment instrument immediately upon receipt of complete 

redemption application and to issue units not later than upon realization of 

proceeds accompanying an investment application complete in all respect;] 

 

(k) be obliged to provide such information and record to the trustee as may be 

necessary for the trustee to discharge obligations under these Regulations; 

 

(l)  manage the Collective Investment Scheme according to its Constitutive 

Documents, the rules, regulations, circular or directives issued by the 

Commission;  

 
280[(m) establish and maintain comprehensive and independent risk management 

functions, systems and controls to enable it to identify, assess, mitigate, control 

and monitor risks in best interest of unit holders of the CIS under its 

management;] 

 

(n)   formulate and implement internal control policies approved by its Board of 

Directors, for ensuring: 

 

(i)   appropriate segregation of duties and information barriers between the 

trading, risk management and processing functions, commonly referred to 

as the front, middle and back offices; 

(ii)  Establishment of ‘Chinese Walls’ including policies and physical 

apparatus designed to prevent the improper or unintended dissemination of 

market sensitive information from one division of a multi-service AMC to 

another division; 

(iii)  that the individuals involved in making investment decisions for the 

Collective Investment Scheme are not trading on the basis of inside 

information; 

(iv)  employment of sufficient trained human resource; 

 

(v) documentation and recording of channels of communications; and 

 

(vi)  establishment of effective internal audit and compliance functions having 

appropriately trained and competent staff; 

 
281[(o) formulate a comprehensive risk management policy approved by its Board of 

                                    
279 Substituted for the text “(j)  be obliged to process payment instrument immediately on receipt of redemption application and 

to issue units not later than upon realization of proceeds accompanying an investment application;” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 

dated 16 October 2019 

280 Substituted for the text “(m)  establish and maintain comprehensive risk management systems and controls to enable it to 

identify, assess, mitigate, control and monitor risks in best interest of unit holders of the Collective Investment Schemes under its 

management;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

281 Substituted for the text “(o) formulate a risk management policy approved by its Board of Directors for identifying, 
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Directors for identifying, measuring and managing the risks of the investments, 

including the sources, nature and degree of such risks.] 
282[    ] 

 

(q) implement a 283[comprehensive contingency plan/ policy approved by its Board of 

Directors] to ensure continuity of its operations in the event of a disaster or crisis. 

Such contingency plan shall at the minimum cover the following 

requirements/principles: 

 

(i)  offsite backup of key records, systems and information and mechanism for 

recovery; 

 

(ii)  alternate ways of communications with customers, employees, and 

regulators; 

 

(iii)  details of key service providers in case of disaster; 

 

(iv)  details of availability of necessary redundancies - including infrastructure 

redundancies as well as operational and human capital; and 

 

(v) testing of the contingency plan on regular basis. 

 
284[(r) maintain a website containing minimum information as provided in Schedule-XVIII; 

 

                                                                                                                 
measuring and managing the risks of the investments, including the sources, nature and degree of such risks. Such policy shall 

cover the following minimum aspects: 

(i)  risk profile of investment portfolio; 

(ii)  Risk limits pertaining to credit, market and   liquidity risks that are consistent with the risk profile of the investment 

portfolio; and 

(iii)  Assessment of the concentration and   interaction of relevant risks at the portfolio level.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 

May 2023 

282 Deleted the text “(p) Identify and assign a unit, department or personnel for carrying out risk management function which 

shall be, hierarchically and functionally, independent of the operating units and shall be responsible for the identification, 

monitoring / measurement and proper management of all risks;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

283 Substituted for the words “contingency plan” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

284 Substituted for the text “(r) maintain a website containing following minimum information; 

(i)  latest financial statements of the CIS; 

(ii)  constitutive documents of the CIS; 

(iii)  important notices; 

(iv) information material for products offered by the AMC including NAV of the CISs, latest Fund Manager Report etc.;  

(v)  complaint handling mechanism and related details; 

(vi)  Expense ratio of CIS under management; 

(vii)  Education material for investors; 

(viii)  SECP investor complaints web address; and 

(ix)  SECP investor education web address; 

284[(s) send an investment account statement to each unit or certificate holder on the registered postal address provided by the 

unit or certificate holder at least once in a year: 

 

Provided that an Asset Management Company may send account statement at the registered email address of the unit or 

certificate holder only after obtaining consent in writing from the unit or certificate holder for sending electronic account 

statement: 

 

Provided further that an Asset Management Company shall provide the account statement to the investors with seven working 

days from the receipt of such request;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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(s)  send an investment account statement to each unit or certificate holder on the 

registered postal address or through any electronic means including registered 

email provided by the unit or certificate holder on semi-annual basis within fifteen 

(15) days of close of such semi-annual period: 

 

Provided that an Asset Management Company may send electronic 

account statement, in lieu of a physical statement, through any electronic means 

including registered email to the unit or certificate holder, only after obtaining 

consent in writing through physical or electronic means from the unit or 

certificate holder for sending electronic account statement: 

 

Provided further that an Asset Management Company shall be required to 

send a semi-annual account statement to every unit or certificate holder, even if 

the respective unit/certificate holder has chosen the hold mail option: 

 

Provided also that an Asset Management Company shall provide the 

account statement to the investors within seven working days from the receipt of 

such request;] 

 

[(ti) within seven working days upon receipt of written request from the 

unitholder/certificate holder, and completion of all necessary formalities, shall 

close his account. After account closure, the unitholder/certificate holder shall be 

immediately informed of account closure in writing or through email, whichever 

is applicable: 

 

Provided that after account closure, details of such unitholder/certificate 

holder shall be removed from the Unit Holder Register.] 

 

(t) update the constitutive documents of the CIS under its management in case of any 

amendments made in the constitutive documents with the approval 

of Commission, immediately or after completion of the duration of the notice 

period, as the case may be] 285[; and  

 

(u)  act with due care, skill and diligence in carrying out its duties and responsibilities; 

(v)  ensure that investments do not deviate from the Constitutive Documents or these 

Regulations or directions of the Commission; 

 

(w)  develop and follow internal investment restrictions and policies; 

 

(x)  review the performance of the Collective Investment Scheme on a regular and 

timely basis; 

 

(y)  ensure that proper record of meetings and investment decisions is maintained; 

 

(z)  record and sign decisions in line with guidelines and objective for investments 

and disinvestments separately for each Collective Investment Scheme; and 

                                    
285 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 
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(aa)  develop criteria for appointing a diverse panel of brokers and monitoring 

compliance thereof to avoid undue concentration of business with any single 

broker.] 

 
286[38A. Responsibilities towards Corporate Governance and Proxy Voting.- An 

Asset Management Company shall formulate a Corporate Governance and Proxy 

Voting policy approved by its Board of Directors which covers the minimum 

aspects and areas as provided under Schedule XXI.] 

 
287[ 

38B .  Trading by Employees. 288[(1) An Asset Management Company shall put in 

                                    
286 Substituted for the text “38A. Responsibilities towards Corporate Governance and Proxy Voting: An Asset Management 

Company shall: 

(a)   formulate a Corporate Governance policy approved by its Board of Directors:  

(b)  formulate proxy voting policy approved by their Board of Directors which covers the following minimum aspects: 

(i) Authority and responsibility for voting proxies; 

(ii) Voting procedures; 

(iii) Internal participants to be consulted in evaluation of a proxy proposal; 

(iv) Procedure and controls for avoidance or minimization of conflicts of interest;  

(v) Disclosure of conflict of interest; 

(vi) Record keeping of proxy voting; 

(vii) System to monitor proxy-voting responsibilities; 

(viii) Circumstances under which proxies shall not be voted; and 

(ix) Disclosure of proxy voting. 

(c)  ensure that the proxy voting policy at minimum covers the following areas:-  

(i) Election of Directors; 

(ii) Corporate Governance; 

(iii) Appointment of Auditors; 

(iv) Changes in Legal and Capital Structure; proposals affecting shareholder rights; 

(v) Corporate restructuring; and 

(vi) Mergers and acquisitions. 

(d) while participating in the election of the Board of Directors of the investee company, ensure that by exercising the right to 

vote proxy on behalf of the unitholders of the CIS, does not result in attaining the management control of the investee company, 

in contravention of the Regulations: 

(e)  at the minimum maintain following records in relation to proxy voting: 

(i) the name of the issuer of the securities on which the vote has been cast; 

(ii) name of major beneficial owner(s) of the securities; 

(iii) number of shares held by CIS on record; 

(iv) the date on which the proxy was voted; and 

(v) the results of the vote. 

(f)  disclose the proxy voting policy approved by its Board of Directors on its websites and shall also submit it to the 

Commission: 

(g)  include in the annual report of the CIS summary of actual proxy voted during the year as per table given below:  

 Summary of Actual Proxy voted by CIS: 

 Resolutions For Against Abstain* 

Number     

(%ages)     

 *Reasons for abstaining shall be disclosed. 

(h)  disclose in the annual report of CIS the cases where AMC on behalf of CIS did not participate in shareholders’ meetings.  

 Further, the AMC shall include in the annual report of the CIS a statement that the proxy voting policy of the CIS is available on 

the website of the AMC and detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the AMC in respect of the CIS is also 

available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

287 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

288 Substituted for the text “An Asset Management Company shall put in place, appropriate policies and procedures which 

govern trading or investment in securities by AMC employees, their spouse and dependent children, and such policies shall at the 

minimum cover following requirements/principles: 
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place, appropriate policies and procedures, approved by its board of directors, which govern 

trading or investment in securities, investment through investment advisory portfolios under 

management of the AMC by: 

 

(i)  AMC employees, their spouse and dependent children, 

 

(ii)  directors and their spouse(s) and dependent children if such directors are privy to 

investment committee consultations or decision, and such policies and procedures 

shall, at the minimum, cover requirements/principles as specified in Schedule 

XXIII and the AMC may take enforcement action in accordance with the relevant 

policy duly approved by its board.] 

 
289[(2)  To the extent that a violation pertaining to trading restriction as required under 

sub-regulation (1) occurs, all such cases and enforcement actions taken, by the AMC shall be 

reported to the Commission within 30 days of AMC becoming aware of such violation and to the 

Board of Directors of AMC in forthcoming board meeting.] 

 
290[Trustee of Collective Investment Schemes] 

 
291[39.  Registration of trust and Appointment of trustee. - (1) A CIS shall only be 

                                                                                                                 
(i)  disclosure by an AMC employee, within 10 days of his appointment, of any securities held by him or her, his or her spouse 

and / or dependent children along with details of their broker accounts. Such reporting of information shall be done to the 

Compliance Function of the AMC; 

(ii)  Criteria for approving or rejecting an application seeking trading or investment in securities by AMC employees; 

(iii)  Periodic disclosure of securities held by the AMC employees, their spouses and dependent children, at least on a quarterly 

basis. However, reporting of actual transactions, including volume, date and price, on a same day basis; 

(iv)  Restriction on AMC employees from deriving any benefit or personal advantage from information which is generally not 

available and which is obtained by reason of or in the course of their employment with AMC; 

 

(v)  Prescribing minimum holding period and discourage trading for speculative purposes; 

 

(vi)  Retention, for a period of at least three years, of complete record of all applications including the date of the request, the 

name of the applicant, details of the proposed transaction and whether the request was approved or denied and waivers given, if 

any, and its reasons; 

 

(vii)  Restricting personnel involved in the investment decision making process from initiating trades in a security within twenty 

four hours of a pending buy or sell order in the same security by the AMC and until such order is executed or cancelled; 

 

(viii)  Prescribe trading windows and blackout periods to restrict the misuse of confidential information; and 

 

(ix)  establish stringent requirements for those personals, whether AMC employee or director, who: 

 

(a)  in his or her regular function or duty makes or participates in investment decisions, or obtains information, prior to buying or 

selling investments on behalf of a Collective Investment Scheme;  

 

(b)  engages in making of any recommendations with respect to such buying or selling; 

(c)  or any person over whom such persons exercise control and influence in terms of the investment decision making; and 

(d)  Use of restricted lists and watch lists securities to detect unauthorized trades.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

289 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

290 Substituted for the text “Collective Investment Schemes Open End Scheme and Closed End Schemes” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 

dated 17 May 2023 

291 Substituted for the words “39. Appointment of trustee.- (1) The trustee for an Open End Scheme or a Closed End Scheme 

shall be appointed by an Asset Management Company subject to the provisions of these Regulations. 

(2) The Asset Management Company shall, before it applies for the registration of an Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme, 

apply to the Commission for the approval of appointment of trustee which is registered with the Commission.  
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established as a trust registered in accordance with the provisions of 292[federal or provincial 

Trust Act]. 

 

(2)   The trustee for an Open End Scheme or a Closed End Scheme shall be appointed 

by an Asset Management Company subject to the provisions of these Regulations. 

 
293[(3)  The Asset Management Company shall, before it applies for the registration of an 

Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme, appoint the trustee which is registered with the 

Commission.] 

 
294[omitted]] 

 
295[40. Eligibility requirements for registration.- A person may apply to the 

Commission for registration to act as a trustee of an Open End Scheme or Close End Scheme 

under these Regulations if such person is,-  

 

(a) a scheduled bank licensed under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 (LVII 

of 1962) which has minimum AA- rating from a credit rating agency registered 

with the Commission, and has been in business for at least five years;  

 

(b) a company, set up as a subsidiary by a scheduled bank having minimum AA- 

rating from a credit rating agency registered with the Commission;  

 

(c) a foreign bank operating as a scheduled bank in Pakistan and operating as trustee 

internationally;   

 

(d) a central depository company registered with the Commission;  

 

(e)  an Investment Finance Company which has minimum AA- rating from a credit 

                                                                                                                 
(3) The Commission, if deems appropriate, may accept the request of the Asset Management Company for appointment of 

trustee.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

292 Substituted for the expression “Trust Act 1882(II of 1882)” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

293 Substituted for the text “(3) The Asset Management Company shall, before it applies for the registration of an Open End 

Scheme or Closed End Scheme, apply to the Commission for the approval of appointment of trustee which is registered with the 

Commission.” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  

294 Deleted the text “(4) The Commission, if deems appropriate, may accept the request of the Asset Management Company for 

appointment of trustee.” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  

295 Replaced the text “40. Conditions applicable to trustee.- (1) A trustee shall be, -  

(a) a scheduled bank licensed under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 (LVII of 1962) which has minimum A+ rating 

from a credit rating company registered with the Commission, and has been in business for at least five years;  

(b) a trust company, set up as a subsidiary by a scheduled bank having minimum A+ rating from a credit rating company 

registered with the Commission;  

(c) a foreign bank operating as a scheduled bank in Pakistan and operating as trustee internationally;  

(d) a central depository company approved by the Commission;  

(e) an Investment Finance Company which has minimum A+ rating from a credit rating company registered with the 

Commission; 

(f) such other company as the Commission may specify through a circular issued under the Ordinance.  

(2) In exercising its authority under Regulation 39 the Commission shall consider the availability of appropriate systems, 

business continuity plan, personnel, management and such other matters as the Commission deems appropriate.  

(3) The trustee shall arrange for its annual system audit by an auditor and provide the report of such audit to the Commission and 

the concerned Asset Management Company, within four months of the close of the financial year of the trustee.” vide S.R.O. No. 

814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 
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rating agency registered with the Commission; or 

 
296[(f)  such other company subject to such terms and conditions as the Commission may 

specify through a circular.] 

 
297[Explanation:- for the purposes of these regulations a trustee may include a 

“Digital Trustee”.] 

 

40A. Application procedure for registration.- (1) An application for registration to 

act as a trustee of an Open End Scheme or Close End Scheme shall be made to the Commission 

in Form V along with non-refundable fee as specified in Schedule II. 

 

(2) The Commission, while considering the application for registration may require 

the applicant to furnish such other information or clarification as it deems appropriate. 

 

(3)  Any subsequent change in the information provided to the Commission at the 

time of filing of application under sub-regulation (1) shall be intimated to the Commission within 

a period of three working days from the date of such change. 

 

40B. Grant of certificate of registration.- (1)  The Commission while granting a 

certificate of registration to an applicant under sub-regulation (1) of Regulation 40A shall inter-

alia take into account the following matters, namely:- 

 

(a)  the availability of appropriate systems, business continuity plan, personnel and 

management;   

 

(b) the ability of the applicant to safeguard the interests of unit holders;  

 
298[     ] 

 
299[(d) conviction or adverse finding by relevant authorities against director(s) or key 

executives of the applicant in criminal or regulatory offences;] 

 
300[    ] 

 
301[(ea) availability of sufficient insurance coverage on assets under trusteeship against 

any loss that may be incurred as a result of employees’ fraud or gross negligence; 

and] 

 

                                    
296 Substituted for the text “(f)  such other company as the Commission may specify through a circular issued under the 

Ordinance.” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 

297 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

298 Deleted the text “(c) earlier refusal, if any, by the Commission for registration of the applicant to act as a trustee;” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

299 Substituted for the text “(d) conviction or adverse finding by regulatory authorities against director(s) or key executives of 

the applicant in a criminal offences;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

300 Deleted the text “(e) the director(s) or key executives have been found guilty of regulatory offences;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 

dated 17 May 2023  

301 Substituted for the word “and” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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(f) any other matter as deemed necessary by the Commission. 

 

(2) The Commission on being satisfied that the applicant is eligible for registration 

may grant a certificate of registration to the applicant in Form III subject to such additional 

conditions as it may deem necessary. 

 
302[      ] 

 

(4) The certificate of registration shall remain valid for a period of three years from 

the date of registration unless it is cancelled or suspended earlier by the Commission.  

 

40C. Renewal of Registration.- (1) A trustee of an Open End Scheme or a 

Closed End Scheme shall, one month prior to the date of expiry of its registration, apply to the 

Commission in Form VI for renewal of its registration along with a non-refundable fee as 

specified in Schedule II.  

 

(2) The Commission upon being satisfied, after making such inquiry and obtaining 

such further information as it may consider necessary that the applicant is eligible for renewal of 

registration may grant a renewal of certificate of registration to the applicant in 303[Form III]: 

 

Provided that till such time that the registration is renewed, the existing registration shall 

be deemed valid for the purposes of these regulations unless the registered trustee fails to apply 

as specified in sub-regulation (1) of Regulation 40C. 

 
304[    ] 

 

40D. Procedure where registration is not granted or renewed.-    (1)     The 

Commission, after giving a reasonable opportunity of hearing to the applicant, may refuse to 

grant or renew a certificate of registration if in the opinion of the Commission such applicant 

does not fulfill the requirements prescribe in these Regulations or where the Commission after 

taking in to account the facts, is of the view that the certificate of registration or renewal thereof 

shall not be granted.  

 

(2) A trustee whose application for renewal of certificate of registration is refused by 

the Commission shall continue to act as a trustee for Open End Schemes or Closed End Schemes 

in which it is acting as trustee till the appointment of new trustee.] 

 

41. Obligations of trustee of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme.- A trustee 

shall, - 

 

(a) take under its control all the property of the Open End Scheme or Closed End 

                                    
302 Deleted the text “(3) All existing trustees of an Open End Scheme or Close End Schemes shall make an application to the 

Commission for registration as a trustee for an Open End Scheme or a Close End Schemes within ninety days of coming into 

force of this sub-regulation along with a non-refundable fee as specified in Schedule II.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 

2023  

303 Substituted for the text “Form IV” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

304 Deleted the text “(3) While granting renewal, the Commission may, in addition to the criterion laid down for grant of 

registration, also take in to account past performance of the trustee.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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Scheme and hold it in trust for the unit or certificate holders in accordance with 

the Rules, Regulations  and the provisions of the Constitutive Documents and the 

cash and registerable assets shall be registered in the name of, or to the order of, 

the trustee;  

 

(b)  be liable for any loss caused due to its willful acts or omissions or that of its 

agents in relation to any custody of assets or investment forming part of the 

property of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme;  

 

(c) ensure that  the  sale,  purchase, issue and transfer  of units or certificates affected 

by the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme are carried out in accordance 

with the provisions of the Constitutive Documents;  

 

(d) ensure that repurchase, redemption and cancellation of units are carried out in 

accordance with the provisions of the Constitutive Documents;  

 

(e)  carry out the instructions of the Asset Management Company, in respect of 

investments unless they are in conflict with the provisions of these Regulations or 

the Constitutive Documents;  

 

(f)  ensure that the investment and borrowing limitations set out in these Regulations 

and the Constitutive Documents are complied with;  

 

(g) ensure that the conditions under which the Open End Scheme or Closed End  

Scheme has been  registered are complied with;  

 

(h)  issue a report to be included in the annual and second quarter report of the 

Collective Investment Scheme and therein state whether, in  its opinion, the Asset 

Management Company has in all material respects managed the Open End 

Scheme or Closed End Scheme in accordance with the provisions of the 

Constitutive Documents, the Rules and these Regulations, and if the Asset 

Management Company has not done so, the respects in which it has not done so 

and the steps that the trustee has taken in respect thereof 305[: 

 

Provided that the trustee's report in the annual accounts shall include the 

trustee's opinion regarding the calculation of the management fee, CIS Monthly 

Fee Payable to the Commission and other expenses in accordance with the 

applicable regulatory framework.]  

 
306[omitted]  

 

(k) ensure that units of an Open End Scheme have been issued after realisation of 

                                    
305 Substituted for the semi colon (;) vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

306 Deleted the text “(i) ensure that the Asset Management Company, has specified a criteria in writing to provide for a diverse 

panel of brokers at the time of offering of a scheme or for any subsequent change;  

 

(j) ensure that the Asset Management Company has been diligent in appointing brokers to avoid undue concentration of business 

with any broker;” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 
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subscription money;  

 

(l) ensure that the methodology and procedures adopted by the Asset Management 

Company in calculating the value of units are adequate and the pricing and 

valuation for sale, issue, repurchase, redemption and cancellation  are carried out 

in accordance with the provisions of the Constitutive Documents and regulatory 

requirements;  

 

(m) immediately inform the Commission if any action of the Asset Management 

Company 307[in relation to and on behalf of collective investment scheme] 

contravenes the Ordinance, the Rules, these Regulations, Constitutive Documents, 

guidelines, codes, circulars, directives or any other applicable laws308[ along with 

details of remedial action taken by the trustee where applicable;] 

 

(n) comply with the directions of the Commission given in the interest of the unit 

holders or certificate  holders309[; 

 

(o) arrange for its annual system audit by an auditor and provide the report of such 

audit to the Commission and the concerned Asset Management Company, within 

four months of the close of the financial year of the trustee; 

 
310[(p) Within fifteen days of the close of each calendar month, shall pay to the 

Commission, a monthly fee calculated at the rate of 0.005 percent per annum of 

the average net assets of the Open-End Scheme or Closed-End Scheme under its 

trusteeship for each month. Additionally, the trustee shall also furnish a copy of 

its annual audited accounts to the Commission within three months of the close of 

its financial year: 

 

Provided further that the earlier annual payment mechanism by the trustee 

to the Commission as applicable before the date of this notification, for Collective 

Investment Schemes shall remain applicable until June 30, 2025.] 

 
311[(pa) pay such sum as may be specified by the Commission as Market Development 

Charges for the investor education, awareness and market development activities 

of mutual fund and pension funds.] 

 

(q) call a meeting of the unit holders in such manner specified by the Commission 

through circular,- 

 

(i)  whenever required to do so by the Commission in the interest of the unit 

holders; or  

                                    
307 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

308 Replaced the text “; and” vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

309 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

310 Substituted for the words “(p) within three months of the close of its financial year pay an annual fee to the Commission at 

the rate of 0.005 per cent of average annual net assets of Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme under its trusteeship and also 

furnish a copy of its annual audited accounts to the Commission;” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

311 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(ii) whenever required to do so as per the requirements of these Regulations; 

and for this purpose the following requirements shall be ensured by the 

trustee for convening the meeting of unit holders: 

 

(I) notice of the meeting indicating time, place and purpose of the 

meeting shall be given to every unit holder of the Collective 

Investment Scheme at least seven working days prior to the 

meeting;  

 

(II) in case of meeting called for any specific purpose, statement of 

material facts and other pertinent information/documents shall be 

made available to the unit holders;  

 

(III) trustee of the Collective Investment Scheme shall attend every 

meeting of the unit holders and shall act as secretary to such 

meeting;  

 

(IV) any resolution passed or consented in writing by the majority of 

unit holders representing at least three fourths in value of the total 

outstanding units of the Collective Investment Scheme shall 

become binding except such resolution is contrary to the Rules, 

Regulations, Constitutive Documents or circulars and directives 

issued by the Commission; and  

 

(V) the trustee shall submit minutes of the meeting along with any 

resolution passed in the meeting to the Commission within seven 

working days of the meeting; 

 
312[(r)  not invest or redeem units of Open End Schemes for which it acts as trustee in the 

cases where there is a likelihood of a change in investment objective of the 

scheme or there is a likelihood of change in account policy or a significant change 

in the valuation of any asset or class of asset and the same has not been 

communicated to the inventors;] 

 

(s)  obtain and maintain duplicate of all the records of register of unit holders 

maintained by the Asset Management Company or the Registrar and shall update 

the record on a fortnightly basis313[: 

 

(t) ensure that its Board of Directors approve and oversee all key policies including 

those relating to risk management, internal controls, internal audits and 

compliance and conflict of interest; 

 

(u) ensure that its external auditor is from category A of the panel of auditors 

                                    
312 Substituted for the text “(r)  not invest in Open End Schemes for which it acts as trustee; and” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 

16 October 2019 

313 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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circulated and maintained by the Commission; 

 

(v) ensure confidentiality of client’s information and neither profit or seek to profit 

from confidential information, nor provide such information to anyone with the 

objective of making profit for itself or for its clients; 

 

(w)  where the trustee company is engaged in carrying out any activity beside that of 

acting as trustee, it shall ensure that the activities relating to the trustee business 

are separate and segregated from all other activities; and 

 

(x)  ensure compliance with information protection, cybersecurity related provisions 

as may be specified by the Commission.] 

 

41A. Restriction/ or Suspension of registration.-     (1) Where a trustee contravenes 

or fails to comply with any provision of these Regulations or fails to fulfill its obligations under 

the Trust Deed or is not in compliance with conditions of registration or any directive, circular or 

order issued by the Commission,  the Commission may, after providing a reasonable opportunity 

of representation to the trustee, impose restriction on its activities or suspend its registration.  

 

(2) A trustee whose registration has been suspended shall not act as a trustee for any 

new Open End Scheme or Close End Scheme during the period of suspension and shall remove 

the cause of suspension within a period of ninety days from the receipt of the suspension order or 

such earlier period as provided through the order of suspension. 

 

(3) The Commission while suspending the registration of a trustee may impose such 

additional conditions as it deems appropriate. 

 

41B.  Cancellation of Registration.- (1) The Commission, after providing a 

reasonable opportunity of representation to the trustee, may cancel the registration of a trustee 

if,- 

 

(i) in the opinion of the Commission the trustee has been in violation of these 

Regulations or the Trust Deed or restriction imposed under sub-regulation (1) of 

regulation 41A or is found guilty of misconduct or failed to discharge its 

obligation under these Regulations or the Trust Deed;  

 

(ii)  it is found guilty of insider trading or fraud or a criminal offence; and 

 

(iii) the trustee’s registration has been suspended and the cause of suspension has not 

been removed within ninety days from the order of suspension or such earlier 

period as provided through such order.   

 

(2) The registration of a trustee shall stand automatically cancelled if such trustee,- 

 

(i) is declared insolvent by a Court; 

 

(ii) voluntarily surrenders its certificate of registration to the Commission;  

 

(iii) is discharged from its obligation by an order passed by a Court;  
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(iv) ceases to hold valid license/registration as a Schedule Bank or Investment Finance 

Company; or 

 

(v) fails to apply for renewal of its registration within a time as specified in sub-

regulation (1) of Regulation 40C.  

 

(3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-regulation (1), where the Commission 

is satisfied that a delay in the cancellation of registration of the trustee will be detrimental to the 

interest of investors or the public in general, the Commission may immediately cancel the 

registration of the trustee till the time an opportunity of hearing is provided to the trustee and a 

final order is passed under sub-regulation (1). 

 

Provided that where the Commission cancels the registration under sub-regulation (3) of 

Regulation 41B, the opportunity of hearing and final order must be passed within ninety days of 

the order under sub-regulation (3).  

 

(4) Upon the cancellation of the registration, the trustee shall with immediate effect 

cease its business as a trustee and transfer all the necessary record to other trustee appointed by 

the AMC for this purpose.  

 

(5) The Commission may conduct inquiry or inspection by any person appointed in 

this behalf into the affairs of a trustee or of any of its directors, managers or other officers or 

persons responsible for its affairs.] 

 

42.  Retirement or removal of trustee.- (1) A trustee may, subject to prior approval 

of the Commission, retire from his office on appointment of a new trustee and the retirement 

shall take effect at the same time as the new trustee is appointed with the approval of the 

Commission or from the date of assumption of assets of the Open End Scheme or Closed End 

Scheme by the newly appointed trustee, whichever is later. 

 
314[Omitted] 

 

(3)  An Asset Management Company may by giving reasons in writing apply to the 

Commission for change of the trustee and propose a new trustee. 

 

(4)  The Commission, if satisfied by the reasons given by the Asset Management 

Company and after providing an opportunity of hearing to the trustee, approve the removal of the 

existing and the appointment of a new trustee.   

 

43.  Trustee and the Asset Management Company to be independent.- (1) The 

trustee shall be  independent of the Asset Management Company.  

 

Explanation.- For the purposes of Regulation 43(1) the term “independent” means that 

                                    
314 Deleted the text “(2) Where the Commission is of the opinion that trustee has been in violation of these Regulations or the 

trust deed or is found guilty of misconduct or failed to discharge its obligations under these Regulations, it may remove the 

trustee after giving the trustee an opportunity of being heard.” vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 
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there shall be no cross-shareholding nor common directorship between the Asset Management 

Company and trustee. 

 

(2)  A director or employee of the trustee shall not be involved in the affairs of Asset 

Management Company.  

 

44.  Registration of 315[CIS].- (1) No units  or certificates of an Open End Scheme or 

Closed End Scheme shall be offered to the public unless the scheme is registered as a Notified 

Entity with the Commission. 

 
316[     ]  

 
317[(3) An Asset Management Company shall submit the draft Trust Deed along with the 

name and consent of the trustee of the Closed End Scheme in accordance with Schedule-III and 

the Trust Deed along with name and consent of trustee for an Open End Scheme in accordance 

with Schedule-VII for the principle approval of the Commission 318[Provided that the 

Commission may specify a standard format of Trust Deed.].  

 
319[(4)  After the principle approval of the Commission, if required, the Asset 

Management Company shall execute and submit the Trust Deed for registration in accordance 

with the provisions of respective federal or provincial Trust Act and thereafter an application for 

registration of a CIS containing the information as set out in Schedule VI shall be submitted to 

the Commission along with evidence of fee as specified by the Commission in Schedule II in the 

designated bank branch in favor of the Commission.] 

                                    
315 Substituted for the text “Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

316 Deleted the text “(2) An Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme which is in existence at the time of coming into force of 

these Regulations and not registered as a Notified Entity shall, within ninety days of coming into force of these Regulations, 

make an application for registration and the Commission, if it is satisfied, that the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme316 

is under the management of an Asset Management Company which is holding a valid licence may register the Open End Scheme 

or Closed End Scheme as a Notified Entity without payment of the registration fee.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

317 Replaced the text “(3) An application for registration of an Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme shall contain 

information as set out in Schedule VI and shall be accompanied by the following information and documents, namely:- 

(a) the trust deed of the Closed End Scheme in accordance with Schedule-III and the trust deed for an Open End Scheme in 

accordance with Schedule-VII; 

(b) the latest audited accounts, if applicable, of the NBFC licensed by the Commission to operate as the Asset Management 

Company and resumes of its directors; 

(c) latest audited accounts of the trustee, if available; 

(d) letter of consent by the trustee with respect to its appointment;  

(e) an undertaking from the Asset Management Company that it will invest or arrange the investment of, - 

(i) two hundred and fifty million rupees for a minimum period of two years or life of the Collective Investment Scheme 

whichever is lesser, for the first Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme launched by it; and 

(ii) one hundred million rupees, out of which at least fifty million rupees shall remain invested in the scheme for at least two 

years or life of the Collective Investment Scheme whichever is lesser, for every subsequent Collective Investment Scheme 

launched by it; and 

(f) fee as specified by the Commission in the Schedule II in the form of bank draft payable to the Commission or copy of paid 

challan form showing that the required fee has been paid in the designated bank branch in favor of the Commission.” vide S.R.O. 

No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

318 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

319 Substituted for the text “(4) After the principle approval of the Commission, the Asset Management Company shall execute 

and 319[submit the Trust Deed for registration] in accordance with the provisions of Trust Act, 1882 (II of 1882) and thereafter 

an application for registration of an Open End Scheme or Closed end Scheme containing the information as set  out in Schedule 

VI shall be submitted to the Commission along with fee as specified by the Commission in the Schedule II in the form of bank 

draft payable to the Commission or copy of paid challan form showing that the required fee has been paid in the designated bank 

branch in favor of the Commission.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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(5)  The Commission on being satisfied that the Scheme is eligible for registration 

may register the Scheme as a notified entity on such terms and conditions as it deems 

appropriate. 

 
320[(6)  No amendments including any modification, alteration and addition shall be made 

in the Constitutive Documents without prior notice of seven days to the unit holders and consent 

of the trustee.] 

 

(7)   In case the amendments are proposed in the fundamental attribute of the 

Constitutive Document of an open end scheme  including  category of scheme, investment 

objective and policy, increase in management fee and increase in contingent or back end load, 
321[or any other material change affecting existing unitholders,] the asset management company 

must give at least 322[thirty] days prior notice to each Unit Holder about the proposed change; and 

the Unit Holders shall be given an option to exit at the applicable Net Asset Value without 

charge of any exit load;] 

 
323[(8)  In case the amendments are proposed in the fundamental attributes of CIS and/or 

amendments with respect to offering of units to public and maturity of fund/plan shall be subject 

to the prior approval of the Commission 324[: 

 

Provided that an Asset Management Company may provide plans under a Collective 

Investment Scheme (CIS) on such terms and conditions as specified through a circular.] 

 

(9)  In case amendments are made in the Constitutive Documents due to change in 

regulatory requirements, the same shall be incorporated without prior approval of the 

Commission. 

 

(10)  The supplement Constitutive Document for amendments shall be submitted to the 

Commission for information within one week from the date of amendments.] 

 
325[45. Transfer of Management Rights of Open end Scheme or Close End Scheme,- 

                                    
320 Substituted for the text “ (6)  No amendments including any modification, alteration and additions shall be made in the 

Constitutive Documents without prior notice to the Unit holders, and consent of the trustee.” Vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 

October 2019 

321 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

322 Substituted for the word “ninety” vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 

323 Inserted vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  

324 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

325 Replaced the text “45. Cancellation of registration and revocation of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme.- (1) An 

Asset Management Company, after the prior written approval of the Commission, shall give at least three months notice to unit or 

certificate holders and trustee if it intends to have the registration of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme managed by it 

cancelled:  

Provided that the registration of a Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme launched for a definite period shall stand 

automatically cancelled upon completion of its specified life. 

(2) At the end of the notice period given under Regulation 45(1), the Commission may by an order in writing cancel the 

registration of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme.  

(3) Upon representation to the Commission, by three fourth in value of the total unit holders or certificate holders of a Open End 

Scheme or Closed End Scheme, or if in the opinion of the Commission further continuation of the registration of the Open End 

Scheme or Closed End Scheme will be detrimental to the interest of the unit holders or certificate holders or the market generally, 

the Commission may cancel the registration of such Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme :  

 



89 

(1) The management rights of an Open End Scheme or Close End Scheme may be transferred to 

another Asset Management Company  upon the occurrence of any of the following events,-  

 

(a) the Asset Management Company goes into liquidation, becomes bankrupt or has a 

liquidator appointed over its assets, or its license has been cancelled or does not 

hold valid license; 

 

(b) where the AMC is unable to remove the suspension of redemption of units of 

Open End Scheme within the fifteen working days of suspension and the unit 

holders representing at least three fourth in value of total outstanding units of the 

concerned scheme pass a resolution or have given consent in writing that the 

scheme be transferred to another Asset Management Company; 

 

(c) if in the opinion of the Commission further management   of the Open End 

Scheme or Closed End Scheme by the existing Asset Management Company is 

detrimental to the interest of the unit holders, the Commission may direct the 

trustee to transfer such Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme to another Asset 

Management Company acceptable to the Commission: 

 
326[(d) the Asset Management Company does not wish to maintain management rights of 

a CIS, subject to issuance of three (3) months’ notice to unit holders about such 

intention, with prior approval of the trustee and the Commission.] 

 

(2) For the purpose of transfer of management right an Asset Management Company 

shall execute a supplemental Trust Deed subject to the approval of the Commission. 

 

45A. Extinguishment/Revocation of an Open End Scheme.- (1) An Open End 

Scheme may be extinguished by the occurrence of any of the following events,- 

 

(a) the Open End Scheme has reached its maturity date as specified in the Trust 

Deed; 

 

(b) where the AMC is unable to remove the suspension of redemption of units of 

Open End Scheme within the fifteen working days of suspension and the unit 

                                                                                                                 
Provided that the registration of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme shall not be cancelled without providing an 

opportunity of being heard to the Asset Management Company and the trustee.  

(4) In case of cancellation of registration, the Asset Management Company shall revoke the Open End Scheme or Closed End 

Scheme and refund the proceeds to the certificate holders or unit holders in such manner and within such time as may be 

specified by the Commission. 

(5) Notwithstanding anything contained in any other provision, where in the opinion of the Commission or the Asset 

Management Company any delay in the revocation of an Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme is detrimental to the interest 

of the unit holders, certificate holders or the market generally, the Commission may direct the immediate revocation of the Open 

End Scheme or Closed End Scheme without first canceling the registration or providing an opportunity of being heard to the 

Asset Management Company in such manner and within such time as may be specified by the Commission. 

(6) Where the Commission grants approval under Regulation 45(1) or cancels the registration of the Open End Scheme or orders 

the revocation of the Open End Scheme, all issuance and redemption of units of the Open End Scheme shall stand suspended 

immediately.  

(7) In case of revocation of the Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme all unit holders or certificate holders shall be treated 

pari passu.” vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

326 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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holders representing at least three fourth in value of total outstanding units of the 

concerned scheme pass a resolution or have given consent in writing that the 

scheme be revoked; 

 

(c) where the Asset Management Company goes into liquidation, becomes bankrupt 

or has a liquidator appointed over its assets, or its license has been cancelled or 

does not hold valid license; 

 

(d) in the opinion of the Asset Management Company the scheme is not 

commercially viable or the purpose of the scheme cannot be accomplished subject 

to the consent of trustee; 

 

(e) on occurrence of any event or circumstances which, in the opinion of the trustee, 

requires the Scheme to be revoked; and 

 

(f) where the Commission deems it necessary to revoke the fund so directs either 

trustee or Asset Management Company in the interest of unit holders;  

 

(2) Where a scheme is to be revoked the trustee shall immediately give notice to the 

Commission and in two newspapers having circulation all over Pakistan disclosing the 

circumstances leading to the revocation of the Scheme provided that this clause shall not be 

applicable to sub-clause (a) of sub-regulation (1) of this Regulation 327[: 

 

Provided that the trustee shall also send such notice at the registered postal address and/ 

or email such notice at the registered email ID of all unit holders including the Non-Resident 

investors.] 

 

(3) On the date of publication of the notice under sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 

45A the affairs of and all information relating to the Open End Scheme shall be transferred to the 

trustee till the completion of the final settlement of the affairs of the Open End Scheme 328[and 

the management company shall not be entitled to any further remuneration]. 

 

45B.  Procedure and manner of Revocation of Open End Scheme.- (1) From the 

date of publication of the notice under sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 45A the issuance and 

redemption of unit shall be suspended and scheme shall cease to carry on its business, except so 

far as may be required for the beneficial revocation thereof. 

 

(2)  The trustee shall be authorized to dispose off the assets of the scheme in the best 

interest of the unit holders of that scheme and any sale, settlement or arrangement executed by 

the trustee in pursuance of revocation of open end scheme shall be binding on the Asset 

Management Company and unit holders of the scheme.  

 

(3) The trustee upon the commencement of revocation process shall also submit, in 

addition to specified statutory reports, quarterly reports to the Commission providing details of 

the various steps taken by it in the final settlement of the affairs of the trust.  

                                    
327 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

328 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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(4)  The proceeds from the sale of the asset of the scheme shall be first utilized 

towards discharge of such liabilities as are due and payable under the scheme and after making 

appropriate provision for meeting the expenses connected with such revocation the balance shall 

be paid to the unit holders in proportion to their respective interest in the assets of the scheme on 

the date when the decision for revocation was taken. 

 

(5) On the completion of the revocation process the trustee shall forward to the 

Commission and the unit holders a report on the revocation process containing particulars such 

as circumstances leading to the revocation, the steps taken for disposal of assets of the fund 

before revocation, expenses of the fund for revocation, net assets available for distribution to the 

unit holders and a certificate from the auditors of the fund. 

 

(6) After the receipt of winding up report by trustee, if the Commission is satisfied 

that all measures for revocation of the scheme have been complied with,  the Commission shall 

cancel the registration of an Open End Scheme and the scheme shall cease to exist.] 

 
329[Omitted] 

                                    
329 Deleted the text “Collective Investment Schemes 

Investment Company 

46.  Existing Investment Company to register as Notified Entity.- An Investment Company which is in existence at the time of 

coming into force of these Regulations and not registered as a Notified Entity shall, within ninety days of coming into force of 

these Regulations, make a fresh application for registration and the Commission shall register the Investment Company as a 

Notified Entity without the payment of any registration fee, if satisfied, that the Investment Company meets the following 

requirements, -  

(i) that the Investment Company meets the minimum equity requirement of two hundred and fifty million rupees; and  

(ii) that the Investment Company is under the management of an Asset Management Company which is holding a valid licence.  

(2) An existing Investment Company shall make an application for registration as set out in Form I and the Commission if 

satisfied with the applications may register the Investment Company in Form II.   

47.  Conditions applicable to Investment Company.- An existing Investment Company which complies with the requirements of 

Regulation 46 and is subsequently registered by the Commission shall,-  

(a)  remain as a public company; 

(b)  maintain a minimum equity of not less than two hundred and fifty million rupees;  

(c)  have directors, officers or employees who have not been convicted of fraud or breach of trust;  

(d)  have directors, officers or employees who have not been adjudicated as insolvent or have not suspended payment or have not 

compounded with creditors; and  

(e)  have promoters and directors who in the opinion of the Commission, are persons of means and integrity and have specialized 

knowledge of matters which the company may have to deal with as an Investment Company. 

48.  Appointment of Asset Management Company.- (1) No Investment Company shall appoint an Asset Management Company 

except by a contract in writing setting out, –  

(a) the duties, rights and obligations of the parties;  

(b) the mechanism for enforcement of the terms of the contract; and 

(c)  the circumstances under which the contract can be revoked: 

Provided that the appointment of Asset Management Company shall be subject to the prior approval of the Commission.  

(2)  The contract shall, initially or on renewal, be valid for a period not exceeding ten years and shall not be renewed or modified 

unless such renewal or modification has been authorized by the shareholders of the Investment Company in a general meeting.  

(3)  The contract shall, inter-alia provide, for the consequential penalty or damages to be borne by the contracting parties in case 

of violations of any provisions or breach of contract. 

(4)  The contract shall, among other things, provide that the Asset Management Company shall bear all expenditure in respect of 

the secretariat and office space of the company and professional management, including all administrative, accounting and legal 

services, and shall disclose the fees payable by the Investment Company in terms of Regulation 60(3). 

(5)  A copy of the contract shall be submitted to the Commission for approval.  

(6)  The Investment Company may, with the prior written approval of the Commission, change the Asset Management Company 

providing services to it. 

49.  Custody of assets.- (1) Every Investment Company shall place and maintain all assets owned or held by the company with a 

custodian appointed by it with the prior approval in writing of the Commission. 
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330[      ] 

 

54.  Invitation to invest and advertisements.- 331[(1)  Offering Document of a 

Collective Investment Scheme shall be submitted to the Commission for approval prior to its 

issue.]  

 

                                                                                                                 
(2)  The Investment Company shall settle with the custodian a scheme for the custody of assets, which shall, among other matters 

provide for the circumstances in which the assets may be released from custody. 

(3)  The custodian shall, if any release of any asset from custody is contrary to the provisions of the Rules or these Regulations, 

report the matter to the Commission forthwith.  

50.  Conditions applicable to custodian.- (1) The custodian shall not be an Investment Advisor or an Asset Management 

Company.   

(2)  The custodian shall be independent of the Investment Company or Asset Management Company appointed by the Investment 

Company. 

Explanation.- For the purposes of Regulation 50(2) the term “independent” means that there shall be no cross-shareholding nor 

common directorship between the Asset Management Company, Investment Company and the custodian. 

(3)  A director or employee of the custodian shall not be involved in the affairs of Asset Management Company or the Investment 

Company.  

51.  Maintenance of books of accounts and other records.- (1) Every Investment Company shall maintain such books of accounts 

and other records as shall depict a true and fair view of its state of affairs, including, - 

(a) journals, cash books and other records of original entry forming the basis of entry in any ledger;  

(b) ledgers (or other comparable record) reflecting assets, liabilities, income and expenses;  

(c) ledgers (or other comparable record) showing at any time securities which are receivable or deliverable;  

(d) record of transactions with the bank;  

(e) register of transaction in securities; and 

(f) record of the meetings of the board of directors.  

(2)  The books of accounts and other records to be maintained under Regulation 51(1) shall be preserved for a period of not less 

than ten years. 

52.  Periodical reports to shareholders, etcetera.- Every Investment Company shall,-  

(a) transmit to its shareholders and the Commission the following documents prepared as per the requirements set in Schedule V;  

(i) the annual report; 

(ii) copy of the balance sheet;  

(iii) income statement, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity and the auditor’s report:  

Provided that the aforementioned documents shall be transmitted to the shareholders and the Commission within twenty one days 

before the date of the general meeting at which they will be laid before the shareholders; 

(b) within thirty days of the close of the first and third quarter and within two months of the close of second quarter of the year 

transmit to its shareholders and the Commission quarterly report, including, - 

(i) copy of the balance sheet;  

(iii) income statement;  

(iv) cash flow statement;  

(iii) statement of changes in equity;  and 

(iv) statement showing the securities owned at the beginning of the relevant period, securities purchased or sold during such 

period, and the securities held at the end of such period together with the value (at carrying and at market), and the percentage in 

relation to its own net assets and the issued  capital of the person whose securities are owned for that quarter, whether audited or 

otherwise; and 

Provided that the Commission, subject to any conditions, may allow the Investment Company to transmit the said quarterly 

accounts to the share holders by placing them on its website or the website of the Asset Management Company and the 

Investment Company shall make the printed copy of the said accounts available to the share holders, free of cost, as and when 

requested; 

(c) disclose the profit and loss account of the Asset Management Company in relation to the Investment Company in its own 

profit and loss account.  

53.  Appointment of an auditor.- An Investment Company shall appoint an auditor, from the approved list of auditors circulated 

by the Commission, who shall be a chartered accountant:  

329[Provided that the auditor so appointed shall not remain the auditor of the Investment Company for more than five 

consecutive years]” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

330 Deleted the text “Collective Investment Schemes” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

331 Substituted for the words “(1) Offering Document and other invitations to the public to invest in a Collective Investment 

Scheme including public announcements shall be submitted to the Commission for approval prior to their issue.  

Provided that such invitations, submitted for approval of the Commission, which concerns the trustee and the Shariah Advisor 

shall be accompanied by their written consent.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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332[     ] 

 

(3) The Offering Document of a Closed End Scheme or Open End Scheme shall 

contain the information as set out in Schedule-IV and VIII, respectively. 

 
333[(3a)  The minimum net assets of an Open End Scheme shall be one hundred million 

rupees at all times during the life of the scheme.] 
334[  

(3b) Subject to sub-regulations (3a) after the initial public offering or subsequently at 

any time if the size of any  Open End Schemes falls below that minimum size specified in sub-

regulation (3a) the  asset management  company shall ensure compliance with the minimum fund 

size within three months of its breach and if the fund size remains below the minimum  fund size 

limit for consecutive ninety days  the Asset Management Company shall   immediately  intimate 

the grounds to the Commission upon which it believes that the Open End Scheme  is still 

commercially viable and its objective can still be achieved. 

 

(3c) where the Asset Management Company intimates grounds to the Commission for 

commercial viability of the Open End Scheme it shall also submit the following documents to 

the Commission,- 

 

a) the unit holders resolution passed by at least three fourths in value of total 

outstanding units  supporting the Asset Management Company’s views;  and  

b) a time bound action plan to increase the fund size to the minimum requisite fund 

size for consideration of the Commission.  

 

(3d)  Where the Commission is not satisfied with the submission of Asset Management 

Company under sub-regulation (3b) and (3c) it may direct the Asset Management Company or 

the trustee to  revoke the Open End Scheme.] 

 

(4) All advertisements of a Collective Investment Scheme shall be in conformity with 

the requirements as may be specified by the Commission. 

 

(5) Any approval granted by the Commission under Regulation 54, – 

 

(a) may be varied or withdrawn by the Commission after giving an opportunity of 

being heard to the Asset Management Company, except for advertisements which 

may be varied or withdrawn immediately;  

 

(b) shall be valid for a period of 335[hundred and twenty days] from the date of 

approval provided that there is no change in the approved documents or the 

                                    
332 Deleted the text “(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Ordinance, a prospectus of an Investment Company shall contain 

the information required under Schedule IV.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

333 Substituted for the text “(3a) The minimum size of an Open End Scheme shall be one hundred million rupees at all times 

during the life of the scheme and all existing Open End Schemes shall ensure compliance with this minimum scheme size limit 

by the first day of July, 2012. 

Explanation: - The minimum fund size means the Net Assets of the Open End Scheme.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 

2023  

334 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

335 Substituted for the text “sixty days” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  
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approval has not been extended. 

 
336[Investment Policy of Collective Investment Schemes] 

 

55.  Investment policy and diversification.- 337[(1) An Asset Management Company 

shall clearly state the objectives and the investment policy of a CIS.]  

 

(a) Closed End Scheme or Open End Scheme in the Offering Document; and 

 

(b) of an Investment Company in the prospectus.  

 

(2)  The Commission may specify categorization of 338[CIS] for the purpose of 

investments. 

 
339[(3)  A CIS shall comply with the investment policy as provided in Schedule-XIX.] 

   
340[Omitted] 

                                    
336 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

337 Substituted for the text “(1) An Asset Management Company shall clearly state the objectives and the investment policy of a, 

–” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

338 Substituted for the text “Collective Investment Schemes” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

339 Substituted for the text “(3)  A Collective Investment Scheme shall not invest in Unlisted Equity Securities unless an 

application for listing of such securities has been accepted by the stock exchange:  

Provided that a Collective Investment Scheme may make total investments in a pre-initial public offering (Pre-IPO) up to fifteen 

percent of its net asset value, subject to the investment limits prescribed under these Regulations.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 

17 May 2023  

340 Deleted the text “(4)  An Asset Management Company shall, -  

(a) state in the trust deed and specify in the Offering Document of the Closed End Scheme or Open End Scheme; or 

(b) state in the prospectus of an Investment Company;  

the type of securities the Collective Investment Scheme will invest in and the risks associated with such securities. 

(5)  340[Subject to sub-regulation (6) of this Regulation] Exposure of a Collective Investment Scheme to any single entity shall 

not exceed an amount equal to ten per cent of total net assets of the collective investment scheme, subject to following 

conditions: 

 

(a) Exposure to equity securities of a company shall not exceed ten percent of the issued capital of that company;  

(b) Exposure to any debt issue of a company shall not exceed ten percent of that issue. 

 340[Provided that subject to the conditions prescribed in clauses (a) and (b) above the exposure of an equity scheme to any 

single entity shall not exceed an amount equal to ten per cent of the net assets of the Scheme or the index weight of the security 

subject to the limit of fifteen percent, whichever is higher.] 

 

(6)  Exposure limits for following types of schemes shall be lower of net assets of a scheme or issued securities of a company:  

 

Type of Scheme 

(Fund)  

Maximum limit 

(Equity Securities) 

Maximum limit 

(Debt Securities) 

Shariah Compliant/Islamic Fund 15%  15% of single issue 

Index Funds  

(tracking recognised or approved 

index or its subset) 

weight of security in the 

index or its subset 
weight of security in index or its 

subset 

Sector specific fund 20% 20% of a single issue 

Capital Protected Fund or 

Guaranteed Fund  

Per company limit as specified in sub-regulation (5) shall not 

apply to such percentage of assets of the scheme that is placed 

with a bank or invested in such a manner that it will become 

100% at maturity of the scheme/fund or a guarantee has been 

obtained from the bank for guaranteed fund 
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341[Pricing, Subscriptions and Redemptions] 

 
342[56. Sale of securities and cost thereof.-  Securities representing the capital of a 

                                                                                                                 
340[Fund of funds No limit; Provided that the Asset Management Company shall 

not charge management fee if the fund invests in the schemes 

managed by the same Asset Management Company.] 

 

340[    ] 

(7)  An Asset Management Company shall not acquire twenty five percent or more of the voting rights or control of a company 

on behalf of its Collective Investment Schemes:  

Provided that the Asset Management Company shall comply with the condition, including divestment by Collective Investment 

Schemes, latest by March 31, 2009.  

(8) An Asset Management Company authorized by the Commission to invest overseas on behalf of Collective Investment 

Scheme shall disclose the same in the Constitutive Document and comply with such conditions as specified by the Commission. 

(9) An Asset Management Company shall not invest more than twenty five per cent of total net assets of the Collective 

Investment Scheme in securities of any one sector as per classification of the stock exchange, provided that the following types of 

schemes shall follow the limits specified below:  

340[ 

Type of Scheme (Fund) Maximum Per Sector limit 

Equity Funds 30% or index weight which ever is higher, subject to maximum of 35% 

Shariah Compliant/Islamic 

Fund 

35% or index weight, which ever is higher, subject to maximum of 40% 

Index Funds (tracking recognized or 

approved index or its subset) 

Weight of sector in the index or its subset 

Sector specific fund No limit 

Fund of funds No limit; Provided that the Asset Management Company shall not charge 

management fee if the fund invests in the schemes managed by the same Asset 

Management Company. 

Capital Protected Fund or 

Guaranteed Fund 

No limit; Provided that such percentage of assets of the scheme is placed with 

a bank or invested in such a manner which will become 100% at maturity of 

the scheme or a guarantee has been obtained from the bank for guaranteed 

funds.  

] 

 340[Provided that the Commission may specify a higher maximum limit for a specific sector.] 

(10) An Asset Management Company, on behalf of Collective Investment Scheme, shall not take Exposure of more than,- 

(a) thirty five per cent of net assets of Collective Investment Scheme in any single group; and 

340[Explanation: For the purpose of clause (a) of sub-regulations (10) of regulation 55, the term “group” means persons having 

at least 30% or more shareholding in any other company, as per publicly disclosed information;] 

(b) ten per cent of net assets of collective investment scheme in listed group companies of the asset management company and 

such Exposure shall only be made through the secondary market: 

340[Provided that an Asset Management Company, on behalf of sector specific fund shall not take exposure more than 20% of 

net asset of collective investment scheme in listed group companies of the asset management company.] 

 

(11)   A Closed End Fund may invest in its own certificates or shares up to twenty per cent of its issued capital from the 

secondary market in accordance with the requirements specified by the Commission. 

(12)  The Commission may specify different Exposure limits and parameters for Collective Investment Scheme depending on its 

Investment objective and policy. 

340[(13) where the Exposure of a Collective Investment Scheme exceeds the limits specified in sub-regulation (5), (6) or (9) of 

this regulation because of corporate actions including taking up rights or bonus issue or due to market price increase or decrease 

in net assets due to redemption the excess Exposure shall be regularized within four months of the breach of limits.] 

14) The exposure limits prescribed under sub-regulation (10) of Regulation 55 will not be applicable for Index Funds, Capital 

Protected Fund and Fund of Funds or any other category as specified by the Commission] 

340[(15) A Collective Investment Scheme may invest only in securities, commercial papers, deposit with Financial Institutions, 

place funds with financial institutions, or invest in any other avenues as approved by the Commission from time to time. 

(16)  The exposure limits prescribed under sub-regulation (5), (6), (9) and (10) of this regulation will not be applicable in case of 

exposure in securities issued by the Federal Government i.e. PIBs, TBs, Government Ijara Sukuks.]” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 

17 May 2023  

341 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

342 Substituted for the words “56. Sale of securities and cost thereof.- Securities representing the capital of a Closed End Fund 
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Closed End Fund shall be offered to the public at par but no such offer shall be made unless the 

offer has been underwritten by an underwriter with the prior approval of the Commission.] 

   

57.  Pricing, issue and redemption of units.- (1) Offer and redemption prices of units 

shall be calculated on the basis of the net assets of the Open End Scheme divided by the number 

of units outstanding and such prices may be adjusted by fees and charges: 

 

Provided that the amount or method of calculating such fees and charges is disclosed in 

the Offering Document.  

  

(2)  There shall be at least four regular dealing days per week subject to relaxation for 

a specific scheme as approved by the Commission. 

 

(3)  Any offer price, which the Asset Management Company or the distributor quotes 

or publishes, must be the maximum price payable on purchase and any redemption price must be 

the net price receivable on redemption.  

 
343[(4)  The maximum interval between the receipt of a properly documented request 

complete in all respects, for redemption of units and the issue of payment instrument for the 

redemption money to the holder shall not exceed six working days or such other period as 

specified by the Commission for any specific category of fund, unless redemption has been 

suspended.] 

 

(5) Where an Open End Scheme deals at a declared price, and such price exceeds or 

falls short of the current value of the underlying assets by more than five per cent based on 

information available, the Asset Management Company shall defer dealing and calculate a new 

price as soon as possible.  

 

(6)  A permanent change in the method of dealing shall be made after expiry of one 

month notice to unit holders and with the approval of trustee.  

 

(7)  A temporary change in the method of dealing shall only be made, - 

 

(a) in exceptional circumstances, having regard to the interests of unit holders;  

 

(b) if the possibility of a change and the circumstances in which it can be made have 

been fully disclosed in the Offering Documents; and  

 

(c) with the approval of the trustee.  

 

                                                                                                                 
shall be offered to the public at par but no such offer shall be made unless, -

 
 

(a) the Asset Management Company has made or has arranged to make an investment of the amount referred to in Regulation 

44(3)(e); and  

(b) the offer has been underwritten by an underwriter or Asset Management Company of the Closed End Fund with the prior 

approval of the Commission.” Vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

343 Substituted for the text “(4) The maximum interval between the receipt of a properly documented request for redemption of 

units and the issue of payment instrument for the redemption money to the holder shall not exceed six working days or such other 

period as specified by the Commission for any specific category of fund, unless redemption has been suspended.” Vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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(8)  Suspension of redemption shall be provided in exceptional circumstances 344[up to 

a maximum for fifteen working days], having regard to the interests of unit holders and such a 

decision shall be made with the prior approval of the board of the Asset Management Company 
345[and during suspension of redemption issuance of units shall also remain suspended].  

 

(9)  The Asset Management Company shall immediately inform the Commission and 

the trustee if redemption in units ceases or is suspended and the fact that the redemption is 

suspended shall be published immediately in the newspaper in which the scheme’s prices are 

usually published 346[and also emailed at the registered email ID of all unit holders].  

 

(10)  Where redemption requests on any one dealing day exceed ten per cent of the 

total number of units in issue, redemption requests in excess of ten per cent may be deferred to 

the next dealing day.  

 

(11)  Subject to the provisions of the Offering Document and after recording reasons in 

writing the Asset Management Company may suspend the sale of units and immediately inform 

the Commission, the trustee and the general public of such decision. 

 

(12) Notwithstanding anything contained in any other provision, where the 

Commission is of the opinion that it is in the interest of the unit holders or certificate holders, it 

may direct that the operations of Open End Scheme or Close End Scheme including the issuance, 

sale or redemption of units shall be suspended with effect from such date as specified by 

Commission. 

 
347[(13) The suspension of redemption shall end on the day following the first business 

day on which the exceptional circumstances giving rise to the suspension in the opinion of the 

Board of Directors of the Asset Management Company have ceased to exist. 

 

(14)  Where the AMC is unable to remove the suspension of redemption of unit of 

Open End Scheme within the fifteen working days of suspension the trustee shall immediately 

call the meeting of the unit holders at the expiry of the fifteenth days to decide whether to 

continue the suspension of redemptions for a further period or to terminate, revoke or transfer the 

Open End Scheme to another Asset Management Company.  

 

(15)  The decision to continue the suspension, revoke or transfer the Open  End Scheme 

to another Asset Management Company shall be supported by consent given in writing or 

resolution passed by unit holders representing at least three fourths in value of total outstanding 

units of the concerned scheme. 

 

(16)  The Asset Management Company shall inform the Commission and the trustee 

about the date of termination of suspension of dealing in units and publish the notice regarding 

the termination of dealing in units in two leading daily newspapers having circulation all over 

Pakistan 348[and also emailed at the registered email ID of all unit holders].]  

                                    
344 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

345 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

346 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

347 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

348 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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58.  Limitations and prohibitions.- (1) 349[An Asset Management Company on behalf 

of a CIS managed by it shall not],- 

 
350[Omitted] 

 

(f) issue a senior security which is either stock or represents indebtedness, without 

the prior written approval of the Commission; 

 

(g) apply for de-listing from stock exchange, unless it has obtained prior written 

approval of the Commission;  

 
351[Omitted] 

 
352[(j) finance, assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise become directly or contingently 

liable for or in connection with any obligation or indebtedness of any person: 

 

Explanation I:- Reverse repo transactions involving Government 

Securities or other debt securities stated as authorized investments in the Offering 

Document under an agreement and spread transaction or MTS or replacement 

thereof which are protected by the clearing company shall not be attracted by 

clause (j) provided risk management parameters are disclosed in the offering 

document of the scheme. 

 

Explanation II:- For the purpose of sub-clause the expression “spread 

                                    
349 Substituted for the text “Subject to Regulation 58(2), an Asset Management Company on behalf of a Collective Investment 

Scheme managed by it shall not” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

350 Deleted the text “(a) affect a short sale in a security whether listed or unlisted; 

(b) purchase any security in a forward contract; 

(c) purchase any security on margin; 

(d) apply any part of its assets to real estate, commodities or commodity contracts;  

(e) invest in securities of the Asset Management Company;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

351 Deleted the text “(h) invest in any security of a company, if, - 

(i) any director or officer of the Asset Management Company or Investment Company owns more than five per cent of the total 

amount of securities issued by that company; or 

(ii) the directors and officers of the Asset Management Company or Investment Company collectively own more than ten per 

cent of those securities: 

Provided that Regulation 58(1)(h) shall not apply to Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme tracking an index or a sub-set of 

an index; 

(i) if it is an Investment Company, - 

(i) appoint on its board fifty percent or more directors who represent interest of Asset Management Company; 

(ii) appoint or change its chief executive or any of its directors, excluding director nominated by the Federal Government   or 

Provincial Governments, without prior written approval of the Commission.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

352 Substituted for the text “(j) 352[finance], assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise become directly or Contingently Liable for 

or in connection with any obligation or indebtedness of any person: 

352[Explanation I:- Reverse repo transactions involving Government Securities or other debt securities stated as authorized 

investments in the Offering Document under an agreement and spread transaction through ready buy and future sale or future buy 

ready sale transaction to unwind the existing spread transaction or MTS or replacement thereof which are protected by the 

clearing company shall not be attracted by clause (j) provided risk management parameters are disclosed in the offering 

document of the scheme. 

Explanation II:- For the purpose of sub-clause the expression “spread transactions” mean such transactions where shares of one 

company are purchased on one settlement date and simultaneously sold on another settlement date, that will be considered as one 

transaction and includes; ready buy and future sale and its unwinding or future buy and future sale and its unwinding.” Vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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transactions” mean such transactions where shares/contracts of one company are 

purchased on one settlement date and simultaneously sold on another settlement 

date and/or on same settlement dates across markets, that will be considered as 

one transaction and includes; ready buy and future sale and its unwinding or 

future buy and future sale and its unwinding.] 

 
353[Omitted] 

 

(m) without obtaining prior approval of the Commission merge Collective Investment 

Schemes or acquire or take over any other Collective Investment Scheme; 

 

(n) invest the subscription money until the closure of public offer of 354[units] or 

certificates; 

 

(o) issue right shares or certificates at a price which is less than average of net asset 

value of shares or certificates over ninety days period immediately preceding the 

announcement of right issue of a Closed End Fund; and 

 
355[Omitted] 

(2) Regulations 58(1) (a),(b),(c) and (d) shall not apply to Collective Investment 

Scheme which has an investment objective and policy to short-sell, purchase securities on 

margin and invest in commodities or commodity contracts on terms and conditions specified by 

the Commission. 

 

59.  Transactions with connected person and employees.- (1) An Asset 

Management Company on behalf of a Collective Investment Scheme shall not without the 1[ ] 

approval of the 2[its Board of Directors] in writing 3[and consent of Trustee], purchase from, or 

sell any securities to any connected person or employee of the Asset Management Company: 

 

Explanation: Regulation 59(1) shall not apply to the issue, sale or redemption of units or 

shares or certificates issued by the Collective Investment Scheme. 

 

(2) Where cash forming part of assets of Collective Investment Scheme is deposited 

with the trustee or the custodian that is a banking company or an NBFC, a return on the deposit 

                                    
353 Deleted the text “(k)  borrow in any form, except with the approval of trustee, for meeting redemption request and such 

borrowing shall not exceed fifteen per cent or such other limit as specified by the Commission of the total net asset value of an 

Open End Scheme at the time of borrowing. The maximum period of borrowing shall be 90 days and any net cash flows during 

interim period shall be utilized for repaying of borrowing:  

 Provided that an Asset Management Company during the interim period may invest net cash flows for   right issues or may 

invest during the interim period if there is no option in borrowing agreement for early repayment of borrowing; 

(l) sell units or issue shares or certificates for consideration other than cash unless permitted by the Commission on the basis of 

structure and investment policy of the Collective Investment Scheme;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

354 Substituted for the word “shares” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

355 Deleted the text “(p) take Exposure in any other Collective Investment Scheme, except for fund of funds or overseas  

investment: 

Explanation.- For the purpose of this Regulation “fund of funds” means a Collective investment Scheme set up with the objective 

to predominantly invest in the securities of other Collective investment Schemes and  shall comply with these Regulations by 

June 30, 2009 1[or such extended period of time as specified by the Commission]. 

Provided that Clause 58(d) shall not apply to shariah compliant Collective Investment Scheme  entering into commodity based 

contracts as a vehicle; (a) to place funds or ; (b) to borrow funds to meet redemptions, as referenced in clause 58 (k) of these 

Regulations.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  



100 

shall be paid by such trustee or custodian at a rate that is not lower than the rate offered by the 

said banking company or NBFC to its other depositors on deposits of similar amount and 

maturity.  

 

(3) All transactions with connected persons carried out by an Asset Management 

Company on behalf of the Collective Investment Scheme shall be in accordance with the 

provisions of the Constitutive Documents and shall be disclosed in the annual report of the 

Collective Investment Scheme. 

 
356[(4) An Asset Management Company may undertake transactions involving sale and 

purchase of securities between the Collective Investment Schemes managed by it where the:- 

 

(a) Sale and purchase decisions are in the best interest of the Schemes involved; 

(b) Transactions are executed on an arm’s length and fair basis; and 

(c) Rationale for undertaking such transactions is documented prior to the execution.] 

 

60.  Expenses Chargeable to Collective Investment Schemes.- (1) All expenses 

incurred in connection with the incorporation, registration or establishment of a Closed End 

Fund, the offer for sale of the securities of such fund and the distribution of such securities, 

including commission payable to the underwriter, shall be borne by the  Asset Management 

Company and reimbursed from such fund, subject to the audit of expenses, in equal amounts 

paid annually over a period of not less than five years or within the maturity date of such fund if 

it has life of less than five years:  

 

Provided that an Asset Management Company of a Closed End Fund whose capital has 

already been issued, subscribed and listed shall not be entitled to reimbursement of any expense 

other than that incurred in connection with incorporation, registration or establishment of such 

Closed End Fund.  

 

(2) All expenses incurred in connection with the establishment and registration of an 

Open End Scheme including,- 

 

(a) execution and registration of the Constitutive Documents;  

 

(b) issue, legal costs, printing, circulation and publication of the Offering Document; 

 

(c) announcements describing the Open End Scheme; and 

 

(d)  expenses incurred during the initial period; 

 

shall be borne by the Asset Management Company and reimbursable, subject to the audit of 

expenses, by the fund over a period of not less than five years or within the maturity date of the 

fund or any other time period as may be specified by the Commission.  

 
357[(3) Notwithstanding the generality of Regulations 60(1) and (2), the fees and charges 

                                    
356 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

357 Substituted for the text “(3) Notwithstanding the generality of Regulations 60(1) and (2), the following fees and charges shall 
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as provided under Schedule-XX may be payable from the CIS, however, an AMC may charge 

any of such fees and charges to the management company.] 

 

(4) The expenses referred to in Regulations 60(1) and (2) shall be reported with their 

break-up under separate heads by the Asset Management Company to the Commission and the 

trustee, as soon as the distribution of the securities is completed. 

 
358[(5)  The following Management Fee caps for a Collective Investment Schemes shall 

be applicable, calculated on a per annum basis of the average daily net assets, effective from July 

01, 2025:  

 

                                                                                                                 
be payable from the Collective Investment Scheme, - 

(a) remuneration of the Asset Management Company; 

(b) remuneration of trustee or custodian; 

(c) in case of an Investment Company, the directors fees and related expenses for attending meetings; 

(d) listing fee payable to the stock exchange, including renewals; 

(e) charges and levies of stock exchange, national clearing and settlement company and central depositary company; 

(f) rating fee of Collective Investment Scheme payable to approved rating agency; 

(g) auditors’ fees and out of pocket expenses as billed by them; 

(h) fees payable to the Commission; 

 [(i) formation cost of the Collective Investment Scheme not exceeding 1.5 per cent of the net assets at the close of initial public 

offering (IPO)in case of an Open End Scheme and one percent of the paid-up capital in case of a Closed End Fund or ten million 

rupees whichever is lower;] 

(j) brokerage and transaction costs related to investing and disinvesting of the assets of the Collective Investment Schemes; 

(k) expenses incurred by trustee in affecting registration of all registerable assets in the name of the trustee; 

(l) legal and related costs incurred in protecting the interests of the unit, certificate or share holders of the Collective Investment 

Scheme; 

(m) bank charges, borrowing and financial costs; 

(n) hedging costs including forward cover, forward purchase or option purchase costs; 

(o) printing costs and related expenses for issuing the quarterly, half-yearly and annual reports, etcetera of the Collective 

Investment Scheme;   

(p) taxes, fees, duties and other charges applicable to the Collective Investment Scheme on its income or its properties, including 

taxes, fees, duties and other charges levied by a foreign jurisdiction on investments made oversees; 

(q)  in case of Investment Company, printing and distribution of notices of meetings;  

(r)  any other expense or charge as may be allowed by the Commission.  

 [(s)  fees and expenses related to registrar services, accounting, operation and valuation services related to CIS;] 

(t)   shariah advisory fee; [   ] 

(u)  custody and insurances costs relating to the safekeeping of the physical gold in the vault(s) for Commodity Funds; and] 

 [(v)  selling and marketing expenses for the purpose of opening and maintenance of branches; payment of salaries/commission to 

sales team and distributors; advertising and publicity expense; development of alternate delivery/distribution channels for CIS,: 

Provided that selling and marketing expense may be charged for all categories of funds except fund of funds.” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

358 Substituted for the text “ [(5) The Total Expense Ratio of a Collective Investment Scheme shall be capped as given 

below: 

(a) Equity, Balanced, Asset Allocation and Capital protected (dynamic asset allocation-direct exposure) Schemes up to 

[4.5]%;  

(b) Money Market upto 2%; 

(c) Income, aggressive income, Capital protected, Index and Commodity Schemes (cash settled) upto [2.5]% [:  

Provided that in addition to the above prescribed limit Income and Aggressive Income Schemes which invest in Margin Trading 

System (MTS) and/or ready future spread transaction, may charge additional MTS and/or ready future spread transaction related 

expenses upto 0.5% of Net assets to the Scheme;] 

(d) Commodity Schemes (deliverable) upto 3%; 

(e) Fund of Fund upto 2.5% in case management fee is charged and upto 0.5% incase no management fee is charged; 

Provided that the Asset Management Company shall not charge management fee if the fund of fund invests in the schemes 

managed by the same Asset Management Company; 

Explanation:- For the purpose of sub-regulation (5), the costs incurred in relation to any government levy on funds such as 

sales tax, Worker’s Welfare Fund or SECP fee etc. shall be excluded while calculating Total Expense Ratio for the purpose of 

these Regulations.]” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(a) Equity Schemes up to 3.00%;  

 

(b) Income/Aggressive Income Schemes & Commodities (Deliverable and Cash 

Settled) Schemes up to 1.50%; 

 

(c) Money Market up to 1.25%;  

 

(d) Fixed Rate/Return Schemes up to 1.00%; and 

 

(e) Exchange Traded Fund and Index Schemes up to 0.75%:  

 

Provided that in case of hybrid schemes, the Asset Management Company shall use a 

weighted average approach based on respective allocation of net assets to determine the 

Management Fee Caps: 

 

Provided further that the Asset Management Company shall not charge a management fee 

if the Fund of Funds invests in underlying schemes managed by the same Asset Management 

Company: 

 

Provided further that the earlier Total Expense Ratio Caps applicable before the date of 

this notification, for Collective Investment Schemes shall remain applicable until June 30, 2025. 

 

Explanation: For the purpose of sub-regulation (5), any costs related to government 

levies on the charging of management fees shall be excluded when calculating the management 

fee for compliance with the prescribed regulatory caps. However, for Total Expense Ratio 

disclosure to unit holders, all costs, including taxes, shall be fully disclosed.”;] 

 
359[(6) An AMC shall ensure adequate disclosure of the following expenses and sales load 

to investor before soliciting investment and prominently disclose on a daily basis, the following 

information regarding all CIS on its website and on the website of Mutual Funds Association of 

Pakistan (MUFAP),- 

 
360[(i)  total expense ratio shall be made as per the following format; 

 
M.F Regulatory 

Fee 

Trustee 

Fee and 

Custody 

Charges 

Levies 

and 

Taxes 

Transaction 

Expenses 

(Broker, 

Bank, PSX, 

CDC, NCCPL 

etc.) 

Third Party 

Expenses 

(Auditor, 

Rating 

Agency, 

Legal, Shariah 

Other 

Expenses 

Total 

TER 

with 

levies 

Total TER 

without 

levies 

                                    
359 Substituted for the text “ (6)  An AMC shall ensure adequate disclosure of the following expenses and sales load to investor 

before soliciting investment,- 

(i)  Total Expense Ratio; 

(ii)  Management Fee as a percentage of net assets; 

(iii)  Selling and Marketing expenses as a percentage of net assets; and 

(iv)  Front-end, back-end and contingent load as a percentage of net assets.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

360 Substituted for the text “(i) Total Expense Ratio; 

(ii)  Management Fee as percentage of net assets; 

(iii)  Selling and Marketing expenses as percentage of net assets; 

(iv)  Front-end, back-end and contingent load as a percentage of net assets; and 

(v)  Trustee Fee as percentage of net assets.” Vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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Advisor) 

a % b % c % d % e% f% g % (a+b+c+

d+e+f+g

)% 

(a+b+c+e

+f+g)% 

 

(ii) Front-end, back-end and contingent load as a percentage of net assets; and 

(iii) The return after deducting the Total Expense Ratio shall also be disclosed to the 

unitholders.] 

 
 361[Omitted] 

 
362[60A.  Alignment of interest.- In order to align the interest of the Key 

Employees of the AMCs with the unitholders of the CIS an AMC shall allocate such part of 

compensation of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and Head of Investment 

Committee of the AMCs in units of CIS(s) being managed by the AMC as specified in Schedule 

XXII.] 

 
363[61.  Remuneration payable to Asset Management Company.- An Asset 

Management Company shall be entitled to an accrued remuneration that has been verified by the 

trustee and is paid in arrears on monthly basis: 

 

Provided that Asset Management Company may charge variable fee or fixed fee or the 

combination of both which shall not exceed the limit disclosed in the Offering Document. AMC 

shall disclose actual rate of management fee charged as percentage of net asset of CIS in the 

monthly fund manager report.] 

 
364[62.  Fee Payable to the Commission.- (1) An Asset Management Company 

managing a Collective Investment Scheme, within fifteen days of the close of every calendar 

                                    
361 Deleted the text “(7) Asset Management Company shall prominently disclose on a daily basis, the following information 

regarding all Collective Investment Schemes on its website and on the website of Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan 

(MUFAP),- 

(i)  Total Expense Ratio; 

(ii) Management Fee as percentage of net assets; 

(iii)  Selling and Marketing expenses as percentage of net assets; and 

(iv)  Front-end, back-end and contingent load as a percentage of net assets.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

362 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

363 Substituted for the text “363[(61) An Asset Management Company shall disclose in the Offering Document the maximum 

rate of management fee chargeable to Collective Investment Scheme within allowed expense ratio limit. An Asset Management 

Company shall be entitled to an accrued remuneration that has been verified by the trustee and is paid in arrears on monthly 

basis: 

Provided that Asset Management Company may charge variable fee or fixed fee or the combination of both which shall not 

exceed the limit disclosed in the Offering Document. AMC shall disclose actual rate of management fee charged as percentage of 

net asset of CIS in the monthly fund manager report.]” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

364 Substituted for the text “62.  Annual fee.- An Asset Management Company managing a Collective Investment Scheme, 

within three months of the close of accounting year of the Collective Investment Scheme, shall pay the Commission 364[non-

refundable annual fee] which is such percentage of average annual net assets of the Collective Investment Scheme as provided in 

Schedule II: 

 

Provided that the annual fee shall be chargeable by the Asset Management Company to the Collective Investment Scheme.  

 

Explanation. - For the purposes of Regulations 61 and 62 “average annual net assets” means the average of net assets calculated 

on daily, weekly or monthly basis during the year.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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month of the Collective Investment Scheme, shall pay the Commission non-refundable fee which 

is such percentage of average net assets of the Collective Investment Scheme as provided in 

Schedule II along with trustee certificate for the accuracy: 

 

Provided that the fee payable to the Commission shall be chargeable by the Asset 

Management Company to the Collective Investment Scheme. 

 

Explanation. - For the purposes of Regulation 62(1) “average net assets” means the 

average of net assets calculated on daily basis during the month.  

 

Provided further that an Asset Management Company managing a Collective Investment 

Scheme, within three months of close of accounting year/financial year 2022-2023 of the 

Collective Investment Scheme, shall pay the Commission, non-refundable annual fee which is 

0.02% of average annual net assets of the Collective Investment Scheme. 

 

Explanation. - For the purposes of above proviso, the “average annual net assets” means 

the average of net assets calculated on daily, weekly or monthly basis during the year. 

 

(2)  An Investment Advisor managing discretionary portfolio shall pay the 

Commission non-refundable fee, which is such percentage of discretionary portfolio under 

management as provided in Schedule II within fifteen days of the close of each quarter of its 

accounting year.] 

 

63.  Amount distributable to shareholders.- 365[(1)] An Asset Management Company  

on behalf of  a Collective Investment Scheme shall, for every  accounting year, distribute by way 

of dividend to the unit holders, certificate holders or shareholders, as the case may be, not less 

than ninety per cent of the accounting income of the Collective Investment Scheme received or 

derived from sources other than 366[   ] capital gains as reduced by such expenses as are 

chargeable to a Collective Investment Scheme under these Regulations 367[: 

 

 Provided that in case of a Closed End Fund, the realized capital gains shall also be 

distributed as per above requirement.]   

 
368[Explanation.- For the purpose of this Regulation the expression “accounting income” 

means income  of an open end scheme, excluding the amount for the year referred to in clause 

(xiib) of regulation (2), at the close of the financial year or in case of interim distribution any 

interim date at which the financial statements of the fund are drawn up] 369[: 

 

Provided that in case of Exchange Traded funds accounting Income shall also include net 

of element of income created through income statement at the time of issuance and/or 

redemption of units.] 

                                    
365 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

366 Deleted the word “unrealized” vide SRO 427(I)/2015 dated May 20, 2015 

367 Inserted vide SRO 427(I)/2015 dated May 20, 2015 

368 Substituted for the words “Explanation.- For the purpose of this Regulation the expression “accounting income” means 

income calculated under the International Accounting Standards and verified by the auditors.” Vide SRO 756(I)/2017 dated 3 

August 2017 

369 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 613(I)/2020 dated July 7, 2020 
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370[(2)  Unless otherwise advised by the unit/certificate holders, all dividends to which a 

unitholder is entitled, shall be credited by the AMCs in the bank account of the unit holder 

provided by him/her on the application for investment or otherwise.] 

 
371[(3)  An AMC shall ensure that dividend is paid to the unit holder within 10 working 

days from the date of announcement of dividend.] 

 

64.  Publication of net asset value of Closed End Fund.- An Asset Management 

Company managing a Closed End Fund shall furnish to the stock exchange on which the 
372[units] of the fund are listed, the Commission, the relevant association and such other entity as 

directed by the Commission, within fourteen days of the last day of the preceding month, 

information about the net asset value of 373[units] issued by it, as on last date of the preceding 

month. 

 
374[Omitted] 

                                    
370 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

371 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

372 Substituted for the word “securities” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

373 Substituted for the word “securities” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

374 Deleted the text “65.  Conversion or cancellation or winding-up of Closed End Fund.- (1) An Asset Management Company 

managing a Closed End Fund or an Investment Company shall, upon expiry of [   ] five years from 21st November 2007 or the 

date of launch of the fund whichever is later, hold within one month of such period a meeting of the certificate holders in case of 

a Closed End Scheme or shareholders in case of an Investment Company to seek approval of the certificate holders or 

shareholders, as the case may be, to convert into an Open End Scheme or revoke the Closed End Scheme or wind up the 

Investment Company, subject to applicable provisions of the Ordinance, the Rules and these Regulations:  

 Provided that Regulation 65(1) shall not apply to Closed End Funds having specified maturity of  five years or less than five 

years or where period of maturity is specified:]      

 [  ] 

 Provided further that in the case of Closed End Fund, where their portfolio is frozen as a result of an agreement with the 

Privatization Commission (i.e. funds previously managed by the Investment Corporation of Pakistan) such Closed End Fund shall 

hold the aforementioned meeting [within three months] from the date of removal of freezing of the portfolio or five years from 

21st November 2007, which ever is later.  

[(2) The meeting of certificate holders or shareholders, as the case may be, shall decide on any one of the following: 

(a) conversion of Closed End Fund into an Open End Scheme; or  

(b) revocation of Closed End Scheme; or  

(c) winding up of an Investment Company.] 

 [(2a) In case of winding up of Investment company, a special resolution of   shareholders shall be obtained by casting a vote 

through proxy or physical presence in a meeting and in case of conversion of Investment Company in to an Open End Scheme, 

by passing a resolution of shareholders through simple majority by casting vote through proxy or physical presence in the 

meeting and in case of conversion of Closed End Scheme in to Open End Scheme or revocation of Closed End Scheme, by 

passing a resolution of certificate holders through simple majority by casting a vote through proxy, physical presence or in 

writing through post, and all such resolutions once passed shall be binding on the Asset Management Company.  

(2aa)  The meeting of the certificate holders of the Closed End Scheme shall be convened in accordance with the requirements as 

prescribed by the Commission through circular.  

(2aaa) An Asset Management Company shall ensure publication and dissemination of the notice of the meeting of certificate 

holders of the Closed End Scheme  along with the draft resolution at least seven days prior to the date of meeting and in case of 

Investment Company 21 days prior to the date of meeting of  shareholders and all such notices shall also specify all material 

facts, particularly the impact of conversion, revocation or winding up, as the case may be, on the certificate holders or 

shareholders.] 

(3) Not later than fifteen days from the date of meeting of the certificates holders or shareholders, as the case may be, the Closed 

End Fund shall make an application to the Commission for conversion or revocation or winding up, as the case may be, 

accompanied with a copy of the 374[relevant resolution.] 

(4) The Commission after ensuring the completion of formalities by the concerned NBFC and Closed End Fund, as prescribed in 

the Rules, these Regulations and the Ordinance or the conditions as specified by the Commission, shall allow the conversion or 

revocation or winding up of the fund, as the case may be.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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66.  Calculation of net assets.- Net assets in relation to a Collective Investment 

Scheme shall be calculated in the following manner: 

 
375[(a) a security listed on a stock exchange, local or foreign as the case may be, shall be 

valued at the closing price determined by such exchange in accordance with its 

regulations.]  

 

(b) an Unlisted Debt Security and a debt security listed but not traded regularly on a 

stock exchange shall be valued in the manner specified by the Commission;   

  

(c) an investment purchased and awaiting payment against delivery shall be included 

for valuation purposes;  

 

(d) an investment sold but not delivered pending receipt of proceeds shall be valued 

at the net sale price;  

 

(e) the value of any dividends, bonus shares or rights which may have been declared 

on securities in the portfolio but not received by the Collective Investment 

Scheme as of the close of business on the valuation date shall be included as 

assets of the Collective Investment Scheme if the security upon which such 

dividends, bonuses or rights were declared is included in the assets and is valued 

ex-dividend, ex-bonus or ex-rights as the case may be;  

 

(f) mark-up accrued on any mark-up-bearing security in the portfolio shall be 

included as an asset of the Collective Investment Scheme if such accrued mark-up 

is not otherwise included in the valuation of the security;  

 

(g) any other income accrued upto the date on which computation was made shall 

also be included in the assets;  

 

(h) all liabilities, expenses and other charges due or accrued up to the date of 

computation which are chargeable under these Regulations and taxes shall be 

deducted from the value of the assets; 

 

(i) the remuneration accrued up to the date of computation payable to the Asset 

Management Company for providing management and other services shall be 

included as an expense; 

 

(j) a security not listed or quoted on a stock exchange, other than Government 

Securities or debt security, shall be valued at investment price or its break up 

value as per last audited accounts, whichever is lower;   

 

                                    
375 Substituted for the words “(a) a security listed on a stock exchange, local or foreign as the case may be, shall be valued at its 

last sale price on such exchange on the date on which it is valued or if such exchange is not open on such date, then at its last sale 

price on the next preceding date on which such exchange was open and if no sale is reported for such date the security shall be 

valued at an amount neither higher than the closing asked price nor lower than the closing bid price;” vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 

dated 25 November 2015 
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(k) Government Securities not listed on a stock exchange and traded in the interbank 

market shall be valued at the average rate quoted on a widely used electronic 

quotation system and   such average rate shall be based on the remaining tenor of 

the security;376[] and 

 

(l) any such method of valuation of assets and liabilities as may be specified or 

modified by the Commission from time to time; 377[and 

 

(m) take all reasonable steps and exercise due diligence to ensure that the assets of 

Collective Investment Scheme are correctly valued and priced, in line with the 

provisions of these regulations and Constitutive Documents: 

 

Explanation:- For the purpose of valuing the fund’s property and pricing 

the Collective Investment Scheme’s units, a management company shall not do or 

omit anything that will confer on itself or certain unit holders a benefit or 

advantage at the expense of other unit holders or potential unit holders.]  

 
378[66A.Sale and Distribution of units of Collective Investment Schemes: 

 

a) An Asset Management Company may sell units of 379[CIS] directly or through 

distributors. An Asset Management Company shall ensure that to whom it 

delegates distribution function have valid license/ registration from the 

Commission. 

 

 380[Provided that those distributors who are selling mutual fund units of 

single AMC only shall be exempted from the requirement licensing/registration 

provided that they shall fulfil such other requirements as may be specified by the 

Commission]381[: 

 

Provided further that a Scheduled Bank, Microfinance Bank, Development 

Financial Institution and Electronic Money Institution licensed by the State Bank 

of Pakistan, and a non-banking microfinance company licensed by the 

Commission, shall be eligible to undertake activities only to the extent of 

distributor of CIS/ VPF units of AMCs/Pension Fund Managers (PFMs) without 

obtaining requisite license and subject to compliance with the Securities and 

Futures Advisors (Licensing and Operations) Regulations, 2017.] 

  

b) An Asset Management Company shall enter into a written agreement with the 

distributors clearly stating the terms and conditions for avoidance of fraud and 

mis-selling of Collective Investment Scheme. 

                                    
376 The word “and” deleted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

377 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

378 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

379 Substituted for the text “Collective Investment Scheme” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

380 Substituted for the words “Provided that distributors which are already engaged in the business of distribution of mutual fund 

units, shall comply with these requirements within six months of coming into force of these regulations.” vide SRO 1179(I)/2016 

dated December 28, 2016. 

381 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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382[(ba)  The Asset Management Company, following the execution of a written agreement 

with the distributors, is obligated to disclose the list of its distributors on all of its 

digital platforms, including its website.] 

 

c) An Asset Management Company and distributor shall not:  

 

i. involve either directly or indirectly in the mis-selling of Collective 

investment schemes; 

 

ii. sell units of Collective Investment Scheme directly or indirectly by 

making a false or misleading statement; 

iii. sell units of Collective Investment Scheme directly or indirectly by 

concealing or omitting material facts of the scheme; and 

 

iv. sell units of Collective Investment Scheme directly or indirectly by 

concealing the risk factors associated with the scheme. 

 

d) An Asset Management Company or distributor shall take reasonable care to 

ensure suitability of the scheme to the investor. 

 
383[Explanations:- For the purpose of this, AMC shall ensure proper 

acknowledgment from investors on risk profiling and recommended Collective 

Investment Scheme as per risk profiling and in case investor select high risk 

product on its own choice, AMC shall also ensure proper acknowledgment from 

investor of his such selection.] 

 

e) An Asset Management Company or distributor shall ensure that any performance 

reporting / presentation is accompanied by all explanations, qualifications, 

limitations and other statements that are necessary to prevent such information 

from misleading investors. 

 

f) An Asset Management Company or distributor shall ensure that promotional 

materials do not contain untrue statements or omit to state facts that are necessary 

in order to prevent the statements from being misleading, false or deceptive. 

 

g) An Asset Management Company or distributor shall ensure that performance is 
384[ ] presented after taking into account the risk-tolerance, investment objectives, 

level of understanding and knowledge of the recipient. 

 
385[Investment Advisory Services] 

 

66B. Investment Advisory Services. - (1) An Investment Advisor and its employees 

                                    
382 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

383 Inserted vide SRO 1233 (I)/2019 dated 16 October 2019 

384 Deleted the words “measured and” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

385 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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as applicable shall; 

(a) act in good faith and in the best interest of its client(s) or investors without taking 

advantage for itself or any of its related parties or group companies or employees 

at the expense of its clients or investor(s). 

(b) place client’s or investor’s interest before their own. 

(c) ensure that the investment decisions and actions, in case of pooled funds, are in 

accordance with the investment policy, objectives and constraints including risk 

parameters, as stated in the fund’s constitutive documents. 

(d) ensure that the investment advice, decisions and actions, appropriately take into 

account the client’s or investor’s investment objectives, tolerance for risk, time 

horizon, liquidity needs and financial constraints, that shall be specified and 

agreed with the client in writing prior to providing such investment services. 

(e) not carry out any transaction on behalf of clients or investors with any of its 

connected person unless such transaction is carried out on arm’s length terms and 

with appropriate disclosure. 

(f) take measure for restricting excessive trading that cannot be directly linked to a 

profitable trade for the investors, and ensuring that only the minimal number of 

trades take place taking into account the investors’ stated objectives. 

(g) Ensure that the best price and terms are negotiated when trading in securities, in 

the interest of the investors. 

(h) not participate in any business relationship or accept any gift that could 

reasonably be expected to affect their independence, objectivity, or loyalty to 

clients or investors. 

(i) not involve directly or indirectly in the mis-selling of securities. 

(j) not directly or indirectly sell securities by making a false or misleading statement. 

(k) not directly or indirectly sell securities by concealing or omitting material facts of 

investments. 

(l) not directly or indirectly sell securities by concealing the associated risk factors of 

the scheme. 

(m) not assume and issue any type of guarantee, in relation to and on behalf of the 

portfolio managed by investment advisor. 

(2)  An Investment Advisor shall: 

(a)  specify a suitable performance benchmark to be used on a consistent basis, that is 

commensurate with the investment parameters/risks along with frequency of 

performance review.  
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(b)  ensure that any performance reporting / presentation is accompanied by all 

explanations, qualifications, limitations and other statements that are necessary to 

prevent such information from misleading clients or investors. 

(c)  ensue that performance is measured and presented after taking into account the 

level of understanding and knowledge of the recipient. 

(d)  use market prices to value investments and apply, in good faith, methods to 

determine the fair value of any securities for which no independent, third-party 

market quotation is readily available.  

(e)  ensure that promotional materials do not contain untrue statements or omit to state 

facts that are necessary in order to prevent the statements from being misleading, 

false or deceptive. 

(f)  formulate policies and procedures for proper discharge of its fiduciary 

responsibility towards investors and such policy shall cover the following 

minimum principles / requirements: 

(i) Mechanism to ensure Investment Advisor’s employees exercise 

reasonable care and prudent judgment while managing client or investor 

assets; 

(ii) Sufficient measures to ensure that the nature and extent of its fiduciary 

duties are clearly understood by employees of Investment Advisor;  

(iii) Requirements to ensure fair and objective dealing with all clients or 

investors, when providing investment information, making investment 

recommendations, or taking investment action; 

(iv) Ensure portfolio of each client or investor is managed separately from 

others in case of segregated accounts; 

(v) Restriction on employees of Investment Advisor from entering into any 

transaction that may create a conflict with a ‘duty of care’ owed to a 

client. Where it is practically not possible to avoid conflict, ensure its 

complete and timely disclosure to clients;  

(vi) Appropriate measures to determine and present investment performance in 

a fair, accurate and timely manner and shall not misrepresent the 

performance of individual portfolios or of its own; 

(vii) Mechanism for ongoing and timely client or investor communications 

such as portfolio information, which does not contain any inaccurate or 

misleading information; 

(viii) Proper procedures to ensure confidentiality of client or investor 

information; and 

(ix) Mechanism for proper and timely handling of any client or investor 
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complaints along with details of dedicated personnel to deal with such 

matters.] 

 
386[(g) send a portfolio account statement to discretionary clients on the registered postal 

address or through any electronic means including registered email address 

provided by the client at least on semi-annual basis, with complete disclosure of 

portfolio allocation, gross return on portfolio, expenses including advisory fee, 

performance fee etc., net return of the portfolio, value of investments at statement 

date and performance since inception. 

(h)  comply with such other requirement as may be specified by the Commission from 

time to time.] 

387[(3)  An Investment Advisor managing listed and traded Collective Investment 

Schemes shall comply with relevant regulatory framework as may be specified by the 

Commission.] 

 
388[67. Managing discretionary and non-discretionary client portfolio.-  (1) 389[An 

Investment Advisor shall inform the Commission before commencement of business of 

investment advisory services and in provision of such services it shall]: 

 
390[(a) Obtain an undertaking from the Client that he understands the risks involved in 

the management of portfolio on discretionary or non-discretionary basis: 

 

Provided that in the case of an entity such an undertaking shall be made by 

the board of directors or trustees as the case may be;] 

 
391[(b) exercise due diligence, care and prudence to achieve the investment objective of 

                                    
386 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

387 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

388 Substituted for the words “Investment Advisory Services 67. Managing discretionary and non-discretionary client portfolio.- 

(1) An Investment Advisor shall inform the Commission before commencement of business of managing Discretionary Portfolio 

and Non-Discretionary Portfolio and in managing Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio of client it shall, - 

(a) accept investment requests only from Eligible Investors; 

(b) exercise due diligence, care and prudence to achieve the investment objective of the Discretionary Portfolio and Non-

Discretionary Portfolio of clients;  

(c) organize its affairs in a manner that Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio of clients are managed separately 

from other activities; 

(d) make investment or disinvestment decisions independently and on merit;  

(e) charge fees and costs as specified in the written agreement between the parties;  

(f) disclose details separately for Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio by way of separate note to the annual 

and quarterly accounts such as the number of clients, total portfolio at cost as well as market value and fee earned; and 

(g) comply with any circulars or directions issued by the Commission relating to the business of managing Discretionary 

Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio.  

(2) In the event of any dispute, the Investment Advisor shall produce evidence of compliance under Regulation 67 (1).” Vide 

SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

389 Substituted for the text “An Investment Advisor shall inform the Commission before commencement of business of 

managing Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio and in managing Discretionary Portfolio and Non-

Discretionary Portfolio of client it shall” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

390 Substituted for the text “(a)  accept investment requests only from Eligible Investors;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 

2023 

391 Substituted for the text “(b) exercise due diligence, care and prudence to achieve the investment objective of the 

Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio of clients; “ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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clients;] 

 

(c) organize its affairs in a manner that;  

 
392[(i) Portfolio of clients are managed separately;] 

(ii) ensures that material conflict of interest across different activities is 

adequately managed. 

(iii) have proper Information Technology system and infrastructure to manage 

the portfolio. 

(iv) Put in place adequate and appropriate systems, procedures and processes 

to undertake and monitor different business activities in a proper and 

efficient manner. 

(v) establish and maintain sufficient risk management systems and controls to 

enable it to identify, access, mitigate, control and monitor risks in best 

interest of investors. 

(vi) formulate and implement Board’s approved internal control policies and 

procedures for ensuring; 

(I)  appropriate segregation of duties and information barriers between 

the trading, risks management and processing functions, 

commonly referred to as the front, middle and back offices; 

(II)  establishment of ‘Chinese Walls’ including polices and physical 

apparatus designed to prevent the improper or unintended 

dissemination of market sensitive information from one division of 

multi-service firm to another division.  

 

(d)  make investment or disinvestment decisions independently and on merit;  

 

(e)  charge fees and costs as specified in the written agreement between the parties;  

 

(f)  disclose details separately for Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary 

Portfolio by way of separate note to the annual and quarterly accounts such as the 

number of clients, total portfolio at cost as well as market value and fee earned; 

and 

 
393[(g) comply with any circulars or directions issued by the Commission.] 

 
394[(h) The custodian shall be independent of the Investment Advisor or the Asset 

                                    
392 Substituted for the text “(i) Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio of clients are managed separately.” Vide 

SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

393 Substituted for the text “(g) comply with any circulars or directions issued by the Commission relating to the business of 

managing Discretionary Portfolio and Non-Discretionary Portfolio.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

394 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 



113 

Management Company in such a manner that there shall be no cross-shareholding 

nor common directorship: 

 

Provided that a director or employee of the custodian shall not be involved 

in the affairs of Asset Management Company or the Investment Advisor.] 

 

(2) An Investment Advisor in the event of any dispute reported by a client or group of 

clients, shall have the onus to produce evidence, of compliance under regulation 67 (1) to the 

Commission for its review and decision.] 

 
395[67A. Relaxation of Regulations. - If any difficulty arises in giving effect to 

any of the provisions of these regulations in a particular case, or class of cases, or if it would be 

in the interest of capital market so to do, the Commission may, for reasons to be recorded in 

writing relax such requirements subject to such conditions as it may deem fit.]  

 

Part V396 

Voluntary Pension System 

 

“67AA. Application of this part.- The provisions of this part shall apply to 

Pension Fund Managers and Pension Funds managed by such Pension Fund Managers 397[: 

 

Provided that Digital Fund Management NBFCs/ Pension Fund Managers shall 

comply with such requirements as may be specified by the Commission through circular, 

for Digital Pension Fund Scheme Business.”;] 

 

67B. Obligations as Pension Fund Manager.- A Pension Fund Manager shall,- 

 

(i) be obliged to manage the assets of the pension fund in the interest of the 

participants in good faith and to the best of its ability and without gaining 

any undue advantage for itself or any of its related parties or its officers; 

(ii) be responsible for the acts and omissions of all persons to whom it may 

delegate any of its functions as Pension Fund Manager, howsoever 

designated, as if they were its own acts and omission; 

(iii) account to the trustee for any loss in value of the assets of the pension 

fund where such loss has been caused by its gross negligence, reckless or 

willful act or omission; 

(iv) maintain at its principal office, proper accounts and records to enable a 

complete and accurate view to be formed of the assets and liabilities and 

the income and expenditure of the pension fund, all transactions for the 

account of the pension fund and contributions received by the pension 

fund and withdrawals by the participants including detail of withholding 

                                    
395 Inserted vide S.R.O. No. 814(I)/2011 dated September 05, 2011. 

396Part V inserted vide SRO 1068(I)/2021 dated 23 August 2021 

 

397 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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tax deducted at source and transfer or receipt of balances in the individual 

pension accounts of the participants to or from other Pension Fund 

Managers; 

 

(v) prepare and transmit an annual report, together with a copy of the balance 

sheet and income and expenditure account and the auditor's report of the 

pension fund within four months of closing of the accounting period to the 

Commission and the participants, and the balance sheet and income and 

expenditure account shall comply with requirements as set out in Schedule  

XIII: 

 

Provided that the Pension Fund Manager may transmit or make 

available on its website annual report of the pension fund for participants 

and it shall make the printed copy available to a participant free of cost as 

and when required; 

 

(vi) within one month of the close of the first and third quarter of its year of 

account of the fund and within two months of the close of second quarter, 

prepare and transmit to the participants and the Commission a balance 

sheet as at the end of that quarter and a profit and loss account for that 

quarter, whether audited or otherwise, of the pension fund and the balance 

sheet and income and expenditure account shall comply with requirements 

as set out in Schedule XIII. The companies may, post the said quarterly 

accounts on their website; 

 

(vii) maintain a register of participants of the pension fund and inform the 

Commission of the address where the register is kept; 

 

(viii) appoint an auditor with the consent of the trustee at the establishment of 

the pension fund and upon any vacancy and such auditor shall not be 

appointed for more than five consecutive years; 

(ix) furnish to the Commission within one month of the close of any 

accounting period,- 

 

(a)  particulars of the personnel (executive, research and other) 

managing the pension fund;  

(b)  total number of participants; and  

(c)  such other information that may be specified by the Commission 

from time to time; 

(x) furnish to the Commission a copy of its annual report together with copies 

of the balance sheet, profit and loss account, the directors’ report and the 

auditors’ report within one month of its annual general meeting and shall 

furnish its half yearly report to the Commission within two months of 

close of its half year; 

(xi) send an account statement as at the 30th June and the 31st December each 

year, within thirty days after the end of each date, to individual 
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participants, giving detail of the amounts received or withdrawn and tax 

deducted and the number of units allocated and held, the current valuation 

of the units and such other information as may be specified by the 

Commission, free of charge; 

(xii) send an account statement each time when there is an activity in the 

participant’s account within seven working days of such activity and the 

participant shall be entitled to receive any information, in respect of his 

account, at any time, on written application;  

(xiii) send any other statement or certificate to the participants which may be 

necessary under these rules regulations;  

(xiv) send a notice to a participant at least thirty days before the chosen date of 

retirement informing him the options available to him on retirement. The 

notice should be sent physically on the mailing address as well as 

electronically on email or cellular phone number; 398[ ] 

(xv) specify a criteria in writing to provide for a diverse panel of brokers at the 

time of offering of a pension fund or for any subsequent change and shall 

not enter, on behalf of a pension fund, into transactions with any broker 

that exceed twenty five per cent of the commission payable by a pension 

fund in any one accounting year: 

 

Provided that this restriction shall not apply to transactions relating 

to money market instruments or debt securities. 

 
399[(xvi)pay such sum from its remuneration without passing to participants, as per 

the mechanism specified by the Commission as Market Development 

Charges aimed at investor education, awareness and market development 

activities of pension funds; 

 

(xvii)  obtain Shariah compliance certificate in the case of a Shariah-Compliant 

Scheme, as per the requirements of Companies Act, 2017 and the Shariah 

Governance Regulations, 2023 and comply with such requirements as may 

be specified by the Commission:  

 

Provided that Shariah compliant schemes similar to an already 

declared Shariah compliant scheme by the Commission, having the same 

underlying structure, mode of Islamic financing, and terms and conditions 

except for variations in commercial terms such as pricing, issue size, etc. 

shall not be required to obtain a separate Shariah compliance certificate. 

However, the Pension Fund Manager shall be required to submit Form E 

in accordance with the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023, before the 

issuance of such other scheme;  

                                    
398 Deleted the word “and” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

399 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(xviii) ensure in the case of the Shariah Compliant Scheme, that all new and 

supplemental Constitutive Documents are in line with the clauses 

prescribed under Schedule XIII, XIV and XV relating to Shariah 

compliance: 

 

Provided that Pension Fund Manager shall amend existing 

constitutive documents within such time as may be specified by the 

Commission; 

 

(xix)  ensure ongoing Shariah Compliance and comply with the conditions of 

certification of Shariah compliance under the Shariah Governance 

Regulations, 2023, in case of Shariah compliant schemes: 

 

Provided that any Shariah-compliant scheme launched after the 

promulgation of the Shariah Governance, Regulations, 2023 that did not 

obtain a Shariah compliance certificate, shall obtain the same till 

September 30, 2025; and 

 

(xx)  engage an external Shariah Auditor for a Shariah-compliant scheme. An 

annual report by Shariah Auditors as required under regulation 29(5) of 

the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023 shall be submitted to the Board 

of Directors.] 

 

67C.  Restrictions for Pension Fund Manager.- No Pension Fund Manager shall,- 

 

(i) merge with, acquire or take over management of any other pension fund unless it 

has obtained the prior approval of the Commission in writing to the scheme of 

such merger, acquisition or takeover; 

 

(ii) participate in a joint account with others in any transaction except for placement 

of orders under a single Universal Identification Number (UIN) subject to 

mechanism approved by the Commission; 

 

(iii) make any investment with the purpose of having the effect of vesting the 

management, or control, in the pension fund;  

 

(iv) employ as a broker, directly or indirectly, any of its director, officer or employee 

or a member of a family of such person which shall include spouse, parents, 

children, brothers and sisters and enter into transactions with any connected 

broker, which shall equal or exceed twenty-five per cent or more of the brokerage 

or commission paid by the pension fund in any one accounting year; and 

 

(v) enter into a short sale transaction in any security.  

  

67D.  Obligations of trustee of pension fund.- A trustee shall,- 



117 

 
400[(i) A trustee shall meet the obligations, as applicable, laid down in regulation 41 

whereby any reference to “Asset Management Company” shall be construed as 

“Pension Fund Manager”, “Open End Scheme” as “Pension Fund” and “unit 

holder” as “participant”. In addition, a trustee shall be liable for the act and 

omission of the lender and its agent in relation to assets forming part of the 

property of the pension fund and, where borrowing is undertaken for the account 

of the pension fund, such assets may be registered in the lender's name or in that 

of a nominee appointed by the lender.]; and 
401[Omitted] 

 

comply with the directions of the Commission given in the interest of the 

participants. 

 

67E.  Allocation and reallocation of contribution in pension fund,- (1) The 

contribution received from any participant by the Pension Fund Manager on any working day 

shall be immediately credited to the individual pension account of the participant after deducting 

the front-end fees, and the amount in the individual pension account shall be used to purchase the 

units of sub-funds of the pension fund as the Commission may allow, at the net asset value 

notified by the Pension Fund Manager at the close of that working day. 

 

(2) The allocation of the contributions between the various sub-funds at the date of 

opening of individual pension account and thereafter, shall be in accordance with the policy to be 

specified through circular by the Commission from time to time, hereinafter referred to as the 

specified allocation policy. 

                                    
400 Substituted for the text “A trustee shall meet the obligations, as applicable, laid down in regulation 41 whereby any reference 

to “Asset Management Company” shall be construed as “Pension Fund Manager”, “Open End Scheme” as “Pension Fund” and 

“unit holder” as “participant”. In addition, a trustee shall be liable for the act and omission of the lender and its agent in relation 

to assets forming part of the property of the pension fund and, where borrowing is undertaken for the account of the pension fund, 

such assets may be registered in the lender's name or in that of a nominee appointed by the lender.  

“vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

401 Deleted the text “(ii) be liable for any loss caused due to its willful act or omission or that of its agent or delegate in relation 

to custody of assets or any investment forming part of the property of the pension fund;  

(iii) be liable for the act and omission of the lender and its agent in relation to assets forming part of the property of the pension 

fund and, where borrowing is undertaken for the account of the pension fund, such assets may be registered in the lender's name 

or in that of a nominee appointed by the lender; 

(iv) ensure that the issue and redemption of units are carried out in accordance with the provisions of the constitutive documents 

of the pension fund; 

(v) ensure that the methods adopted by the Pension Fund Manager in calculating the values of the units of each sub-fund of the 

pension fund are adequate and that the net asset value is calculated in accordance with the provisions of the constitutive 

documents or as specified by the Commission; 

(vi) carry out the instructions of the Pension Fund Manager in respect of investments unless they are in conflict with the 

provisions of the prospectus or constitutive documents; 

(vii) ensure that the investment policy and borrowing limitations set out in the constitutive documents and the conditions under 

which the pension fund was authorized are complied with; 

(viii) issue a report to be included in the annual report to be sent to participants whether, in the trustees' opinion, the Pension 

Fund Manager has in all material respects managed the pension fund in accordance with the provisions of the constitutive 

documents, and if the Pens ion Fund Manager has not done so, the respects in which it has not done so and the steps which the 

trustee has taken in respect thereof;  

(ix) ensure that units are not allocated until contributions have been received; 

(x) immediately inform the Commission if any action of the Pension Fund Manager contravenes any provision of the Ordinance, 

these rules, constitutive document, offering document, guidelines, codes, circulars, directives or any other applicable laws; and” 

vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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(3) The amount of the contribution used for the purchase of the units of any sub-fund 

shall depend on such percentage as determined in the specified allocation policy selected by the 

participant. In the event of no allocation percentages being selected by any participant the 

Pension Fund Manager shall allocate the contributions preferably to an approved Lifecycle 

Allocation Scheme specified, and if such a scheme has not been offered, then allocate 

contributions to either Low Volatility (formerly Conservative Allocation Scheme) or Lower 

Volatility (formerly Very Conservative Allocation Scheme). 

 

(4) The Pension Fund Manager shall make reallocation of the units between the sub-

funds at least once a year to ensure that the allocation of units of all the participants are 

according to the percentages selected by the participants or where no selection has been made 

according to the specified allocation policy. 

 

67F.  Remuneration Payable to Pension Fund Manager.- (1) A Pension Fund 

Manager shall disclose in the Offering Document the maximum rate of management fee 

chargeable to pension fund within allowed expense ratio limit and shall also be entitled to an 

accrued remuneration that has been verified by the trustee and is paid in arrears on monthly 

basis: 

 

Provided that pension fund manager may charge variable fee or fixed fee or the 

combination of both which shall not exceed the limit disclosed in the Offering Document. 

Pension fund manager shall disclose actual rate of management fee charged as percentage of net 

asset of pension fund in the monthly fund manager report  

 

(2)  A Pension Fund Manager may charge sales load maximum up to 3% of the 

contribution received from any participants of the pension fund.  Provided that there shall be no 

sales load payable in the event of the transfer of individual pension account form one Pension 

Fund Manager to another Pension Fund Manager402[: 

 

Provided further that there shall be no sales load payable on employer pension funds.] 

 

67G.  403[Management Fee Cap.- (1) The following Management Fee Caps for a 

pension fund shall be applicable, calculated on a per annum basis of the average daily net assets, 

effective from July 01, 2025: 

 

(a) Equity sub-fund up to 2.50%; 

(b) Equity (Index) sub-fund up to 0.75%; 

(c) Money Market sub-fund up to 1.00%; 

(d) Debt sub-fund up to 1.25% and 

                                    
402 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 

403 Substituted for the words “Maximum Expense Ratio.-   (1) The Total Expense Ratio of a pension fund shall 

be capped as follow- 

(a) Equity sub fund upto 4.5%;  

(b) Money Market upto 2%; 

(c) Income, commodity 403[cash settled] fund upto 2.5% 403[; and]  

[(d)  Commodity (deliverable) fund upto 3% 

Provided that in case of employer pension fund, the total expense ratio of a pension fund shall be as per the agreement between 

employer and pension fund manager and shall be disclosed in the offering document” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(e) Commodity (Cash Settled & Deliverable) sub-fund up to 1.5%. 

 

Provided that in case of employer pension fund, the management fee cap and/or 

the total expense ratio of a pension fund shall be as per the agreement between employer 

and pension fund manager and shall be disclosed in the offering document.” 

 

Provided further that the earlier Total Expense Ratio Caps applicable before the date of 

this notification, for pension fund shall remain applicable until June 30, 2025.] 

 
404[(2) The cost incurred in relation to any government levy on the charging of 

management fees shall be excluded when calculating the management fee for compliance with 

the prescribed regulatory caps. However, for Total Expense Ratio disclosure to participants, all 

costs, including taxes, shall be fully disclosed.] 

 
405[(3) A Pension Fund Manager may charge the eligible expenses as given in Schedule 

XX of the regulation for a pension fund: 

 

Provided that the amount or method of calculation of such fee and charges shall be 

transparent and clearly disclosed in the offering documents of the pension fund.] 

 

(4)  A Pension Fund Manager shall ensure adequate disclosure of the following 

expenses and sales load to investor before soliciting investment,- 

 
406[(i)  total expense ratio shall be made as per the following format; 

 
M.F Regulatory 

Fee 

Trustee 

Fee and 

Custody 

Charges 

Levies 

and 

Taxes 

Transaction 

Expenses 

(Broker, Bank, 

PSX, CDC, 

NCCPL etc.) 

Third Party 

Expenses 

(Auditor, 

Legal, 

Shariah 

Advisor) 

Other 

Expenses 

Total TER 

with 

levies 

Total TER 

without 

levies 

a % b % c % d % e% f% g % (a+b+c+d

+e+f+g)% 

(a+b+c+e

+f+g)% 

 

(ii)  Sales load as percentage of net assets.] 

 

(5)  A Pension Fund Manager shall prominently 407[disclose] on a daily basis, the 

following information regarding all its pension funds 408[except employer pension funds,] on its 

website and on the website of Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP),- 

                                    
404 Substituted for the text “(2) The costs incurred in relation to any government levy on funds such as sales tax, Worker’s 

Welfare Fund or Commission fee etc. shall be excluded while calculating Total Expense Ratio referred to in sub-regulation (1).” 

Vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

405 Substituted for the text “(3)  A Pension Fund Manager may charge the eligible expenses as given in sub-regulation (2) 

and (3) 405[except clause (t) of Schedule XX] of the regulation 60 to a pension fund: 

Provided that the amount or method of calculation of such fee and charges shall be transparent and clearly disclosed in the 

offering documents of the pension fund.” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

406 Substituted for the text “(i) Total Expense Ratio; 

(ii) Management Fee as a percentage of net assets; 

(iii) Sales load as a percentage of net assets.” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

407 Substituted for the word “disclosure” vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 

408 Inserted vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 
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409[(i)  total expense ratio shall be made as per the following format; 

 
M.F Regulatory 

Fee 

Trustee 

Fee and 

Custody 

Charges 

Levies 

and 

Taxes 

Transaction 

Expenses 

(Broker, Bank, 

PSX, CDC, 

NCCPL etc.) 

Third Party 

Expenses 

(Auditor, 

Legal, 

Shariah 

Advisor) 

Other 

Expenses 

Total TER 

with 

levies 

Total TER 

without 

levies 

a % b % c % d % e% f% g % (a+b+c+d

+e+f+g)% 

(a+b+c+e

+f+g)% 

 

(ii)  Sales load as percentage of net assets. 

 

(iii)  The return after deducting the Total Expense Ratio shall be disclosed to the 

participants.] 

 

67H.  Calculation of Net Assets of Pension Fund.-  (1) The net asset value of the unit 

of each sub-fund shall be calculated on the basis of the sub-fund's total net asset value divided by 

the number of units after making adjustments for fees and charges. 

 

(2) Net assets in relation to a pension fund shall be calculated in the manner given in 

sub-regulation 66.  

(3) There should be at least four dealing days per week. 

 

67I.  Performance benchmark of Pension Funds.- (1) The Commission may 

prescribe the standardized performance benchmark of pension fund. 

 

(2)  Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP) shall publish on its web site, 

ranking of pension funds 410[except employer pension funds,] on the basis of their returns on 

periodic basis. 

 

67J. Invitation to invest and advertisements.- (1) All advertisements of a 

Pension Fund shall be in conformity with the requirements as may be specified by the 

Commission. 

 

(2) No amendments including any modification, alteration and addition shall be made 

in the Constitutive Documents without prior notice of seven days to the participants and consent 

of the trustee. 

 

(3) In case the amendments are proposed in the fundamental attributes of pension 

fund and/or amendments with respect to offering of units to public shall be subject to 30 days 

prior notice to participants and prior approval of the Commission. 

 

                                    
409 Substituted for the text “(i) Total Expense Ratio; 

(ii) Management Fee as a percentage of net assets; 

(iii) Sales load as a percentage of net assets.” Vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

410 Inserted vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 
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(4) In case amendments are proposed in the Constitutive Documents due to change in 

regulatory requirements, the same shall be incorporated without prior approval of the 

Commission and the supplement Constitutive Document for amendments shall be submitted to 

the Commission for information within one week from the date of amendments. 

 
411[(5)  Any approval granted by the Commission under Regulation 67J,– 

 

(i)  may be varied or withdrawn by the Commission after giving an opportunity of 

being heard to the Asset Management Company, except for advertisements which 

may be varied or withdrawn immediately; and 

 

(ii)  shall be valid for a period of hundred and twenty days from the date of approval 

provided that there is no change in the approved documents or the approval has 

not been extended.] 

 
412[Part VA 

Requirements to undertake Digital Asset Management Services (DAMS) by the 

Digital Asset Management Company (Digital AMC) 

 

67AB. The provisions of this part shall apply to Digital AMCs for provision of DAMS 

and digital services offered by the Asset Management Companies using or intending to utilize 

Digital Platforms for provision of their services to the customers/investors. The requirements 

shall be applicable to all Digital Platforms being administered, managed and/or owned by the 

Digital AMCs.  

67AC. DAMS Licensing and Other Eligibility Requirements.- (1) A Fund 

Management NBFC, subsequent to grant of permission in terms of Rule 4 of the Rules, shall in 

addition to compliance of all requirements/conditions for grant of license as provided in Rule 5 of 

the NBFC Rules, shall clearly mention the intention to obtain a license for undertaking DAMS in 

Form-II of the NBFC Rules. 

(2) The SECP in terms of sub-rule 6 and 7 of Rule 5 of the NBFC Rules may, if so 

satisfied, grant AMS license conditional to the restriction that such Asset Management Company 

(AMC) shall be eligible to provide DAMS only through digital platforms. 

(3) A Fund Management NBFC at the time of application for grant of license to 

undertake DAMS and during its life, as the case may be, shall comply with the following additional 

requirements: 

(a) A Fund Management NBFC desirous to engage in the business of DAMS, shall along 

with its application for grant of license, submit a viable business plan and 

comprehensive financial projections supported by underlying assumptions for a 

minimum of five years from the commencement of business; where such business 

                                    
411 Substituted for the text “(5) Any approval granted by the Commission under Regulation 67J,– 

(i) may be varied or withdrawn by the Commission after giving an opportunity of being heard to the Asset Management 

Company, except for advertisements which may be varied or withdrawn immediately; and shall be valid for a period of hundred 

and twenty days from the date of approval provided that there is no change in the approved documents or the approval has not 

been extended vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
412 Inserted vide SRO 1438(I)/2025 dated 1 August 2025 
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plan shall encompass, but not restricted to, the following aspects: 

(i). Detailed Digital Business Strategy demonstrating technological resources to 

offer DAMS; 

(ii). IT Organogram outlining the Organizational Structure for IT Operations;  

(iii). Evidence showcasing the capacity and expertise of human resources for 

executing Digital and IT Business Strategies for effectively providing DAMS 

to prospective investors;  

(iv). Comprehensive Business Continuity Planning and Disaster Recovery Strategy 

Plan (BCP/DRP);  

(v). Comprehensive Marketing Strategy with a special focus on retail outreach; 

and 

(vi). Cyber Information Technology Security Strategy and details of Infrastructure 

Plans outlining data Security Measures. 

(b) Such Fund Management NBFC in addition to the requirements under Schedule – I of 

the NBFC Rules and fit and proper criteria as laid down under Schedule – IX of these 

Regulations shall comply with following additional requirements for its board of 

director (BOD) and Key Executives: 

(i) The BOD shall include at least one 413[member], with knowledge and high-

level expertise along with a working/business experience of at least three 

years in emerging technologies and digital space. These technologies may 

include software development, cloud computing, open APIs, cybersecurity, 

advanced data analytics, artificial intelligence, and other similar domains. 

Prior experience of working in a fintech environment or digital infrastructure 

domain of a local or a foreign Financial Institution servicing retail clientele 

would be considered as a strong advantage. 

(ii) In addition to the requirements regarding the statutory committees of the 

BOD, it shall establish a “Information Technology (IT) and Digital Risk 

Management Committee (the “Committee”)” which shall hold its meetings at 

least quarterly. Such Committee shall also have representation 414[from the 

board and] senior management from the following areas:  

Specialized Information Technology Department or a representative from 

the service-providing agency’s IT Department;  

Risk Management Department;  

Compliance Department;  415[  ] 

                                    
413 Substituted for the words or “1/3 members, whichever is higher,” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

414 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
415 The word “and” omitted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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 An Independent Director from the BOD 416[and Co-opted experts, 

possessing knowledge, advanced expertise, and work/business experience in 

emerging technologies and the digital domain, may also be included in the 

committee, if deemed appropriate.]The Committee shall be chaired by the 

Independent Director of the BOD. The committee shall be focused on 

designing policies and approving strategies for Digital and IT based services 

related issues including Digital Risk Management and Cyber Security with 

the objective to identify and mitigate IT-related risks, formulation of 

BCP/DRP policies and mechanisms, ensuring compliance with prevalent 

regulations, and overseeing cybersecurity measures. Furthermore, the 

Committee shall play a critical role in strategic Digital/IT decision-making, 

vendor efficiency and risk management, and incident response planning. A 

focus on emerging technology trends shall also be essential aspects of its 

responsibilities. 

(iii) Such Fund Management NBFC shall either establish its own IT 

Department/Function and the Cyber Security Function or it may utilize 

agency/outsourced services for the same. Such departments/functions or in 

case of outsourcing, the service providing agency, shall have a team led by 

the Chief Technology Officer (CTO) who holds strong qualification and 

relevant experience in the related fields. The Digital AMCs owing to fast 

changing needs of data and client identification security, are strongly 

encouraged to engage services of a Chief Information Security Officer 

(CISO) in addition to the CTO. The CISO, if so hired, shall have a separate 

reporting line from the CTO. The CTO and CISO shall have the following 

minimum qualifications and experience requirements: -  

Criterion Details 

Education Bachelor's or Master's degree in computer science, 

information technology, information security, cyber 

security, software engineering, or a related field. 

Professional 

Experience 

Minimum 5 years of experience in IT management, 

information security/cyber security management or 

Software Development or Networking or Cloud 

Computing or Data Analytics and/or Emerging IT trends, 

etc., preferably in the digital financial/fintech services 

industry. 
 

 

67AD. Permitted Categories of CIS/Fund and Investor Mix.- (1) A Digital AMC will be  

eligible to offer DAMS for all categories of Open-End Collective Investment Schemes (CIS),  

provided it shall only offer DAMS for equity-based CIS if the Chief Investment Officer  possesses a 

minimum of 5 years of experience in fund management/portfolio management of  equity. 

 

(2) At least 70% of the AUM of each Open-End CIS shall belong to retail investors at  

all times during the life of the CIS. However, a newly established perpetual CIS shall ensure  

                                    
416 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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compliance with the minimum level of retail investment in the following manner at close of  each 

period after close of IPO: 

Period from the date of IPO % of AUM 

12 Months 25% 

24 Months and beyond 50% 

36 Months and beyond 70% 
 

 

Provided that, in case of fixed maturity CIS/Plan, compliance in terms of minimum of 70% 

of retail investments shall be ensured by close of Initial Public Offer or Subscription Period, 

whichever is later: 
 

Provided further that in case, the Digital AMC fails to ensure compliance with above  

mentioned thresholds, it shall immediately intimate the grounds to the Commission upon which  it 

believes that the CIS shall be able to ensure requisite compliance within a reasonable  timeframe not 

exceeding 90 days. Where the Commission is not satisfied with the reasons  provided by the Digital 

AMCs, it may take necessary disciplinary action.  
 

(3) A Digital AMC shall not qualify for registration as a Pension Fund Manager unless it 

has a minimum of three years of experience managing all categories of CIS. Upon achieving the 

requisite three years of experience across all CIS categories as specified, the Digital AMC may apply 

to the Commission for registration as a Pension Fund Manager. The Commission, after a detailed 

evaluation of the AMC’s compliance with the below parameters, may grant approval for such 

registration: 

(a) Strong track record of the DAMS provided by it; 

(b) Status of compliance with minimum investor mix requirements for each CIS under its 

management as stated under regulation 67AD(2) of the Regulations above; 

(c) Stability rating of any of the CIS for which it acted or acting as a fund manager 

(where applicable) shall at least be AA-(f) by a Credit Rating Agency registered with 

the Commission; 

(d) Performance (dividends/bonus, etc., to the unit holders) of the CIS under its 

management; 

(e) HR and Operations strength and necessary skills to offer investment management in 

pension fund scheme business; 

(f) Compliance track record of Digital AMC and CIS under its management with the 

applicable regulatory framework; and 

(g) Client servicing efficiency, Complaint redressal mechanism and trend of monthly 

investors’ complaint data. 

(4) Any existing AMC licensed to undertake AMS business and desirous to provide 

DAMS only shall comply with the MER conditions in the following manner: 

(a) The AMC may continue to meet MER as prescribed for AMS in the Schedule I 

(currently being Rs. 200/- million) to remain eligible for offering services to all 
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segments of investors, including retail and corporate investors, without any minimum 

limit on retail segment ratio; and 

 

(b) In the event that such an AMC chooses to convert to a Digital AMC by reducing its 

equity to meet MER as prescribed for a Digital AMC in the Schedule I, it shall adhere 

to the requirement of minimum investor mix as prescribed herein for Digital AMCs at 

the time of conversion and going forward. For clarity, such Digital AMC shall have 

at least 70% of its AUM of each CIS under its management belonging to retail 

investors. 

 

67AE. Admissible Sales Load for CIS/Funds or other Charges.- Digital AMC shall be 

eligible to charge sales load or such other charges/onboarding charges as may be admissible for 

AMCs. However, the Digital AMC, may with a clear disclosure to the customer in terms of amount 

and %age, adopt any other feasible mechanism/mode for charging sales load; including deferment of 

the front-end load until the announcement of the first dividend by the subject CIS (without affecting 

the principal investment), or at the time of redemption request by the unitholder, whichever occurs 

earlier. 

67AF. Minimum Maintainable Fund Size of CIS by Digital AMC.- (1) The minimum 

fund size (net assets) of a CIS shall be twenty-five million rupees at all times during the life of the 

scheme: 

Provided that a newly established CIS other than fixed maturity scheme, shall ensure 

compliance with the minimum fund size requirement in two phases following its IOP period, i.e. 

attain a minimum of twelve million rupees within six months of the first day/date of the IOP period 

and ensure compliance with the overall minimum fund size within one year of the close of IOP 

period. 

(2) The Digital AMCs are strongly encouraged to invest or arrange the investment of a 

seed capital of five million rupees for every new CIS for a minimum period of one year from the 

close of the IOP period, or until it satisfies the minimum fund size requirements as prescribed above, 

whichever is later. 

(3) Subsequent to the closing of the IOP period; at any time, if the size of a CIS falls 

below the minimum fund size as specified above, the Digital AMC shall ensure compliance with the 

minimum fund size within three months of its breach. 

(4) If the fund size remains below the minimum fund size limit for consecutive ninety 

days, the Digital AMC shall immediately intimate the grounds to the Commission upon which it 

believes that the CIS is still commercially viable and its objective can still be achieved along with 

following documents:- 

(a) Proof of intimation to unit holders through the Digital AMC’s mobile application, 

email and publication in newspaper; and 

(b) a time bound action plan to increase the fund size to the minimum requisite fund size 

for consideration of the Commission. 

(5) Where the Commission is not satisfied with the reasons presented by the Digital 

AMC in terms of above sub-regulation (4), it may take necessary disciplinary action.  
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67AG. Expense Disclosures. - In matters of disclosure of expenses (Total Expense Ratio 

(TER), Management Fee and Trustee Fee) and sales load, the Digital AMC shall diligently adhere to 

the provisions outlined in Regulation 60(6) of the Regulations or such other instructions as 

prescribed by the Commission from time to time. 

67AH. Cooling-Off Period for New/Subsequent Investment.- (1) A Digital AMC shall 

clearly communicate the availability of Cooling Off period to the individual unit holders on every 

transaction. 

(2) The cooling-off right shall be exercised by the unit holder through the Digital 

Platform of the Digital AMCs within the specified cooling-off period. 

(3) In case of exercise of cooling-off right within the cooling-off period by the 

unitholder, the Digital AMCs is obligated to refund any sales load paid by the unit holder. However, 

Contingent Load (the load charged upon redemption and which forms part of the CIS property) shall 

be borne by the unit holder. However, the Digital AMCs are highly encouraged to avoid charging 

such Contingent Load without prejudice to the interests of other unitholders. 

(4) The refund for each unit held by a unit holder exercising the cooling-off right shall be 

based on the Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit applicable on the date the right is exercised by the 

unitholder. However, in such cases, Digital AMCs may recover the actual costs incurred for client 

identity verification, such as NADRA Verisys charges or other third-party verification costs, 

provided these costs are clearly attributable to the individual investor and pertain to their first-time 

onboarding. This cost recovery or deduction shall not apply to subsequent investments by the same 

investor. 

67AI. Net Asset Value Dissemination and Disclosures.- (1) The Digital AMCs shall 

ensure that the NAV disclosed and reflected on all digital forums (such as application, website, portal 

etc.) shall be uniform at all times. In case of any loss to the unitholder due to any discrepancy in 

disclosure of NAV on digital platforms, the Digital AMCs shall compensate the respective 

unitholders within 7 working days of becoming aware of such discrepancy. 

(2) The Digital AMCs are strongly encouraged to deploy latest investment performance 

disclosure tools/graphics to make it easy for the investors to understand both quantitative and 

qualitative movements of their investments, especially in comparison to the performance benchmarks 

and/or risk adjusted returns.   

67AJ. Requirements in case of Appointment of Distributor.- (1) The Digital AMCs 

shall sale the units of a CIS digitally through distributors that undertake distribution functions 

through digital means. The Digital AMCs shall enter into a written agreement with the 

distributors clearly stating the terms and conditions for avoidance of fraud and mis-selling of CIS 

units. 

(2) The Digital AMCs may engage distributors beyond those classified as digital 

distributors. However, these distributors must ensure that onboarding and/or 

investment/redemption and all transactions by unitholders or prospective unitholders are 

conducted in a paperless manner through a fully integrated Digital Platform based ecosystem. 

(3) The Digital AMCs is obligated to inform the Commission within thirty days of 

signing a distribution agreement with a distributor, along with an undertaking that the distributor 

has undergone pre-screening by the Digital AMC for compliance with relevant regulatory 
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requirements, including but not limited to licensing, cybersecurity, risk disclosure, Anti-Money 

Laundering & CFT Compliances, and data protection (as per the prevailing regulatory 

framework). Additionally, the Digital AMCs must include the names and details of their 

appointed distributors in their audited annual financial statements. 

(4) The Digital AMCs shall be responsible for the acts and omissions of all persons to 

whom it may delegate any of its functions including the distribution function, as if they were its 

own acts and omissions. 

67AK. Guidelines for Unitholders relating to Investment and Redemption Process.- 

(1)  The Digital AMCs shall develop and make available to the users/unitholders, the 

comprehensive guidelines outlining the unitholders’ journey for investments and redemptions 

through their Digital Platforms. The Digital AMCs are encouraged to use the latest educational 

and mass awareness techniques to ensure that investors make well-informed decisions. 

(2) The Digital Platforms shall include and prominently display a dedicated 'Help or 

Contact Us' button easily accessible to users/unitholders, which shall offer essential information 

about a designated contact person responsible for the prompt resolution of any issues, 

complaints, or queries raised by the investors. 

67AL.  Prerequisites for Qualifying to be listed in SECP’s Approved Digital 

Platform List.- The requirements as prescribed under this regulation are applicable to Digital 

AMCs as well as the AMCs which are utilizing Digital Platforms for provision of services to 

their investors/unitholders. No licensed Digital AMC shall launch or make available to the public 

its Digital Platform without seeking NOC from the respective trustee and without listing it on the 

SECP's website. DAMS may simultaneously be provided through an App and the Digital AMC’s 

website or any other form of Digital Platform. Following requirements shall be applicable as pre-

qualification for listing of Digital Platforms on SECP’s website:-  

(a) Prior to the launch of the DAMS Digital Platform, the Digital AMCs shall seek 

No Objection Certificate (NOC) from the appointed Trustees for its Digital 

Platform in the following manner:-  

(i) The Company Secretary or the CEO of the Digital AMC shall be required 

to submit a compliance certificate to the Commission as well as the 

Trustee(s), duly signed, affirming that the Digital AMC has adhered to 

requirements of these regulations including the additional requirements for 

the Composition of BOD, BOD Committees and Key Executive(s). 

(ii) The respective trustees (if more than one for different CIS), after 

conducting due diligence and ensuring the effective compliance of the 

Digital Platforms in all aspects, including pre-qualification requirements 

as specified by the Commission and evaluation of both software and 

hardware infrastructures through User Acceptance Testing (UAT), shall 

issue the requisite NOC. 

(iii) The Digital Platform shall become live within six months of the grant of 

NOC by the Trustees under intimation to the Commission. 

(b) The Commission subsequent to grant of NOC and confirmation from the 
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respective Trustee(s) shall maintain and publish the list of the Digital Platforms 

on the official website of the Commission. 

(c) The Digital AMC, subsequent to the listing of its Digital Platform on the 

Commission’s website, shall conduct third-party vulnerability assessments, 

penetration testing, and performance evaluations of the Digital Platforms on an 

annual basis from the date of listing, with due intimation to the respective Trustees 

and the Commission. 

(d) In case of any violations or breaches occur after the launch of a Digital Platform, the 

Trustees reserves the right to revoke the previously granted NOC and to report the 

same to the Commission. The Commission upon such intimation by the Trustee, may 

initiate regulatory proceedings against the respective Digital AMC and remove the 

name of the non-compliant digital platform from the list. 

(e) The Digital AMC shall ensure that at the time of accessing/registration of the 

users/investor; which shall be subsequent to the legitimate download or gaining 

access of any Digital Platform, all important requirements related to the respective 

Digital Platform, associated investment risk factors and terms governing the 

access to user data/information, shall be provided to such user/investor in a 

summary form along with a warning/disclosure or a prompt (pop up). 

(f) The Digital Platform shall be subject to IT/Info Security Audit, once every three 

years by an Independent Audit Service Provider having qualified Certified 

Information Systems Auditor (CISA)/Certified ISO27001:2013 Lead Auditor 

Certification to check compliance with regulatory requirements. The Digital AMC 

shall submit the report to the Trustee, its external auditor and the Commission 

within three months of the end of the respective financial year. 

(g) The Digital AMCs shall: 

(i) conspicuously disclose its full corporate name and licensing status 

(including license no.) on its Digital Platforms, documentation, published 

materials and advertisements; 

(ii) develop a policy governing Digital Platform’s business objectives, 

standards, compliance, guidelines, controls, responsibilities and liabilities. 

As a principle, the policy shall achieve a balance between the security of 

Digital Platform, convenience and performance. The policy shall at least 

be revisited annually by the relevant Committee of the BOD and/or when 

a significant change is made in the business environment; 

(iii) ensure compliance of all applicable laws in force in Pakistan related to 

cyber security, personal data protection, cloud usage and data privacy; 

(iv) be responsible for any digital fraud, security breach, operational failure, or 

system malfunction arising from deficiencies in the design, 

implementation, or operation of its digital platform, where such incidents 

are attributable to the negligence, inadequate controls, or failure to 

exercise due diligence by the Digital AMC; and 
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(v) be responsible for loss of any unitholder due to delay on their part in 

taking timely remedial and control measures such as delay in 

announcement of NAV, blocking digital platforms in case of any 

cyberattack, delay in disposing dispute requests in a timely manner, etc. In 

this regard, the Digital AMCs shall compensate for such losses to the 

unitholders. 

(h) The Digital AMCs are encouraged to offer transactional insurance to its 

unitholders for Debit Card Services or similar offerings, at reasonable and 

competitive rates. Activation of the insurance shall require clear disclosure and 

the explicit consent or request of the unitholder. 

(i) The BCP/DRP shall be approved by the Committee on Information Technology 

and Digital Risk Management and endorsed by the BOD: 

Provided that, the Specialized Information Technology Department, or the 

service provider in the case of outsourcing, shall maintain a comprehensive log of 

frequent Disaster Recovery Testing (DRT), which shall be conducted at least 

quarterly. A summary report of DRT shall be shared with respective Trustees and the 

Commission on semi-annual basis. 

67AM. Conversion of an Existing AMC into a Digital AMC and Vice Versa.- An 

existing AMC that holds a valid license from the Commission to undertake AMS may be 

converted into a Digital AMC, subject to prior approval of the Commission. To proceed with this 

conversion, such an AMC shall apply for a revised license specifically for DAMS. This 

application should include:-  

(a) Application on Form – II of the NBFC Rules along with an undertaking to 

surrender the existing AMS license upon grant of DAMS license; 

(b) Copy of existing valid AMS License; 

(c) Approval of the BOD for conversion into a Digital AMC; 

(d) Approval of shareholders for conversion into a Digital AMC (if applicable);  

(e) NOC for conversion from respective trustees of all CIS under management;  

(f) Business Plan as per requirements of the Regulation 67AC(a) including 

details/profile of requisite human resource evidencing the capacity and expertise 

for providing DAMS; 

(g) Profiles of proposed existing BOD for DAMS; 

(h) Profile of CTO heading specialized Information Technology Department; 

(i) An undertaking, confirming its compliance with the chosen MER condition at the 

time of application for DAMS and additional requirements regarding 

Composition of the BOD, Committees of the BOD and Key Executives under 

Regulation 67AC(b); 
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(j) Undertaking of compliance with the necessary requirements outlined in Part VA 

of these Regulations, as well as other relevant requirements under prevalent 

regulatory framework; 

(k) The subject applicant shall prior to issuance of DAMS license shall surrender its 

existing AMS license to the Commission in original; and 

(l) Following its conversion, such converted Digital AMC shall seek the 

Commission's approval to continue managing pension funds (if any), as per the 

criteria specified under regulation 67AD(3) of the Regulations: 

Provided that, if the converted Digital AMC is not granted authorization to 

manage pension funds, it must adhere to the following requirements with respect to the 

pension funds it currently manages: - 

 

(i). Make immediate arrangements in terms of Rule 6 of the Voluntary 

Pension  

System Rules, 2005 for transfer of the management rights of pension 

funds under its management and subsequently cancellation of its 

registration as Pension Fund Manager;  
 

(ii). For the CIS under its management, it shall ensure compliance with the 

following minimum level of retail investment in each year of the post 

conversion period: 

Post Conversion Period % of AUM 

12 months 35% 

24 months 70% 

 

Provided that, for every new CIS, at least 70% of its AUM shall belong to 

retail investors to be achieved in a period as specified in regulation 67AD(2) of 

the Regulations:  

Provided further that, in case such a converted Digital AMC fails to ensure 

compliance with above mentioned thresholds, it shall immediately intimate the 

grounds to the Commission upon which it believes that the CIS shall be able to 

ensure requisite compliance within an extended timeframe not exceeding 90 days 

or such other time period as may be ascertained by the Commission on case to 

case basis. Where the Commission is not satisfied with the reasons provided by 

such converted Digital AMCs, it may take necessary disciplinary action. 

(m) A Digital AMC may convert into a conventional AMC upon compliance with the 

relevant provisions under prevalent NBFC Regulatory Framework including 

requisite MER compliance. 

67AN. Applicable Requirements for AMCs offering AMS through Digital Platforms  

to their Investors.- AMCs which are using Digital Platforms prior to the date of these  

requirements or which intend to utilize Digital Platforms for provision of AMS services to  their 

investors: 
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(a) shall ensure compliance with additional applicable requirements in terms of 

regulation 67AC of the Regulations regarding composition of the BOD and 

constitution of the Committee of the BOD within three year or forthcoming 

election of the board whichever is earlier and for the Key Executive within a time 

of one year from the date of grant of NOC by the Trustees. In this regard, the 

concerned AMC shall also submit a duly signed compliance certificate by 

Company Secretary to the Commission; 

(b) may apply sales load as allowed under regulation 67AE of the Regulations; 

(c) shall ensure compliance with regulation “67AH”, “67AI”, “67AJ” and “67AK” of 

the Regulations in their entirety; and 

(d) shall comply with the provisions set forth in regulation “67AL” of the Regulations 

including but not limited to seeking NOC from the respective Trustees subject to 

pre-qualification requirements as may be specified by the Commission, within 

twelve months (year since the date of issuance) of the issuance of these 

requirements. 

Note: The Digital AMC shall adhere to all the applicable requirements as applicable for 

a conventional AMC under the NBFC Regulations, Circulars and Directives, unless expressly 

modified or relaxed by the above-stipulated requirements.] 

 

PART – VI417 

Repeals and Savings 

 

68.  Savings and Repeals.-  Save as provided in Regulation 68(2), the provisions of 

the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2007 and S.R.O. No. 

683(I) of 2008 are hereby repealed. 

 

(2) The provisions of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities 

Regulations, 2007 listed in Schedule XIII shall remain in force for the regulation of the existing 

NBFCs licensed to undertake the business of venture capital investment and venture capital 

funds till 20th February 2010. 

 

(3) The provisions of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities 

Regulations, 2007 listed in Schedule XIII shall stand repealed on 20th February 2010 and all 

NBFCs and funds regulated thereunder shall ensure that they comply with the requirements of 

the Private Equity and Venture Capital Fund Regulations, 2008 before 20th February 2010. 

 

69. Transitional provisions.- 418[(1)] Save as otherwise specifically provided, nothing 

in these Regulations shall affect or be deemed to affect anything done, action taken, investigation 

or proceedings commenced, order, relaxation granted unless withdrawn, appointment, 

conveyance, mortgage deed, document or agreement made, fee paid or accrued, resolution 

passed, direction given, proceedings taken or instrument executed or issued, under the repealed 

                                    
417  Amended vide SRO 1068(I)/2021 dated 23 August 2021. The heading “Part- IV” substituted with the heading “Part VI” 

418 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2007 and any such thing, 

action, investigation, proceedings, order, appointment, conveyance, mortgage deed, document, 

agreement, fee, resolution, direction, proceedings or instrument shall if in force at the coming 

into force of these Regulations and not inconsistent with any of the provisions of these 

Regulations, continue to be in force, and have effect as if it were respectively done, taken, 

commenced, made, directed, passed, given, executed or issued under these Regulations. 

 
419[(2) Save as otherwise provided in these Regulations, all the existing NBFCs and 

Notified Entities shall comply with the requirements of these amended Regulations within a 

period of six months from coming into effect of these amendments.] 

                                    
419 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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420[Omitted] 

 
421[Omitted] 

 

 

 

                                    
420 Deleted Form I “FORM I 

[Regulation 46] 

 

FORM OF APPLICATION FOR  

REGISTRATION OF AN EXISTING INVESTMENT COMPANY 

 

Islamabad, the ____20__. 

 

To, 

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, 

Islamabad. 

 

Sir, 

 

1.  We hereby apply for the registration of........................... (name of Investment Company) as a Notified Entity under section 

282 CA of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (“Ordinance”) read with Regulation 44 or 46 of the Non-banking Finance Companies 

and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (“Regulations”). 

 

2.  We hereby undertake that we are in compliance with the requirements of the Ordinance, Non-Banking Finance Companies 

(Establishment and Regulation) Rules, 2003 and the Regulations. 

 

3.  We further undertake to take all steps necessary to comply the Regulations and any further requirements of the Commission. 

 

4.  The auditor’s certificate verifying compliance with the minimum equity requirement under the Regulations and an attested 

copy of the contract with the Asset Management Company holding a valid licence for providing asset management services are 

attached.  

 

Yours faithfully, 

Signature of the Secretary or 

a director of the applicant company 

“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

 

421 Deleted Form II “FORM II 

[see Regulation 46] 

 

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION  

OF AN INVESTMENT COMPANY AS A NOTIFIED ENTITY  

 

Islamabad, the________20__. 

 

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan having considered the application for registration 

by.................................................(Name of the existing Investment Company) and being satisfied that the 

said......................................................(Name of the Investment Company) is eligible for registration hereby grants, this certificate 

of registration to ………………………in exercise of its powers under section 282 CA of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 and 

Regulation 46(2) of the Non-banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008. 

 

Signature of the officer.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  



134 

422[FORM III 

[see Regulation 40A/40B (2)/40C(2)] 

Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 

Specialized Companies Division 

________________________________________ 

 

Registration No. SCD/      /Trustee Name/   /Year               Islamabad, Dated: …………… 

 

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION 

TO ACT AS TRUSTEE 

 

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, having considered the application for the 

grant of registration/renewal to act as Trustee of an Open-End or Closed-End Schemes 

submitted by ……………………………. (Name of Trustee) under sub-regulation (1) of 

Regulation 40A/40C of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 

2008 (the Regulations) as amended from time to time and being satisfied that it would be in the 

public interest to do so, in exercise of powers conferred by sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 

40B/40C hereby grants/renews the certificate of registration in the name of 

……………………………. (Name of Trustee) to act as Trustee of an Open-End or Closed-End 

Schemes subject to the conditions stated herein below or as may be prescribed or imposed 

hereafter: 

                                    
422 Substituted for the Form III “422[FORM-III 

 

[see Regulation 40A/40B(3)] 

 

Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 

   Specialized Companies Division 

      

 
 

Registration No. SCD/      /Trustee Name/   /Year                  Islamabad, Dated: …………… 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION 

TO ACT AS TRUSTEE 

 

 

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, having considered the application for the grant of registration to act as 

Trustee of an Open-End or Closed-End Schemes submitted by ……………………………. (Name of Trustee) under sub-

regulation (1) of Regulation 40B of  the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (the 

Regulations) as amended from time to time and being satisfied that it would be in the public interest so to do, in exercise of 

powers conferred by sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 40B hereby grants the certificate of registration in the name of 

……………………………. (Name of Trustee) to act as Trustee of an Open-End or Closed-End Schemes subject to the 

conditions stated herein below or as may be prescribed or imposed hereafter: 

    

(i) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall comply with the Regulations (as amended or replaced) and any directives, 

circulars, codes or notifications issued by the Commission to regulate the Trustees;  

(ii) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall submit annual, half yearly, quarterly or such other reports as specified in the 

applicable laws;  

(iii) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall submit system audit report as specified in the Regulations; and 

(iv) This Registration is valid for a period of three years w.e.f. ………….(date of registration) and shall be renewable every three 

years as specified in the Regulations. 

 

Approving Authority  

“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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(i) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall comply with the Regulations (as 

amended or replaced) and any directives, circulars, codes or notifications issued by the 

Commission to regulate the Trustees;  

 

(ii) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall submit annual, half yearly, quarterly or 

such other reports as specified in the applicable laws;  

(iii) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall submit system audit report as specified 

in the Regulations; and 

 

(iv) This Registration is valid for a period of three years w.e.f. ………….(date of registration/ 

renewal) and shall be renewable every three years as specified in the Regulations. 

 

Approving Authority”;] 
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423[Omitted] 

FORM V 

[see regulation 40A(1)/40B(3)] 

APPLICATION FOR OBTAINING CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION TO ACT AS 

TRUSTEE 

Dated, the-------------- 

To, 

The Securities and Exchange 

Commission of Pakistan, Islamabad. 

 

Dear Sir, 

 

We ------------- (Name of Trustee) hereby apply for grant of Certificate of Registration under 

Regulation 40A(1) )/40B(3) of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities 

Regulations, 2008 (Regulations) to act as Trustee of an Open-End or Closed-End Schemes. 

 

2.  We hereby furnish the following information, __ 

 

(a) Certified true copy of certificate of incorporation as a limited company; 

(b) Certified true copies of the memorandum and articles of association  

(c) authorised, subscribed and paid-up share capital of the company (sponsors' equity 

indicated separately); 

                                    
423 Deleted the Form IV “FORM IV 

[see Regulation 40C] 

 

Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 

Specialized Companies Division 

      

 
 

Registration No. SCD/      /Trustee Name/   /Year                  Islamabad, Dated: …………… 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION 

TO ACT AS TRUSTEE 

 

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, having considered the application for the renewal of registration to act as 

Trustee of an Open-End or Closed-End Schemes submitted by ……………………………. (Name of Trustee) under sub-

regulation (1) of Regulation 40C of  the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (the 

Regulations) as amended from time to time and being satisfied that it would be in the public interest so to do, in exercise of 

powers conferred by sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 40C, hereby renews the certificate of registration of 

……………………………. (Name of Trustee) to act as Trustee of an Open-End or Closed-End Schemes subject to the 

conditions stated herein below or as may be prescribed or imposed hereafter: 

    

(i) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall comply with the Regulations (as amended or replaced) and any directives, 

circulars, codes or notifications issued by the Commission to regulate the Trustees;  

(ii) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall submit annual, half yearly, quarterly or such other reports as specified in the 

applicable laws;  

(iii) ………………………… (Name of Trustee) shall submit system audit report as specified in the Regulations; and 

(iv) This Registration is valid for a period of three years w.e.f. ………….(date of registration) and shall be renewable every three 

years as specified in the Regulations. 

 

Approving Authority 

“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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(d) names and addresses of directors and number of shares held by each of them; 

(e) directors' interest, direct or indirect, in any other company with details of such 

interest; 

(f) details of persons or group controlling the company including major shareholders 

with number and value of shares held; 

(g) names of holding, subsidiary and associated undertaking, if any; 

(h) details of qualified staff engaged; 

(i) reasons for selecting the proposed business, place of business with statistical data;  

(j) system audit report, if available;  

(k) business continuity plan;  

(l) details regarding system controls;  

(m) rating from a credit rating company if required; and 

(n) additional facts in support of this application;  

 

3.  An affidavit as to the correctness of the above information by the chief executive is also 

furnished herewith.  

 

4.  We undertake to keep this information upto date by communicating changes or 

modifications therein within three days of such change or modifications. 

 

5.  A receipt of non-refundable processing fee as specified in schedule-II of the Regulations 

for the certificate of registration, deposited in ___(name  of  bank and branch) on ___(date) is 

enclosed. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

Name and Signature of the 

Chief Executive Officer 

of the proposed Trustee 
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FORM VI 

[see regulation 40C(1)] 

 

APPLICATION FOR RENEWAL OF REGISTRATION TO ACT AS TRUSTEE 

 

Date: ................... 

Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, 

 

Islamabad 

 

 

Dear Sir, 

 

We, ------------- (Name of Trustee), hereby apply for renewal of the Registration to act as Trustee 

of an Open-End or Closed-End Schemes under Regulation 40C(1) of the Non-Banking Finance 

Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008. 

 

The Registration granted or renewed earlier is due to expire on .......................  

 

Original receipt of challan evidencing payment of renewal fee as specified in the Schedule-II of 

the Regulations is enclosed. 

 

It is requested that the Registration may be renewed w.e.f. ..................... for a period of three 

years. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

 

 

Name and Signature of the 

Chief Executive Officer 

of the Trustee] 
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424[Schedule I 

 

Minimum Equity Requirement 

 

[see Regulation 4] 

Form of Business Minimum equity Requirement 

New deposit taking NBFCs for obtaining license 

of Investment Finance Services or Leasing or 

Discounting or Housing Finance Services  

Rs. 1,000 million 

Existing NBFCs with valid deposit taking 

permission having Investment Finance Services 

license  

Rs. 750 million 

Existing NBFCs with valid deposit taking 

permission having Leasing license  

Rs. 500 million 

Non-deposit taking NBFCs for Investment 

Finance Services license 

Rs. 100 million 

Rs. 40 million for Digital Lending 

Non-Bank Microfinance Company for 

Investment Finance Services License * 

Rs. 50 million 

Rs. 20 million for Digital Lending 

Non-deposit taking NBFCs for Leasing or 

Discounting or Housing Finance Services license 

Rs. 50 million for each form of business 

Rs. 20 million for Digital Lending 

Asset Management Services Rs.200 million 

Rs. 50 million for Digital Asset Management 

Services 

Investment Advisory Services Rs. 30 million  

Rs. 10 million for Digital Asset Management 

Services 

Note: 

                                    
424 Substituted for Schedule I “424[Schedule I 

Minimum Equity Requirement 

[see Regulation 4] 

 

Form of Business Minimum Equity 

Requirement 

New deposit taking NBFCs for obtaining license of Investment Finance Services or Leasing or 

Discounting or Housing Finance Services  

Rs. 1,000 million 

Existing NBFCs with valid deposit taking permission having Investment Finance Services license ** Rs. 750 million 

Existing NBFCs with valid deposit taking permission having Leasing license **  Rs. 500 million 

Non-deposit taking NBFCs for Investment Finance Services license Rs. 100 million 

Non-Bank Microfinance Company for Investment Finance Services License * Rs. 50 million 

Non-deposit taking NBFCs for Leasing or Discounting or Housing Finance Services license Rs. 50 million for each 

form of business 

Asset Management Services Rs.200 million 

Investment Advisory Services Rs. 30 million 

 

Note: 

*The Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies which do not have share capital shall maintain minimum “Fund and Reserves” (being 

the excess of assets over liabilities excluding surplus on revaluation of assets and investments) equal to the amount of minimum 

equity requirement as prescribed in the above table.  

 

**The NBFCs having valid deposit raising permission shall meet the shortfall, if any, in complying with the minimum equity 

requirement within one year of coming into force of these regulations.] “vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023.  



140 

*The Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies which do not have share capital shall maintain 

minimum “Fund and Reserves” (being the excess of assets over liabilities excluding surplus on 

revaluation of assets and investments) equal to the amount of minimum equity requirement as 

prescribed in the above table.] 
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425[Schedule-II 

 

[See Rule 4, 5, 7A and Regulation 11, 40A, 40B, 40C, 41, 44 and 60, 62 and Rule 9(3)(c) of VPS 

Rules, 2005426] 

 
427[A) Application Fees under the Rules:   

 

Form  Subject of Application  Amount 

(in Rs.) 

Form I  Application for permission to form an NBFC  250,000 

Form II  Application for license to undertake or carry out an activity or function  500,000 

Form IV  Application for renewal of license to carry out an activity or function  Nil 

  

Provided that Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies shall pay the following fee amounts:  

 

Form  Subject of Application Amount 

(in Rs.) 

Form I  Application for permission to form an NBFC  125,000 

Form II  Application for license to undertake or carry out an activity or function  250,000 

Form IV  Application for renewal of license to carry out an activity or function  Nil 

] 

 
428[B) Application Fees under the Regulations429[/Circular]:  

Sr.No.  Regulation 430[ 

/Circular ] 

Subject of Application Amount   

(in Rs.)  

                                    
425 Substituted for the entire schedule II vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 

426 Substituted for “See Rule 4, 5, 7A and Regulation 11, 40A, 40B, 40C, 41, 44 and 60, 62” vide SRO 1127 (I)/2021  

427 Substituted for the following vide SRO 270 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020: 

A)  Application Fees under the Rules: 

Form Subject of application Amount (in Rs.) 

Form I Application for permission to form an NBFC 500,000 

Form II Application for license to undertake or carry out an activity or function 750,000 

Form IV Application for renewal of licence to carry out an activity or function 750,000 

Provided that Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies shall pay the following fee amounts: 

Form Subject of application Amount (in Rs.) 

Form I Application for permission to form an NBFC 250,000 

Form II Application for license to undertake or carry out an activity or function 375,000 

Form IV Application for renewal of licence to carry out an activity or function 375,000 

Provided further that the Commission shall initiate the process of refund of the excessive fees already paid by the non-bank 

microfinance companies upon receipt of their requests; 

428 Substituted for the following vide SRO 270 (I)/2020 dated March 31, 2020:  

B)  Application Fees under the Regulations: 

S.no Regulation Subject of application Amount 

(in Rs.) 

1 Regulation 44 Application for registration of an Open End Scheme or Closed End Scheme 1,000,000 

2 Regulation 40A(1) Application for certificate of registration to act as a trustee 750,000 

3 Regulation 40C(1) Application for renewal of certificate of registration to act as a trustee 750,000 

 

429 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

430 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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1  Regulation 44  Application for registration of an Open End Scheme or 

Closed End Scheme  

500,000  

2  Regulation 40A(1)  Application for certificate of registration to act as a 

trustee  

500,000  

431[3 Circular No. 25 of 

2024 dated 

December 23, 

2024 

Application of seeking approval for each Investment 

Plan 

100,000/-

] 

 ] 
432[C.  Other Fees: 

 
Sr. 

No. 

Head of Fee Amount 

1. Annual Monitoring 

Fee to be paid by 

Deposit taking 

NBFCs 

Rs. 250,000/- 

2. *Monthly Fee for 

Collective 

Investment Schemes 

with effect from 

July 01, 2023 

 
Type of Collective Investment Scheme Rate of Fee 

(% of Average 

Net Assets) 

Equity, Index, Asset Allocation, Exchange Traded Funds 0.095% 

Balanced 0.085% 

Income, Money Market, Capital Protected, Commodity 

Scheme, Fixed Rate/Return Scheme 

0.075% 

 

3. Quarterly Fee on 

discretionary 

portfolio managed 

by Investment 

Advisor with effect 

from July 01, 2023 

0.025% of the average net assets of discretionary portfolio under management 

calculated on daily basis by an Investment Advisor.  

4. Fee for 

authorization of 

Pension Fund 

Rs. 100,000/- 

* The trustee of the Collective Investment Scheme (CIS) shall verify and validate the 

fee that is required to be paid to the Commission on a monthly basis. In the event of 

any discrepancy, the trustee shall promptly notify the Commission.] 

 

                                    
431 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

432 Substituted for the text “C)  Other Fees: 

432[ 

S. No.  Head of fee   Amount (in Rs.)  

1  Annual Monitoring Fee to be paid by Deposit taking NBFCs.  Rs. 250,000/-  

2  Annual Fee for Collective Investment Schemes  0.02%*   

3 Fee for authorization of Pension Fund Rs. 100,000/- 

*[Revised in accordance with Policy Board directive vide SRO 685(I)/2009, dated June 28, 2019]432” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 

dated 17 May 2023  
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Schedule-III 

[see Regulation 44] 

Trust Deed of Closed End Scheme  

 

1.  Proposed name and Category (e.g income, equity, money market, balanced etc.) of the 

Closed End Scheme. 

 

2.  Details of the participating parties. 

 

3.  Governing law. 

 

4.  For the trust:  

 

(a)  a statement that the deed is binding on each certificate holder as if he had been a 

party to it and so to be bound by its provisions and authorizes and requires the 

trustee and the Asset Management Company to do as required of them by the 

terms of the deed; 

 

(b)  a provision that a certificate holder is not liable to make any further payments 

after he had paid the purchase price of his certificates and that no further liability 

can be imposed on him in respect of the certificates which he holds; 

 

(c)  a declaration that the property of the Closed End Scheme is held by the trustee on 

trust for the holders of the certificates pari passu according to the number of 

certificates held by each holder; 

 

(d)  a statement that the trustee will report to certificate holders in accordance with the 

Regulations; and 

 

5.  Investment Objective and Policy of Closed-End Scheme - a statement of the objective 

and outlines of investment policy of Closed End Scheme.  

 

6. Role of Asset Management Company:  

 

List of the obligations of the Asset Management Company in accordance with the Rules, 

Regulations and any additional obligations depending upon the nature of the Collective 

Investment Scheme. 

 

7. Appointment and change of Asset Management Company including- 

 

(a) a statement as to how the new Asset Management Company shall be appointed. 

 

(b) a statement of the manner in which the Asset Management Company may retire; 

and 

 

(c) a statement of the manner in which the Asset Management Company may be 

removed.  

 

8 Role of trustee. 



144 

 

A list of the obligations of the trustee in accordance with Regulations and any additional 

obligations depending upon the nature of the Closed End Scheme. 

 

9. Appointment and change of Trustee Including- 

 

(a)   a statement as to how the new trustee shall be appointed. 

(b)   a statement of the manner in which the trustee may retire; 

(c)   a statement of the manner in which the trustee may be removed; and 

 

10. Investment restrictions: 

 

A statement of restrictions on the investment of the property of the Closed End Scheme. 

 

11. Any exceptions to the investment restrictions. 

 

12. Valuation of property method of determining the value of the assets and liabilities and the 

net asset value of the Closed End Scheme. 

 

13.  Fees and charges: 

 

The following must be stated, namely:- 

 

(a) the maximum fee payable to the Asset Management Company out of the property 

of the Closed End Scheme, expressed as an annual percentage; 

 

(b) remuneration payable to trustee; 

 

(c) formation cost to be amortized against the property of the Closed End Scheme; 

and 

 

(d) all other material fees and charges payable out of the property of the Closed End 

Scheme keeping in view the provisions of Regulations. 

 

14. Disclosure of transactions with connected persons. 

 

15. Distribution policy and date: 

  

A statement to determine distributable income and the approximate date(s) in the 

calendar year on which annual income, if any, will be distributed. 

 

16. Annual accounting period: 

 

The date in the calendar year on which the annual accounting period ends. 

 

17. Audit: 

  

 A statement for the appointment of auditor of the Closed End Scheme. 
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18. Base Currency 

 

A statement of base currency of the Closed-End Scheme. 

 

19.   Modification of the trust deeds: 

 

A statement of the means by which modifications to the trust deeds can be effected. 

 

20. Revocation of Closed End Scheme: 

 

A statement of the circumstances in which the Closed End Scheme can be revoked. 

 

21. Distribution of proceeds on Revocation  

 

A statement for the distribution of proceeds on Revocation. 

 
433[(22) In the case of a Shariah-compliant scheme, the trust deed shall include the following: 

 

(a)  the scheme must clearly include the words “Islamic” or “Shariah-compliant” or 

any other nomenclature representing Shariah aspect of the Scheme; 

 

(b)  the object clause shall clearly provide that the scheme will only indulge in 

Shariah-complaint activities; 

 

(c)  the details of the Shariah governance framework, including institutional 

arrangements to ensure ongoing Shariah compliance, shall be expressly provided; 

 

(d)  manner of constitution of Shariah-supervisory board or appointment of Shariah 

advisor, as provided in the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023.] 

                                    
433 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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SCHEDULE-IV 

[see Regulation 54 ] 

 

INFORMATION TO BE DISCLOSED IN THE 

OFFERING DOCUMENT OF A CLOSED END SCHEME 

 

Notice: - This list is not intended to be exhaustive. The directors of the Closed End Scheme or 

the Asset Management Company are obliged to disclose any information which may be 

necessary for investors to make an informed judgment. 

 

Constitution of the Closed End Scheme 

 

1. Name, registered address and place and date of creation of the Closed End Scheme, with 

an indication of its duration if limited.  

 

Investment objectives and restrictions 

 

2. Details of investment objectives and policy, including summary of the investment 

restrictions. If the nature of the investment policy so dictates, a warning that investment 

in the Closed End Scheme is subject to abnormal risks, and a description of the risks 

involved. 

 

Operators and principals 

 

3. The names and registered addressed of the following parties, where applicable: 

 

(a)  the directors of the Asset Management Company; 

(b)  the trustee; 

(c)  foreign promoters, if any; 

(d)  the auditor; 

(e)  the registrar;  

(f)  the legal adviser; 

(g)  the Shariah Adviser; and 

(h)  the Custodian  

 

4. Details and note on the performance of the Collective Investment Schemes under the 

management of the Asset Management Company. 

 

5. Performance of the listed companies where the directors are holding similar office. 

 

Characteristics of certificates 

 

6.  Minimum investment, if any. 

 

7.  A description of the different types of certificates. 

 

8.  It must be stated that no money should be paid to any intermediary except the certificate 

holder or his authorized representative. 
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Distribution policy 

 

9.  The distribution policy indicating the time period for distribution of dividend. 

 

Fees and charges 

 

10. The level of all fees and charges payable by the Closed End Scheme, including 

management fee, trustee fee and preliminary and floatation expenses. 

 

Taxation 

 

11.  Details of exemptions, taxes levied on the Closed End Scheme’s income and capital 

including tax, if any, deductible on distribution to certificate holders. 

 

Reports and accounts 

 

12.  The date of the Closed End Scheme’s financial year. 

 

13.  Particulars of the reports to be sent to the certificate holders. 

 

Warnings 

 

14.  The following statements or warnings must be prominently displayed in the Offering 

Documents or prospectus,- 

 

(a)  if you are in any doubt about the contents of this Offering Document or 

prospectus, you should consult your stock-broker, bank manager, legal adviser or 

other financial adviser; and 

 

(b)  a warning that the price of certificates and the income from them (where income 

is distributed) may increase or decrease. 

 

General information 

 

15.  A list of documents concerning the Closed End Scheme and the address where they can 

be inspected free of charge or purchased. 

 

16.  The date of publication of the prospectus or Offering Document.  

 

17.  A statement that the directors of Asset Management Company accepts responsibility for 

the information contained in the prospectus or Offering Document as being accurate at 

the date of publication. 

 

18.  Details of Closed End Schemes not authorized must not be shown in the Offering 

Document. 

 

Winding up or revocation of Closed End Scheme 

 

19. A summary of the circumstances under which the Closed End Scheme can be wound up  



148 

or revoked. 

 

Distribution of proceeds on winding upon revocation  

 

20. A statement for the distribution of proceeds on, winding up or revocation. 

 
434[Additional Disclosures by the Shariah-Compliant Scheme 

 

21.  The underlying Shariah structure, along with a Shariah opinion from a Shariah advisor 

registered with the Commission or the Shariah supervisory board of the Islamic 

Collective Investment Scheme, shall be included in the offering document. 

 

22.  Complete information on the Shariah governance framework, including the name of the 

Shariah advisor or members of the Shariah supervisory board, terms of engagement, and 

manner to ensure Shariah compliance on an ongoing basis. 

 

23.  Disclosure on seeking approval of the Commission regarding Certificate of Shariah-

compliance under the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023, read with Section 451 of 

the Companies Act, 2017. 

 

24.  Reporting to the unit holders with respect to key Shariah-compliance issues in annual 

financial statements.] 

                                    
434 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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435[Schedule V 

                                    
435 Substituted for Schedule V “SHEDULE V 

[see Regulation 38 and 52] 

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS BY COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT SCHEMES 

 

1. General 

Annual report must contain statement of asset and liabilities, income statement, cash flow statement, distribution statement, 

statement of movement in unit or certificate holder fund, auditor’s report, report of the trustee, report of the fund manager and all 

the information required in this schedule, Companies Ordinance, the Rules, Code of Corporate Governance and as per the 

applicable IAS  or IFRS. 

 

2. Statement of assets and liabilities. 

The following must be separately disclosed, namely:- 

(i)  total value of investments; 

(ii)  bank balances; 

(iii) preliminary and floatation costs; 

(iv)  dividends and other receivable; 

(v)  bank loan and overdrafts or other forms of borrowings; 

(vi) payable to Asset Management Company; 

(vii)  dividend payable; 

(viii)  total value of all assets; 

(ix)  total value of all liabilities;  

(x)  net asset value per unit or certificate; 

(xi)  number of units issued or certificates issued;  

(xii) share holders Equity with authorized capital, issued capital and reserves (for Close End Fund); and 

(xiii) contingences and commitments. 

 

435[3. Income Statement. 

(1) Total investment income net of withholding tax, broken down by category. 

(2) Total other income, broken down by category. 

(3) An itemized list of various costs which have been debited to the Collective Investment Scheme, including,-  

(a) fees paid to the Asset Management Company; 

(b) remuneration of the custodian; 

(c) remuneration of trustee; 

(d) amortization of formation costs; director's fee and remuneration; 

(e) safe custody and bank charges, auditor's remuneration; 

(f) borrowing expenses, legal and other professional fees; and 

(g) any other expense borne by the Collective Investment Scheme.  

(4) Taxes. 

(5) Net income. 

(6) Allocation of Net income for the year: 

(a) Income already paid on units redeemed; and 

(b) Accounting income available for distribution: 

i. Relating to Capital Gains; and 

ii. Excluding Capital Gains.] 

 

435[Omitted] 

 

435[5. Statement of movements in reserves or Unit holders’ fund. 

(1) Net asset value per share or unit as at the beginning of the period.  

(2) Net asset value per share or unit as at the end of the period.  

(3) Number of units issued and the amount received upon such issue, (i.e. capital value and element of income on issue of units). 

(4) Number of units redeemed and the amount paid on redemption (i.e. capital value of units redeemed and amount paid out for 

element of income); 

(5) Any item resulting in an increase or decrease in net asset value of the Share or unit including, -  

a. exchange gain or loss; and 

b. Accounting income for the period less distribution. 

(6) Any refund on units as element of income.” 

(7) Distribution for the period including: 

a. Amount brought forward at the beginning of the period bifurcated into realized and unrealized gains. 

b. Accounting income available for distribution for the period bifurcated between: 

i. Relating to Capital Gains; and 
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ii. Excluding Capital Gains. 

c. Interim dividend, date of distribution, and dividend per unit for units entitled to full period dividend. 

d. Final dividend, date of distribution, and dividend per unit for units entitled to full year/ period dividend. 

e. Undistributed income carried forward bifurcated into realized and unrealized gains. 

f. Amounts transferred to and from reserves.] 

 

6. Notes to the accounts. 

The following matters shall be set out in the notes to the accounts. 

 

 Statement in the Notes that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable Approved Accounting 

Standards and applicable statutory requirements  or the deed or any regulatory requirements. 

 

 Where unaudited financial statements are used, a declaration by the director(s) of the Asset Management Company that the 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the Collective Investment Scheme. 

 

(A) Principal accounting policies: 

(a) the basis of valuation of the assets of the Collective Investment Scheme including the basis of valuation of unquoted and 

unlisted securities; 

(b) the revenue recognition policy regarding dividend income and other income; 

(c) foreign currency translation, if any; 

(d) the basis of amortization of formation costs; 

(e) taxation;  

(f) risk management polices and hedging activities entity shall describe its financial risk management objectives and polices, 

including its policy for hedging; and   

(g) any other accounting policy adopted to deal with items which are judged material or critical in determining the transactions 

and in stating the disposition of the Collective Investment Scheme. 

Note.- Any changes to the above accounting policies and their financial effects upon the accounts should also be disclosed. 

 

(B) Transactions with connected persons: 

Statement as to whether dealings with related parties have been transacted at arm’s length basis. The following transactions 

should be disclosed, namely:- 

 

(i) details of all transactions entered into during the period between the Collective Investment Scheme and the Asset Management 

Company, or any entity in which these parties or their connected persons have a material interest;  

(ii) name of any director of the Asset Management Company or any connected person if such a person becomes entitled to profits 

from transactions in shares or from management of the Collective Investment Scheme and the amount of profits to which such 

person becomes entitled; and 

(iii)  the total number and value of units held by the Asset Management Company and its related parties. 

 

(C) Borrowings: 

(i) State whether the borrowings are secured or unsecured and the duration of the borrowings. 

(ii) Disclosure shall be made of all contingent liabilities showing separately Underwriting Commitments, uncalled liability on 

partly paid shares and other commitments with specifying details. 

(iii) If the free negotiability of any asset is restricted by statutory or contractual requirements, this must be stated. 

 

(D)Unit holding, certificate holding or share holding pattern of Collective Investment Scheme  

Category No of shareholders or 

Investors 

Shareholding  or Investment 

amount 

% of total 

    

Individuals    

Associated Companies 

and Directors 

   

Insurance Companies    

Banks and DFIs    

NBFCs    

Retirement Funds    

Public Ltd Companies    

Others    

    

 

(E) Basis of fee 
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 Basis on which management fee has been paid to the Asset Management Company and the computation thereof; and 

 basis for the fees and charges paid to the trustee. 

 

(F) List of top 10 brokers or dealers by percentage of commission paid by Collective Investment Scheme in one accounting year. 

 

(G)Details of member of investment committee with their qualification and experience. 

 

(H) Name and qualification of fund manager and details of other Collective Investment Scheme managed by the same manager 

 

(I) The date, names of persons attending each meeting of the board of directors. 

 

(J)Latest Rating of the Collective Investment Scheme and Asset Management Company 

 

7. Contents of the auditors' report. 

The report of the auditor shall state,- 

(i)  Whether in the auditor's opinion 435[the financial statement] prepared for that period have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the relevant provisions of the Regulations; 

435[(ia) The auditor has conducted audit of the collective investment scheme in accordance with the international standards on 

auditing as applicable in Pakistan.] 

435[omitted] 

(iii)  if the auditor is of the opinion that proper books and records have not been kept by the Collective Investment Scheme or the 

accounts prepared are not in agreement with the  books and records of Collective Investment Scheme, that fact; and 

(iv)  if the auditor has failed to obtain all the information and explanations which, to the best of his knowledge and belief, are 

necessary for the purpose of the audit, that fact. 

 

8. Fund Manager Report 

 

(i) Description of the Collective Investment Scheme category and type. 

(ii) Statement of Collective Investment Scheme’s investment objective(s). 

(iii) Explanation as to whether the Collective Investment Scheme has achieved its stated objective(s). 

(iv) Statement of benchmark(s) relevant to the Collective Investment Scheme. 

(v) Comparison of the Collective Investment Scheme’s performance during the period compared with the said benchmarks.  

(vi) Description of the strategies and policies employed during the period under review in relation to the Collective Investment 

Scheme’s performance. 

(vii) Disclosure of the Collective Investment Scheme’s asset allocation as at the date of the report and particulars of significant 

changes in asset allocation since the last report (if applicable). 

(viii) Analysis of the Collective Investment Scheme’s performance. 

(ix) Based on changes in total NAV and NAV per unit since the last review period or since commencement (in the case of newly 

established Collective Investment Scheme). 

(x) Disclosure of the markets that the Collective Investment Scheme has invested in, including:- 

 review of the market(s) invested in during the period; and 

 statement of the returns on the investments by market(s) and by instruments. 

(xi) Disclosure on distribution (if any), comprising:- 

 particulars of income distribution or other forms of distribution made and proposed during the period; and 

 statement on effects on the NAV before and after distribution is made. 

(xii) Description and explanation of any significant changes in the state of affairs of the Collective Investment Scheme during the 

period and up till the date of the manager’s report, not otherwise  disclosed in the financial statements. 

(xiii) Breakdown of unit holdings by size. 

(xiv) Disclosure on unit split (if any), comprising:- 

 details of unit split exercise carried out during the period; and 

 statement on effects on the NAV per unit before and after the unit split exercise. 

(xv) Disclosure of circumstances that materially affect any interests of the unit holders. 

(xvi) Disclosure if the Asset Management Company or its delegate, if any, receives any soft commission (i.e. goods and services) 

from its broker(s) or dealer(s) by virtue of transactions conducted by the Collective Investment Scheme, disclosure of the 

following:- 

 identification of the goods and services received; and 

 manner in which the goods and services received were utilized. 

For Index Funds only 

 Statement on the characteristics and general composition of the index and, where applicable, concentration in any economic 

sectors and issuers. 
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See Regulation 38 

Disclosure Requirements by Collective Investment Schemes 

 

1. General 

Annual report must contain statement of asset and liabilities, income statement, cash flow 

                                                                                                                 
 Comparison and explanation of the Collective Investment Scheme’s performance compared with the actual index performance 

over the relevant period. 

 

9. Trustee Report 

 

1. Statement of opinion whether the Asset Management Company has managed the Collective Investment Scheme in accordance 

with the following:- 

 Investment limitations imposed on the  Asset Management Company and the trustee under the trust deed and other applicable 

laws; 

 valuation or pricing is carried out in accordance with the deed and any regulatory requirement; and 

 creation and cancellation of units are carried out in accordance with the deed 

 and any regulatory requirement. 

2. Statement on the shortcoming(s) that may have impact on the decision of the existing or the potential unit holders remaining or 

investing in the Collective Investment Scheme; and 

3. Disclosure of the steps taken to address the shortcoming(s) or to prevent the recurrence of the shortcoming(s). 

 

10. Investment portfolio. 

(i)  number or quantity of each holding together with the description and 

market value; 

(ii)  the total investment stated at cost; 

(iii) the value of each holding as a percentage of the total investments;  

(iv) statement of movements in portfolio holdings since the end of the 

preceding accounting period; and 

(v) the carrying amount of investments (where applicable) categorised as follows:- 

 fixed income and other debt securities; 

 quoted and unquoted equity securities; 

 derivatives (e.g. futures, options); 

 other Collective Investment Schemes; 

 foreign investments with details of type of instruments 

 any other investments; and 

 significant items included in other assets. 

435[(vi) in case of Government Securities i.e. PIB, GoP Ijara Sukuks, TBills or any other securities, the detail shall include the 

date of issue and tenure.] 

 

11. Performance Table. 

A comparative table covering the last three financial years depicting the following:- 

(a) total net asset value;  

(b) net asset value per share or certificate; 

(c) at the end of each financial year; 

(d) selling price for units; 

(e) repurchase price for units; 

(f) highest and lowest selling and repurchase prices; 

Note: Figures should be shown as ex-distribution (The portfolio composition of the Collective Investment Scheme, (e.g. 

distribution among industry sectors, markets and category of investments). 

(g) total return of the Collective Investment Scheme, and the breakdown into capital growth and income distributions; 

(h) disclosure on distribution (if any), comprising the following:- 

• Distribution per unit (gross and net) for interim and final distribution, shown separately; and  

•  Highlighting the distribution dates; 

 

(i) average annual return of the Collective Investment Scheme measured over specific periods to the date of the report, for one 

year, two years and three years, or from end of offer period (must disclose launch date); 

(j) statement that past performance is not necessarily indicative of future performance 

and that unit prices and investment returns may go down, as well as up; and 

(k)weighted average portfolio duration in case of income and money market fund.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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statement, distribution statement, statement of movement in unit or certificate holder fund, 

auditor’s report, report of the trustee, report of the fund manager and all the information required 

in this schedule, Companies Ordinance, the Rules, Code of Corporate Governance and as per the 

applicable IAS or IFRS. 

 
436[In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, annual Shariah Review Report, as required under 

regulation 23(2) of the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023, shall also form part of annual 

report.] 

 

2. Statement of assets and liabilities. 

The following must be separately disclosed, namely: - 

 

(a) total value of investments; 

(b) bank balances; 

(c) preliminary and floatation costs; 

(d) dividends and other receivable; 

(e) bank loan and overdrafts or other forms of borrowings; 

(f) payable to Asset Management Company; 

(g) dividend payable; 

(h) total value of all assets; 

(i) total value of all liabilities; 

(j) net asset value per unit or certificate; 

(k) number of units issued or certificates issued; and 

(l) contingences and commitments. 

(m) 437[In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, details of any Shariah-non-compliant 

asset or liability as on reporting date, if any, along-with the reasons and 

justifications.] 

 

3. Income Statement. 

(a) Total investment income net of withholding tax, broken down by category. 

(b) Total other income, broken down by category. 

(c) An itemized list of various costs which have been debited to the Collective 

Investment Scheme, including,- 

i. fees paid to the Asset Management Company; 

ii. remuneration of the custodian; 

                                    
436 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

437 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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iii. remuneration of trustee; 

iv. amortization of formation costs; 

v. safe custody and bank charges, auditor's remuneration; 

vi. borrowing expenses, legal and other professional fees; and 

vii. any other expense borne by the Collective Investment Scheme. 

(d) Taxes. 

(e) Net income. 

(f) Allocation of Net income for the year: 

i. Income already paid on units redeemed; and 

ii. Accounting income available for distribution: 

 Relating to Capital Gains; and 

 Excluding Capital Gains. 

(g) 438[In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, details of any Shariah-non-compliant 

income, if any, along-with its treatment”; 

 

4. Statement of movements in Unit holders’ fund. 

(a) Net asset value per unit as at the beginning of the period. 

(b) Net asset value per unit as at the end of the period. 

(c) Number of units issued and the amount received upon such issue, (i.e. capital 

value and element of income on issue of units). 

(d) Number of units redeemed and the amount paid on redemption (i.e. capital value 

of units redeemed and amount paid out for element of income); 

(e) Any item resulting in an increase or decrease in net asset value of the unit 

including, - 

i. exchange gain or loss; and 

ii. Accounting income for the period less distribution. 

(f) Any refund on units as element of income. 

(g) Distribution for the period including: 

i. Amount brought forward at the beginning of the period bifurcated into 

realized and unrealized gains. 

                                    
438 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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ii. Accounting income available for distribution for the period bifurcated 

between: 

 Relating to Capital Gains; and 

 Excluding Capital Gains. 

iii. Interim dividend, date of distribution, and dividend per unit for units entitled 

to full period dividend. 

iv. Final dividend, date of distribution, and dividend per unit for units entitled to 

full year/ period dividend. 

v. Undistributed income carried forward bifurcated into realized and unrealized 

gains.; and  

vi. Amounts transferred to and from reserves. 

5. Notes to the accounts. 

The following matters shall be set out in the notes to the accounts. 

 

(a) Statement in the Notes that the financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with applicable Approved Accounting Standards and applicable statutory 

requirements or the deed or any regulatory requirements. 

(b) Where unaudited financial statements are used, a declaration by the director(s) of 

the Asset Management Company that the financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the Collective Investment Scheme. 

(A) Principal accounting policies: 

(a) the basis of valuation of the assets of the Collective Investment Scheme including 

the basis of valuation of unquoted and unlisted securities; 

(b) the revenue recognition policy regarding dividend income and other income; 

(c) foreign currency translation, if any; 

(d) the basis of amortization of formation costs; 

(e) taxation; 

(f) risk management policies and hedging activities entity shall describe its financial 

risk management objectives and policies, including its policy for hedging; and 

(g) any other accounting policy adopted to deal with items which are judged material 

or critical in determining the transactions and in stating the disposition of the 

Collective Investment Scheme. 

(h) 439[In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, policies with respect to such standards 

of Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions 

                                    
439 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(AAOIFI) or any other standard setting organization as notified by the 

Commission.] 

Note.- Any changes to the above accounting policies and their financial effects upon the 

accounts should also be disclosed. 

 

(B) Transactions with connected persons: 

Statement as to whether dealings with related parties have been transacted at arm’s length basis. 

The following transactions should be disclosed, namely: - 

 

(a) details of all transactions entered into during the period between the Collective 

Investment Scheme and the Asset Management Company, or any entity in which 

these parties or their connected persons have a material interest; 

(b) name of any director of the Asset Management Company or any connected person 

if such a person becomes entitled to profits from transactions in shares or from 

management of the Collective Investment Scheme and the amount of profits to 

which such person becomes entitled; and 

(c) the total number and value of units held by the Asset Management Company and 

its related parties. 

(C) Borrowings: 

(a) State whether the borrowings are secured or unsecured and the duration of the 

borrowings.  

(b) Disclosure shall be made of all contingent liabilities showing separately with 

specifying details. 

(c) If the free negotiability of any asset is restricted by statutory or contractual 

requirements, this must be stated. 

 

(D) Unit holding or certificate holding pattern of Collective Investment Scheme 

Category No of Investor  Investment 

amount 

% of Total 

Individuals    

Associated companies and 

directors 

   

Insurance Companies    

Banks and DFIs    

NBFCs    

Retirement Funds    

Public Ltd Companies    

Others    

 

(E) Basis of Fee 

(a) Basis on which management fee has been paid to the Asset Management 

Company and the computation thereof; and  
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(b) Basis for the fees and charges paid to the trustee. 

(F) List of top 10 brokers or dealers by percentage of commission paid by Collective 

Investment Scheme in one accounting year. 

(G) Details of member of investment committee with their qualification and experience. 

(H) Name and qualification of fund manager and details of other Collective Investment 

Scheme managed by the same manager. 

(I) The date, names of persons attending each meeting of the board of directors of Asset 

Management Company. 

(J) Latest Rating of the Collective Investment Scheme and Asset Management Company. 

6. Contents of the auditors' report. 

The report of the auditor shall state,- 

 

(a) Whether in the auditor's opinion the financial statement prepared for that period 

have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant provisions of the 

Regulations; 

(b) The auditor has conducted audit of the collective investment scheme in 

accordance with the international standards on auditing as applicable in Pakistan. 

(c) if the auditor is of the opinion that proper books and records have not been kept 

by the Collective Investment Scheme or the accounts prepared are not in 

agreement with the books and records of Collective Investment Scheme, that fact; 

and 

(d) if the auditor has failed to obtain all the information and explanations which, to 

the best of his knowledge and belief, are necessary for the purpose of the audit, 

that fact. 

7. Fund Manager Report 

(a) Description of the Collective Investment Scheme category and type. 

(b) Statement of Collective Investment Scheme’s investment objective(s). 

(c) Explanation as to whether the Collective Investment Scheme has achieved its 

stated objective(s). 

(d) Statement of benchmark(s) relevant to the Collective Investment Scheme. 

(e) Comparison of the Collective Investment Scheme’s performance during the 

period compared with the said benchmarks. 

(f) Description of the strategies and policies employed during the period under 

review in relation to the Collective Investment Scheme’s performance. 

(g) Disclosure of the Collective Investment Scheme’s asset allocation as at the date of 

the report and particulars of significant changes in asset allocation since the last 

report (if applicable). 

(h) Analysis of the Collective Investment Scheme’s performance. 
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(i) Based on changes in total NAV and NAV per unit since the last review period or 

since commencement (in the case of newly established Collective Investment 

Scheme). 

(j) Disclosure of the markets that the Collective Investment Scheme has invested in, 

including:- 

i. review of the market(s) invested in during the period; and 

ii. statement of the returns on the investments by market(s) and by instruments. 

(k) Disclosure on distribution (if any), comprising:- 

i. particulars of income distribution or other forms of distribution made and 

proposed during the period; and 

ii. statement on effects on the NAV before and after distribution is made. 

(l) Description and explanation of any significant changes in the state of affairs of 

the Collective Investment Scheme during the period and up till the date of the 

manager’s report, not otherwise disclosed in the financial statements. 

(m) Breakdown of unit holdings by size. 

(n) Disclosure on unit split (if any), comprising:- 

i. details of unit split exercise carried out during the period; and 

ii. statement on effects on the NAV per unit before and after the unit split 

exercise. 

(o) Disclosure of circumstances that materially affect any interests of the unit holders. 

(p) Disclosure if the Asset Management Company or its delegate, if any, receives any 

soft commission (i.e. goods and services) from its broker(s) or dealer(s) by virtue 

of transactions conducted by the Collective Investment Scheme, disclosure of the 

following:- 

i. identification of the goods and services received; and 

ii. manner in which the goods and services received were utilized. 

For Index Funds only 

 

 Statement on the characteristics and general composition of the index and, where 

applicable, concentration in any economic sectors and issuers. 

 Comparison and explanation of the Collective Investment Scheme’s performance 

compared with the actual index performance over the relevant period. 

8. Trustee Report 

(a) Statement of opinion whether the Asset Management Company has managed the 

Collective Investment Scheme in accordance with the following:- 

i. Investment limitations imposed on the Asset Management Company and the 

trustee under the trust deed and other applicable laws; 
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ii. valuation or pricing is carried out in accordance with the deed and any 

regulatory requirement; and 

iii. creation and cancellation of units are carried out in accordance with the deed 

iv. and any regulatory requirement. 

(b) Statement on the shortcoming(s) that may have impact on the decision of the 

existing or the potential unit holders remaining or investing in the Collective 

Investment Scheme; and 

(c) Disclosure of the steps taken to address the shortcoming(s) or to prevent the 

recurrence of the shortcoming(s). 

9. Investment portfolio. 

(a) number or quantity of each holding together with the description and market 

value; 

(b) the total investment stated at cost; 

(c) the value of each holding as a percentage of the total investments; 

(d) statement of movements in portfolio holdings since the end of the preceding 

accounting period; and 

(e) the carrying amount of investments (where applicable) categorized as follows:- 

i. fixed income and other debt securities; 

ii. quoted and unquoted equity securities; 

iii. derivatives (e.g. futures, options); 

iv. other Collective Investment Schemes; 

v. foreign investments with details of type of instruments 

vi. any other investments; and 

vii. significant items included in other assets. 

(f) in case of Government Securities i.e. PIB, GoP Ijara Sukuks, TBills or any other 

securities, the detail shall include the date of issue and tenure. 

10. Performance Table. 

A comparative table covering the last three financial years depicting the following:- 

(a) total net asset value; 

(b) net asset value per unit or certificate; 

(c) at the end of each financial year; 

(d) selling price for units; 

(e) repurchase price for units; 

(f) highest and lowest selling and repurchase prices; 
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Note: Figures should be shown as ex-distribution (The portfolio composition of the 

Collective Investment Scheme, (e.g. distribution among industry sectors, markets and 

category of investments). 

 

(g) total return of the Collective Investment Scheme, and the breakdown into capital 

growth and income distributions; 

(h) disclosure on distribution (if any), comprising the following:- 

i. Distribution per unit (gross and net) for interim and final distribution, shown 

separately; and 

ii. Highlighting the distribution dates; 

(i) average annual return of the Collective Investment Scheme measured over 

specific periods to the date of the report, for one year, two years and three years, 

or from end of offer period (must disclose launch date); 

(j) statement that past performance is not necessarily indicative of future 

performance and that unit prices and investment returns may go down, as well as 

up; and 

(k) weighted average portfolio duration in case of income and money market fund.] 
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Schedule VI 

 

[see Regulation 44] 

 

INFORMATION TO BE CONTAINED IN THE APPLICATION FOR 

REGISTRATION OF A COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT SCHEME 

Details of the Collective Investment Scheme:- 

 

1. Name of the Collective Investment Scheme. 

Collective Investment Scheme type 

Collective Investment Scheme Category 

 

2. Structure of the Collective Investment Scheme. 

Any distinctive feature of the proposed Collective Investment Scheme 

 

3. Proposed subscription date and place. 

 

4. A Pricing Mechanism; Forward or Historic 

 

5. Investment objectives. 

a) Investment Strategy 

b) Asset Allocation 

c) Benchmark 

 

6. Details of opportunities for investment in the market 

Type of Instruments Availability of Investment 

Instrument as at XX/XX/20XX* 

Equities (No. of counters, market capitalization etc) 

Debt Securities No of Issues, amount of outstanding etc) 

Money Market Instruments  

Other Please  

*Please indicate source of date for the respective type of investment 

 
440[omitted] 

                                    
440 Deleted the text “7. Details of the parties to the Collective Investment Scheme:- 

 The Asset Management Company: 

(a) Name. 

(b) Registered or business address.  

(c) Name of the ultimate holding company, if any. 

(d) The most recent audited financial. 

(e) Previous approval of the Commission to manage authorized Collective Investment Schemes.  

 

Following details of existing Collective Investment Scheme of the Asset Management Company 

a) Details of investors or Unit Holders  

(Collective Investment Scheme wise details) 

Type of investor No of investors Amount of 

investment 

% of total Net Asset 

Value 

Banks    

DFIs    

NBFCs    
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Pensions and Gratuity Fund    

Other Corporate investors    

Individual Investor    

Total    

b) Details of Investors with more than 10% holding 

(Collective Investment Scheme wise details) 

Name of 

Investors 

Number of unit hold Amount of 

Investment 

% of toal Net Asset 

Value or share 

holding 

Core Investor 

(Yes or No) 

     

c) Details of Investment of Banks, DFIs, and NBFCs 

(Collective Investment Scheme wise details) 

Name of 

Investors 

Number of unit  Amount of 

Investment 

% of toal Net Asset 

Value or share 

holding 

Core Investor 

(Yes or No) 

 

d) Comparison of performance of existing Collective Investment Schemes of Asset Management Company with its peer in 

industry (for at least last two years where applicable) 

 Name of 

Collective 

Investment 

Scheme 

Type of Collective 

Investment Scheme 

Total Net Assets  % Growth of net 

assets in last 1 year 

of own scheme 

Average % Growth 

of net assets value in 

last 1 year of peer 

group 

     

(peer means average of same type of Collective Investment Schemes) 

e) Product distinction between the proposed Collective Investment Scheme and the existing Collective Investment Scheme s 

currently being managed by the Asset Management Company  

8. The trustee: 

(a) Name. 

(b) Registered or business address. 

(c) Name of the ultimate holding company, if any. 

(d) Previous approval of the Commission as trustee of authorized Closed End and Open End Schemes. If no, names of the 

directors and most recent audited financial report. 

8. For the trustee and Asset Management Company: 

(a) Which, if any, of these companies are connected persons? 

(b) Name anyone who holds appointments, as director or officer, with more than one of these companies. 

 

9. For the trustee and Asset Management Company: 

 

A. Distribution company: 

(a) Name. 

(b) Registered or business address. 

(c) Name of ultimate holding company. 

A marketing plan for the proposed Collective Investment Scheme which in the opinion of the Asset management necessary to 

enable the Collective Investment Scheme to reach a viable size.  

a) Viable size of the Collective Investment Scheme 

b) Marketing strategy 

c) Target market or group of investors 

d) Prospective marketing resources and distribution channels 

e) Minimum level of subscription of the Collective Investment Scheme as well as basis for determining the minimum level 

B. The auditor: 

(a) Name. 

(b) Registered or business address. 

C. The principal broker: 

(a) Name. 

(b) Registered or business address. 

(c) The approximate percentage of the Collective Investment Scheme 's transactions in value of securities carried out by the 

principal broker within the latest financial year of the Closed End Scheme. 

(d) Whether the trustee, the directors of the Closed End Scheme or the Asset Management Company is a connected person of the 

principal broker? 

D. Legal Adviser: 

(a) Name. 
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(b) Registered or business address.” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  
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SCHEDULE – VII 

 

[see Regulation 44] 

 

CONTENTS OF THE TRUST DEED OF OPEN END SCHEMES 

 

1.  Name and Category (e.g. income, equity, money market, balanced, etc.) of Open-End . 

 

2.  Participating parties: 

 

A statement to specify the participating parties including the Asset Management 

Company (management company) and trustee. 

 

3. Governing law. 

 

4. For the trusts,- 

 

(a)  a statement that the deed is binding on each holder as if he had been a party to it 

and so to be bound by its provisions and authorizes and requires the trustee and 

the management company to do as required of them by the terms of the deed; 

 

(b)  a provision that a holder is not liable to make any further payments after he had 

paid the purchase price of his units and that no further liability can be imposed on 

him in respect of the units which he holds; 

 

(c)  a declaration that the property of the scheme is held by the trustee on trust for the 

holders of the units pari passu according to the number of units held by each 

holder. (This may be modified as appropriate for schemes offering income and 

accumulation units.); 

 

(d) a statement that the trustee will report to unit holders in accordance with the 

Regulations; and 

 

5. A statement of the objective and outline of investment policy of the Open End  Scheme. 

 

6.  Role of management company: 

 

A statement of list the obligations of the management company in accordance with the 

Rules and Regulations. 

 

7. Appointment and change of management company: 

  

(a) a statement of the manner in which the management company may retire; 

(b) a statement of the manner in which the management company may be 

removed; and 

(c) a statement as to how the new management company shall be appointed. 

 

 

8. Role of trustee: 



165 

 

A list of the obligations of the trustee in accordance with Regulations and any additional 

 obligations depending upon the nature of the Open End  Scheme. 

 

9. Change of Trustee: 

   

(a) a statement of the manner in which the trustee may retire; 

(b) a statement of the manner in which the trustee may be removed; and 

  (c) a statement as to how the new trustee shall be appointed. 

 

10.  Investment restrictions: 

 

A statement listing restrictions on the investment of the deposited property and any 

exceptions granted to investment restrictions. 

 

11.  Borrowing restrictions: 

   

(a) a statement of exceptions to borrowing limits, if any; and 

 

(b) a statement about any exceptions to borrowing limits depending upon the nature 

of the Open End Scheme, if any. 

 

12. Valuation of property and pricing: 

 

The following rules on valuation of property and pricing must be stipulated,- 

 

(a)  the method of determining the value of the assets and liabilities of the property of 

the Open End Scheme and the net asset value accordingly; 

 

(b)  the method of calculating the issue and redemption prices; and 

 

(c) the method of pricing and the circumstances under which it can change. 

 

13. Dealing, suspension and deferral of dealing: 

 

The following must be stated,- 

 

(a)  the circumstances under which the dealing of units can be deferred or suspended; 

 

(b)  the maximum interval between the receipt of a properly documented request for 

redemption of units and the issue of payment instrument for redemption money to 

the holder not to exceed six working days; and 

 

(c)  the circumstances under which the dealing may be suspended.  

 

 

 

14. Fees and charges: 

The following must be stated,- 
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(a)  the maximum percentage of the  charge payable by the investor on subscription, 

redemption and conversion of units; 

 

(b)  the maximum fee payable to the management company out of the property of the 

Collective Investment Scheme, expressed as an annual percentage; 

 

(c)  remuneration payable to trustee; 

 

(d)  formation cost to be amortized against the property of the Open End Scheme; and 

 

(e)  all other material fees and charges payable out of the property of the Open End 

Scheme. 

 

15. Disclosure of transactions with connected persons: 

 

 

16. Distribution policy and date: 

 

A statement about distributable income and the approximate date in the calendar year on 

which annual income, if any, will be distributed. 

 

17. Annual accounting period: 

 

The date in the calendar year on which the annual accounting period ends. 

 

18. Audit 

  

A statement about the audit and appointment of auditors of the Open End Scheme. 

 

19. Base currency: 

 

A statement of the base currency of the Open End Scheme. 

 

20. Modification of the Trust Deed: 

 

A statement of the means by which modifications to the Trust Deed can be effected. 

 

21. Revocation of Open-End Scheme: 

 

A statement of the circumstances in which the Open-End Scheme can be revoked. 

 

22. Distribution on Revocation of Open-End Scheme: 

  

A statement explaining the manner in which the proceeds of the Open-End Scheme shall 

be distributed on revocation. 
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44123  In the case of a Shariah-compliant scheme, the trust deed shall include the following:  

 

(a) the scheme must clearly include the words “Islamic” or “Shariah-compliant” or any 

other nomenclature representing Shariah aspect of the Scheme;  

 

(b) the object clause shall clearly provide that the scheme will only indulge in Shariah-

complaint activities;  

 

(c) the details of the Shariah governance framework, including institutional arrangements 

to ensure ongoing Shariah compliance, shall be expressly provided;  

 

(d) manner of constitution of Shariah-supervisory board or appointment of Shariah 

advisor, as provided in the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023.” 

                                    
441 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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SCHEDULE – VIII 

[see Regulation 54] 

 

INFORMATION TO BE DISCLOSED IN THE OFFERING DOCUMENT BY 

 OPEN END SCHEMES 

 

Notice:- This list is not intended to be exhaustive. The directors of the Asset Management 

Company  are obliged to disclose any information which may be necessary for 

investors to make an informed judgment. 

 

1. Constitution of the  Open End Scheme: 

 

Name, registered address and place and date of creation of the OpenEnd Scheme, with an 

indication of its duration if limited. 

 

2. Investment objectives and restrictions: 

 

Details of investment objectives and policy, including summary of the investment and 

borrowing restrictions. If the nature of the investment policy so dictates, a warning that 

investment in the Open-End Scheme is subject to abnormal risks, and a description of the 

risks involved. 

 

3. Operators and principals: 

 

The names and registered addressed of the following parties, where applicable,__ 

 

(a) the directors of the Asset Management Company; 

(b) the trustee; 

(c) foreign promoters, if any; 

(d) the distribution company; 

(e) the auditor; 

(f) the registrar; and 

(g) the legal adviser. 

(h) the Shariah Adviser 

 

4. Details and note on the performance of the Collective Investment Schemes under the 

management of the Asset Management Company. 

 

5. Performance of the listed companies where the directors are holding similar office. 

 

6. Characteristics of units: 

 

(a) minimum investment, if any; 

(b) a description of the different, type of units; 

(c) frequency of valuation and dealing, including days; 

(d) application and redemption procedures; 

(e) the mode of the unit price announcement; 

(f) procedure for subscribing, redeeming or conversion of units; 

(g) the maximum interval between the request for redemption and the issue of  payment 
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instrument for the redemption proceeds; 

(h) a summary of the circumstances in which dealing in units may be deferred or 

suspended; and 

(i) it must be stated that no money should be paid to any intermediary except the unit 

holder or his authorized representative. 

 

7. Distribution policy: 

 

The distribution policy indicating the time period for distribution of dividend as stock or 

cash depending on tax laws and interest of unit holders. 

 

8. Fees and charges: 

 

(a) the level of all fees and charges payable by an investor, including all charges levied 

on subscription and redemption and conversion, and 

 

(b) the level of all fees and charges payable by the Collective Investment Scheme, 

including management fee, advisory fee, trustee fee and preliminary and floatation 

expenses. 

 

9. Taxation: 

 

Details of exemptions, taxes levied on the Collective Investment Scheme’s income and 

capital including tax, if any, deductible on distribution to unit holders. 

 

10. Reports and accounts 

 

(a) The date of the Open End Scheme’s financial year; and 

 

(b) Particulars of the reports to be sent to the unit holders; 

 

11. Warnings 

 

 The following statements or warnings must be prominently displayed in the offering 

 documents,- 

 

(a) if you are in any doubt about the contents of this Offering Document, you should 

consult your stock-broker, bank manager, legal adviser or other financial adviser. 

 

(b) a warning that the price of units and the income from them (where income is 

distributed) may go increase or decrease. 

 

12. General information 

 

(a) a list of constitutive documents and the address where they can be inspected free of 

charge or purchased; 

 

(b) the date of publication of the Offering Document; 
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(c) a statement that the Directors of Asset Management Company accept responsibility 

for the  information contained in the Offering Document as being accurate at the date 

of publication; 

 

(d) details of Collective Investment Schemes not authorized must not be shown in the 

Offering Document. 

 

13. Revocation of Open-End Scheme 

 

A summary of the circumstances in which the OpenEnd Scheme can be revoked.  

 

 

14. Distribution of proceeds on revocation  

  

 A statement for the distribution of proceeds on liquidation, winding up or termination. 

 
442[Additional Disclosures by the Shariah-Compliant Scheme 

 

15.  The underlying Shariah structure, along with a Shariah opinion from a Shariah advisor or 

the Shariah supervisory board of the Islamic Collective Investment Scheme, registered 

with the Commission, shall be included in the offering document. 

 

16.  Complete information on the Shariah governance framework, including the name of the 

Shariah advisor or members of the Shariah supervisory board, terms of engagement, and 

manner to ensure Shariah compliance on an ongoing basis. 

 

17.  Disclosure on seeking approval of the Commission regarding Certificate of Shariah-

compliance under the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023, read with Section 451 of 

the Companies Act, 2017. 

 

18.  reporting to the unit holders with respect to key Shariah-compliance issues in annual 

financial statements.] 

                                    
442 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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[Schedule IX  

 

FIT AND PROPER CRITERIA 

 

[see Rule 3 and Regulations 2(1)(xvii) and 10 443[and Rule 4(c) of VPS Rules 2005]] 

 

DEFINITIONS  

 
444[“Form of Business”, for the purpose of this Schedule, shall include form of business as 

mentioned in Regulation 3 and Pension Fund Scheme Business, 

“Key Executive” means key executives of an entity licensed to undertake any form of business 

and includes, inter alia, the persons discharging the following functional responsibilities,] 

 

a. Any executive, officer acting as second to chief executive officer including chief 

operating officer or by whatever name called;  

b. any person responsible for heading any specific licensed form of business 

c. chief financial officer, head of accounts or head of finance; 

d. head of internal audit; 

e. head of information technology; 

f. head of credit or  risk management; 

g. head of human resource; 

h. head of operations; 

i. head of marketing/sales; 

j. head of research; 

k. head of treasury;  

l. chief investment officer; 

m. head of law, company secretary or compliance officer; 

n. fund manager; and 

o. any other functional responsibility which the Commission may include.  

 

APPLICATION AND SCOPE  

 
445(1)  [The Fit and Proper Criteria in relation to a form of business is applicable to the 

following persons:  

 

i. promoters and major shareholders; 

ii. Director; 

iii. Chief Executive; and  

iv. Key Executives.] 

                                    
443 Inserted vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 

444 Substituted for the text “"Key Executive” means key executives of the NBFC, Investment Company and includes, inter alia, 

the persons discharging the following functional responsibilities,-” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

445 Substituted for the text “The Fit and Proper Criteria in relation to an NBFC and Investment Company is applicable to the 

following persons: 

(i) promoters and major shareholders of the NBFC and Investment Company;  

(ii) director of the NBFC and Investment Company; 

(iii) chief executive of the NBFC and Investment Company; 

(iv) Key Executives of the NBFC and Investment Company.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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446[2)  A proposed director or chief executive shall not assume the charge of office until their 

appointment has been approved by the Commission. 

 

(3) The application for seeking approval of the Commission under clause (2) shall be 

submitted along with the requisite information required under Annexure “A” and an Affidavit as 

specified in Annexure “B”. 

 

(4) The appointment of Key Executives does not require the approval of the Commission; 

however, the person subject to Fit and Proper Criteria shall ensure at the time of appointing a 

Key Executive that such person qualifies the Fit and Proper Criteria.] 

 

(5) The fitness and propriety of any person shall be assessed by taking into account all the 

relevant factors including but not limited to the following: 

 

(a) Integrity and track record of such person; 

(b) Financial soundness of such a person; 

(c) Competence and capability of the person; and 
447[(d)  Conflict of interest of such person with the business. 

 

“Provided that 5(c) and (d) may not be considered while assessing the 

fitness & propriety of promoters and major shareholder. 

 

Provided further that in case the sponsor and major shareholder is a body 

corporate, in addition to the relevant/applicable clauses, corporate behavior of the 

said body corporate and integrity & track record of the sponsor and ultimate 

beneficial owners of such corporate body shall be duly considered. 

 

Explanation: For the purpose of this clause, the term “ultimate beneficial 

owner” shall have the similar meaning as defined under 123A of the Companies 

Act, 2017.] 

  
448[(6)  The Fit and Proper Criteria is perpetual in nature and the person subject to Fit and Proper 

Criteria shall ensure compliance with the provisions of Fit and Proper Criteria.] 

                                    
446 Substituted for the text “(2) A proposed director or chief executive of the NBFC and Investment Company shall not assume 

the charge of office until their appointment has been approved by the Commission.  

(3) The application for seeking approval of the Commission under clause (2) shall be submitted by the NBFC and Investment 

Company along with the requisite information required under Annexure “A” and an Affidavit as specified in Annexure “B”. 

(4) The appointment of Key Executives of an NBFC and Investment Company does not require the approval of the Commission; 

however an NBFC and Investment Company shall ensure at the time of appointing a Key Executive that such person qualifies the 

Fit and Proper Criteria.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

447 Substituted for the text “(d) Conflict of interest of such person with the business of the NBFC and Investment Company. 

Provided that 5(c) and (d) may not be considered while assessing the fitness & propriety of promoters and major shareholder of 

the NBFC and Investment Company. 

[Provided further that in case the sponsor and major shareholder is a body corporate, in addition to the relevant/applicable 

clauses, corporate behavior of the said body corporate and integrity & track record of the sponsor and ultimate beneficial owners 

of such corporate body shall be duly considered. 

Explanation: Ultimate beneficial owners for the purpose of this clause means natural person or individual who ultimately own 

10% or more ownership or control the body corporate.]447 

“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

448 Substituted for the text “(6) The Fit and Proper Criteria is perpetual in nature and an NBFC, Investment Company shall 

ensure compliance with the provisions of Fit and Proper Criteria.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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449[omitted] 

 
450[(8)  All persons subject to Fit and Proper Criteria shall report any change with reference to 

their fitness and propriety to the Company Secretary within three business days of such change 

taking effect and the Company Secretary subject to Fit and Proper Criteria shall within a period 

of seven business days from the date of receipt, report the same to the Commission.] 

 
451[(9) The companies engaged in respective form of business shall monitor whether any change 

in the status of its chief executive, directors and key executives is contrary to the requirements of 

the Fit and Proper Criteria. In case of any change in status, results in non-compliance with the Fit 

and Proper Criteria, the Board of companies engaged in respective form of business shall 

immediately stop the person from performing his assigned functions, shall inform the 

Commission and initiate the process for replacement of the individual with a fit and proper 

individual.] 

 

(10) Any violations or circumvention of the Fit and Proper Criteria shall be dealt with under 

the provisions of the Ordinance. 

 

ASSESSMENT OF FITNESS AND PROPRIETY 

 

(a) Integrity and Track Record 

 

A person shall not be considered Fit and Proper if he: 

(i) has been convicted of an offence involving moral turpitude;  
452[(ii)  has been convicted of mismanagement of investments, financial or business misconduct, 

fraud etc. 

(iii)  has been convicted, after conducting an inquiry, by the Commission or any other 

regulatory or professional body or government agency;] 

(iv) has been actively involved in the management of a company or  firm whose registration 

or  license has been revoked or cancelled or which has gone into liquidation or other 

similar proceedings due to mismanagement of affairs, financial misconduct or 

                                    
449 Deleted the text “(7) The NBFC and Investment Company shall within 30 days of the close of each calendar year submit the 

following documents with regard to its chief executive and directors: 

(a)  Updated resume; 

(b)  CIB reports of the chief executive and directors and the companies, firms, sole proprietorships, etc. where they are acting as 

directors, chief executives, partners or owners; and 

(c)  Latest tax returns.” vide SRO 639 (I)/2019 dated 20 June 2019  

450 Substituted for the text “(8) All persons subject to Fit and Proper Criteria shall report any change with reference to their 

fitness and propriety to the respective NBFCs and Investment Company within three business days of such change taking effect 

and NBFCs shall within a period of seven business days from the date of receipt, report the same to the Commission.” Vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

451 Substituted for the text “(9)  NBFC and Investment Company shall monitor whether any change in the status of its chief 

executive, directors and key executives is contrary to the requirements of the Fit and Proper Criteria. In case of any change in 

status result in non-compliance with the Fit and Proper Criteria, the NBFC and Investment Company shall immediately stop the 

person from performing his assigned functions, informs the Commission and initiate the process for replacement of the individual 

with a fit and proper individual.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

452 Substituted for the text “(ii) has been involved in the mismanagement of investments, financial or business misconduct, fraud 

etcetera;  

(iii) has been the subject to adverse findings, after conducting an inquiry, by the Commission or any other regulatory or 

professional body or government  agency;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
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malpractices 453[: 

 

Provided that in case of non-executive nominee directors representing 

institutional interest and who otherwise do not have any personal interest, the 

Commission may, after seeking explanation and if satisfied, after reasons to be recorded 

in writing, relax this requirement on case to case basis subject to such conditions as it 

may deem fit.] 

(v) is ineligible, under the Ordinance or any other legislation or regulation, from acting as a 

director or serving in a managerial capacity of an NBFC or a company;  

(vi) has entered into a plea bargain arrangement with the National Accountability Bureau454[: 
455[   ] 

] 
456[(vii) in case of promoters or major shareholder, does not have the requisite disclosed and 

verifiable financial resources.] 

 
457[(viii) has been convicted in criminal breach of trust, fraud, offences of terrorism financing or 

money laundering including predicate offences as provided in the Anti-Money 

Laundering (AML) Act, 2010, laws make thereunder, or any other AML/ CFT 

(Countering Financing of Terrorism) requirements notified by the Commission, and is a 

proscribed persons, either convicted or not, “as mentioned in the notifications issued by 

the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on United Nations Security Councils Resolutions or 

intimation from National Counter Terrorism Authority/ Law Enforcement Agencies/ 

Home Departments of Provinces/ Ministry of Interior.] 

 
458[omitted] 

 

(b)  Financial soundness 

 

In determining a person’s financial soundness, the following shall be considered:  

 

(i) whether such person’s financial statements or record including wealth statements or  

income tax returns or assessment orders are available; 

 

(ii) whether the person has been declared by a court of competent jurisdiction as defaulter in 

repayment of loan to a financial institution; 

 
459[(iii) whether any instance of overdue or past due payment to a financial institution, 

                                    
453 Inserted vide SRO 581(I)/2021 dated 20 May 2021 

454 Inserted vide SRO 581(I)/2021 dated 20 May 2021 

455 Deleted the text vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

456 Substituted for the text “(vii) in case of promoters or major shareholder of NBFC and Investment Company, does not have 

the requisite disclosed and verifiable financial resources; and” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

457 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

458 Deleted the text “(viii) in case of promoters or major shareholders of NBFC and Investment Company, does not have an 

established and proven track record of successfully running a business enterprise for 3 to 5 years, preferably a public listed 

company.” vide SRO 581(I)/2021 dated 20 May 2021 

459 Substituted for the words “(iii) whether any instance of overdue payments or default to a financial institution or write-offs by 

a financial institution are appearing in the latest Credit Information Bureau report of the person and of the companies, firms, sole 

proprietorships etc. where the person was a chief executive, director (major shareholder/ sponsor), partner, owner etc.” vide SRO 

434(I)/2016 dated 20 May 2016. 
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irrespective of amount, is appearing in the overdue column of latest CIB report of the 

person and of the companies, firms, sole proprietorship etc. where the person is a chief 

executive, director (other than nominee director), owner or partner etc.  

Provided that the Commission shall provide an opportunity of making representation to 

the person in case of overdue or past due payment; 

Provided further that the following exceptions may be granted by the Commission for the 

purpose of this sub-clause in case where:- 

 

(a)  Amount overdue is under litigation and the same is also appearing as amount 

under litigation in the CIB report; and 

(b)  No overdue payment appearing in the overdue column in the subsequent latest 

CIB report;] 

 

(iv) whether the person has applied to be adjudicated as an insolvent and his application is 

pending; 

 

(v) whether the person is an un-discharged insolvent; and 

 

(vi) whether the person has been declared a defaulter by a stock exchange. 

 

(c) Competence and Capability 

 

In determining a person’s competence and capability the following shall be considered:  

 

(i) the directors should be individuals having management or business experience of at least 

five years at a senior level;  

 
460[Provided that this condition shall not apply in case of sponsor directors, 

however, conditions prescribed in Schedule I of the NBFC Rules, 2003 shall apply.] 

 
461[(ii) the directors shall have experience and knowledge in any related profession such as 

banking, accounting, law, internal audit or information technology etc.] 

 

(iii) the chief executive should have a minimum experience of seven to ten years in a senior 

management position, preferably in the regulated financial services sector; 

 
462[Provided that chief executive officer of a lending NBFC offering services through 

digital mode should have a minimum experience of three years in a senior management 

position, preferably in the regulated financial services sector;  

 

                                    
460 Substituted for the text “Provided that this condition shall not apply in case of directors of Non-Banking Microfinance 

Companies and such companies shall comply with conditions applicable as per Schedule I of the NBFC Rules, 2003.” vide SRO 

581(I)/2021 dated 20 May 2021 

461 Substituted for the text “(ii) the directors shall have experience and knowledge in any profession such as banking, Collective 

Investment Scheme, accounting, law, internal audit or information technology etc. 461[: 

  Provided that for Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies, the directors having experience and knowledge in professions such as 

economics, social sector, development sector, microfinance sector etc. shall also be considered;” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 

May 2023  
462 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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Provided further that such lending NBFC shall have at least one non-executive director 

with experience of seven to ten years preferably in the regulated financial services sector] 

 

 

(iv) the chief executive should have demonstrated, through his qualification and experience, 

the capacity to successfully undertake the cognate responsibilities of the position; and 

 
463[(iva)   where the Commission is not satisfied on sufficiency of the suitability criteria, it may 

conduct an interview of the chief executive to assess his/her suitability for the position.] 

 

(v) the key executives must be qualified professionals possessing relevant experience and 

certification relating to the job or assignment. 

 

(d) Conflict of interest 

 
464[The directors or chief executive shall not:] 

 
465[(i) be a director in any 466[NBFC or] entity licensed to undertake any 467[ ] similar form of 

business engaged 468[   ] in Pakistan.] 

 

(ii) be a director, chief executive, chief financial officer, chief internal auditor, research 

analyst or a trader (by whatever name or designation called) in a stock brokerage house 

or in any company or entity owned and controlled by a member of a stock exchange; and 

 

(iii) be a member of a stock exchange engaged in the business of brokerage or is a spouse of 

such member or in control of more than 20% shareholding, directly or indirectly through 

his close relatives. 

 
469[Provided that the condition given in point (ii) and (iii) above, shall not apply to 

the Non-deposit taking lending NBFCs.  

 

In case of Key Executives, the person subject to Fit and Proper Criteria must ensure that 

                                    
463 Inserted vide SRO 581(I)/2021 dated 20 May 2021 

464 Substituted for the text “The directors or chief executive of NBFC and Investment Company shall not:” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

465 Substituted for the text “(i) be a director in any other NBFC and Investment Company engaged in a similar business in 

Pakistan.  

465[omitted] 

 465[Provided further that this condition shall not apply to chief executive of Non- Bank Micro Finance Companies up till June 

30, 2017 and shall not apply to directors of Non- Bank Micro Finance Companies up till December 31, 2017;]” vide SRO 

592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
466 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
467 Omitted the expression “word” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
468 Omitted the expression “in a similar activity” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

469 Substituted for the text “ Provided that the condition given in point (ii) and (iii) above, shall not apply to the Non-deposit 

taking lending NBFCs.  

In case of Key Executives, the NBFCs and Investment Company must ensure that no Key Executive shall head more than one 

functional area that give rise to conflict of interest within the organization. For example, the departments of audit and accounts 

shall not be headed by the same person. Further, a key executive shall not hold directorship in his or her personal capacity:  

(a) in a business concern which is also a client of the NBFC, Investment Company and  

(b) in any other financial institution.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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no Key Executive shall head more than one functional area that give rise to conflict of 

interest within the organization. For example, the departments of audit and accounts shall 

not be headed by the same person. Further, a key executive shall not hold directorship in 

his or her personal capacity: 

 

(a) in a business concern which is also a client of the person subject to Fit and Proper 

Criteria; and 

(b) in any other financial institution.] 
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Annexure A 

 
470[(a) Information to be provided by promoters, major shareholders (other than a body 

                                    
470 Substituted for the text “(a) Information to be provided by promoters, major shareholders (other than a body corporate), 

proposed directors and proposed chief executive of the NBFC and Investment Company 

 

1.  Curriculum Vitae/Resume containing:  

 A Name: (former name if any):  

 B Father’s or Husband Name: 

 C C.N.I.C # / Passport # (In case of foreign nationals) –(attach copy)  

 D Latest photograph  

 E Nationality:  

 F Age:  

 G Contact details:  

  i) Residential address:  

  ii) Business address:  

  iii) Tel: 

  iv) Mobile: 

  v) Fax: 

  vi) E-mail: 

 G National Tax Number:  

 H Present occupation:  

 470[i Details of Academic and Professional Qualifications: (Attach Copy).  Board of Directors of NBFC shall ensure 

verification of credentials and degrees of the Chief Executive] 

 J Trainings 

 K Experience:  

Position held during the last ten years (along with name and address of company/institution/ body where 

appointment held, nature of the company/institution/body and dates of appointment). 470[    ] 

2.  Status of directorship        Shareholder                    Nominee                   

Name of the shareholders/ Group of shareholders he is representing 

Nature of directorship     Executive                          Non-executive         

Independent                                         Non-independent                            

Number of shares subscribed or held  _____________________________ 

470[Personal net worth (copy of wealth statement for other than nominee directors of body corporate and 

independent directors)] ______________  

3.  Names of companies, firms, sole proprietorships and other organizations of which the proposed person is a chief 

executive, director, partner, owner, office holder or major shareholder.  

4.  (1) CIB report issued by SBP for the companies, firms, sole proprietorships, etc. where the applicant is interested as 

director (sponsor or major shareholder), chief executive, partner or owner (attach original CIB reports)  

  (2) An undertaking providing details of the following: 

I. Any write off availed from any financial institution during the last five years 

II. Any default of Finance obtained from any financial institution during the last five years. 

III. Placement on ECL during the last five years  

IV. Any conviction from any Court of Law or any plea bargain with NAB during the last ten years 

V. Any write off or default by any related or affiliated person or by any company on whom the applicant or anyone 

closely related to him had an interest as sponsor, major shareholder, director, chief executive, key executives, etc. 

during the last five years 

470[VI.The person and the companies, firms, sole proprietorship etc. where the person is a chief executive, director 

(other than nominee director), owner or partner etc. has no overdue payment of any financial institution.] 

5.  In the case of appointment of directors the date of board of directors’ meeting in which the appointment of proposed 

director was approved. (Attach copy of the minutes of the meeting of the board of directors. If the director is elected, 

then attach a copy of the minutes of the general meeting of the company.) 
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corporate), proposed directors and proposed chief executive:  

 

1.  Personal and Professional Details:  

 a. Name: (former name if any):  

 b. C.N.I.C # / Passport # (In case of foreign nationals) –(attach copy)  

 c. Contact details:  

  i) Address:  

  ii) Mobile: 

  iii) E-mail: 

 d. Present occupation:  

   e. Details of Academic and Professional Qualifications: Board of Directors of NBFC 

engaged in respective form of business shall ensure verification of credentials and 

degrees of the Chief Executive 

 f. Trainings 

 g. Experience and Other Directorships:  

Position and other Directorships held during the last ten years (along with name and 

address of company/institution/body where appointment/directorship held, nature of 

the company/institution/body and dates of appointment/directorship. 

2.  Status of directorship        Shareholder                    Nominee                   

Name of the shareholders/ Group of shareholders he is representing 

Nature of directorship     Executive                          Non-executive         

Independent                                         Non-independent                            

3.  In the case of appointment of directors the date of board of directors’ meeting in which 

the appointment of proposed director was approved. (Attach copy of the minutes of the 

meeting of the board of directors. If the director is elected, then attach a copy of the 

minutes of the general meeting of the company.) 

4.  Names of persons on the board of the NBFC subject to Fit and Proper criteria who are 

related to the applicant. 

 

Signature_________________________________________________________ 

*use additional sheets if required] 

 
471[(b). Information to be provided by a body corporate as promoters and major shareholders: 

                                                                                                                 
6.  Names of persons on the board of the NBFC who are related to the applicant. 

 

Signature_________________________________________________________ 

*use additional sheets if required” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 

471 Substituted for the text “(b)  Information to be provided by a body corporate as promoters and major shareholders of the 

NBFC and Investment Company: 

1. Financial statements for the last three years; 

2. Details of business places; 

471[3. Shareholding details including details of ultimate beneficial owners;] 

4. CIB report of the company and its directors and sponsors; 

471[omitted] 

8. Any substantial adverse verdicts against the Company from any Court of Law during the last ten years 

9. Details of associated companies and subsidiaries; 

471[omitted] 

11. Details of any inquiry, investigation conducted by the Commission or any other regulatory or professional body or 

government  agency during the last five years; and 
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1. Financial statements for the last three years; 

2. Physical Address of business places; 

3. Shareholding details including details of ultimate beneficial owners: 

Explanation. – For the purpose of this clause, the term “ultimate beneficial 

owner” shall have the similar meaning as defined under 123A (Explanation) of the 

Companies Act, 2017. 

4. Any substantial adverse verdicts against the Company from any Court of Law during the 

last ten years 

5. Details of associated companies and subsidiaries; 

6. Details of any inquiry, investigation conducted by any other regulatory or professional 

body or government agency during the last five years; and 

7. Any other information as may be required by the Commission.] 

 

 

                                                                                                                 
12. Any other information as may be required by the Commission.” Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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472[Annexure B 

Affidavit 

Before the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 

 

(On Stamp Paper of Appropriate Value) 

 

I, ________________ son/daughter/wife of _______________________ adult, resident of 

_______________________________________________________________________ and 

holding CNIC/ Passport No. ______________________________ do hereby state on solemn 

affirmation as under:- 

1. That I am eligible for the position of ___________according to the Fit and Proper 

Criteria for the position of _________, annexed to the Non-Banking Finance Companies 

and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008; 

2. That I hereby confirm that the statements made, undertakings provided and the 

information given by me including that required under Schedule IX is correct and that 

there are no facts which have been concealed; 

                                    
472 Substituted for the Annexure B ““Annexure B 

Affidavit 

Before the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 

 

(On Stamp Paper of Appropriate Value) 

 

I, ________________ son/daughter/wife of _______________________ adult, resident of 

_______________________________________________________________________ and holding CNIC/ Passport No. 

______________________________ do hereby state on solemn affirmation as under:- 

 

1. That I am eligible for the position of ___________according to the Fit and Proper Criteria for the position of _________, 

annexed to the Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment & Regulation) Rules 2014. 

2. That I hereby confirm that the statements made, undertakings provided and the information given by me including that 

required under Schedule IX is correct and that there are no facts which have been concealed. 

3. That I have no objection if the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan requests or obtains information about me 

from any third party. 

4. That I undertake to bring to the attention of the Securities Exchange Commission of Pakistan any matter which may potentially 

affect my status for the position of ____________ as per the Fit and Proper Criteria annexed to the Non-Banking Finance 

Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008.   

5. That all the documents provided to Securities Exchange Commission of Pakistan are true copies of the originals and I have 

compared the copies with their respective originals and certify them to be true copies thereof.. 

___________ 

DEPONENT 

 

The Deponent is identified by me 

 

Signature _______________________ 

ADVOCATE 

(Name and Seal) 

 

Solemnly affirmed before me on this ______ day of _____________ at ______________ by the Deponent above named who is 

identified to me by ________________, Advocate, who is known to me personally. 

 

Signature______________________________ 

OATH COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVIT 

(Name and Seal)” vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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3. That I have no objection if the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan requests 

or obtains information about me from any third party; 

4. That I undertake to bring to the attention of the Securities Exchange Commission of 

Pakistan any matter which may potentially affect my status for the position of 

____________ as per the Fit and Proper Criteria annexed to the Non-Banking Finance 

Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008; 

5. That all the documents provided to Securities Exchange Commission of Pakistan are true 

copies of the originals and I have compared the copies with their respective originals and 

certify them to be true copies thereof; 

6. That I have not availed any write off from any financial institution during the last five 

years;  

7. That I have not defaulted against any Finance obtained from any financial institution 

during the last five years;  

8. That I have not been placed on Exit Control List (ECL) during the last five years;  

9. That I have not been convicted from any Court of Law or any plea bargain with National 

Accountability Bureau (NAB) during the last ten years;  

10. I hereby confirm that the companies, firms, sole proprietorship etc. where I am a chief 

executive, director (other than nominee director), major shareholder, owner or partner 

etc. has no overdue loan payment and instalment outstanding towards banks or other 

financial institutions;  

11. I have not been associated with any illegal banking business, deposit taking or financial 

dealings;  

12. Neither I nor companies in which I am a director or major shareholder has defaulted in 

paying taxes as on the date of application;  

13. I have not been a sponsor, director or chief executive of a defaulting cooperative finance 

society or finance company;  

14. I have never been convicted of fraud or breach of trust or of an offence involving moral 

turpitude or removed from service for misconduct;  

15. I have neither been adjudged an insolvent nor has defaulted in making payments, to my 

creditors;  

16. My net-worth is not less than twice the amount to be subscribed by me personally (not 

applicable to a nominee director);  

17. I do solemnly declare that no investigations have been initiated against me by any Law 

Enforcement Agencies.  

 

__________ 
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DEPONENT 

The Deponent is identified by me 

 

Signature _______________________ 

ADVOCATE 

(Name and Seal) 

 

Solemnly affirmed before me on this ______ day of _____________ at ______________ by the 

Deponent above named who is identified to me by ________________, Advocate, who is known 

to me personally. 

 

 

Signature______________________________ 

OATH COMMISSIONER FOR TAKING AFFIDAVIT 

(Name and Seal)] 
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473[Omitted] 
474[Schedule IXA 

 

A. CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO 

[see Regulations 17A] 

 

Items Amount 

Core Capital 

1.1 Fully Paid-up Capital 

1.2 Preference Shares (non-cumulative and convertible into 

ordinary shares)  

1.3 Balance in Share Premium Account 

1.4 Reserve for Bonus Shares 

1.5 General Reserves 

1.6 Statutory Reserve 

1.7 Un-appropriated Profit/(Loss) 

1.8 Sub-Total (1.1 to 1.7) 

 

Less:   

 

 

                                    
473 Deleted Annexure C “(Annexure C) 

Information to be provided by key executives of the NBFC and Investment Company 

1. Position and Grade held by the Executive 

2. Date of assumption of current position (dd/mm/yyyy) 

3. Curriculum Vitae/ Resume containing: 

a) Name (Former name, if any) 

b) Father or husband name 

c) CNIC # / Passport # (In case of foreign nationals) 

d) Nationality 

e) Age 

f) Contact details 

i. Residential address 

ii. Business address 

iii. Telephone 

iv. Mobile 

v. Fax 

vi. Email 

g) National tax number 

h) Education 

i. Academic qualification (HEC verification of all degrees) 

ii. Professional qualification (verification of all degrees) 

i) Trainings 

j) Previous Employment(s) (date-wise) (Verification of antecedents from all previous employers and reasons for any unexplained 

gaps between two employments) 

4. Latest photograph 

5. Has the executive ever been convicted of any offence? If yes, please provide details 

6. Has the executive ever been censured or penalized by any financial regulator (local or foreign)? If yes please give details 

7. Has the executive ever been dismissed from employment? If yes please give details 

8. An undertaking providing details of the following: 

i. Any write off availed from any financial institution during the last five years 

ii. Any default of Finance obtained from any financial institution during the last five years. 

iii. Placement on ECL during the last five years  

iv. Any conviction from any Court of Law and plea bargain with NAB during the last ten years 

(Signature of the concerned official) (Signature and Stamp of Employer)]473 

“vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  

474 Inserted vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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Items Amount 

 

1.9 Intangible Assets 

1.10 Treasury Stock 

1.11 Investment in subsidiaries and strategic investments 

1.12 Any Other exposure in Subsidiaries & strategic 

investments 

1.13 Sub-Total (1.9 to 1.14) 

1.14 Eligible Core Capital (1.8-1.15) 

 

Supplementary Capital 

 

2.1   Revaluation reserves on investments – eligible up to 

50% 

2.2  Sub-ordinated debt  

2.3   Sub-Total (2.1 to 2.3) 

 

Total Capital (1.15 + 2.3) 

 

Capital Adequacy Ratio 

 

4.1  Risk Weighted assets (as per Table B) 

4.2    Minimum Capital Requirement (8% or 10% of Total 

Risk Weighted  Assets as per item 4.1) 

4.3  Total Capital  

4.4    Capital Surplus/(Shortfall) – (4.3 – 4.2) 

4.5    CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO (4.3/4.1x100) 

 

B. Risk Weights On-Balance Sheet Exposure 

 

Sr. 

No. 

Items Book 

Value 

External 

Risk 

Rating 

Risk 

Weights 

Adjusted 

Value 

1 Cash XX  0% xx 

2 Balances with Central Bank XX  0% xx 

3 Deposits with Financial Institutions 

 

 

XX 1 

2 

3 

4,5 and 6 

10% 

35% 

50% 

150% 

xx 

4 Investments in: XX    

 4.1 Government Securities XX  0% xx 

 4.2 Listed equity instruments XX  100% xx 

 4.3 Unlisted equity investments 

(other than those deducted from 

capital) 

XX  150% xx 

 4.4 Debt securities and instruments XX 1 

2 

3 

10% 

35% 

100% 

xx 
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4,5 and 6 150% 

% 

 4.5 Investment in mutual funds XX  100% xx 

 4.6 Placements with FIs XX 1 

2 

3 

4,5 and 6 

20% 

35% 

50% 

150% 

xx 

 4.6 Other investments XX  100% xx 

5 Finance Facility XX    

 5.1 Considered performing XX    

 5.1.1 Fully secured  XX 1 

2 

3 

4,5 and 6 

Unrated 

20% 

50% 

100% 

150% 

100% 

xx 

 5.1.2 Fully or partially 

unsecured 

XX  100% xx 

 5.2 Staff loans  XX  0% xx 

 5.3 Considered non-performing 

(Less amount of provision held) 

XX    

 5.3.1 Finance Facility fully 

secured against liquid, 

mortgaged, pledged and leased 

assets  

XX  100% xx 

 5.3.2 Finance Facility which 

are fully unsecured or partially 

secured against liquid, 

mortgaged, pledged and leased 

assets 

XX  150% xx 

6 Fixed Assets (net of accumulated 

depreciation 

XX  100% xx 

7 Assets deducted from capital i.e.   

intangible assets, investment in 

subsidiary/ strategic investments, 

any other exposure in 

subsidiaries/strategic investments 

and deferred tax assets 

XX  0% xx 

8 Other Assets XX    

 8.1 Deposits & Prepayments XX  100% xx 

 8.2 Accrued Income on Advance XX  100% xx 

 8.3 Accrued Income on Deposits 

Accounts 

XX  100% xx 

 8.4 Accrued Income on 

Government Securities 

XX  0% xx 

 8.5 Accrued Income on 

Investments – Others 

XX  100% xx 

 8.6 Others XX  100% xx 

 Total XX   xx 



187 

 

C. Risk Weights Off-Balance Sheet Exposure 

 

The risk weighted assets of any off balance sheet exposure is calculated first converting it to a 

credit equivalent by multiplying the exposure amount with a credit conversion factor. Then the 

resulting credit equivalent amount is multiplied by the risk weight associated with the 

counterparty as given in Table B above. The following credit conversion factors are associated 

with the off balance sheet items: 

 

Nature of Transaction Credit 

Conversion 

Factor 

Financial & other guarantees 

The obligations which carries the same credit risk as direct extension of credit, 

such as an undertaking to make a payment to a third party in the event that a 

counter party fails to meet a financial obligation or an undertaking to a 

counterparty to acquire a potential claim on another party in the event of default 

by that party.   

100% 

Performance related obligations 

An irrevocable obligation to pay a third party in the event that counterparty fails to 

fulfill or perform a contractual non-monetary obligation, such as completion of 

work at a specified date and delivery of goods etc. This includes issue of 

performance bonds, bid bonds, warranties, indemnities etc. 

75% 

Underwriting commitments 

The commitments which require the underwriter to purchase the securities if the 

issuer failed to sell. 

50% 

Lending/posting of securities as collateral 

The lending or posting of securities as collateral. This includes repurchase/reverse 

repurchase agreements and securities lending/borrowing transaction. 

100% 

Other Off-balance sheet exposure 

(a)  Commitments with certain drawdown 

(b)  Commitments (e.g. undrawn formal standby facilities and credit lines) for 

facilities and credit lines with an original maturity of: 

1. One year or less 

2. Over one year 

(c)  Commitments that can be unconditionally cancelled at any time without 

notice 

 

100% 

 

 

20% 

50% 

0% 

 

D. Rating Grid 

 

Rating Grade 
PACRA/ 

JCR – VIS 

1 

AAA 

AA+ 

AA 

AA- 

2 
A+ 

A 
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Rating Grade 
PACRA/ 

JCR – VIS 

A- 

3 

BBB+ 

BBB 

BBB- 

4 

BB+ 

BB 

BB- 

5 

B+ 

B 

B- 

6 CCC+ and below 

] 
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475[SCHEDULE – X 

                                    
475 Substituted for Schedule X “475[SCHEDULE – X 

[see Regulation 25] 

 

(a) For all Financing Facilities Other Than Micro Finance 

Classification Determinant Treatment of income Provisions to be made 

(1) (2) (3) (4) 

OAEM Where installment, mark-up, 

interest, profit or principal is 

overdue by 90 days or more 

from the due date. 

Unrealized mark-up, 

interest or profit to be 

put in Suspense 

Account and not to be 

credited to Income 

Account except when 

realized in cash. 

 

Substandard. Where installment, mark-up, 

interest, profit or principal is 

overdue by 180 days or more 

from the due date. 

 

As above Provision of 25% of the difference resulting from 

the outstanding balance of principal against the 

facility less the amount of Liquid Assets 

realizable without recourse to a Court of Law and 

adjusted FSV of mortgaged, pledged, leased or 

collaterally held assets as valued by valuers 

fulfilling prescribed eligibility criteria, in 

accordance with the requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

Doubtful. Where installment, mark-up, 

interest, profit or principal is 

overdue by one year or more 

from the due date. 

 

As above. 

 

 

Provision of 50% of the difference resulting from 

the outstanding balance of principal against the 

facility less the amount of Liquid Assets 

realizable without recourse to a Court of Law and 

adjusted FSV of mortgaged, pledged, leased or 

collaterally held assets as valued by valuers 

fulfilling prescribed eligibility criteria, in 

accordance with the requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

Loss. Where installment, mark-up, 

interest, profit or principal is 

overdue by one and half year 

or more from the due date.  

 

(b) Where financial 

instruments discounted are not 

paid or adjusted within 180 

days of the due date. 

As above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As above. 

Provision of 100% of the difference resulting 

from the outstanding balance of principal against 

the facility less the amount of Liquid Assets 

realizable without recourse to a Court of Law and 

adjusted FSV of mortgaged, pledged, leased or 

collaterally held assets as valued by valuers 

fulfilling prescribed eligibility criteria, in 

accordance with the requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

 

(b) For Micro Finance Portfolio 

Classification Determinant Treatment of income Provisions to be made 

(1) (2) (3) (4) 

OAEM (Other Assets 

Especially Mentioned) 

Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, profit 

or principal is overdue 

by 30 days or more 

from the due date. 

Unrealized mark-up, 

interest or profit to be 

put in Suspense Account 

and not to be credited to 

Income Account except 

when realized in cash. 

No provision is required 
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[see Regulation 25] 

 

(a) For Housing Finance and Financing to Small Enterprises 

Classification Determinant Treatment of income Provisions to 

 be made 

(1) (2) (3) (4) 

OAEM Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, 

profit or principal 

is overdue by 90 

days or more from 

the due date. 

Unrealized mark-up, 

interest or profit to be 

put in Suspense Account 

and not to be credited to 

Income Account except 

when realized in cash. 

 

Substandard. Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, 

profit or principal 

is overdue by 180 

days or more from 

the due date. 

 

As above Provision of 25% of the 

difference resulting from the 

outstanding balance of 

principal against the facility 

less the amount of Liquid 

Assets realizable without 

recourse to a Court of Law 

and adjusted FSV of 

                                                                                                                 
Sub-standard Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, profit 

or principal is overdue 

by60 days or more 

from the due date. 

Unrealized mark-up, 

interest or profit to be 

put in Suspense Account 

and not to be credited to 

Income Account except 

when realized in cash. 

Provision of 25% of the difference 

resulting from the outstanding balance of 

principal against the Finance less the 

amount of Liquid Assets realizable 

without recourse to a Court of Law and 

adjusted FSV of mortgaged, pledged, 

leased or collaterally held assets as valued 

by valuers fulfilling prescribed eligibility 

criteria, in accordance with the 

requirements provided in Regulation 25. 

 

Doubtful Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, profit 

or principal is overdue 

by 90 days or more 

from the due date. 

Unrealized mark-up, 

interest or profit to be 

put in Suspense Account 

and not to be credited to 

Income Account except 

when realized in cash. 

Provision of 50% of the difference 

resulting from the outstanding balance of 

principal against the Finance less the 

amount of Liquid Assets realizable 

without recourse to a Court of Law and 

adjusted FSV of mortgaged, pledged, 

leased or collaterally held assets as valued 

by valuers fulfilling prescribed eligibility 

criteria, in accordance with the 

requirements provided in Regulation 25. 

Loss Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, profit 

or principal is overdue 

by 180 days or more 

from the due date. 

Unrealized mark-up, 

interest or profit to be 

put in Suspense Account 

and not to be credited to 

Income Account except 

when realized in cash. 

Provision of 100% of the difference 

resulting from the outstanding balance of 

principal against the Finance less the 

amount of Liquid Assets realizable 

without recourse to a Court of Law and 

adjusted FSV of mortgaged, pledged, 

leased or collaterally held assets as valued 

by valuers fulfilling prescribed eligibility 

criteria, in accordance with the 

requirements provided in Regulation 25. 

 

Note: Classified finance facilities, loans or advances that have been guaranteed by the Government would not require 

provisioning; however markup, interest or profit on such accounts shall be taken to suspense account instead of income account.] 

“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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Classification Determinant Treatment of income Provisions to 

 be made 

mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as 

valued by valuers fulfilling 

prescribed eligibility criteria, 

in accordance with the 

requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

Doubtful. Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, 

profit or principal 

is overdue by one 

year or more from 

the due date. 

 

As above. 

 

 

Provision of 50% of the 

difference resulting from the 

outstanding balance of 

principal against the facility 

less the amount of Liquid 

Assets realizable without 

recourse to a Court of Law 

and adjusted FSV of 

mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as 

valued by valuers fulfilling 

prescribed eligibility criteria, 

in accordance with the 

requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

Loss. Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, 

profit or principal 

is overdue by one 

and half year in 

case of small 

enterprise finance 

and two years in 

case of Housing 

Finance or more 

from the due date.  

 

(b) Where 

financial 

instruments 

discounted are not 

paid or adjusted 

within 180 days of 

the due date. 

As above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As above. 

Provision of 100% of the 

difference resulting from the 

outstanding balance of 

principal against the facility 

less the amount of Liquid 

Assets realizable without 

recourse to a Court of Law 

and adjusted FSV of 

mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as 

valued by valuers fulfilling 

prescribed eligibility criteria, 

in accordance with the 

requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

 

(b) For Micro Finance Portfolio 

Classification Determinant Treatment of 

income 

Provisions to be made 

(1) (2) (3) (4) 
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Classification Determinant Treatment of 

income 

Provisions to be made 

OAEM (Other 

Assets Especially 

Mentioned) 

Where 

installment, 

mark-up, 

interest, profit 

or principal is 

overdue by 30 

days or more 

from the due 

date. 

Unrealized mark-

up, interest or 

profit to be put in 

Suspense Account 

and not to be 

credited to Income 

Account except 

when realized in 

cash. 

No provision is required 

Sub-standard Where 

installment, 

mark-up, 

interest, profit 

or principal is 

overdue by 60 

days or more 

from the due 

date. 

Unrealized mark-

up, interest or 

profit to be put in 

Suspense Account 

and not to be 

credited to Income 

Account except 

when realized in 

cash. 

Provision of 25% of the 

difference resulting from the 

outstanding balance of principal 

against the Finance less the 

amount of Liquid Assets 

realizable without recourse to a 

Court of Law and adjusted FSV 

of mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as 

valued by valuers fulfilling 

prescribed eligibility criteria, in 

accordance with the 

requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

Doubtful Where 

installment, 

mark-up, 

interest, profit 

or principal is 

overdue by 90 

days or more 

from the due 

date. 

Unrealized mark-

up, interest or 

profit to be put in 

Suspense Account 

and not to be 

credited to Income 

Account except 

when realized in 

cash. 

Provision of 50% of the 

difference resulting from the 

outstanding balance of principal 

against the Finance less the 

amount of Liquid Assets 

realizable without recourse to a 

Court of Law and adjusted FSV 

of mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as 

valued by valuers fulfilling 

prescribed eligibility criteria, in 

accordance with the 

requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

Loss Where 

installment, 

mark-up, 

interest, profit 

or principal is 

overdue by 

180 days or 

more from the 

due date. 

Unrealized mark-

up, interest or 

profit to be put in 

Suspense Account 

and not to be 

credited to Income 

Account except 

when realized in 

cash. 

Provision of 100% of the 

difference resulting from the 

outstanding balance of principal 

against the Finance less the 

amount of Liquid Assets 

realizable without recourse to a 

Court of Law and adjusted FSV 

of mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as 
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Classification Determinant Treatment of 

income 

Provisions to be made 

valued by valuers fulfilling 

prescribed eligibility criteria, in 

accordance with the 

requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

 

Note: Classified finance facilities, loans or advances that have been guaranteed by the 

Government would not require provisioning; however, markup, interest or profit on such 

accounts shall be taken to suspense account instead of income account. 

 

(c). For all Financing Facilities Other than Micro Finance, Housing Finance and 

Financing to “small enterprises” 

 

Classification Determinant Treatment of 

income 

Provisions to be made 

(1) (2) (3) (4) 

Substandard Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, 

profit or principal 

is overdue by 90 

days or more from 

the due date. 

Unrealized mark-

up, interest or 

profit to be put in 

Suspense 

Account and not 

to be credited to 

Income Account 

except when 

realized in cash. 

Provision of 25% of the difference 

resulting from the outstanding 

balance of principal against the 

facility less the amount of Liquid 

Assets realizable without recourse 

to a Court of law and adjusted FSV 

of mortgaged, pledged, leased or 

collaterally held assets as valued by 

valuers fulfilling prescribed 

eligibility criteria, in accordance 

with the requirements provided in 

Regulation 25.  

Doubtful. Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, 

profit or principal 

is overdue by 180 

days or more from 

the due date. 

 

As above. 

 

 

Provision of 50% of the difference 

resulting from the outstanding 

balance of principal against the 

facility less the amount of Liquid 

Assets realizable without recourse 

to a Court of Law and adjusted 

FSV of mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as valued 

by valuers fulfilling prescribed 

eligibility criteria, in accordance 

with the requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

Loss. Where installment, 

mark-up, interest, 

profit or principal 

is overdue by one 

year or more from 

the due date.  

As above. 

 

 

 

 

 

Provision of 100% of the difference 

resulting from the outstanding 

balance of principal against the 

facility less the amount of Liquid 

Assets realizable without recourse 

to a Court of Law and adjusted 
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Classification Determinant Treatment of 

income 

Provisions to be made 

(b) Where financial 

instruments 

discounted are not 

paid or adjusted 

within 180 days of 

the due date. 

 

 

 

 

As above. 

FSV of mortgaged, pledged, leased 

or collaterally held assets as valued 

by valuers fulfilling prescribed 

eligibility criteria, in accordance 

with the requirements provided in 

Regulation 25. 

 

Note: Moreover, in case the exposure is covered against guarantee issued by an 

NBFC engaged exclusively in the business of issuance of guarantees and the NBFC 

continues to make regular payments as per agreed repayment schedule on behalf of 

the borrower post guarantee call, no classification or provisioning shall be 

required.] 
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476[SCHEDULE – XI 

                                    
476 Substituted for Schedule-XI “[SCHEDULE – XI 

[see Regulation 25] 

 

Uniform criteria for determining the value of assets held as collateral 

 

(a) Only Liquid Assets, leased assets, pledged stocks and property having registered or equitable mortgage (where NOC for 

creating further charge has not been issued by NBFC) shall be considered for taking benefit for provisioning. The aforesaid assets 

having pari-passu charge shall be considered on proportionate basis of the outstanding amount; 

 

(b) Hypothecated assets and assets with second charge or floating charge shall not be considered; 

 

(c) Valuations of leased assets, pledged stocks and mortgaged properties shall be carried out by an independent professional 

evaluator listed on the panel of evaluators maintained by the Pakistan Banks’ Association; 

 

(d) The evaluators while assigning any values to the leased assets, pledged stocks and mortgaged properties held as collateral, 

shall take into account all relevant factors affecting the salability of such assets including any difficulty in obtaining their 

possession, their location, their condition and the prevailing economic conditions in the relevant sector, business or industry. The 

realizable value of mortgaged, pledged and leased assets determined by the evaluators must take into account the amount that can 

be realized from the asset if sold in a forced or distressed sale condition. The evaluators shall in their report explain the 

assumptions, calculations, formula and method adopted in determination of the realizable values; 

 

(e) The realizable values of leased assets, pledged stocks and mortgaged properties determined by the evaluators shall be subject 

to verification by the external auditors, who may reject cases of valuation, which in their opinion - 

 

(i) do not appear to have been professionally carried out and values determined are unreasonable, or 

 

(ii) are not backed by valid documentation of mortgage, pledge or leased assets and are not supported by legal opinion wherever 

required. 

 

(f) The categories of liquid assets, pledged stock, leased assets and mortgaged property to be considered for valuation along with 

discounting factors to be applied would be as under (Apart from the following, no other assets shall be taken into consideration): 

 

i)  Liquid Assets: 

Valuation of Liquid Assets shall be determined by the NBFC itself and verified by the external auditors. However, in the case of 

pledged shares of listed companies, value should be taken at market value as per active list of Stock Exchange(s) on the balance 

sheet date. Moreover, valuation of shares pledged against Financing shall be considered only if these have been placed Central 

Depository Company of Pakistan (CDC), otherwise these will not be admissible for deduction as liquid assets while determining 

required provisions. 

 

ii)  Leased assets and mortgaged properties: 

 

The value of the leased assets and mortgaged properties to be considered for provisioning purpose shall be the FSV and the FSV 

once determined, shall remain valid for three years from the date of the valuation during which period the leased and mortgaged 

assets will not be revalued for provisioning purpose. Also the adjustment factors of 80%, 70% and 50% shall be applied on the 

value so determined for the purpose of determining provisioning requirement in 1st, 2nd and 3rd year of valuation, respectively.  

Thereafter, the leased and mortgaged assets shall be revalued and the adjustment factor of 50% shall be applied for all subsequent 

years. 

 

The FSV of leased and mortgaged assets shall be restricted to fresh revaluation or previous value, whichever is less. In case of 

NBFCs, licensed by the Commission to undertake housing finance services, FSV once determined, shall remain valid for a period 

of ten years from the date of valuation and an adjustment factor of 70% shall be applied on the value so determined for the 

purpose of determining provisioning requirement in respect of housing finance for the said period. 

 

Except for a Housing Finance Company, if a valuation is older than three years, a fresh re-valuation shall be carried out failing 

which the valuation shall be taken as nil. 

 

(iii)  Pledged stocks 

 

The value of the pledged stocks of perishable and non-perishable goods to be considered for provisioning purpose shall be the 
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[see Regulation 25] 

Uniform criteria for determining the value of assets held as collateral 

 

(a) Only Liquid Assets, leased assets, pledged stocks, plant & machinery with exclusive/first 

pari passu charge and property having registered or equitable mortgage (where NOC for 

creating further charge has not been issued by NBFC) shall be considered for taking 

benefit for provisioning. The aforesaid assets having pari-passu charge shall be 

considered on proportionate basis of the outstanding amount; 

 

(b) Hypothecated assets and assets with second charge or floating charge shall not be 

considered; 

 

(c) Valuations of leased assets, pledged stocks, plant & machinery with exclusive/first pari 

passu charge and mortgaged properties shall be carried out by an independent 

professional evaluator listed on the panel of evaluators maintained by the Pakistan Banks’ 

Association; 

 

(d) The evaluators while assigning any values to the leased assets, pledged stocks and 

mortgaged properties held as collateral, shall take into account all relevant factors 

affecting the salability of such assets including any difficulty in obtaining their 

possession, their location, their condition and the prevailing economic conditions in the 

relevant sector, business or industry. The realizable value of mortgaged, pledged and 

leased assets determined by the evaluators must take into account the amount that can be 

realized from the asset if sold in a forced or distressed sale condition. The evaluators shall 

in their report explain the assumptions, calculations, formula and method adopted in 

determination of the realizable values; 

 

(e) The realizable values of leased assets, pledged stocks and mortgaged properties 

determined by the evaluators shall be subject to verification by the external auditors, who 

may reject cases of valuation, which in their opinion - 

 

(i) do not appear to have been professionally carried out and values determined are 

unreasonable, or 

(ii) are not backed by valid documentation of mortgage, pledge or leased assets and are 

not supported by legal opinion wherever required. 

 

(f)  The categories of liquid assets, pledged stock, leased assets and mortgaged property to be 

considered for valuation along with discounting factors to be applied would be as under 

(Apart from the following, no other assets shall be taken into consideration): 

                                                                                                                 
FSV. In case of pledged stocks, FSV provided by evaluators should not be more than six months old at each balance sheet date. 

The goods should be perfectly pledged, the operation of the godown(s) or warehouse(s) should be in the control of the NBFC and 

regular valid insurance for the benefit of the NBFC, premium payment receipts and other documents should be available. In case 

of perishable goods, the evaluator should also give the approximate date when these are expected to be of no value. The NBFC 

shall receive monthly stock statements and conduct quarterly inspections of the pledged goods. 

 

(g) Non-performing Finance against which security or in case of lease, additional security is not available, or where mortgaged, 

pledged or leased assets have not been valued and verified by external auditors, such Finance shall continue to be classified and 

provided for according to the time-based criteria prescribed in Schedule X.]476 

“ vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  
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(i) Liquid Assets: 

Valuation of Liquid Assets shall be determined by the NBFC itself and verified 

by the external auditors. However, in the case of pledged shares of listed 

companies, value should be taken at market value as per active list of Stock 

Exchange(s) on the balance sheet date. Moreover, valuation of shares pledged 

against Financing shall be considered only if these have been placed Central 

Depository Company of Pakistan (CDC), otherwise these will not be admissible 

for deduction as liquid assets while determining required provisions. 

 

(ii) Leased assets, plant & machinery with exclusive/first pari passu charge and 

mortgaged properties: 

 

The value of the leased assets, plant & machinery with exclusive/first pari passu 

charge and mortgaged properties to be considered for provisioning purpose shall 

be the FSV and the FSV once determined, shall remain valid for three years from 

the date of the valuation during which period the leased plant & machinery with 

exclusive/first pari passu charge and mortgaged assets will not be revalued for 

provisioning purpose. Also, the adjustment factors of 80%, 70% and 50%in case 

of leased and mortgaged assets and 30%, 20% and 10% for plant & machinery 

with exclusive/first pari passu charge shall be applied on the value so determined 

for the purpose of determining provisioning requirement in 1st, 2nd and 3rd year 

of valuation, respectively.  Thereafter, the assets shall be revalued and the 

adjustment factor of 50% in case of leased and mortgaged assets and 10% in case 

of plant & machinery with exclusive/first pari passu charge shall be applied for all 

subsequent years. 

 

The FSV of leased and mortgaged assets shall be restricted to fresh revaluation or 

previous value, whichever is less. In case of NBFCs, licensed by the Commission 

to undertake housing finance services, FSV once determined, shall remain valid 

for a period of ten years from the date of valuation and an adjustment factor of 

70% shall be applied on the value so determined for the purpose of determining 

provisioning requirement in respect of housing finance for the said period. 

 

Except for a Housing Finance Company, if a valuation is older than three years, a 

fresh re-valuation shall be carried out failing which the valuation shall be taken as 

nil. 

 

(iii) Pledged stocks 

 

The value of the pledged stocks of perishable and non-perishable goods to be 

considered for provisioning purpose shall be the FSV. In case of pledged stocks, 

FSV provided by evaluators should not be more than six months old at each 

balance sheet date. The goods should be perfectly pledged, the operation of the 

godown(s) or warehouse(s) should be in the control of the NBFC and regular 

valid insurance for the benefit of the NBFC, premium payment receipts and other 

documents should be available. In case of perishable goods, the evaluator should 

also give the approximate date when these are expected to be of no value. The 

NBFC shall receive monthly stock statements and conduct quarterly inspections 
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of the pledged goods. 

 

(f) Non-performing Finance against which security or in case of lease, additional security is 

not available, or where mortgaged, pledged or leased assets have not been valued and 

verified by external auditors, such Finance shall continue to be classified and provided 

for according to the time-based criteria prescribed in Schedule X.] 
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[Schedule- XII 

[see Regulation 21 

 

Borrower’s Basic Fact Sheets (Corporate, Partnerships and Sole Proprietorships) -  

 

Date of Request. __________ 

 

(TO BE COMPLETED IN CAPITAL LETTERS OR TYPEWRITTEN) 

 

1. Borrower’s profile:  

Name Address 

  

Phone# Fax 

# 

Email Address 

Office Res.   

National Identity Card # National 

Tax # 

Sales Tax 

# 

               

Import Registration 

# 

Export Registration 

# 

Date of Establishment  Date of opening of 

A/C 

    

 

2. Details of directors/owners/partners: 

Name Address 

  

Phone# Fax 

# 

Email Address 

Office Res.   

National Identity Card # National Tax # 

              

Shareholding Amount % of Shareholding 

   

 

3. Management: 

A) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS/PARTNERS: 

Name Address NIC # Phone # 

1.    

2.    

B) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS/PARTNERS: 

Name Address NIC # Phone # 

1.    

2.    

 

4. Corporate status: 

Sole Proprietorship Partnership Public/Private Company 

   

5. Nature of business: 
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Industrial Commercial Agricultural Services Any other 

     

 

6. Requested limits: 

 Amount Tenor 

Fund Based   

Non-Fund Based   

 

7. Business handled/effected with all financial institutions during the last accounting year  

Imports Exports Remittances effected (if any) 

   

 

8. Existing limits and status: 

 

Amount Expiry date 

Status 

Regular Amount over-due (if 

any) 

Fund Based     

Non-Fund 

Based  

    

 

9. Any write-off, rescheduling/restructuring availed during the last three years: 

Name of 

Financial 

Institution 

Amount during 1st year Amount during 2nd 

year 

Amount during 3rd year 

Write-

off 

Rescheduled/ 

restructured 

Write-

off 

Rescheduled/ 

restructured 

Write-

off 

Rescheduled/ 

restructured 

       

 

10. Details of prime securities mortgaged/pledged: 

A) AGAINST EXISTING FACILITIES: 

Name of 

Financial 

Institution 

Nature of 

Security 

Total Amount Rank of 

Charge 

Net Realizable 

Value 

1.     

2.     

B) AGAINST REQUESTED/FRESH/ADDITIONAL FACILITIES: 

Name of Financial 

Institution 

Nature of Security Total Amount Net Realizable Value 

1.    

2.    

 

11. Details of secondary collateral mortgaged/pledged: 

A) AGAINST EXISTING FACILITIES: 

Name of 

Financial 

Institution 

Nature of 

Security 

Total Amount Rank of 

Charge 

Net Realizable 

Value 

1.     

2.     
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B) AGAINST REQUESTED/FRESH/ADDITIONAL FACILITIES: 

Name of Financial 

Institution 

Nature of Security Total Amount Net Realizable Value 

1.    

2.    

 

12. Credit rating (where applicable): 

Name Of Rating Agency Rating 

  

 

13. Details of associated concerns (as defined in ordinance): 

Name of Concern Name of Directors Shareholding % of Total shares 

capital 

    

 

14. Facilities to associated concerns by the concerned FI: 

Name of 

concern 

Nature & 

Amount of 

limit 

Outstanding 

as on -------- 

Nature & 

Value of 

Securities 

Overdues Defaults 

      

 

15. Details of personal guarantees provided by the directors/partners etc. to FIs to secure 

credit: 

Names of 

the 

Guarantors 

Institutions/ 

persons to  

whom 

Guarantee 

given 

Amount 

of 

Guarantee 

Validity 

Period 

NIC # NTN Net-worth 

       

 

16. Dividend declared (amount) during the last three years:  

During 1st Year During 2nd Year During 3rd Year 

   

 

17. Share prices of the borrowing entity: 

Listed Companies Break-up value of 

the Shares in case 

of Private Limited 

Company 

Current Price Preceding 12 

Months Average 

   

18. Net-worth (particulars of assets owned in their own names by the 

directors/partners/proprietors): 

Owner’s Name Particulars of 

Assets 

Market Value Particulars of 

Liabilities 

    

19. Details of all over dues (if over 90 days): 

Name Of Financial Institution Amount 
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20. Details of payment schedule if term loan sought. 

 

21. Latest Audited Financial Statements as per requirement of Regulation 21(3) to be 

submitted with the LAF (Loan Application Form). 

 

22. Memorandum and Articles of Association, By-laws etc. to be submitted by the Borrower 

along with the request. 

 

 

I certify and undertake that the information furnished above is true to the best of my knowledge. 

 

 

                

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S/BORROWER’S         

SIGNATURE & STAMP    

 

 

COUNTER SIGNED BY: 

 

 

      

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE & STAMP 

(NBFC OFFICIAL)”. 
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Borrower’s basic fact sheet – for individuals (other than micro financing) 

 

Date of Request __________ 

 

(TO BE COMPLETED IN CAPITAL LETTERS OR TYPEWRITTEN) 

 

1. Borrower’s profile:  

Name Address 

  

Phone# Fax # Email Address 

Office Res.   

National Identity Card # National Tax # 

              

Father’s Name Father’s National Identity Card # 

              

 

2. References (at least two): 

Name Address 

  

Phone# Fax # Email Address 

Office Res.   

National Identity Card # National Tax # 

              

 

3. Nature of business/profession:  

Industrial Commercial Agricultural Services Any other 

     

 

4. Existing limits and status: 

 Amount Expiry 

date 

Status 

Regular Amount over-

due (if any) 

Amount rescheduled/ 

restructured (if any) 

Fund Based      

Non-Fund Based       

 

5. Requested limits: 

 Amount Tenor 

Fund Based   

Non-Fund Based   

 

6. Details of payment schedule if term loan sought. 

 

7. Latest Income Tax Form or Wealth Statement to be submitted by the Borrower. 

 

I certify and undertake that the information furnished above is true to be best of my knowledge 
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___________________________________________________ 

APPLICANT’S SIGNATURE & STAMP     

COUNTER SIGNED BY: 

 

__________________________________________________ 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE & STAMP (NBFC OFFICIAL) 

Signature & Stamp of concerned official 

use additional sheet if required 
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UNDERTAKING 

(Poor Person and Micro Enterprises) 

 

I ----------------------------- S/O, D/O, W/O ------------------------------- holder of CNIC --------------

----- , undertake that the detail of my existing exposure from Micro Financing NBFCs, 

Microfinance Banks, other micro finance institutions and other financial institutions as on---------

------ is as under: 

Details of Finance availed 

 

Sr # Name of the MFB/MFI/other 

financial Institutions 

Type of Finance Outstanding Amount 

    

    

    

 Total Exposure   

 

Signature:____________________________ 

Name of Applicant: ____________________ 

CNIC # _____________________________ 

Date: _______________________________ 

 

]477 

                                    
477 Substituted for the entire Schedule XII vide SRO 1160(I)/2015 dated 25 November 2015 
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478[Schedule- XIIA 

                                    
478 Substituted for Schedule-XIIA “478[Schedule- XIIA 

 

Code of Corporate Governance for Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies 

see Regulation 34 

 

[These requirements are in addition to any other applicable requirements regarding directors, CEO, composition of board etc.] 

 

Independent and Non-Executive Directors 

 

1.  The independent directors of a Non-bank Microfinance Company (NBMFC) shall not be less than two members or one third 

of the total members of the board, whichever is higher. 

[To be complied with by NBMFCs latest by the date of next election of directors becoming due after date of notification of the 

amendments to the Regulations] 

 

Conflict of Interest 

 

2.  A director and chief executive of an NBMFC shall not be a director, consultant, advisor or an employee of any other NBMFC 

or institution engaged in a similar business in Pakistan. 

 

3.  The chief executive and board of an NBMFC shall disclose to stakeholders, how many family members are sitting on the 

board, key positions held and any other such potential conflicting interests in the organization.  

 

4.  The board of an NBMFC shall develop policy to prevent conflict of interest in their capacity as members of the board as well 

as for senior management and other employees as approved by the board. The conflict-of-interest policy should be reviewed at 

least annually. An NBMFC shall put in place a formal code of conduct that promotes ethical culture in the company. 

 

Women Director 

 

5.  While NBMFCs are encouraged to have more female representation on their board, the board shall have at least one female 

director.   

 

Orientation and Training  

 

6.  All Directors should receive orientation on the operations of the NBMFC and training on their fiduciary roles, responsibilities 

and liabilities as board members. 

 

7.  Board development sessions should be conducted at least once a year with a certificate awarded to the participants. 

 

Board Meetings 

 

8.  Board shall hold regular meetings; at least once in every quarter of a year and more frequently, where required.      

 

9.  In order to strengthen and formalize decision-making process, significant issues shall be placed for the information, 

consideration and decision of the board of directors and/or its committees.  List of significant issues is attached as Appendix-A. 

 

Board Level Committees 

 

10.  NBMFCs shall establish Audit Committee, comprising at least three non-executive directors. The chairperson of the 

committee shall be an independent director, who shall not be the chairperson of the board. Preferably at least two members 

having relevant financial/banking expertise and experience must be part of the audit committee.  The audit committee of the 

NBMFC shall meet at least once every quarter of the financial year. A meeting of the audit committee shall also be held, if 

requested by the external auditors, head of internal audit or by chairman of the audit committee. The board of every company 

shall determine the terms of reference of the audit committee.  

 

11.  There shall be a Human Resource and Remuneration (HR&R) Committee of at least three members comprising a majority of 

non-executive directors. The CEO may be included as a member of the committee but not as the chairperson of committee. The 

CEO, if member of HR&R Committee, shall not participate in the proceedings of the committee on matters that directly relate to 

his/her performance and compensation. The committee shall meet at least once in a financial year and may meet more often if 

requested by a member of the board, or committee itself or the chief executive officer and the head of human resource or any 
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other person appointed by the board may act as the secretary of the committee. The terms of reference of committee shall be 

determined by the board.  

 

12.  There shall also be Risk Management Committee of the board constituted to supervise overall risk management functions of 

the institution. It will decide the policy and strategy for integrated risk management containing various risk exposures of the 

institutions.  The Committee would review policies and guidelines for identification, measurement, monitoring and control for all 

major risk categories. The Board shall determine terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee.  

 

Internal Audit 

 

13.  There shall be an internal audit function in every NBMFC. The NBMFC shall ensure that head of internal audit is suitably 

qualified, experienced and conversant with the company's policies and procedures. The head of internal audit shall functionally 

report to the audit committee and administratively to the chief executive officer and his performance appraisal shall be done 

jointly by the chairman of the audit committee and the chief executive officer.  

 

14.  No director on the Board, shall be appointed, in any capacity, in the internal audit function of the company. The Board shall 

ensure that the internal audit team comprises experts of relevant disciplines in order to cover all major heads of accounts 

maintained by the NBMFC. 

 

15.  The internal audit function, wholly or partially, may be outsourced by the NBMFC to a professional services firm or be 

performed by the internal audit staff of holding company and in lieu of outsourcing, the NBMFC shall appoint or designate a 

fulltime employee other than chief financial officer, as head of internal audit holding suitable qualification, to act as coordinator 

between firm providing internal audit services and the board. 

 

16.  While outsourcing the function, the NBMFC shall not appoint its existing external auditors or any of its associated company 

or associated undertaking, as internal auditors. 

 

17.  NBMFCs shall ensure that internal audit reports are provided for the review of external auditors. The auditors shall discuss 

any major findings in relation to the reports with the audit committee, which shall report matters of significance to the board. 

 

External Auditor 

 

18.  An NBMFC shall appoint as external auditors, a firm of auditors, which has been given a satisfactory rating under the 

Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and registered with Audit Oversight Board 

of Pakistan under section 36I of the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan Act, 1997 (XLII of 1997). 

 

19.  An NBMFC shall not appoint as external auditors, a firm of auditors, which or a partner of which is non-compliant with the 

International Federation of Accountants' Guidelines on Code of Ethics, as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

Pakistan.  

 

20.  No NBMFC shall appoint its external auditors to provide services in addition to audit except in accordance with the 

applicable laws or any other regulatory requirement and shall require the auditors to observe and confirm compliance with the 

applicable International Federation of Accountants guidelines in this regard. 

 

21.  An NBMFC shall ensure that the auditors do not perform management functions or make management decisions, 

responsibility for which remains with the Board and management of the company. 

 

22.  No NBMFC shall appoint a person as an external auditor who is a close relative (spouse, parents, dependents and non-

dependent children) of the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, the head of internal audit, the company secretary or 

a director of the NBMFC. It shall also be ensured that no person involved in the audit of the NBMFC is a close relative of these 

office holders of the NBMFC. 

 

23.  A NBMFC shall require the external auditors to furnish a management letter to its board and any matter deemed significant 

by the external auditor shall be communicated in writing to the board prior to the approval of the audited accounts / financial 

statements by the board.   

 

24.  An NBMFC shall change its external auditors every five years. 

 

Related Party Transactions 

 

25.  The details of all related party transactions shall be placed periodically before the Audit Committee of the company and upon 
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Code of Corporate Governance for Lending NBFCs including Non-Bank Micro Finance 

Companies 

see Regulation 34 

 

[These requirements are in addition to any other applicable requirements regarding directors, 

CEO, composition of board etc.] 

 

Independent and Non-Executive Directors 

1. The independent directors of a Lending NBFC including Non-bank Microfinance 

Company (NBMFC) shall not be less than 479[one] members or one third of the total 

members of the board, whichever is higher. [To be complied with by Lending NBFCs 

other than NBMFCs latest by the date of next election of directors becoming due after date 

of notification of the amendments to the Regulations] 

 

Conflict of Interest 

 

2. A director and chief executive of a Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall not be a 

director, consultant, advisor or an employee of any other Lending NBFC including 

NBMFC or institution engaged in a similar 480[form of] business in Pakistan. 

                                                                                                                 
recommendations of the audit committee the same shall be placed before the board for review and approval. 

 

 

Appendix-A to Schedule XIIA 

 

i. Annual business plan, cash flow projections, forecasts and strategic plan;  

ii. Budgets including capital, manpower and overhead budgets, along with variance analyses; 

iii. Matters recommended and/or reported by the committees of the board; 

iv. Update on the conflict of interest policy and issues arisen in relation thereof; 

v. Quarterly operating results of the organization as a whole and in terms of its operating divisions or business segments; 

vi. Internal audit reports, including cases of fraud, bribery, corruption, or irregularities of a material nature, management letter 

issued by the external auditors; 

vii. Policies or amendment to policies such as Credit Policy, Risk Management, Human Resource Management, Procurement of 

goods and services, Environment and Social Management etc., rule or regulation, enforcement of an accounting standard having 

material effect and such other matters as may have a material effect on the NBMFC; 

viii. Status and implications of any law suit or proceedings of material nature, filed by or against the NBMFC; 

ix. Any show cause, demand or prosecution notice received from revenue or regulatory authorities; 

x. Failure to recover material amounts of loans, advances, and deposits made by NBMFC, if such a failure to recover for a single 

transaction or in aggregate has a material impact on the NBMFC; 

xi. Any significant accidents, dangerous occurrences and instances of pollution and environmental problems involving the 

NBMFC; 

xii. Significant public or product liability claims made or likely to be made against the NBMFC, including any adverse judgment 

or order made on the conduct of the NBMFC or of another organization that may have a material negative bearing on NBMFC. 

xiii. Report on governance, risk management and compliance issues. Risks considered shall include reputational risk and shall 

address risk analysis, risk management and risk communication; 

xiv. Review of specific Social Performance impact to analyze fulfillment of social targets and to ensure that social performance 

issues are identified as components of the NBMFC’s strategic and business plans. 

xv. The CEO shall immediately bring before the board, as soon as it is foreseen that the organization will not be in a position of 

meeting its obligations on any loans (including penalties on late payments and other dues, to a creditor, bank or financial 

institution or default in payment of any liability) or any other debt instrument. Full details of the failure to meet obligations shall 

be provided in the NBMFC’s quarterly and annual financial statements. 

 

Vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023 
479 Substituted for the word “two” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 

480 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 



209 

 

3. The chief executive and board of a Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall disclose to 

stakeholders, how many family members are sitting on the board, key positions held and 

any other such potential conflicting interests in the organization. 

 

4. The board of a Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall develop policy to prevent 

conflict of interest in their capacity as members of the board as well as for senior 

management and other employees as approved by the board. The conflict-of-interest policy 

should be reviewed at least annually. A Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall put in 

place a formal code of conduct that promotes ethical culture in the company. 

 
481[4A The chairman and the CEO shall not be the same person] 

 

Women Director  

 

5. 482[Lending NBFC except NBMFCs shall have at least one female director on their board.   

 Provided that, NBMFCs shall have at least two female directors on their board, one of whom shall 

be the independent director] 

 

Orientation and Training 

 

6. All Directors should receive orientation on the operations of the Lending NBFC including 

NBMFC and training on their fiduciary roles, responsibilities and liabilities as board 

members. 

 

7. Board development sessions should be conducted at least once a year with a certificate 

awarded to the participants. 

 

Board Meetings 

 

8. Board shall hold regular meetings; at least once in every quarter of a year and more 

frequently, where required. 

 

9. In order to strengthen and formalize decision-making process, significant issues shall be 

placed for the information, consideration and decision of the board of directors and/or its 

committees. List of significant issues is attached as Appendix-A. 

 

Board Level Committees 

 

10. Lending NBFCs including NBMFCs shall establish Audit Committee, comprising at least 

three non-executive directors. The chairperson of the committee shall be an independent 

director, who shall not be the chairperson of the board. Preferably at least two members 

having relevant financial/banking expertise and experience must be part of the audit 

                                    
481 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
482 Substituted for the words “While Lending NBFC including NBMFCs are encouraged to have more female representation on 

their board, the board shall have at least one female director.” vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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committee. The audit committee of the Lending NBFCs including NBMFC shall meet at 

least once every quarter of the financial year. A meeting of the audit committee shall also 

be held, if requested by the external auditors, head of internal audit or by chairman of the 

audit committee. The board of every company shall determine the terms of reference of the 

audit committee. 

11. There shall be a Human Resource and Remuneration (HR&R) Committee of at least three 

members comprising a majority of non-executive directors. The CEO may be included as a 

member of the committee but not as the chairperson of committee. The CEO, if member of 

HR&R Committee, shall not participate in the proceedings of the committee on matters 

that directly relate to his/her performance and compensation. The committee shall meet at 

least once in a financial year and may meet more often if requested by a member of the 

board, or committee itself or the chief executive officer and the head of human resource or 

any other person appointed by the board may act as the secretary of the committee. The 

terms of reference of committee shall be determined by the board. 

12. There shall also be Risk Management Committee of the board constituted to supervise 

overall risk management functions of the institution. It will decide the policy and strategy 

for integrated risk management containing various risk exposures of the institutions. The 

Committee would review policies and guidelines for identification, measurement, 

monitoring and control for all major risk categories. The Board shall determine terms of 

reference of the Risk Management Committee. 

 

Internal Audit 

13. There shall be an internal audit function in every Lending NBFC including NBMFC. The 

Lending NBFC including NBMFC shall ensure that head of internal audit is suitably 

qualified, experienced and conversant with the company's policies and procedures. The 

head of internal audit shall functionally report to the audit committee and administratively 

to the chief executive officer and his performance appraisal shall be done jointly by the 

chairman of the audit committee and the chief executive officer. 

14. No director on the Board, shall be appointed, in any capacity, in the internal audit function 

of the company. The Board shall ensure that the internal audit team comprises experts of 

relevant disciplines in order to cover all major heads of accounts maintained by the 

Lending NBFC including NBMFC. 

15. The internal audit function, wholly or partially, may be outsourced by the Lending NBFC 

including NBMFC to a professional services firm or be performed by the internal audit 

staff of holding company and in lieu of outsourcing, the Lending NBFC including NBMFC 

shall appoint or designate a fulltime employee other than chief financial officer, as head of 

internal audit holding suitable qualification, to act as coordinator between firm providing 

internal audit services and the board. 

16. While outsourcing the function, the Lending NBFC including NBMFC shall not appoint its 

existing external auditors or any of its associated company or associated undertaking, as 

internal auditors. 

17. Lending NBFCs including NBMFCs shall ensure that internal audit reports are provided 

for the review of external auditors. The auditors shall discuss any major findings in 

relation to the reports with the audit committee, which shall report matters of significance 

to the board. 

 

External Auditor 
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18. A Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall appoint as external auditors, a firm of 

auditors, which has been given a satisfactory rating under the Quality Control Review 

program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and registered with Audit 

Oversight Board of Pakistan under section 36I of the Securities and Exchange Commission 

of Pakistan Act, 1997 (XLII of 1997). 

19. A Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall not appoint as external auditors, a firm of 

auditors, which or a partner of which is non-compliant with the International Federation of 

Accountants' Guidelines on Code of Ethics, as adopted by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Pakistan. 

20. No Lending NBFC including NBMFC shall appoint its external auditors to provide 

services in addition to audit except in accordance with the applicable laws or any other 

regulatory requirement and shall require the auditors to observe and confirm compliance 

with the applicable International Federation of Accountants guidelines in this regard. 

21. A Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall ensure that the auditors do not perform 

management functions or make management decisions, responsibility for which remains 

with the Board and management of the company. 

22. No Lending NBFC including NBMFC shall appoint a person as an external auditor who is 

a close relative (spouse, parents, dependents and non-dependent children) of the chief 

executive officer, the chief financial officer, the head of internal audit, the company 

secretary or a director of the Lending NBFC including NBMFC. It shall also be ensured 

that no person involved in the audit of the Lending NBFC including NBMFC is a close 

relative of these office holders of the Lending NBFC including NBMFC. 

23. A Lending NBFC including NBMFC shall require the external auditors to furnish a 

management letter to its board and any matter deemed significant by the external auditor 

shall be communicated in writing to the board prior to the approval of the audited accounts 

/ financial statements by the board. 

24. A Lending NBFC including an NBMFC shall change its external auditors every five years. 

 

Related Party Transaction  

25. The details of all related party transactions shall be placed periodically before the Audit 

Committee of the company and upon recommendations of the audit committee the same 

shall be placed before the board for review and approval. 

 

Appendix-A to Schedule XIIA 

i. Annual business plan, cash flow projections, forecasts and strategic plan; 

ii. Budgets including capital, manpower and overhead budgets, along with variance 

analyses;  

iii. Matters recommended and/or reported by the committees of the board; 

iv. Update on the conflict of interest policy and issues arisen in relation thereof;  

v. Quarterly operating results of the organization as a whole and in terms of its operating 

divisions or business segments;  

vi. Internal audit reports, including cases of fraud, bribery, corruption, or irregularities of a 

material nature, management letter issued by the external auditors;  

vii. Policies or amendment to policies such as Credit Policy, Risk Management, Human 

Resource Management, Procurement of goods and services, Environment and Social 

Management etc., rule or regulation, enforcement of an accounting standard having 

material effect and such other matters as may have a material effect on the Lending NBFC 
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including NBMFC;  

viii. Status and implications of any law suit or proceedings of material nature, filed by or 

against the Lending NBFC including NBMFC;  

ix. Any show cause, demand or prosecution notice received from revenue or regulatory 

authorities 

x. Failure to recover material amounts of loans, advances, and deposits made by Lending 

NBFC including NBMFC, if such a failure to recover for a single transaction or in 

aggregate has a material impact on the Lending NBFC including NBMFC;  

xi. Any significant accidents, dangerous occurrences and instances of pollution and 

environmental problems involving the Lending NBFC including NBMFC;  

xii. Significant public or product liability claims made or likely to be made against the 

Lending NBFC including NBMFC, including any adverse judgment or order made on the 

conduct of the Lending NBFC including NBMFC or of another organization that may have 

a material negative bearing on Lending NBFC including NBMFC. 

xiii. Report on governance, risk management and compliance issues. Risks considered shall 

include reputational risk and shall address risk analysis, risk management and risk 

communication; 

xiv. Review of specific Social Performance impact to analyze fulfillment of social targets 

and to ensure that social performance issues are identified as components of the NBMFC’s 

strategic and business plans. 

xv. The CEO shall immediately bring before the board, as soon as it is foreseen that the 

organization will not be in a position of meeting its obligations on any loans (including 

penalties on late payments and other dues, to a creditor, bank or financial institution or 

default in payment of any liability) or any other debt instrument. Full details of the failure 

to meet obligations shall be provided in the Lending NBFC’s including NBMFC’s 

quarterly and annual financial statements. 

] 
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483[“Schedule XIIAB 

(Borrowers Fact Sheet for the lending NBFCs engaged in Digital Lending) 

See Regulation 21(10) 

1. For the consumer loans;  

Personal Information;  

a) Name of the applicant  

b) Fathers Name  

c) Computerized National Identity Card Number (CNIC) 

d) CNIC expiry date 

e) Address (Residential/Business)  

f) Contact Details (Personal/Business) 

g) Email Address  

Reference Details (at least two): 

a) Name  

b) Contact Details  

c) CNIC Number  

d) Address  

Financing request:  

a) Amount  

b) Tenor  

c) Product category (i.e BNPL, Nano lending, EWA, Education finance etc.  

d) Purpose of the financing 

Existing credit exposure:  

a) Name of credit institution  

b) Loan Amount  

c) Outstanding Balance  

d) Maturity Date 

 

2. For the business loans;  

Business Information;  

a) Name of the Business:  

b) Address:  

c) Phone Number  

d) CNIC# of owner/CEO 

e) National Tax Number (if applicable)  

f) Business Type:  

(i) Manufacturing  

(ii) Agricultural  

(iii) Services 

(iv) Commercial  

(v) Any other  

g) Registration Status;  

                                    
483 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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(i) Sole proprietorship  

(ii) Partnership  

(iii) Single Member Company 

(iv) Private/Public Company  

Management Information;  

a) Name  

b) Address 

c) Status (i.e Director/CEO/Sponsor) 

d) Contact Number  

Financing request:  

a) Amount  

b) Fund based/ non-fund based 

c) Tenor  

d) Purpose of the financing 

Existing credit exposure;  

a) Name of credit institution  

b) Loan Amount  

c) Outstanding Balance 

Type of financing (i.e running financing, asset financing, 

operating/financial lease etc)”;]  
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“SCHEDULE XIII 

[See Regulation 67B(v)&(vi)] 

 

CONTENTS OF FINANCIAL REPORTS OF PENSON FUNDS 

 

1. General. 

 

(a) Annual report must contain all the information required in this Schedule. Interim 

reports must at least contain the statement of asset and liabilities and the 

investment portfolio. 

(b) All reports must contain comparative figures for the previous period except for 

the investment portfolio. 

(c) The items listed under the statement of assets and liabilities, income statement, 

statement of movements in reserves and the notes to the accounts, where 

applicable, must be disclosed. It is, however, not mandatory to adopt the format as 

shown or to disclose the items in the same order. 

(d) All the statements and accounts referred hereunder should be prepared in 

conformity with the International Accounting Standards notified under sub-

section (3) of section 234 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984, and technical 

releases issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan from time to 

time; 

484[(e) In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, annual Shariah Review Report, as required 

under regulation 23(2) of the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023, shall also 

form part of annual report.] 

 

2. Statement of assets and liabilities. The following must be separately disclosed for each 

sub-fund, namely,- 

 

(a) total value of investments; 

(b) bank balances; 

(c) preliminary and floatation costs; 

(d) dividends and other receivables; 

(e) bank loan and overdrafts or other forms of borrowings; 

(f) amounts payable on withdrawal requests; 

(g) total value of all assets; 

(h) total value of all liabilities; 

(i)    net asset value; 

(j)     number of units issued per sub-fund; 485[  ] 

(k) net asset value per unit of each sub-fund separately 486[; and] 
487[(l)  In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, details of any Shariah-non-compliant asset 

                                    
484 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

485 Deleted the word “and” Vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

486 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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or liability as on reporting date, if any, along-with the reasons and justifications.] 

 

3. Income statement.-In the income statement, the following information shall be provided 

to the Commission, namely:  

 

(a) total investment income net of tax, if any, broken down by category; 

(b) total other income, broken down by category; 

(c) an itemized list of various costs which have been debited to the pension fund 

including- 

 

(i) fees paid to the Pension Fund Manager;  

(ii) remuneration of the trustee;  

(iii) amortization of formation costs;  

(iv) safe custody and bank charges;  

(v) auditor's remuneration;  

(vi) borrowing expenses;  

(vii) other amounts paid to any connected person of the pension fund;  

(viii) legal and other professional fees; and 

(ix)     any other expense borne by the pension fund;  

 

(d) taxes; 488[  ] 

(e) amounts transferred to and from reserves 489[;  
490[(f)  In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, details of any Shariah-non-compliant 

income, if any, along-with its treatment.] 

 

4. Statement of movements in reserves.-  In the statement of movements in reserves the 

following information shall be provided to the Commission, namely:-  

(a)      value of the pension fund as at the beginning of the period;  

(b)      number of units issued in each sub-fund and the amount received upon such 

issuance;  

(c)      number of units withdrawn from each sub-fund and the amount paid thereon;  

(d)      any item resulting in an increase or decrease in value of the pension fund 

including-  

 

(i) surplus or loss on sale of investment;  

(ii) exchange gain or loss;  

(iii) unrealized appreciation or diminution in value of investment; and  

(iv) net income for the period less distribution;  

(e)      amounts transferred to and from the revenue account; and  

(f)      value of the pension fund as at the end of the period.  

 

5. Note to the accounts.-   The following matters shall be set out in the notes to the 

                                                                                                                 
487 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

488 Deleted the word “and” vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

489 Substituted for the full stop (.) vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
490 Inserted vide SRO 600 (I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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accounts, namely:-  

 

(a)     principal accounting policies:  

 

(i)      the basis of valuation of the assets of the pension fund including the basis 

of valuation of unquoted and unlisted securities;  

(ii)   the revenue recognition policy regarding dividend income and other 

income;  

(iii)    foreign currency translation, if any;  

(iv)    the basis of amortization of formation costs;  

(v)    taxation; and  

(vi)    any other accounting policy adopted to deal with items which are judged 

material or critical in determining the transactions.  

 

Note. - Any changes to the above accounting policies and their financial effects upon the 

accounts should also be disclosed;  

 

(b)      disclosure of transactions with connected persons ;-  

 

(i)   details of all transactions entered into during the period between the 

pension fund and the management company, or any entity in which these 

parties or their connected persons have a material interest; and  

 

(ii)    name of any director of the management company of any connected 

person if such person becomes entitled to profits from transactions in 

shares or from management of the pension fund and the amount of profits 

to which such person becomes entitled.  

 

(c)     borrowings,-  

(i)     state whether the borrowings are secured or unsecured and the duration 

of the borrowings;  

(ii)     contingent liabilities and commitments of the pension fund; and 

(iii)  if the free negotiability of any asset is restricted by statutory or 

contractual requirements, this must be stated. 

 
491[(d)  In case of Shariah-Compliant Scheme, policies with respect to such standards of 

Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions 

(AAOIFI) or any other standard setting organization as notified by the 

Commission.] 

 

6. Contents of the auditors' report.-    The report of the auditor should state,- 

 

(a) whether in the auditor's opinion, the accounts prepared for that period have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the relevant provisions of the trust deed and 

the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; 

                                    
491 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(b) without prejudice to the foregoing, whether in the auditor's opinion, a true and fair 

view is given of the disposition of the pension fund at the end of the period and of 

the transactions of the pension fund of the period then ended; 

(c) whether the allocation and reallocation of units of the sub-funds for all the 

participants have been made according to the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 

2005; 

(d) whether the cost and expenses debited to the pension fund are as specified in the     

constitutive documents of the pension fund; 

(e)  if the auditor is of opinion that proper books and records have not been kept by 

the pension fund or the accounts prepared are not in agreement with the pension 

fund's books and records, that fact; and 

(f) if the auditor has failed to obtain all the information and explanations which, to 

the best of his knowledge and belief, are necessary for the purpose of the audit, 

that fact. 

7.    Investment portfolio.-  Information regarding investment portfolio should state, - 

 

(a) number or quantity of each holding together with the description and market value 

; 

(b) the total investment stated at cost; 

(c) the value of each holding as a percentage of net asset value and paid up capital of 

that company whose securities are owned; and 

(d) statement of movements in portfolio holdings i.e. purchased and sold during the 

period, since the end of the preceding accounting period. 

8.    Performance table.-  The following information shall be provided to the Commission, 

namely :- 

 

(a) a comparative table covering the last five financial years and including, for each 

financial year, at the end of the financial year,- 

(i) total net asset value in each sub-fund; and 

(ii) net asset value per unit in each sub-fund; and 

 

(b) a performance record over the last ten financial years; or if the pension fund has 

not been in existence during the whole of that period in which it has been in 

existence, showing the highest and lowest issue price of the units during each of 

those years. 
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492[9.  Actuarial Valuation Report in case of Pension Annuity Fund containing at least the 

following information, namely: - 

 

(1)  The basis on which actuarial data has been computed. 

(2)  Actuarial methodology. 

(2)  Mortality rates used as prescribed by the Pakistan Society of Actuaries. 

(3)  Morbidity rates used which are duly justified by the actuary. 

(4)  Valuation rates of interest used by actuary which rate shall be subject to review by 

the Pakistan Society of Actuaries from time to time and any other parameters, that 

are taken into account.;] 

 

                                    
492 Inserted vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 
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493[Schedule- XIIIA 

 

Minimum Housing Finance Underwriting Standards for Housing Finance 

 

see Regulation 28(e)(x) 

 

Standard 1: Role of the NBFC’s Board 

 

The board of directors shall establish and oversee a housing finance underwriting policy aligned 

with the NBFC’s risk governance framework, its risk tolerances and limits, and its overall risk 

appetite and strategy. The policy shall articulate the NBFC’s business strategy and approach to 

housing finance underwriting, and shall be reviewed by the board annually. 

 

The board shall seek periodical reporting from the NBFC’s oversight functions to properly 

monitor and evaluate effectiveness of lending policies and procedures, risks, and to ensure that 

individual housing finance transactions comply with the underwriting policy and the risk 

tolerances. At a minimum, the board should expect semi-annual reports on the NBFC’s housing 

finance loan portfolio including reporting on concentrations and aggregate exceptions to policy. 

 

Standard 2: Housing finance Underwriting Policy  

 

A NBFC’s housing finance underwriting policy shall ensure that its mortgage portfolio is aligned 

with its risk appetite and strategy, and that its products meet the needs of its borrowers without 

introducing undue risk to the NBFC or over-indebtedness to its borrowers by:  

 

o granting housing finance on the evidence of safety and soundness;  

o maintaining complete documentation;  

o maintaining quality data; and  

o ensuring adequate oversight and regular reporting of housing finance underwriting risks.  

 

The housing finance underwriting policy shall establish limits to the level of risk the NBFC is 

willing to accept in its housing finance portfolio. The policy shall take into account the NBFC’s 

risk appetite, strategy, oversight capabilities, and the product needs of its borrowers. The policy 

shall be aimed at minimizing defaults and losses to the NBFC and reducing likelihood of 

borrower over-indebtedness, through sound underwriting practices during the underwriting 

process.  

 

A housing finance underwriting policy shall document:  

 

o housing finance product offerings;  

o acceptable underwriting and acquisition standards, criteria and limits for all housing 

finance products (such as loan-to-value (LTV) ratios, amortization, credit scores and debt 

service ratios);  

o risk management practices and processes;  

o clearly defined roles and responsibilities for those administrating the policy;  

                                    
493 Inserted vide SRO 1605 (I)/2021 dated 14 December 2021 
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o any loan above a policy limit as an exception to policy with clear direction on how the 

exception to policy is approved, monitored and reported;  

o acceptable portfolio concentration limits;  

o frequency of loan and collateral reviews; and  

o frequency of reports to oversight functions including the board.  

 

As part of implementation, the NBFC shall ensure that effective control and reporting systems 

are developed and maintained. Identification, measurement, monitoring and reporting of risks 

in the housing finance loan portfolio occur on an ongoing basis. 

 

Standard 3: Prudent Underwriting Practices  

 

In granting a housing finance, the NBFC shall assess the borrower’s income, history of 

repayment, and the affordability of the loan to ensure there is no undue debt burden to the 

borrower and also to minimize risk of default to the NBFC.  

 

A housing finance is considered safe if the risk of loss is minimal or immaterial in the event 

of a payment default. The soundness of a housing finance loan is determined through a 

thorough evaluation of the borrower’s ability to repay the loan. Both safety and soundness are 

equally important to the underwriting process.  

 

I. Income Verification of the Borrower 

 

A NBFC shall duly verify the identity of the borrower through biometric verification and 

shall meet KYC requirements. It shall verify the borrower’s income including 

substantiation of the borrower’s employment status and income history. The borrower’s 

underlying income shall be verified through an employment letter or another reliable and 

documented source, and reliable and documented income history. This includes:  

 

o verification through independent means from a source that is difficult to falsify;  

o documentation that does not contradict other information provided during the 

underwriting process; and  

o documentation that matches the amount of income used by the NBFC in its 

assessment of the borrower’s debt service capacity.  

 

Inconsistent incomes shall be appropriately valued and, if necessary, suitably discounted. 

In case of borrowers who are self-employed or who have irregular sources of income, 

additional due diligence through third-party verification of historical income should be 

carried out. For rental income, documentation shall be collected to substantiate income, 

such as a lease/rent agreement, rent receipts or tax assessment.  

 

II. Borrower’s History of Repayment  

 

For assessment of a borrower’s reliability to repay, his / her repayment history and stage 

in financial lifecycle should be considered.  

 

i) An NBFC obtains a borrower’s credit information bureau report (ECIB) as one 

indicator of the borrower’s reliability of repayment; the ECIB should not be the sole 
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assessment tool used to determine reliability as it indicates past, not future behaviour, 

or the borrower’s current financial condition.  

ii) A borrower’s financial lifecycle indicates the borrower’s current and future stage of 

financial life. By considering the stage of the borrower’s financial lifecycle, an NBFC 

shall assess whether the housing finance fits the current and future financial 

conditions of the borrower, and the probability of repayment; doing so would assist 

the lender NBFC in assessing an appropriate amortization period when determining 

the conditions of the loan. 

 

III. Borrower’s Capacity to Repay  

 

An NBFC shall determine the borrower’s capacity to repay in order to minimize defaults 

and losses to the NBFC and to minimize the likelihood of borrower over-indebtedness. 

The NBFC and the borrower should have a clear understanding that the housing finance 

meets the needs and financial circumstances of the borrower. Where a loan is offered to a 

borrower on an exception to policy basis, the borrower shall be made aware of that.  

 

In determining a borrower’s capacity, a NBFC shall:  

 

i) determine the borrower’s debt service ratios.  

o the debt service calculations should consider any existing and ongoing financial 

commitments (shelter costs, debt repayments, marital and family contractual 

obligations). The calculations should not rely on long term access to discounted 

introductory rates; and  

o it must be ensured that appropriate buffers and adjustments are in place to account 

for potential changes in interest rates, increases in the borrower’s living expenses 

and/or decreases in the borrower’s income available to service the debt. Interest 

rate buffers should be regularly reviewed to ensure the current buffer is 

appropriate.  

ii) calculate the LTV ratio with an appropriate level of down payment sourced from the 

borrower’s own resources and identifies any other resources available as a secondary 

source of recovery;  

iii) undertake appropriate due diligence on the guarantor or co-signor, where there is a 

guarantor or co-signor supporting the housing finance;  

iv) determine an amortization relative to LTV ratio such that the principal portion of the 

monthly payments is reasonably reducing the NBFC’s exposure to the underlying 

collateral security; and  

v) document any amortization beyond the maximum tenure as an exception to policy 

that is approved, monitored, and reported in accordance with the requirements within 

the NBFC’s housing finance underwriting policy. 
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Standard 4: Collateral Management  

 

The NBFC shall ensure authentication of the property documents and shall conduct the 

verification of the property. It shall obtain legal opinion on title documents and ownership of 

the property. In case of housing finance for construction, opinion from construction expert on 

billing on quantities (BOQ) should be obtained.  

 

In assessing the value of a property, a NBFC shall take a risk-based approach using various 

tools and processes, to protect against unexpected loss, and shall undertake ongoing 

monitoring of the collateral.  

 

Sound collateral management and appraisal practices including a combination of valuation 

tools and appraisal processes shall include: 

 

i) third party appraisal by a professional valuer that is independent from the housing finance 

originator, and the underwriting process (for housing units valuing upto Rs 3 million 

under the low-cost housing scheme, in-house valuation by sufficiently trained staff may 

suffice);  

ii) valuation tools that monitor the ongoing market value of the property;  

iii) property tax assessments; and  

iv) on-site inspection by a qualified employee or appraiser that determines existence, 

occupancy, and condition of the property.  

Collateral should be protected against unexpected loss through provisions within the housing 

finance that includes fire and/or earthquake insurance, where required, against risk of collateral 

damage repairs and replacement.  

Processes should be established to monitor the ongoing effectiveness of any tool used to assess 

the market value of the property. Controls should be in place to ensure that the tools are being 

used appropriately by loan officers and that risk factors that can lead to significant price 

corrections are continually monitored.  

 

Finance securities documents should be complete in order to substantiate a borrower’s 

commitment to the housing finance and to register a claim against the collateral property. A 

NBFC shall establish policies and procedures to ensure loan securities documents are kept safe 

and enforceable. 

 

Standard 5: Documentation  

 

The housing finance underwriting policy of a NBFC, together with complete documentation that 

supports a credit-granting decision, should enable an independent third party conducting a credit 

assessment to replicate all aspects of the underwriting criteria to arrive at the same credit 

decision.  

 

The NBFC shall maintain prudent loan documentation to provide a clear record of credit-

granting decision, support compliance with a NBFC’s housing finance underwriting policies, and 
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permit independent audit and/or review by a NBFC’s risk oversight functions.  

 

Complete documentation of a housing finance approval shall, inter alia, include:  

 

(a) a description of the purpose of the loan;  

(b) verification of the source of down payment;  

(c) verification of income and employment status;  

(d) debt service ratio calculations, including verification documents;  

(e) LTV ratio and confirmation that the LTV is confirmed as the aggregate lending exposure 

to one collateral security;  

(f) property valuation and appraisal;  

(g) ECIB reports and any other credit enquiries;  

(h) purchase and sale agreements, and other collateral supporting documents;  

(i) an explanation of any mitigating criteria for higher credit risk factors; 

(j) a clearly stated rationale for the decision (including exceptions);  

(k) a record of approval for an exception; and  

(l) where required, a record from the housing finance insurer validating approval to insure 

the housing finance.  

 Provided that the underwriting standards provided in this Schedule shall not apply in case 

of the Non-Bank Micro Finance Companies.] 
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SCHEDULE XIV 

[See rule 9(3)(a) of VPS Rules 2005] 

CONTENTS OF THE CONSTITUTIVE DOCUMENT OF THE PENSION FUND 

1. Constitution of the pension fund. 

Name, registered address and place and date of authorization of the pension fund. 

2. Governing law. 

3. Operators and principals. 

The names and registered address of the following parties, where applicable: 

(a) the directors of the company registered as Pension Fund Manager; 

(b) the trustee; 

(c) foreign promoters, if any; 

(d) the distribution company, if any; 

(e) the auditor; 

(f) the legal adviser; and 

(g) the investment advisor, if any. 

4. Characteristics of pension fund. 

The following shall be characteristics of pension fund; namely:- 

(i) eligibility; 

(ii) application procedures; 

(iii) contribution procedures and minimum contribution, if any; 

(iv) individual pension account; 

(v) change of pension fund manager; 

(vi) register of the participants; 

(vii) retirement age; 

(viii) benefits on retirement; 

(ix) withdrawal of funds before retirement; 

(x) benefits on death before retirement; 

(xi) instructions from the participants; 

(xii) the method of determining net asset value of the pension fund; 

(xiii) frequency of valuation of the assets and dealings etc; 

(xiv) unit pricing and the circumstances under which it can change; 

(xv) the mode of announcement of net asset value and unit price; 

(xvi) redemption of units on change of pension fund manager or withdrawal; 

(xvii) the maximum interval between the request for redemption of units and the 

payment of the proceeds; and 

(xviii) withholding tax and tax penalty. 

5. Fees and charges. 

The following must be stated, namely: - 

(a) The maximum upfront fee payable to the Pension Fund Manager out of the 

contributions; 

(b) the maximum fee payable to the Pension Fund Manager as annual management 

fee, expressed as a percentage of the net asset value of the pension fund; 

(c) the level and basis of all other costs, fees and charges payable by a participant. 

(d) remuneration payable to trustee and investment advisor; and 

(e) the level and basis of all other costs, fees and charges, etc., payable out of the 

pension fund. 

6. Investment policy and restrictions. 
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Details of investment policy, including summary of the investment and borrowing 

restrictions. If the nature of the investment policy so dictates, a warning that investment in 

the pension fund is subject to risks, and a description of the risks involved. 

7. Statements and declarations. 

The following shall be the statements and declarations, namely:- 

(a) a statement to specify the participating parties including the Pension Fund 

Manager, trustee and investment advisor; 

(b) a statement of the obligations of the Pension Fund Manager in accordance with 

the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; 

(c) statement of the obligation of the trustees and manner in which the trustee may 

retire in accordance with the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; 

(d) a statement that the trust deed is binding on each participant as if he had been a 

party to it and so to be bound by its provisions and authorizes and requires the 

trustee and the pension fund manager to do as required of them by the terms of the 

deed; 

(e) a declaration that the property of the pension fund is held by the trustee on trust 

for the participants of the pension fund pari passu according to the number of 

units held by each participant in each sub-fund of his individual pension account; 

(f) a statement that the trustee will report to participants in accordance with the 

Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; and 

(g) a statement of the base currency of the pension fund. 

8. A summary of the circumstances in which dealing in pension fund may be deferred or 

suspended. 

9. It must be stated that no money should be paid to any intermediary except the Pension 

Fund Manager or his authorized representative as prescribed. 

10. Distribution restriction policy. 

The distribution restriction policy shall indicate the fact that distribution of dividend shall 

not be allowed under the voluntary pension system. 

11. Taxation. 

Details of exemptions, taxes levied on the pension fund's income, tax penalty and 

withholding tax deductible on early withdrawal of the contributions. 

12. Reports and accounts. 

 The date on which the annual accounting period of the pension fund shall end each year. 

Particulars of the periodic reports to be sent to the participants and the Commission. 

13. Warnings. 

The following statements or warnings must be prominently displayed in the constitutive 

documents, namely: - 

(a) If you are in any doubt about the contents of this constitutive document, you 

should consult your stock-broker, bank manager, legal adviser or other financial 

adviser; and 

(b) a warning that the price of the units of the sub-funds of the pension fund and the 

income from them may go down as well as up. 

14. Transactions with connected persons. 

This must be stated, in accordance with the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; 

15. Termination of pension fund. 

A summary of the circumstances in which, the pension fund can be terminated and 

consequences thereof, in accordance with the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; 

16. Modification of the constitutive documents. 
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A statement of the means by which modifications to the constitutive documents can be 

effected, if any. 

 
494[(17) In the case of a Shariah-compliant pension fund, the trust deed shall include the 

following: 

(a) the pension fund must clearly include the words “Islamic” or “Shariah-compliant” or 

any other nomenclature representing Shariah aspect of the pension fund; 

(b) the object clause shall clearly provide that the pension fund will only indulge in 

Shariah-complaint activities; 

(c) the details of the Shariah governance framework, including institutional arrangements 

to ensure ongoing Shariah compliance, shall be expressly provided; 

(d) manner of constitution of Shariah-supervisory board or appointment of Shariah 

advisor, as provided in the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023.] 

                                    
494 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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SCHEDULE XV 

[see rule 9(5) of VPS Rules, 2005] 

CONTENTS OF THE OFFERING DOCUMENT OF THE PENSION FUND 

 

1.  Introduction of the Pension Fund 

2. Regulatory approval and consent i.e. Registration of the Pension Fund Manager, 

authorization of the pension fund, appointment of the trustee and the registration of 

the trust deed, approval of the offering document and date of start of the public offer 
495[, except in the case of employer pension fund where date of start of public offer 

shall not be required.] 

3. Filing of the offering document 

4. Constitution of the pension fund. 

Name, registered address and place and date of authorization of the pension fund. 

5.  Operators and principals. 

The names and registered address of the following parties, where applicable: 

(a)  the directors of the company registered as Pension Fund Manager; 

(b) the trustee; 

(c) foreign promoters, if any; 

(d) the distribution company, if any; 

(e)  the auditor; 

(f)  the legal adviser; and 

(g) the investment advisor, if any. 

6.  Characteristics of pension fund. 

The following shall be characteristics of pension fund; namely:- 

(i) eligibility; 

(ii)  application procedures; 

(iii) contribution procedures and minimum contribution, if any; 

(iv) individual pension account; 

(v)  change of pension fund manager; 

(vi) change of pension fund 

(vii) register of the participants; 

(viii) retirement age; 

(ix) benefits on retirement; 

(x) withdrawal of funds before retirement; 

(xi) benefits on death before retirement; 

(xii) instructions from the participants; 

(xiii) the method of determining net asset value of the pension fund; 

(xiv) frequency of valuation of the assets and dealings etc; 

(xv) unit pricing and the circumstances under which it can change; 

(xvi)  the mode of announcement of net asset value and unit price; 

(xvii) redemption of units on change of pension fund manager or withdrawal; 

(xviii) the maximum interval between the request for redemption of units and the 

payment of the proceeds; and 

                                    
495 Inserted vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 
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(xix)  withholding tax and tax penalty. 

i7.  Fees and charges. 

The following must be stated, namely: - 

(a) the maximum upfront fee payable to the Pension Fund Manager out of the 

contributions; 

(b) the maximum fee payable to the Pension Fund Manager as annual 

management fee, expressed as a percentage of the net asset value of the 

pension fund; 

(c) the level and basis of all other costs, fees and charges payable by a participant. 

(d)  remuneration payable to trustee and investment advisor; and 

(e) the level and basis of all other costs, fees and charges, etc., payable out of the 

pension fund. 

8.  Investment Policy and Restrictions. 

(a) Investment policy. 

(b) Investment restrictions. 

(c) Participant’s rights in terms of investment choice. 

(d) Risk disclosure. 

(e) Disclaimer. 

9. Change of Pension Fund Manager.- 

The procedure and timing for transfer of the individual pension account to another Pension 

Fund Manager. 

10. Distribution restriction policy.- 

The distribution restriction policy shall indicate the fact that distribution of dividend shall 

not be allowed under the voluntary pension system. 

11. A summary of the circumstances in which dealing in pension fund may be deferred or 

suspended. 

12. It must be stated that no money should be paid to any intermediary except the Pension 

Fund Manager or his authorized representative as prescribed 

13.  Taxation.- 

(a) Detail of tax incentives (tax credit) available to the participants on 

contributions to the pension fund under the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, with 

comprehensive illustrations. 

(b) Detail of tax exemptions on investment income of the pension fund under the 

Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. 

(c) Detail of the tax penalty (withholding tax) in case of early withdrawal or 

withdrawal in excess of the allowable limit as per Income Tax Ordinance, 

2001. 

(d) Details of tax treatment in case of withdrawal after retirement and purchase of 

annuities or income payment plan. 

14. Reports and accounts.- 

a) Annual accounting period of the pension fund. 

b) individual pension account statements/contribution receipts to be issued to the 

participants and details to be stated therein. 

c) periodic reports to be sent to the participant and the Commission and the 

particulars of such reports. 

15. Service to the participants 

(a) Availability of forms. 

(b) Register of the participants. 
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(c) Information in the register of the participants. 

(d) Account statement. 

16. Financial Information 

17.  Warnings. 

18. Complaints 

19.  Transactions with connected persons.- 

This must be stated, in accordance with the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; 

20.  Termination of pension fund.- 

A summary of the circumstances in which, the pension fund can be terminated and 

consequences thereof, in accordance with the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005; 

21.  Modification of the constitutive documents.- 

A statement of the means by which modifications to the constitutive documents can be 

effected, if any. 
496[21a. The underlying Shariah structure, along with a Shariah opinion from a Shariah 

advisor or the Shariah supervisory board of the Islamic Pension Funds registered with 

the Commission, shall be included in the offering document. 

21b. Complete information on the Shariah governance framework, including the name of 

the Shariah advisor or members of the Shariah supervisory board, terms of 

engagement, and manner to ensure Shariah compliance on an ongoing basis. 

21c. Disclosure on seeking approval of the Commission regarding Certificate of Shariah-

compliance under the Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023, read with Section 451 

of the Companies Act, 2017. 

21d. reporting to the participants with respect to key Shariah-compliance issues in annual 

financial statements] 

22.  Definitions 

23. Glossary”. 497 

                                    
496 Inserted vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 

497 Schedules XIII, XIV and XV inserted vide SRO 1068(I)/2021 dated 23 August 2021 
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498[SCHEDULE XVI 

[See Form III Clause 13 of VPS Rules, 2005] 

MINIMUM CONTENTS OF THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN EMPLOYER AND 

PENSION FUND MANAGER 

1.  Name of the parties;  

2.  Introduction of the Pension Fund;  

3.  Seed capital to be invested/arranged;  

4.  Eligibility of employees to participate in the fund;  

5.  Contribution procedures;  

6.  Redemption procedures;  

7.  Benefits on retirements;  

8.  Names/designations of employer personnel/employer committee/employee 

representatives for liaising with the pension fund manager;  

9.  Rights of employer / employer committee / employee representatives to change Pension 

Fund Manager;  

10.  Events that may trigger change of pension fund manager;  

11.  Modes of communication of instructions from the employer;  

12.  Frequency and mode of notification of net asset value of the units of each sub-fund to 

employers / employees / employer committee / employee representatives;  

13.  Performance measurement mechanism;  

14.  Investment parameters;  

15.  Allocation schemes;  

16.  Remuneration of pension fund manager; and  

17.  Confidentiality.  

 

Any other terms and conditions the employers/employees/employee representatives/employer 

committee and the pension fund manager may include subject to the Companies Ordinance, 

1984, the Companies Act, 2017, the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005, the Non-Banking 

Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008, circulars, guidelines and directives 

issued from time to time under the VPS Rules and any other law applicable in this regard. ] 

                                    
498 Inserted vide SRO 297(1)/2024 dated 22 February 2024 
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499[Schedule XVIA 

Application for Permission to provide P2P Services 

(Clause 35B of these Regulations) 

 

1.  Name of Applicant: ___________________________________________________ 

2.  Registration Number:__________________________________________________ 

3.  Date of Incorporation (in case of legal person)______________________________ 

4.  Lending NBFC License Number:_________________________________________ 

5.  Last License Renewal Date:_____________________________________________ 

6.  Details of Business: 

a Head Office Address__________________________________________________ 

b Registered Office Address _____________________________________________ 

7.  Person authorized to make the application: 

a  Name: __________________________________ 

b  Address: ________________________________ 

c  CNIC: __________________________________ 

d  Phone: __________________________________ 

e  Email: __________________________________ 

8.  Names, addresses etc. of Directors: [add list] 

9.  Bank Details: 

a  Bank Name 

b  Branch 

c  Bank Account No. 

d  Type of Bank Account 

10.  Any other information ____________________________________________________ 

11.  Covering letter attached? Yes or No (circle correct answer) 

12.  We have attached all information/documents as required under clause 35A and 35B of 

these regulations. 

__________________ 

For & on behalf of 

[Name], [designation], [contact number] and [official seal] 

Certificate: 

I [add name] and [designation] the applicant certify that the contents of the above application are 

true and to the best of my knowledge and belief.” 

***************************************************************************  

Annexure to Schedule XVIA  

Information to be provided by P2P Service Provider with the Application  

 

1.  The applicant shall submit the following information and documents along with its 

application: 

a.  latest audited annual financial statements of the Lending NBFC; 
500ab Auditor certificate confirming the latest equity position of the Lending NBFC 

b.  certified copy of the corporate authorizations allowing the submission of the 

                                    
499 Inserted vide SRO 807(I)/2022 dated 14 June 2022 
500 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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application; 

c.  names, CNICs, experiences and details of the personnel responsible for 

management and operations of P2P Lending Platform; 

d.  a statement including the procedures with respect to identification of 
501[participants]; 

e.  a statement for the purpose and scope of services, technology, management, or 

operations to be outsourced; 

f.  original challan of non-refundable processing fee of -; 502[Rs. 500,000] and  

2.  The applicant shall prepare a detailed statement in a manner acceptable to the 

Commission which shall contain at least details of the following; 

i.  detail of infrastructure for the provision of services; 

ii.  transaction structure including spreads; 

iii.  details about the services; 

iv.  hardware and software used for the purposes of providing the services; 

v.  Mechanism for Customer Due Diligence and compliance with KYC Policy; 

vi.  terms of use for 503[participants]; 

vii.  policy for recovery; 

viii.  details about data protection, storage etc. 

ix.  details about the security policy, security protocols and testing results; and 

x.  financial projections for 3 years with requisite assumptions; 

(Signature of the concerned official) 

(Name, Designation and Contact Details)” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule XVII 

                                    
501 The words “users substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
502 The  expression “250,000” substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
503 The word “users” substituted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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PERMISSION TO WORK AS P2P SERVICE PROVIDER 

(Clause 35C of the Regulations) 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN 

 

Islamabad, Dated, __________ 

Registration No. ___________ 

 

PERMISSION TO CARRY OUT OR UNDERTAKE PEER TO PEER SERVICES AS 

LENDING NON-BANKING FINANCE COMPANY 

 

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan having considered the application for 

grant of Permission under Regulations 35B of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified 

Entities Regulations, 2008, by* _______________________________ and being satisfied that it 

is eligible for the permission, hereby grants, in exercise of the powers conferred by 35C of the 

Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008, permission to work 

as P2P Service Provider to *__________________________subject to the conditions stated 

herein below or as may be prescribed or imposed hereafter. 

 

 

 

 

Signature of the Officer 

(Official Seal and Stamp) 

*Name of the Company,”] 
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504[“Schedule XVIIA 

Requirements of Information Technology, Cyber Security and Data Protection for P2P Service 

Provider  

[See Regulation 35L(3)] 

 

1. P2P service provider shall ensure that adequate cybersecurity measures and 

controls are in place to ensure confidentiality, integrity and availability of the data and 

information. The controls shall include but not limited to: 

(a) Secure Access Management: - 

(i). Approved policies and procedures for secure access management should 

exist; 

(ii). User account of employees who leave the organization should be 

disabled; 

(iii). Ensure no privileged (admin) user IDs are in use without formal 

approval; 

(iv). Maintain inventory of privileged accounts and review frequency should 

be defined. 

(v). Ensure that access rights review document for application is in place.; 

(vi). Appropriate user creation, modification of rights, revocation of rights 

should be performed and approvals from line manager should be in 

place; and 

(vii). Validate that strong password policy is implemented which covers 

password complexity, minimum length, history and minimum age;  

(b) Perimeter and Network Security: - 

(i). Maintain high level network diagram of mobile application environment 

indicating the location of network devices, app and database servers and 

other components attached; 

(ii). Implement security measures to protect against unauthorized access or 

attacks; 

(iii). Validate that inbound security policies are enabled for in scope 

application environment; 

(iv). Verify from firewall that only trusted users are allowed to access the 

applications; 

(v). Logging and monitoring process on firewall put in place; and 

(vi). Validate the details of Encryption mechanism, TLS version, digital 

certificate on application portal; 

(c) Endpoint, Server and Cloud Security: - 

(i). Verify that versions and patches of all endpoints are updated and 

secured; 

(ii). Ensure that software installation and upgradation rights on 

servers/instance is only limited to the Authorized person; and  

(iii). Ensure that software installation on endpoints should be restricted and 

approved on a need-to-use basis; 

(d) Application Level Security: - 

                                    
504 Inserted vide SRO 2120(I)/2025 dated 11 November 2025 
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(i). Make sure all the components required for the application such as web 

server and other components are updated and running on latest versions; 

(ii). Implementation of Web Application Firewall (WAF) on customer facing 

interfaces should be ensured; 

(iii). Maintain details of the latest VAPT conducted on mobile application 

portal/mobile app, system, and database; 

(iv). Conduct VAPT on the in-scope system, including the mobile application 

portal/mobile app, system, and database; and 

(v). Ensure that API are not using outdated SSL/TLS protocols. 

(e) ata Security: - 

(i). Approved data security policy and procedure should be in place; 

(ii). Ensure that the relevant documentation is maintained and reviewed; 

(iii). Encrypt data at rest (including backups) and in transit using strong and 

non-obsolete cryptographic algorithms; 

(iv). Ensure appropriate measure have been taken to avoid accidental deletion 

or overwrite of data/information; and 

(v). Ensure that the separate channels are being used for storage and 

transmission of critical data. 

(f) Incident surveillance and monitoring: - 

(i). Ensure the policies and procedures are in place for Incident Management 

and Reporting; 

(ii). Ensure that the anomalies are detected and resolved in a timely manner; 

(iii). Ensure that incident management procedure is implemented and 

appropriate reporting matrix is maintained for such incidents; 

(iv). Incident response functions shall be implemented in application system, 

responses to any incident should be documented for record; and 

(v). Ensure that the potential risks and vulnerabilities are identified in a 

timely manner, which could impact business continuity. Moreover, 

ensure reviewal and updating of the risk assessment. 

(g) Patch management: - 

(i). Validate that log of patches deployed are documented; 

(ii). Validate that formal process of approval is in place for patch testing, 

User acceptance testing and migration to production; 

(iii). Approved patch management policies and procedures should be in place; 

(iv). Procedure for approval of tested patches should be defined. UATs of the 

patches should be in segregated environment; and 

(v). Validate that patches are applied on test system first before provisioning 

to live. 

(h) Logging and backups: - 

(i). Validate that policies and procedures are approved and implemented for 

Backup and recovery of in-scope application; 

(ii). Validate that logging is enabled at application, platform, database and 

operating system levels; 

(iii). Validate that log file can’t be modified, even system administrator not 

have access to modify own logs and logs must be secured at directory 

levels; and 

(iv). Frequency of backups should be defined in the system for both 

production and development and the same shall be documented in 

relevant policy. 
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2. P2P service provider shall develop a policy governing mobile Apps’ business 

objectives, standards, compliance, guidelines, controls, responsibilities and liabilities. As 

a principle, the policy shall achieve a balance between the security of Apps, convenience 

and performance. The policy shall at least be revisited annually and/or when a significant 

change is made in the environment; 

3. P2P service provider may develop mobile Apps in-house, through outsourcing or 

by a combined approach. To manage mobile App development projects, P2P service 

provider shall:- 

a) Put in place necessary App documentation including manuals on 

development, testing, training, production, operational administration, 

user guides and Service Level Agreements (SLAs); 

b) Carry out vulnerability assessment, penetration testing and performance 

assessment of mobile Apps to ensure effective and smooth operation, 

before deploying the same in production environment; 

c) Carry out system and User Acceptance Testing (UAT) in an environment 

separate from the production environment; and 

d) Put in place an escrow arrangement in cases where third party vendors 

develop mobile Apps but the source codes are not released to the P2P 

service provider 

4. P2P service provider shall ensure compliance with the requirements relating to 

the mobile App, as provided in Annexure-A to this Schedule; 

5. P2P service provider not be stored on any cloud infrastructure outside the 

jurisdiction of Pakistan; 

6. P2P service provider shall arrange at least once every three years from the date 

approval, IT audits of its IT infrastructure including the platform including but limited to 

web application/mobile application by an independent audit service provider having 

qualified CISA / Certified ISO27001:2013 Lead Auditor certification to check 

compliance with regulatory requirements and shall submit the report to the Commission 

within the three months. 

 

7. P2P service provider shall ensure compliance of all applicable laws in force in 

Pakistan related to cyber security, personal data protection, cloud usage and data privacy; 

and 

 

8. P2P service provider shall solely be responsible for any digital fraud as a result of 

security lapse, operational issues, architecture of the App or any other malfunction of the 

App. 
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Annexure-A of Schedule XVIIA 

A. Architecture of Apps  

(i). P2P service provider shall be responsible for development of a standard 

architecture based on set of security principles, rules, techniques, 

processes, and patterns to design a secure App;  

(ii). The entire development of Apps shall revolve around the architecture 

principles, which can be updated based on the learnings during the 

course of development of application layers (or equivalent) and 

operational usage and consumer feedback; 

(iii). P2P service provider shall ensure that the Apps architecture is robust and 

scalable, commensurate with the application volumes and borrower 

growth. For this purpose, a robust capacity management plan shall be put 

in place to meet evolving demand. 

 

B. Device Registration/Binding  

(i). P2P service provider shall implement a flexible device 

registration/binding functionality using only registered devices to access 

backend servers. 

(ii). The device registration/binding shall preferably be implemented using a 

combination of hardware, software and service information. In case, 

multiple devices are registered by a user: 

a) the user must be notified of every new device registration on the 

registered mobile number, email or phone call; and 

b) P2P Service Providers shall maintain record of all registered devices, 

providing the user a facility to disable a registered device. 

 

C. Authorization and Authentication of the User 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure that explicit customer consent in a 

convenient manner is obtained before allowing registration of Apps; 

(i). A login authentication shall be in place. 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that the access to personal data is 

protected by strong customer authentication mechanism including: 

a) Implementation of multi-factor authentication (MFA) for registration of 

Apps user-account; 

b) Strong and configurable PIN/password/pattern or a biometric credential 

such as face recognition or fingerprint recognition; 

c) Time-based one-time passwords (TOTP) for authentication; 
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d) OTP auto-fetching functionality; The validity of OTP shall not exceed 

more than 120 seconds. 

e) Configure maximum number of failed attempts of authentication after 

which access to the App is blocked; 

f) Maximum duration for termination of inactive mobile service sessions 

shall not exceed thirty minutes; 

g) Ensuring that user authentication shall be processed only at the App 

owner’s server-end; and 

h) Ensure that authentication attempts are logged and monitored to detect 

login anomalies and possible breaches. 

D. Protection of Sensitive Personal Data 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure that sensitive information is not stored 

in a shared store segment with other Apps on mobile devices. It is 

recommended to utilize only the device internal storage, which is 

virtually sandboxed per App or preferably in a container App without 

meddling with other applications or security settings of the mobile 

devices; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that confidential data is deleted from 

caches and memory after it is used and/or uninstalled. Further, P2P 

service provider shall ensure that Apps erase/expire all application-

specific sensitive data stored in all temporary and permanent memories 

of the device during logoff or on unexpected termination of App 

instance. 

(iii). Customer credentials and transactional data shall be encrypted while in-

transit and at rest using strong, internationally accepted and published 

standards for key length, algorithms, cipher suites, digital certificates and 

applicable protocols that are not deprecated/ demonstrated to be insecure/ 

vulnerable; 

(iv). Encryption keys shall only be stored with appropriate robust security 

controls and shall remain in a non-exportable form in a highly secure and 

standard key store. It may be bound to the secure hardware (e.g. Trusted 

Execution Environment, Secure Element for Android or its equivalent on 

any other platform). Further, Key Use Authorization shall be 

implemented, which should not be changed after generation of keys. 

 

E. Network and Interfacing Security 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure to enforce secure communication 

during the session establishment, exchange of data among Apps and 

backend services (including microservices); 

(ii). Transport layer encryption shall be implemented for all communications 

between the Apps and App servers. 

(iii). P2P service provider shall setup their own Trust Manager to avoid 

accepting every unknown certificate. Apps shall use valid certificates 

issued by a trusted certificate authority; 

(iv). Apps shall have inbuilt controls to mitigate bypassing of certificate 

pinning; 

(v). Apps shall cease operations until certification errors are properly 

addressed; 

(vi). P2P service provider shall ensure that Apps must be able to identify new 

network connections and appropriate controls shall be implemented 

under such circumstances; 
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F. Session Management 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure that Apps have automatic user-logoff 

functionality after a configurable idle time-period not exceeding thirty 

minutes; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that Apps have an easy to use and 

clearly visible logoff method; 

(iii). P2P service provider shall ensure that Apps erase/expire all application 

specific sensitive data stored in all temporary and permanent memories 

of the device during logoff or on termination of App instance; 

(iv). P2P service provider shall ensure that a procedure is in place to detect 

multiple simultaneous login attempts and immediately communicate it to 

the concerned user through alternate channels such as callback, SMS, 

email etc. 

 

G. Tampering Detection 

(i). P2P service provider shall implement necessary checks on the server-

side to verify Apps integrity and to detect any manipulation. 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that installation of Apps is not allowed 

on rooted/jail broken devices; 

(iii). P2P service provider shall ensure that Apps are not allowed to run inside 

a debugger/emulator. For this purpose, Apps shall have 

debugger/emulator detections in place. Further, P2P Service Providers 

shall not allow any third party to debug the application during runtime. 

H. App Permissions 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure to restrict data shared with other 

applications on the device through fine-grained permissions; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure to minimize the number of permissions 

requested by the App and ensure that the permissions correlate to 

functionality required for the App to work. Apps shall defer or relinquish 

permissions when the same are no longer needed; 

(iii). Unless for a specific business requirement in accordance with the 

security architecture principles, P2P Service Providers shall not allow 

users to navigate to other Apps, sites or view objects that are not trusted 

and outside of App environment. 

I. Secure Coding 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure that their Apps developers adhere to 

industry accepted secure coding practices and standards; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that security libraries offered by mobile 

operating systems are correctly designed and implemented and that the 

cipher suites they support are sufficiently strong. Accordingly, P2P 

service provider shall only use necessary and secure services, protocols, 

components, and dependent software and hardware, including those 

provided by third parties. 

(iii). P2P service provider shall document all required protocols, services, 

components, and dependent software and hardware that are necessary for 

any functionality of the application. 
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(iv). P2P service provider shall have knowledge of all off-the-shelf 

libraries/modules/components utilized in the development of Apps; 

(v). P2P service provider shall ensure that code signing is used for the Apps 

to confirm the software author and guarantee that the code has not been 

altered or corrupted since it was signed; 

(vi). P2P service provider shall ensure that private key used for code signing 

is generated, securely stored and appropriately backed-up; 

(vii). P2P service provider shall ensure that minification and source code 

obfuscation techniques are used in the Apps; 

(viii). P2P service provider shall ensure to review application code prior to 

release to customers after any significant change, to identify any 

potential coding vulnerabilities; 

(ix). P2P service provider shall verify that apps are not vulnerable to common 

coding vulnerabilities by performing manual or automated penetration 

testing. 

J. Input and Output Handling 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure that any input coming from the client 

that is to be stored in databases is properly validated; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that input and output data is properly 

sanitized and validated at the server and at the client-end; 

(iii). Auto-complete feature shall be disabled for sensitive information such as 

login IDs and passwords; 

(iv). Clipboard/ copy-paste function shall be disabled for sensitive data. P2P 

service provider may also use in-App keypad/ keyboard to capture the 

input from users. 

K. Error and Exception Handling 

(i). Apps shall have a proper error-handling mechanism and all errors shall 

be logged in the server. 

(ii). Sensitive information and/or hints shall not be disclosed in error/warning 

messages and notifications; 

L. Monitoring, Logs and Data Leakage 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure that the App usage behavior is 

maintained and monitored through automated mechanism and deploy 

tools to identify any anomaly in the usage and behavior. The mechanism 

shall integrate with complete process of customer support for verification 

to clear the anomaly for consumer protection; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that Apps logs do not contain any 

sensitive data and where essentially required should be masked such that 

it no longer remains directly constructible in its complete form by 

collating components; 

(iii). The logs shall be stored separately from the application/database servers 

and protected with appropriate access controls; 

(iv). P2P service provider shall implement appropriate security safeguards to 

protect the logs from unauthorized modification or destruction; 

(v). P2P service provider shall ensure that all the ecosystem logs are 

available for audits; 

(vi). P2P service provider shall implement appropriate control to protect 

transactional data/information against any loss or damage; 
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(vii). Server access controls and audit logs shall be maintained at the server 

level as per data retention policy. 

M. App Vulnerability Assessment, Patching and Updating 

(i). P2P service provider shall ensure that the Apps have passed through 

extensive and recursive vulnerability assessment, scan and intrusion tests 

to identify weaknesses in App through both internal and independent 

assessors; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure that the vulnerabilities identified 

during assessment scans, usage of the App or through independent 

identifier sources are fixed and updated to respective platform stores; 

(iii). P2P service provider shall ensure notifying users about update and 

enforce it within a grace period depending upon the criticality of fixes. 

The information about fixes shall be published in App release notes. 

N. Application Programming Interface (APIs) 

In order to establish adequate safeguards to manage the development and 

provision of APIs for secure delivery of third party provided services through 

Apps, P2P service provider shall implement following measures: 

(i). Establish security standards for designing and developing secure APIs 

including measures to protect the API keys or access tokens, which are 

used to authorize access to APIs to exchange confidential data. P2P 

service provider shall define and enforce a reasonable timeframe for 

access token expiry to reduce the risk of unauthorized access; 

(ii). A well-defined vetting process shall be put in place for assessing the 

appropriateness of third parties in connecting to the Apps via APIs, as 

well as governing third-party API access. The vetting criteria shall 

consider third party’s nature of business, security policy, industry 

reputation and track record amongst others; 

(iii). Perform risk assessment before allowing third parties to connect to their 

systems via APIs, and ensure the security implementation for each API is 

commensurate with the sensitivity and business criticality of the data 

being exchanged; 

(iv). Strong authentication and access control mechanism to authorize and 

control access to designated API services in order to safeguard customer 

information; 

(v). Strong encryption standards and key management controls to secure 

transmission of sensitive data through APIs; 

(vi). The P2P service provider shall have the ability to log the access sessions 

by the third party(ies), such as the identity of the third party making the 

API connections, and the data being accessed by them. P2P service 

provider shall ensure to perform a robust security screening and testing 

of the API between the P2P service provider and third party before going 

live; 

(vii). Deploy real-time monitoring and alerting capabilities to ensure visibility 

of the usage and performance of APIs and detect suspicious activities. In 

the event of a breach, measures shall be in place to promptly revoke API 

keys or access tokens; 

(viii). Take steps to handle high volumes of API call requests by legitimate 

applications, and implement measures to mitigate denial-of-service 

attacks while ensuring that these measures are commensurate with the 

criticality and availability requirements of the App. 
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O. Customer Awareness 

(i). The App shall have a visible section/tab/module containing necessary 

legal, regulatory and compliance related information with required 

disclaimers and acknowledgment of facts (such as relating to the extent 

of collection, storage, and disposal of data), rights, responsibilities and 

liabilities of both the borrowers and P2P Service Providers; 

(ii). P2P service provider shall ensure to educate and inform borrowers/users 

clearly about how to access, download, securely use and cease to use the 

Apps within the App interface as well as through official application 

release channels in order to mitigate the risk of running malware-infected 

Apps; 

(iii). P2P service provider shall ensure that a robust remedial process of 

customer support and complaint resolution is defined and implemented 

to address any security incidence albeit targeted, sectoral or global 

related to Apps user(s) or their back-end infrastructure; 

(iv). P2P service provider shall ensure that Apps are hosted only at the 

relevant App platform and shall not be hosted for downloading at App 

owner’s website or the vendor website or any other third-party website; 

(v). P2P service provider shall undertake active awareness campaigns to 

educate customer and internal staff about malicious messages, phishing 

attacks, and spoofing; 

(vi). All of the above information should be in a structured, clear and 

understandable form at least both in English and Urdu languages. 
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505[Schedule – XVIII 

Maintenance of Website Requirements 

See Regulation 37 (2) (r) 

 

An AMCs shall maintain a website containing following minimum information; 

 

(i)  latest financial statements of the CIS; 

(ii)  constitutive documents of the CIS; 

(iii) important notices; 

(iv) information material for products offered by the AMC including NAV of the CIS, 

latest Fund Manager Report etc.;  

(v)  complaint handling mechanism and related details; 

(vi) Expense ratio of CIS under management; 

(vii)  Education material for investors; 

(viii)  SECP investor complaints web address; and”; 

 

                                    
505 Inserted vide SRO 592(I)/2023 dated 17 May 2023  



245 

Schedule XIX 

Investment Restrictions and Prohibitions 

See Regulation 55 

1. A CIS shall not invest in Unlisted Equity Securities unless an application for listing of 

such securities has been accepted by the stock exchange:  

  Provided that a CIS may make total investments in a pre-initial public 

offering (Pre-IPO) up to fifteen percent of its net asset value, subject to the 

investment limits prescribed under these Regulations.   

2. An Asset Management Company shall state in the trust deed and specify in the 

Offering Document of the CIS the type of securities the CIS will invest in and the 

risks associated with such securities. 

3. Subject to clause (4) of this Schedule, exposure of a CIS to any single entity shall not 

exceed an amount equal to ten per cent of total net assets of the CIS, subject to 

following conditions: 

(a). Exposure to equity securities of a company shall not exceed ten percent of 

the issued capital of that company;  

(b). Exposure to any debt issue of a company shall not exceed ten percent of that 

issue. 

  Provided that subject to the conditions prescribed in clauses (a) and (b) 

above the exposure of an equity scheme to any single entity shall not exceed an 

amount equal to ten per cent of the net assets of the Scheme or the index weight of 

the security subject to the limit of fifteen percent, whichever is higher. 

4. Exposure limits for following types of schemes shall be lower of net assets of a 

scheme or issued securities of a company: 

Type of Scheme 

(Fund)  

Maximum limit 

(Equity 

Securities) 

Maximum limit 

(Debt/ Money Market 

Securities or Instruments) 

Shariah 

Compliant/Islamic Fund 

15% 15% of single issue 

Index Funds (tracking 

recognised or approved 

index or its subset) 

weight of security 

in the index or its 

subset 

weight of security in index or its 

subset 

Sector specific fund 20% 20% of a single issue 

Capital Protected Fund or 

Guaranteed Fund  

Per company limit as specified in clause (3) of the 

schedule shall not apply to such percentage of assets 

of the scheme that is placed with a bank or invested 

in such a manner that it will become 100% at 

maturity of the scheme/fund or a guarantee has been 

obtained from the bank for guaranteed fund 

Fund of funds No limit; Provided that the Asset Management 

Company shall not charge management fee if the 

fund invests in the schemes managed by the same 

Asset Management Company. 

 

5.        An Asset Management Company shall not hold twenty five percent or more 

of the voting rights or control of a company on behalf of its CIS; 

6.        An Asset Management Company authorized by the Commission to invest 
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overseas on behalf of CIS shall disclose the same in the Constitutive Document and 

comply with such conditions as specified by the Commission; 

7.        An Asset Management Company shall not invest more than twenty five per 

cent of total net assets of the CIS in securities of any one sector as per classification 

of the stock exchange, provided that the following types of schemes shall follow the 

limits specified below:  

Type of Scheme (Fund) Maximum Per Sector limit 

Equity Funds 30% or index weight whichever is higher, 

subject to maximum of 35% 

Shariah Compliant/Islamic Fund 35% or index weight, whichever is higher, 

subject to maximum of 40% 

Index Funds (tracking recognized or 

approved index or its subset) 

Weight of sector in the index or its subset 

Sector specific fund No limit 

Fund of funds No limit; Provided that the Asset 

Management Company shall not charge 

management fee if the fund invests in the 

schemes managed by the same Asset 

Management Company. 

Capital Protected Fund or Guaranteed 

Fund 

No limit; Provided that such percentage of 

assets of the scheme is placed with a bank 

or invested in such a manner which will 

become 100% at maturity of the scheme or 

a guarantee has been obtained from the 

bank for guaranteed funds.  

Provided that the Commission may specify a higher maximum limit for a specific 

sector. 

8. An Asset Management Company, on behalf of CIS, shall not take Exposure of more 

than,- 

(a) thirty-five per cent of net assets of CIS in any single group; and 

  Explanation: For the purpose of sub-clause (a) of clause (8) of this 

schedule, the term “group” means persons having at least 30% or more 

shareholding in any other company, as per publicly disclosed information; 

(b) ten per cent of net assets of CIS in listed group companies of the asset 

management company and such Exposure shall only be made through the secondary 

market: 

  Provided that an Asset Management Company, on behalf of sector specific 

fund shall not take exposure more than 20% of net asset of CIS in listed group 

companies of the asset management company. 

9. A Closed End Fund may invest in its own certificates or shares up to twenty per cent of 

its issued capital from the secondary market in accordance with the requirements 

specified by the Commission. 

10. The Commission may specify different Exposure limits and parameters for CIS 

depending on its Investment objective and policy. 

11. Where the Exposure of a CIS exceeds the limits specified in clause (3), (4) or (7) of this 

schedule because of corporate actions including taking up rights or bonus issue or due to 

market price increase or decrease in net assets due to redemption the excess Exposure 
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shall be regularized within four months of the breach of limits. 

12. The exposure limits prescribed in clause (8) of this schedule will not be applicable for 

Index Funds, Capital Protected Fund and Fund of Funds or any other category as 

specified by the Commission. 

13. A CIS may invest only in securities, commercial papers, deposit with Financial 

Institutions, place funds with financial institutions, or invest in any other avenues as 

approved by the Commission from time to time. 

14. The exposure limits prescribed under clause (3), (4), (7) and (8) of this schedule will not 

be applicable in case of exposure in securities issued or guaranteed by the Federal 

Government. 

15. The exposure limits prescribed under clause (3), (4), (7) and (8) of this schedule for an 

NBFC exclusively engaged in the business of issuance of guarantees shall be applicable 

to such limit and conditions as may be notified by the Commission. 

16. Subject to clause 17 of this schedule, an Asset Management Company on behalf of a CIS 

managed by it shall not,- 

(a) affect a short sale in a security whether listed or unlisted; 

(b) purchase any security in a forward contract; 

(c) purchase any security on margin; 

(d) apply any part of its assets to commodities or commodity contracts;  

(e) invest in securities of the Asset Management Company;  

(f) invest in any security of a company, if, - 

(i) any director or officer of the Asset Management Company owns more 

than five per cent of the total amount of securities issued by that 

company; or 

(ii) the directors and officers of the Asset Management Company 

collectively own more than ten per cent of those securities: 

   Provided that Clause (15)(f) shall not apply to CIS tracking an 

index or a sub-set of an index; 

(g)    borrow in any form, except with the approval of trustee, for meeting 

redemption request and such borrowing shall not exceed fifteen per cent or such 

other limit as specified by the Commission of the total net asset value of an Open 

End Scheme at the time of borrowing. The maximum period of borrowing shall be 

90 days and any net cash flows during interim period shall be utilized for repaying 

of borrowing:  

   Provided that an Asset Management Company during the interim 

period may invest net cash flows for right issues or may invest during the interim 

period if there is no option in borrowing agreement for early repayment of 

borrowing; 

(h) sell units or issue shares or certificates for consideration other than cash unless 

permitted by the Commission on the basis of structure and investment policy of 

the CIS; 

(i) take Exposure in any other CIS, except for fund of funds or overseas 

investment: 

 Explanation.- For the purpose of this Regulation “fund of funds” means a CIS 

set up with the objective to predominantly invest in the securities of other CIS. 

  Provided that Clause 16(d) shall not apply to shariah compliant CIS 

entering into commodity based contracts as a vehicle; (a) to place funds or; (b) to 

borrow funds to meet redemptions, as referenced in clause 16(g) of this schedule. 
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17. Clause 16 (a),(b),(c) and (d) of this schedule shall not apply to CIS which has an 

investment objective and policy to short-sell, purchase securities on margin and invest in 

commodities or commodity contracts on terms and conditions specified by the Commission. 
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506[Schedule XX 

Expenses Chargeable to CIS and Pension Funds 

See Regulation 60 and 67G 

 

Notwithstanding the generality of Regulations 60(1), 60(2) and 67G, only the following 

fees and charges may be payable from the CIS and Pension Funds, - 

(a) remuneration of the Asset Management Company or the Pension Fund Manager; 

(b) remuneration of trustee or custodian; 

(c) listing fee payable to the stock exchange, in case of CIS, including renewals; 

(d) charges and levies of stock exchange, national clearing and settlement company and 

central depositary company; 

(e) rating fee of CIS payable to approved rating agency; 

(f) auditors’ fees and out of pocket expenses as billed by them; 

(g) fees payable to the Commission; 

(h) formation cost of the CIS not exceeding 1.5 per cent of the net assets at the close of 

initial public offering (IPO) in case of an Open-End Scheme and one percent of the 

paid-up capital in case of a Closed End Fund or ten million rupees whichever is 

lower: 

Provided that in case of Pension Funds formation cost shall not exceed 1.5 

per cent of the seed capital of each Sub-Fund which shall be amortized over a period 

of five years; 

                                    
506 Substituted for Schedule XX “Schedule XX 

Expenses chargeable to the CIS 

See Regulation 60 

Notwithstanding the generality of Regulations 60(1) and (2), only the following fees and charges may be payable from the CIS, - 

(a) remuneration of the Asset Management Company; 

(b) remuneration of trustee or custodian; 

(c) listing fee payable to the stock exchange, including renewals; 

(d) charges and levies of stock exchange, national clearing and settlement company  

and central depositary company; 

(e) rating fee of CIS payable to approved rating agency; 

(f) auditors’ fees and out of pocket expenses as billed by them; 

(g) fees payable to the Commission; 

(h) formation cost of the CIS not exceeding 1.5 per cent of the net assets at the close  

of initial public offering (IPO)in case of an Open End Scheme and one percent of  

the paid-up capital in case of a Closed End Fund or ten million rupees whichever is lower; 

(i) brokerage and transaction costs related to investing and disinvesting of the assets of the CIS; 

(j) expenses incurred by trustee in affecting registration of all registerable assets in the name of the trustee; 

(k) legal and related costs incurred in protecting the interests of the unit, certificate or share holders of the CIS; 

(l) bank charges, borrowing and financial costs; 

(m) hedging costs including forward cover, forward purchase or option purchase costs; 

(n) printing costs and related expenses for issuing the quarterly, half-yearly and annual reports, etcetera of the CIS;  

(o) taxes, fees, duties and other charges applicable to the CIS on its income or its properties, including taxes, fees, duties and 

other charges levied by a foreign jurisdiction on investments made oversees; 

(p) any other expense or charge as may be allowed by the Commission.  

(q) fees and expenses related to registrar services, accounting, operation and valuation services related to CIS; 

(r) shariah advisory fee;  

(s) custody and insurances costs relating to the safekeeping of the physical gold in the vault(s) for Commodity Funds; and 

(t) selling and marketing expenses for the purpose of opening and maintenance of branches; payment of salaries/commission to 

sales team and distributors;  

advertising and publicity expense; development of alternate delivery/distribution channels for CIS: 

 Provided that selling and marketing expense may be charged for all categories of funds except fund of funds.” 

Vide SRO 600(I)/2025 dated April 10, 2025 
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(i) brokerage and transaction costs related to investing and disinvesting of the assets of 

the CIS or Pension Funds; 

(j) expenses incurred by trustee in affecting registration of all registerable assets in the 

name of the trustee; 

(k) legal and related costs incurred in protecting the interests of the unit, certificate, 

shareholders of the CIS or participants of Pension Funds; 

(l) bank charges, borrowing and financial costs; 

(m) hedging costs including forward cover, forward purchase or option purchase costs; 

(n) taxes, fees, duties and other charges applicable to the CIS or Pension Funds on its 

income or its properties, including taxes, fees, duties and other charges levied by a 

foreign jurisdiction on investments made oversees; 

(o) shariah advisory fee; 

(p) custody and insurances costs relating to the safekeeping of the physical gold in the 

vault(s) for Commodity Funds; and 

(q) any other expense or charge as may be allowed by the Commission.] 
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Schedule XXI 

Responsibilities towards Corporate Governance and Proxy Voting: 

[See Regulation 38A] 

An Asset Management Company shall: 

(a)   formulate a Corporate Governance policy approved by its Board of 

Directors:  

(b)  formulate proxy voting policy approved by their Board of Directors which covers 

the following minimum aspects: 

(i). Authority and responsibility for voting proxies; 

(ii). Voting procedures; 

(iii). Internal participants to be consulted in evaluation of a proxy proposal; 

(iv). Procedure and controls for avoidance or minimization of conflicts of interest; 

(v). Disclosure of conflict of interest; 

(i) Record keeping of proxy voting; 

(ii) System to monitor proxy-voting responsibilities; 

(iii) Circumstances under which proxies shall not be voted; and 

(iv)  Disclosure of proxy voting. 

(c)  ensure that the proxy voting policy at minimum covers the following areas:-  

(i) Election of Directors; 

(ii) Corporate Governance; 

(iii)Appointment of Auditors; 

(iv) Changes in Legal and Capital Structure; proposals affecting shareholder 

rights; 

(v) Corporate restructuring; and 

(vi) Mergers and acquisitions. 

(d) while participating in the election of the Board of Directors of the investee 

company, ensure that by exercising the right to vote proxy on behalf of the 

unitholders of the CIS, does not result in attaining the management control of the 

investee company, in contravention of the Regulations: 

(e)  at the minimum maintain following records in relation to proxy voting: 

(i) the name of the issuer of the securities on which the vote has been cast; 

(ii) name of major beneficial owner(s) of the securities; 

(iii)number of shares held by CIS on record; 

(iv) the date on which the proxy was voted; and 

(v) the results of the vote. 

(f)  disclose the proxy voting policy approved by its Board of Directors on its 

websites and shall also submit it to the Commission: 

(g)  include in the annual report of the CIS summary of actual proxy voted during the 

year as per table given below:  

 

Summary of Actual Proxy voted by CIS:  

 Resolutions For Against Abstain* 

Number     

(%ages)     

*Reasons for abstaining shall be disclosed. 

(h)  disclose in the annual report of CIS the cases where AMC on behalf of CIS did 

not participate in shareholders’ meetings.  
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(i) formulate a comprehensive stewardship policy duly approved by its Board of 

Directors covering the following aspects at the minimum: 

(1) policy on stewardship responsibilities; 

(2) policy on voting; 

(3) policy on monitoring the investee company; 

(4) policy for engagement with the investee companies; 

(5) policy on identifying and managing conflicts of interest; and 

(6) policy on how it incorporates sustainability consideration, including 

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) into its investment analysis 

and activities. 

Further, the AMC shall include in the annual report of the CIS a statement that the 

proxy voting policy of the CIS is available on the website of the AMC and detailed 

information regarding actual proxies voted by the AMC in respect of the CIS is also 

available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders. 
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Schedule XXII 

Alignment of Interest of Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and Head of 

Investment Committee of AMCs with Unitholders of CIS 

[See Regulation 60A] 

Minimum requirements with the objective of alignment of interest of key employee (CEO, CIO 

& Head of Investment Committee) of AMCs with the unitholders of CIS are specified below: 

 

 

1. In-line with the requirement of Regulation 60A of the NBFC & NE Regulations, 2008, 

the AMCs are required to put in place a policy approved by the Board of Directors to 

align the interests of its key employees (CEO, CIO & Head of Investment Committee) 

with those of the unit holders of the Collective Investment Schemes managed by the 

AMC. 

2. The policy will, at the minimum, address the following areas and aspects: 

(i) Bonus payable to the aforementioned Key Employees in the form of units of 

Mutual Fund schemes concerned. The proportion of compensation to be paid in 

the form of units shall be determined by the Board of AMC. 

(ii) The manner of payment of bonus in the form of units of CIS will be in accordance 

with the mechanism as per board’s approved policy. 

(iii) Minimum lock- in period.  

(iv) The mechanism for forfeiture/claw back of bonuses of Key Employees, in case of 

fraud, gross negligence, mis-selling or deceptive conduct on part of the key 

employees comprising of portion of compensation to be forfeited, process for 

determining the fraud, gross negligence, mis-selling and/ or deceptive conduct by 

a certain key employee, and prevention of moral hazard in implementation of 

clawback provision. 

(v) Disclosure of such bonus paid to the Key Employees in the form of units of each 

scheme in aggregate along with the scheme return in respective annual accounts. 

(vi) Policy for retention of adequate audit trail and record to verify compliance with 

applicable requirements 

3. The AMC will disclose the formulated policy along with summary of any exemption to 

the policy on its website and annual report. 
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Schedule XXIII 

Trading by Employees 

[See Regulation 38B] 

An Asset Management Company shall put in place, appropriate policies and procedures which 

shall at the minimum cover following requirements/principles: 

(i) disclosure by an AMC employee, within 10 days of his appointment, of any securities 

held by him or her, his or her spouse and / or dependent children along with details of 

their broker accounts. Such reporting of information shall be done to the Compliance 

Function of the AMC; 

(ii) Criteria for approving or rejecting an application seeking trading or investment in 

securities by AMC employees; 

(iii) Periodic disclosure of securities held by the AMC employees, their spouses and 

dependent children, at least on a quarterly basis. However, reporting of actual 

transactions, including volume, date and price, on a same day basis; 

(iv) Restriction on AMC employees from deriving any benefit or personal advantage from 

information which is generally not available and which is obtained by reason of or in 

the course of their employment with AMC; 

(v) Prescribing minimum holding period and discourage trading for speculative purposes; 

(vi) Retention, for a period of at least three years, of complete record of all applications 

including the date of the request, the name of the applicant, details of the proposed 

transaction and whether the request was approved or denied and waivers given, if 

any, and its reasons; 

(vii) Restricting personnel involved in the investment decision making process from 

initiating trades in a security within twenty four hours of a pending buy or sell order 

in the same security by the AMC and until such order is executed or cancelled; 

(viii) Prescribe trading windows and blackout periods to restrict the misuse of 

confidential information; and 

(ix) establish stringent requirements for those personals, whether AMC employee or 

director, who: 

(a). in his or her regular function or duty makes or participates in investment decisions, or 

obtains information, prior to buying or selling investments on behalf of a Collective 

Investment Scheme;  

(b). engages in making of any recommendations with respect to such buying or selling; 

(c). or any person over whom such persons exercise control and influence in terms of the 

investment decision making; and 

(d). Use of restricted lists and watch lists securities to detect unauthorized trades.”.] 
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